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Financial Highlights

RESULTS SUMMARY
(For the year ended 31 December 2017)

(RMB’000) 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Revenue and profit:
      

Revenue 36,581,679 33,007,917 34,350,511 33,960,290 37,262,006
      

Profit before taxation 1,570,565 1,797,895 1,555,792 1,825,396 1,945,055
Profit after taxation* 1,118,811 1,287,972 1,683,491 1,258,394 1,676,495

      

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company 408,107 806,066 1,212,308 642,026 1,028,670
Non-controlling interests 710,704 481,906 471,183 616,368 647,825

      

Basic earnings per share attributable to 
owners of the Company (RMB) 0.33 0.67 1.03 0.55 0.90

Diluted earnings per share attributable to 
owners of the Company (RMB) 0.21 0.41 0.62 0.34 0.54

Dividends per share attributable to the 
owners of the Company (RMB) 0.05 0.10 0.20 0.10 –

      

* Profit after taxation includes profit/(loss) from discontinued operations.

ASSETS SUMMARY
(As at 31 December 2017, consolidated)

(RMB’000) 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Total assets 73,563,056 64,780,737 64,626,108 57,807,672 50,863,909
Total liabilities 45,748,322 39,414,224 40,284,992 39,389,575 37,063,464
Total equity 27,814,734 25,366,513 24,341,116 18,418,097 13,800,445
Equity attributable to owners 

of the Company 12,993,036 12,039,247 11,539,763 9,648,260 8,824,929
Non-controlling interests 14,821,698 13,327,266 12,801,353 8,769,837 4,975,516
      

Basic net assets per share attributable to 
owners of the Company (RMB) 11.14 10.32 9.90 8.69 7.94

Diluted net assets per share attributable to 
owners of the Company (RMB) 6.60 6.12 5.86 5.05 4.61

      



Financial Highlights

REVENUE
RMB’000

0,000,000

7,000,000

14,000,000

21,000,000

28,000,000

35,000,000

42,000,000

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

37,262,006

33,960,290 34,350,511
36,581,679

33,007,917

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
RMB’000

1,028,670

1,212,308

408,107

806,066

642,026

0,000

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

1,400,000

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017



Chairman’s Statement

76 AVIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

It is my honor to present the 2017 annual report of AVIC International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) on behalf 
of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), to the shareholders, business partners and people from all 
walks of life who support the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately 
RMB36,581,679,000, representing an increase of approximately 10.83% over the previous year of 
RMB33,007,917,000 (including the revenue from discontinued operations). The profit attributable to owners of 
the Company was approximately RMB408,107,000, representing a decrease of approximately 49.37% over the 
previous year of RMB806,066,000.

In 2017, the global economy was complicated and changeable with the macro-environment pressure remaining 
unabated and exchange rate fluctuations widened. Strategically centered on “Business Focus, Reform and 
Innovation, and Value Growth”, the Group further sharpened its focus on principal business, deepened its 
management reform and sought to promote quality and efficiency-oriented development. Specifically, the 
Group secured market opportunities for its business of high-tech electronic products, with strengthened profit 
management. In respect of the flat panel display (the “FPD”) business, the Group seized the earliest market 
opportunities for full-screen FPD lamps, which led to a growing proportion of the application of mid to high-end 
smartphones and a rapid increase of in-vehicle products with a relatively high added value and a historic new high 
in integrated efficiency. For the whole year, the printed circuit board (the “PCB”) business maintained a high level 
of output, with robust delivery and continuously improving profitability. In respect of retails and consumer products, 
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the Group took the initiative in grasping the opportunities brought by a recovering industrial market, and made great 
efforts to develop new brands and business and improve channel efficiency. This led to growth in both turnover 
and profit. While following its strategy to gradually step away from the property development business, the Group 
put in extra efforts to improve its professional capabilities and project expansion in aviation infrastructure. In respect 
of trade and logistics, the Group focuses on professional development, which resulted in continuously improving 
professional capabilities, increasing orders from the target markets and successful execution of key projects.

Looking into 2018, the global economy will remain in a mode of rebalancing and deeper restructuring, with 
economic recovery overshadowed by trade frictions and the Chinese economy faced by considerable pressure from 
structural transformation and upgrade. Confronted by various unfavorable factors and challenges from home and 
abroad, the Group will revolve around the strategic theme of “Reform and Reconstruction, Focus on Breakthrough 
and Value Growth” as its priority, and expedite the work on its principal business. Apart from optimizing the 
management structure as well as institutional process and system, the Group will reshape its business model, 
continue to optimize resource allocation and improve quality, efficiency and corporate internal value.

Never forgetting why we started, we will continue to move forward. On our way of transformation and innovation, 
we will embrace opportunities, face up to challenges and complete our mission. On behalf of the Board, I would 
like to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff for their devotion and dedication, to all the Group’s shareholders, 
business partners and people from all walks of life for their unremitting support. We will double our efforts, keep 
moving forward and stay committed to creating greater returns for our shareholders, customers and the staff of the 
Group.
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CORPORATE ORGANIZATION CHART
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BUSINESS REVIEW
The consolidated revenue and profit contributions of the Company in its consolidated results for the year ended 31 
December 2017 (the “Reporting Period” or the “Year”) were primarily derived from the following business segments 
and subsidiaries:

Business segments Name of subsidiaries

Percentage of
equity interests

held by
the Company Principal activities

High-tech Electronic
Products

Tianma Micro-electronics Co., Ltd. 
(“Tianma Company”)

20.81% Manufacture and sales of flat panel displays 
(“FPD”) and modules

Shennan Circuit Co., Ltd. (“SCC”) 69.74% Manufacture and sales of printed circuit boards 
and packaging substrate (“PCB”)

Retails and Consumer 
Products

Fiyta Holdings Limited (“Fiyta”) 37.15% Manufacture of middle to high-end wrist watches 
and chain store sales of luxury watches

Real Estate Beijing AVIC Ruixin Investment and 
Management Company Limited 
(“Beijing Ruixin”)

90% Mainly engaged in residential premises 
development business and industrial property 
development, etc.

Chengdu AVIC Raise Real Estate 
Company Limited (“Chengdu Raise”)

60% Mainly engaged in residential premises 
development business and also engaged in 
industrial property development, etc.

China National Aero–Technology 
International Engineering Company 
Limited (“Engineering Company”)

100% Mainly engaged in general contracting of 
international engineering construction; also 
engaged in overseas property development 
and general contracting of domestic 
construction engineering

Trading and Logistics China National Aero–Technology 
Beijing Company Limited 
(“Beijing Company”)

100% Trading and logistics of cement construction and 
machinery vehicles, etc.

AVIC International Maritime Holdings 
Limited (“AVIC Maritime”)

73.87% Ship engineering

AVIC Weihai Shipyard Co., Ltd. 
(“Weihai Shipyard”)

69.77% Ship construction
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Business segments Name of subsidiaries

Percentage of
equity interests

held by
the Company Principal activities

China National Aero–Technology 
Guangzhou Company Limited 
(“Guangzhou Company”)

100% Trading and logistics of medical facilities and 
bitumen engineering

China National Aero–Technology 
Xiamen Company Limited 
(“Xiamen Company”)

100% Trading and logistics of stone materials

China National Aero–Technology 
Trade and Economic 
Development Company Limited 
(“TED Company”)

100% Tendering agency, informationization service, 
and automated control service, etc.

AVIC International Renewable 
Energy Development Co., Ltd 
(“RED Company”)

100% Power station construction, energy-saving 
management, and purchase and sales of 
renewable energy equipment

Others Shenzhen Aero–Fasteners 
MFG  Co., Ltd 
(“AFM Company”)

100% High intensity bolts, precision screws and nuts, 
shaped fasteners and other fasteners

Guangdong International Building 
Industrial Co., Ltd.
(“GIB Company”)

75% Hotel Operation

2017 TURNOVER COMPOSITION BY BUSINESS SECTIONS

Real Estate

Others

High-tech Electronic Products

Retails and Consumer Products
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12%

24%

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of Performance
In 2017, the global economy was complicated and changeable with the macro-environment pressure remaining 
unabated. Strategically centered on “Business Focus, Reform and Innovation, and Value Growth”, the Group further 
sharpened its focus on principal business, deepened its management reform and sought to promote quality and 
efficiency-oriented development.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately 
RMB36,581,679,000, representing an increase of approximately 10.83% over approximately RMB33,007,917,000 
for the previous year. The profit attributable to the equity holders of the Group was approximately RMB408,107,000, 
representing a decrease of approximately 49.37% from approximately RMB806,066,000 for the previous year.

High-tech Electronic Products
As for the high-tech electronic business, the Group is engaged in research and development (the “R&D”), design, 
manufacture, sales and service of FPD and PCB products mainly through its subsidiaries, namely Tianma Company 
and SCC. During the Year, the Group secured market opportunities for its business of high-tech electronic 
products, strengthened profit management, improved the added value of products through technology and product 
innovation, and committed concrete efforts to boost technical reserve and meticulous management. During the 
year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s revenue generated from the high-tech electronic products segment 
was approximately RMB19,290,550,000, representing an increase of approximately 27.80% as compared with 
RMB15,094,917,000 for the same period of last year; and the net profit was approximately RMB1,233,737,000, 
representing an increase of approximately 41.61% over the same period of previous year of approximately 
RMB871,209,000.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
High-tech Electronic Products (continued)
(1) FPD

Tianma Company focuses on the market development of FPD, with products mainly applied to the displays 
of consumer products such as smartphones and tablets as well as professional displays such as those for 
automobiles, medical treatment and industrial control.

During the Reporting Period, Tianma Company continued to optimize its product structure and seize the 
earliest market opportunities such as full screen FPD. As a result, Tianma Company experienced a growing 
proportion of the application of its high-end smartphones and a rapid increase of its in-vehicle products 
which enjoyed a relatively high added value. Tianma Company never ceased to engage its key strategic 
customers with intensive efforts and closely follow the mainstream customers in the industry. While further 
optimizing its customer structure, Tianma Company constantly expanded its new user base and managed to 
step into three emerging markets, namely industrial laptops, multi-function printers and virtual reality. In an 
attempt to grasp the market opportunities driven by the demand from the end users of a-Si consumer goods 
and price increase, Tianma Company was ahead of its competitors in respect of matching its production 
capacity with customer demands, which led to a significant increase in orders throughout the Year. During 
the Reporting Period, Tianma Company finished the construction of its Wuhan 6th-generation AMOLED 
production line (G6 Project) in April. The production line, capable of manufacturing both rigid and flexible 
products, has commenced its trial production of samples in small batches.

During the Reporting Period, the Review Committee of Merger, Acquisition and Reorganization of Listed 
Companies (上市公司並購重組審核委員會) of China Securities Regulatory Commission (the “CSRC”) granted 
unconditional approval for the reorganization of material assets and financing proposals of Tianma Company, 
the completion of which took place on 22 January 2018. Accordingly, Xiamen Tianma Microelectronics Co., 
Ltd. (“Xiamen Tianma Company”) has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tianma Company and Shanghai 
Tianma Organic Light Emitting Display Technology Co., Ltd. (“Tianma Organic Company”) has become an 
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Tianma Company.

(2) PCB
Intensively engaged in PCB interconnection on a continuous basis, SCC is committed to providing its 
customers with one-stop service that centers on interconnection and covers design, production, material 
purchasing, assembly, processing and testing. Its products are extensively applied to such high-tech areas 
as communications, aerospace, medical service and industry control.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
High-tech Electronic Products (continued)
(2) PCB (continued)

During the Reporting Period, the spin-off and initial public offering of SCC were approved by CSRC, with 
SCC formally listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 13 December 2017 (stock code: 002916).

As for its PCB business during the Reporting Period, SCC seized the opportunities brought by 
telecommunications customers. Orders surged in comparison with the same period of the previous year. For 
the whole year, output remained at a high level, with robust delivery and continuously improving profitability. 
As for its printed circuit board assembly business, SCC attained a quick breakthrough in the output of its 
integrated projects, with the output value of the whole year experiencing substantial year-on-year growth. 
In addition, the SCC witnessed a sharp increase in its packaging substrate business, owing to the growing 
contribution from major customers, with substantial year-on-year growth in revenue and profit. On top of 
that, infrastructure construction took place smoothly at SCC’s Nantong factory, with successful installation 
of press, electroplating lines and other major equipment.

Retails and Consumer Products
In respect of its retails and consumer products segment, the Group is engaged in the R&D and brand operation 
of middle to high-end wrist watches as well as chain sales and service of luxury watches through its subsidiary, 
Fiyta. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the revenue generated from the retails and consumer products 
segment of the Group amounted to approximately RMB3,322,928,000, representing an increase of approximately 
12.07% as compared with RMB2,965,074,000 for the same period of last year. The net profit was approximately 
RMB224,432,000, representing an increase of approximately 17.31% over the same period of previous year of 
approximately RMB191,321,000.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Retails and Consumer Products (continued)
During the Reporting Period, Fiyta took the initiative in grasping the opportunities brought by a recovering watch 
market, and made great efforts to develop new brands and business and improve channel efficiency. This led to 
growth in both revenue and profit. During the Reporting Period, Fiyta capitalized on consumer demand, accelerated 
its brand cultivation and development. Fiyta watches have been displayed at Hall 1 of Baselworld – The World 
Watch and Jewelry Show in Switzerland for seven consecutive years and was among the first batch of “China 
Made” products selected by Ministry of Commerce, which evidenced the progress of Fiyta’s international drive. 
The brands of “Jonas & Verus” and “Beijing” also enjoyed rapid development. Apart from that, Fiyta was active in 
transforming its business model, which was translated into steady improvement in its E-commerce and technology 
services business. Harmony has further materialized its role as an integrated service provider for prestigious 
watches. Furthermore, internal management has been strengthened, together with continuous optimization of 
product and channel structures, faster integration of information-based development, intelligent approaches and 
internal operation. This was also translated into a substantially higher output per shop and further improvement in 
operational efficiency.

Trading and Logistics
The Group is engaged in mechatronics engineering and general contracting of cement construction through 
Beijing Company, as well as ship engineering, bitumen and mechatronics products through AVIC Maritime and 
Guangzhou Company. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s revenue generated from the trading 
and logistics business was approximately RMB8,728,103,000, representing a decrease of approximately 18.78% 
from approximately RMB10,745,852,000 for the previous year. The loss was approximately RMB472,742,000, 
representing a decrease of approximately RMB502,427,000 when compared to the net profit of approximately 
RMB29,685,000 recorded for the previous year.

(1) Ship Engineering
In respect of the ship engineering business, the Group further optimized and upgraded its product structure 
to allow high value-added ship models, such as ro-ro passenger ships and stone dampers, to become its 
mainstream products. As for its shipyards, the Group reinforced cost budget, management and control, built 
a system of core technologies, enhanced key technologies and capabilities, and kept improving shipyard 
management. In particular, Deltamarin Oy saw further improvement in its strategic coordination and business 
integration, frequently obtaining large orders for its ship design business which maintained ample workload. 
In the meantime, the Group has been actively seeking project opportunities from the “Belt and Road” 
initiative for its ship business and exploring fresh business models. During the Reporting Period, the Group 
entered into new orders for 19 ships, with orders coming into effect for 15 ships, a cumulative total of 39 
orders on hand, and 24 ships delivered for the whole year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Trading and Logistics (continued)
(2) Mechatronics Engineering

In respect of the mechatronics engineering business, the Group is mainly engaged in the engineering 
procurement construction (EPC) for cement and mechatronics projects as well as the construction material 
and petrochemical business through Beijing Company. During the Reporting Period, Beijing Company 
was strongly committed to the key markets under the “Belt and Road” initiative. As such, projects were 
expanded and came into effect more quickly, and ongoing projects took place smoothly. The Group also 
went deeper in innovatively replicating its business model in East Africa, as the East Africa Industrial Park 
in Kenya completed construction and started operation. KHD Humboldt Wedag International AG enjoyed 
better operation, as the company adopted measures to secure orders, improve management and reduce 
costs. During the Reporting Period, Beijing Company entered into four new projects, totaling more than 
US$2.7 billion. However, there was insufficient settlement of orders due to the impact of global economy 
and industry environment, which resulted in a considerable loss recorded by Beijing Company.

Real Estate
The Group is engaged in engineering contracting through Engineering Company. During 2017, the real estate 
business of the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB4,517,885,000, representing an increase 
of approximately 27.47% over the revenue recorded last year of approximately RMB3,544,146,000. The 
net profit was approximately RMB273,519,000, representing an increase of approximately 1,201.79% over 
approximately RMB21,011,000 for last year. The net profit comprises the investment gain totalling approximately 
RMB107,260,000 from share of results of AVIC Real Estate, an associated company, and gain on disposal of AVIC 
Vanke Company Limited (“AVIC Vanke”), a jointly-controlled company.

During the Reporting Period, the Group further focused on its principal business and gradually stepped away from 
the residential property development business. Specifically, the Group disposed of its equity interest in AVIC Vanke, 
and Engineering Company completed the disposal of its equity interest in Hangfa Investment Management Co., 
Ltd. (航發投資管理有限公司) and obtained an aggregate investment profit of approximately RMB444,404,000. The 
Group sustained a positive momentum in its EPC business. Throughout the Year, it entered into 19 EPC contracts 
which totaled more than USD1.8 billion. Among them, 14 were international engineering projects with a contract 
amount of over USD1.7 billion, while the remaining five were domestic engineering projects with a total contract 
amount of approximately RMB0.6 billion. Engineering Company has seen the brand influence of its aviation facility 
projects greatly improved. During the Reporting Period, it had four ongoing aviation facility projects, in addition to 
the successful completion and delivery of the runway project for Bandaranaike International Airport in Sri Lanka.
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS
In 2018, the Group will revolve around the strategic theme of “Reform and Reconstruction, Focus on Breakthrough, 
and Value Growth” and improve its management structure, systems and procedures. It will also work on 
restructuring its business model to focus on the principal business, continue to optimize resource allocation and 
improve corporate operation, quality, efficiency as well as internal value.

High-tech Electronic Products
The Group’s FPD business will further focus on the consumer products market and professional display, actively 
engaged itself in such emerging markets as smart home furnishings, smart wear and augmented reality/virtual 
reality, and promote the integration between military and civilian sectors for the application of relevant products. 
The Group will not cease to improve its operational efficiency and productivity by focusing on the market, 
strengthening capabilities and optimizing costs, and waste no time to improve the output of Wuhan G6 Production 
Line. In respect of the PCB business, the Group will enhance its product advantages, actively obtain orders, 
enhance production and operational efficiency by building professional factories and intelligent systems, and step 
up the pace to improve the production capacity of its factory in Nantong and construct its substrate factory in 
Wuxi. All such efforts aim to help the Group secure a leading position in the industry.

Retails and Consumer Products
In respect of the retails and consumer products business, the Group will maintain its business layout of “Products 
+ Channels”, stick to intensive development, and strengthen and optimize the existing business, so as to enhance 
the output per shop and further enhance brand image. The Group will also rely on its resources and capabilities 
to explore development opportunities, fresh business and new markets, and further its transformation through 
innovative business models and institutional reform. All such measures aim to improve the quality of development.

Trading and Logistics
In respect of the ship engineering business, the Group will fully tap into the technical advantages of Deltamarin 
Oy, build its system of core technologies and enhance its key technical capabilities. The Group will also continue 
to deepen its cost reduction and efficiency enhancement, so as to enhance its management and manufacturing 
capabilities. As for the mechatronics engineering business, the Group will commit intensive efforts to developing the 
“Belt and Road” market, increasing international development and obtaining orders proactively. It will continue to 
improve the operation and management of KHD Humboldt Wedag International AG.

Real Estate
In 2018, the Group will continue to step away from the residential property development business. As for its 
international engineering business, the Group will vigorously expand the markets in countries along the “Belt and 
Road” initiative and African countries, actively seize market opportunities in key overseas regions, and intensively 
work on the engineering projects for aviation facilities, overseas transportation and urban infrastructure. In addition, 
the Group will enhance the ability of executing the projects on hand, promote lean management and cost risk 
control, and strive to enhance profitability.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Liu Hong De, aged 57, was appointed as an executive Director and chairman of the Board of the Company 
on 15 February 2017. Mr. Liu is a Ph.D. in management science and engineering of Harbin Engineering University 
(哈爾濱工程大學 ) and a professorate senior engineer. He enjoys the special government allowance of the State 
Council of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Mr. Liu has extensive working experience in the areas 
of operation management, scientific research management, organisational and cultural development. Mr. Liu is 
currently the chairman of the board of directors of AVIC International, and the chairman of the board of directors 
of AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited (中國航空工業國際控股（香港）有限公司 ) (“AVIC Int’l”) (the shares 
of which are listed and traded on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with stock 
code: 232). Prior to joining AVIC International, Mr. Liu was the deputy general manager of Harbin Dong’an Engine 
Corporation (哈爾濱東安發動機公司 ), the general manager and the chairman of the board of directors of Harbin 
Dong’an Auto Engine Company Limited (哈爾濱東安汽車動力股份有限公司 ) (the shares of which are listed 
and traded on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), the director and the deputy executive general manager of Harbin 
Aviation Industry (Group) Company Limited (哈爾濱航空工業（集團）有限公司 ), the chairman of the board of 
directors of Jiangxi Changhe Automobile Company Limited (江西昌河汽車股份有限公司 ) (the shares of which 
are listed and traded on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), the president of AVIC Automobile Industry Corporation (中
國航空汽車工業總公司 ), the vice-president of AviChina Industry & Technology Company Limited (中國航空科
技工業股份有限公司 ) (the shares of which are listed and traded on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 2357), 
the head of the corporate cultural department of China Aviation Industry Corporation II (中國航空工業第二集
團公司 ), the head of the corporate cultural department of Aviation Industry Corporation of China, Ltd. (中國航空
工業集團有限公司 ) (“Aviation Industry”) (formerly known as Aviation Industry Corporation of China (中國航空
工業集團公司 ), the vice executive chairman of the trade union of Aviation Industry, and a supervisor of Aviation 
Industry.

Mr. Lai Wei Xuan, aged 54, senior accountant, holding a doctorate degree in Management of Tongji University 
and an EMBA of Guanghua School of Management, Peking University, is now the Chief Executive Officer, and 
director of AVIC International Holding Limited, executive Director and vice chairman of the Company. Mr. Lai also 
serves as executive director of AVIC Int’l. Mr. Lai joined AVIC Shenzhen in 1983. He previously served as the 
deputy general manager of AVIC Shenzhen, the Chairman of Fiyta (the shares of which are listed and traded on 
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000026, 200026), the deputy chairman of Tianma Company, (the share of 
which are listed and traded on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000050), and the chairman of Rainbow 
Department Store Company Limited (天虹商場股份有限公司 ) (the “Rainbow Ltd.”) (the shares of which are 
currently listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002419). Mr. Lai has rich experience in finance and 
operation management, and once acted as an executive Director from 2004 to 2012. He was appointed as an 
executive Director of the Company again in 2014.



88 AVIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Profile of Directors and Supervisors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr. You Lei, aged 49, senior engineer, MBA of Tongji University (同濟大學) and MBA of China Europe International 
Business School, is now holding the positions of the director of AVIC International, chairman of the board of 
directors of AVIC Shenzhen, executive Director and vice chairman of the Company, and the chairman of SCC (the 
shares of which are listed and traded on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code: 002916). Mr. You had 
acted as vice president of AVIC International, president of AVIC Shenzhen and chairman of the board of directors 
of Tianma Company. Mr. You joined AVIC Shenzhen in 1991 and the Group in 1997. He has rich experience in 
enterprise operation and business administration, and was appointed as an executive Director in 2003.

Ms. Zhou Chun Hua, aged 52, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 15 February 2017. She 
is a professorate senior accountant, and an EMBA of Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business. Ms. Zhou has 
extensive working experience in the areas of financial management, capital operation, audit and risk management. 
Ms. Zhou was appointed as the deputy president and chief accountant of AVIC International in December 2016. 
She is currently a director of AVIC International, an executive director of AVIC Int’l and the chairman of the board of 
directors of CATIC Investment and Management Co., Ltd. Before that, she was the assistant to president and vice 
chief accountant of Shenyang Liming Aero-Engine Group Corporation Limited (瀋陽黎明航空發動機集團有限公司), 
the director, vice president and chief accountant of AVIC Beijing Keeven Aviation Instrument Company Limited (中
航工業北京青雲航空儀表有限公司), the deputy manager of the audit department of Aviation Industry and the vice-
president and chief accountant of AVIC Electromechanical Systems Company Limited (中航機電系統有限公司) as 
well as a director, vice-president and chief accountant of AVIC Electromechanical Systems Company Limited (中航
工業機電系統股份有限公司, the shares of which are listed and traded on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange).

Mr. Chen Hong Liang, aged 50, a professorate senior economist, holds the master degree in business 
administration from Tongji University (同濟大學). He is currently the chairman of the board of directors of Tianma 
Company. Mr. Chen acted as vice president of AVIC International and vice president of AVIC Shenzhen. Mr. Chen 
has extensive experience in operation management. He was appointed as an executive Director in 2012.

Mr. Liu Jun, aged 56, holds a bachelor degree in engineering from Beijing Aviation College (北京航空學院). He 
is currently the vice president of AVIC International. He joined China National Aero-Technology Import and Export 
Corporation, the predecessor of AVIC International, in 1989. Between 1990 and 1993, he was seconded to station 
at AVIC Germany. He served as the general manager of China National Aero Technology Beijing Company Limited, 
a subsidiary of the Company. He has rich experience in operation management and was appointed as an executive 
Director in 2012.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Wong Wai Ling, aged 56, received a bachelor degree of arts from the University of Hong Kong in November 
1983 and a postgraduate diploma in accounting and finance from the London School of Economics and Political 
Science, University of London, in the United Kingdom in July 1985. She has been registered as a certified public 
accountant in Hong Kong since June 1991 and has become a fellow member of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants and a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since May 1995 
and February 2001, respectively. Ms. Wong has over twenty years of experience in accounting and auditing and 
mainly provides independent judgments towards the Company’s strategies, performance, resources and industry 
practices. She had worked in major international accounting firms and local accounting firms before she set up her 
own accounting firm in Hong Kong in 1993. She is currently an independent non-executive director and chairlady 
of the audit committee of China Ruifeng Renewable Energy Holdings Limited (a company the shares of which listed 
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 527) and Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Limited 
(the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3366), and she is also an 
independent non-executive director, chairlady of the audit committee and chairlady of the remuneration committee 
of Yongsheng Advanced Materials Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange, stock code: 3608) and appointed as a non-executive director of Hin Sang Group Holding Company 
Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6893). Ms. Wong 
was once an executive director of Tonking New Energy Group Holdings Ltd. (formerly known as JC Group Holdings 
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8326) 
and the independent non-executive director of Glory Flame Holdings Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the 
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8059), and resigned on 18 October 2016 and 22 
March 2016 respectively. Ms. Wong was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company in 
2008 and was re-elected as an independent non-executive Director in 2017.

Mr. Wu Wei, aged 45, holds the bachelor of arts from Columbia University, U.S.A. majoring in economy and 
industrial engineering. He is now a partner of Maison Capital Co., Ltd. and had served as the director of CITIC 
Securities International Company Limited and responsible for private equity fund business. He has over 15 years’ 
experience in enterprise investment and investment bank, and worked in Deutsche Bank Asia, Henderson Global 
Investors Asian Fund and Lehman Brothers Asia Limited. He was appointed as an independent non-executive 
Director of the Company in 2009.

Mr. Wei Wei, aged 53, holds a master degree in business administration from Tsinghua University and a doctorate 
degree in management science and engineering from Huazhong University of Science & Technology. He is also a 
professor in Peking University HSBC Business School. Mr. Wei is currently an independent non-executive director 
of Telling Telecommunication Holding Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, 
stock code: 000829). Mr. Wei was also an independent non-executive director of Skyworth Digital Holdings Limited 
(the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 751), Zhangzidao Group Co., 
Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002069), Changyuan Group 
Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600525) and ZTE Corporation 
(the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the Stock Exchange, stock code: 000063 
and 763 respectively). He was also the associate professor of the Department of Management Engineering in 
Xinjiang Institute of Technology, deputy dean of the Institute of Economics and Administration in Xinjiang University 
and postdoctorate in China Centre for Economics Research, Peking University. Mr. Wei was appointed as an 
independent non-executive Director of the Company in 2014.
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SUPERVISORS
Mr. Cao Jiang, aged 61, graduated from Zhengzhou Institute of Aeronautical Industry Management. Mr. Cao is 
currently the vice president of AVIC International. He had worked as the general manager and the chairman of 
the board of directors of China Aviation Supply and Marketing Corporation (中國航空工業供銷有限公司). He was 
appointed as a supervisor of the Company in 2014.

Mr. Liang Chi, aged 60, registered PRC lawyer and a real estate valuer, holds a bachelor of laws from Sun Yatsen 
University. He is currently a lawyer of Guangdong Fangdian Law Firm (廣東方典律師事務所) and an independent 
non-executive director of Bao Shen Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Mr. Liang 
has over 30 years of experience in legal works and had served as an independent director of the fourth and the 
fifth session of the board of directors of Shenzhen Deren Electronics Co., Ltd (深圳市得潤電子股份有限公司), the 
shares of which are listed and traded on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Shenzhen stock code: 002055). Mr. Liang 
was appointed as a Supervisor in 2015.

Mr. Liu Yong Ze, aged 68, holds a doctorate degree of management from Dongbei University of Finance and 
Economics. He is currently a professor of the School of Accountancy of Dongbei University of Finance and 
Economics and the director of China Internal Control Research Center (中國內部控制研究中心), as well as the vice 
chairman of the Accounting Society of China (中國會計學會). He was the Dean of the School of Accountancy of 
Dongbei University of Finance and Economics, an independent director of Dalian Port (PDA) Company Limited (大
連港股份有限公司), the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601880) and 
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2880), and Jinzhou Port Co., Ltd. (錦州港股份有限公司), the shares of which 
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600190). Mr. Liu is currently an independent director of 
Luenmei Quantum Co., Ltd. (聯美量子股份有限公司, formerly known as Luenmei Holding Co., Ltd.), the shares of 
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600167), Dalian Huarui Heavy Industry Group Co., 
Ltd. (大連華銳重工集團股份有限公司), the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 
002204), Dalian Thermal Power Co., Ltd. (大連熱電股份有限公司), the shares of which are listed on Shanghai Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 600719) and Shenzhen Keybridge Communications Co., Ltd. (深圳鍵橋通訊技術股份有限公
司), the shares of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002316). Mr. Liu was appointed as a 
Supervisor in 2015.

Mr. Yang Xi, aged 58, an intermediate economist, is a graduate of Urumqi University of Finance and Economics. 
He is currently an assistant manager for property asset operation department of the Company. Mr. Yang had 
served as the assistant head of general administration department of AVIC Shenzhen, the general manager of the 
Beijing branch of CATIC Property Management Co., Ltd (中航物業管理有限公司), the deputy general manager 
of Grand Skylight Hotel of Beijing (北京凱迪克格蘭雲天大酒店) and the general manager of Grand Skylight 
International Hotel Guanlan of Shenzhen (深圳觀瀾格蘭雲天國際酒店). Mr. Yang was appointed as a Supervisor in 
2015.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. Zhong Si Jun, aged 42, was a senior economist and he holds a master degree of Management from 
Northwestern Polytechnical University. He is currently the chairman of the board of directors of AVIC International 
Holding (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd (中航國際控股（珠海）有限公司) and a joint company secretary of the Company. Mr. Zhong 
used to serve as secretary of the board of directors of Shanghai Tianma Micro-electronics Co., Ltd., the manager 
of operating management department of the Company, director of Fiyta, AVIC Real Estate Holding Company 
Limited (“AVIC Real Estate”), Tianma Company and Rainbow Ltd., as well as the director of AVIC International 
Maritime Holdings Limited, which is listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited.

Mr. Xiao Zhang Lin, aged 42, holds an MBA degree from Shanghai Jiao Tong University (上海交通大學). In 2015, 
Mr. Xiao was recognized as a senior engineer by Aviation Industry. Currently, he is the head of the strategy and 
operations management department of the Company, the company secretary, and a director of AVIC Real Estate, 
SCC, Fiyta, Tianma Company and Rainbow Ltd. He was appointed as a joint company secretary of the Company in 
February 2018.
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1. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
Throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Company had complied with the Company 
Law of the PRC and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), faithfully performed the obligations required by the applicable 
Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Code”). The Company has 
also directed its daily activities in strict compliance with various established corporate governance systems 
and reviewed from time to time its operations and management conducts, adhered to good principles of 
corporate governance, improved the transparency and independence of company operation, enhanced 
its corporate governance standards on an on-going basis, ensured a stable development of the Company 
and strived for maximization of shareholders’ value. The Company, by complying with the principles and 
requirements set out in the Code, has formulated relevant system, regulations, procedures and plans to 
maintain good communication between shareholders and the Board, encouraged shareholders to attend 
annual general meeting and other general meetings and enabled shareholders to understand the application 
of relevant principles.

Except the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, during the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017, 
the Company had adopted and complied with the code provisions of the revised Corporate Governance 
Code set out in the Appendix 14 of the revised Listing Rules and effective from 1 January 2016.

Details of the deviation from the above code provision A.2.1 is set out in the following section headed “4. 
Chairman and Chief Executive”.

2. SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 
(the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange as its own code of 
conduct in respect of securities transactions.

The Company, having made specific enquiries with all directors of the Company (the “Directors”) and 
supervisors of the Company (the “Supervisors”), confirmed that, during the year ended 31 December 2017, 
Directors of the Issuer and Supervisors had complied with the required standards of dealing in securities 
specified in the Model Code and relevant code of conduct of its own in respect of any securities transactions 
by the Directors.

3. BOARD
The composition of the Board
In the 2014 annual general meeting of the Company held on 18 June 2015, the seventh session of the 
Board was formed through end-of-term election in accordance with the articles of association of the 
Company. The term of the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) is 3 years and will end 
at the 2017 annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2018.

On 15 February 2017, an extraordinary general meeting was held by the Company to approve the 
appointments of Mr. Liu Hong De and Ms. Zhou Chun Hua as the executive Directors of the Company, 
with the term commencing from 15 February 2017 to the date of the 2017 annual general meeting of 
the Company to be held in 2018. At the date of the Board election, Mr. Liu Hong De was elected as the 
Chairman of the Board of the Company.

The Board of the Company comprises a total of 9 Directors, including 6 executive Directors, namely, Mr. Liu 
Hong De (Chairman), Mr. Lai Wei Xuan (Vice Chairman), Mr. You Lei (Vice Chairman), Ms. Zhou Chun Hua, 
Mr. Chen Hong Liang and Mr. Liu Jun; and 3 independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Wong Wai 
Ling, Mr. Wu Wei and Mr. Wei Wei.
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3. BOARD (continued)
The structure balance of the Board and independence of Directors
The composition, experience and balance of skills of the Board are regularly reviewed to ensure that the 
mix of skills and experience is appropriate to meet the needs of the Group. The Nomination Committee 
will review the structure and composition of the Board from time to time, including gender, age, years of 
services and number of external independent directors), to ensure that the Board has balanced structure 
and independence of Directors.

Details and attendance of meetings of the Board and Committees
The numbers and attendance of general meetings, Board meetings and meetings of other committees held 
throughout the financial year 31 December 2017 are as follows, in which each director attended all meetings 
in person with no alternate director being appointed:

General Meeting 
(including annual
 general meeting 

and extraordinary
 general meeting) Board Audit Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Board
Attendance/

number of meetings
Attendance/

number of meetings Attendance Rate
Attendance/

number of meetings
Attendance/

number of meetings
Attendance/

number of meetings

Executive Directors
Liu Hong De 3/6 11/11 100% 1/1 1/1
Lai Wei Xuan 4/6 11/11 100%
You Lei 3/6 11/11 100%
Zhou Chun Hua 3/6 11/11 100%
Chen Hong Liang 4/6 10/11 91% 1/1 1/1
Liu Jun 3/6 9/11 82%

Independent non-
executive Directors

Wong Wai Ling 4/6 11/11 100% 2/2 1/1 1/1
Wu Wei 4/6 11/11 100% 2/2 1/1 1/1
Wei Wei 4/6 11/11 100% 2/2 1/1 1/1
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3. BOARD (continued)
Responsibility of the Board and the management
The Board is responsible for instituting the overall target, policies, internal control and risk management 
system of the Group, and assessing and monitoring the performance of senior management. In addition, 
the Board also supervises the detailed matters which may affect the equities of all shareholders, such as 
financial status, human resources, investment and financing, the transaction activities which are notifiable as 
defined in the Listing Rules, risk management strategy and solutions on the management of significant risks 
and exercises its management and decision-making powers authorized under the articles of association or in 
general meetings in terms of capital reconstructing. Details of the responsibilities and powers of the Board in 
terms of the Company’s development strategies and management as well as its responsibilities and powers 
to supervise and monitor the Company’s development and operation are set out in the articles of association 
of the Company.

The Directors shall be elected at the shareholders’ general meeting and serve for a term of 3 years. A 
Director may serve consecutive terms if be re-elected upon the expiration of his term. Except the retired 
directors and the candidate recommended by the board of directors, commencing on the second day after 
the dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for election of director(s) by the Company, a shareholder 
is entitled to lodge a notice in writing to the Company to nominate Directors, the period for lodgment of such 
notice shall be at least 10 days. Subject to the relevant laws and administrative regulations, any Director 
(including directors acting as the manager or other senior management officers) with an unexpired term of 
office may be removed by an ordinary resolution of a shareholders’ general meeting (but without prejudice 
to any claim for compensation pursuant to any contract). The board of directors shall be accountable to the 
shareholders’ general meeting and shall have the following duties and powers:

(1) to be responsible for convening shareholders’ general meeting and to report its work at the 
shareholders’ general meeting;

(2) to execute the resolutions passed at the shareholders’ general meeting;

(3) to determine the business plans and investment proposals of the Company;

(4) to prepare the annual financial budget and final accounts of the Company;

(5) to prepare the plans for profit distribution and loss recovery for the Company;

(6) to prepare proposals for increasing or reducing the registered capital of the Company, and proposals 
for the issue of debenture;

(7) to draw up proposal for merger, separation or dissolution of the Company;

(8) to decide on the set-up of the internal management structure of the Company;
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3. BOARD (continued)
Responsibility of the Board and the management (continued)
(9) to appoint or dismiss the manager and to appoint or dismiss vice-manager, the chief financial officer 

in accordance with the recommendations of the manager and to determine their remuneration 
packages;

(10) to set up the basic management system of the Company;

(11) to draw up proposal for amending the articles of association of the Company;

(12) to draw up proposal for material acquisition and disposal of the Company;

(13) subject to the requirements of relevant laws, regulations, rules and the articles of association of the 
Company, exercise the Company’s powers of fund-raising and borrowing, and determine pledge, 
leasing, subcontract or transfer of assets of the Company, and to authorize a manager to exercise 
powers within the scope hereof; and

(14) subject to the requirements of relevant laws, regulations, and within the scope of authority delegated 
by shareholders in general meeting and the Articles, to perform other functions.

Except for the matters provided for in paragraphs (6), (7), (11) and (12) which require approval of more 
than two-thirds of the Directors, the remaining matters as contained in the preceding paragraphs shall be 
approved by a simple majority of the Directors.

As the Company is an investment holding company, the executive Directors exercise the function of the 
management of the Company and all projects of the Company will be reviewed and approved by the Board. 
The responsibilities of each executive Director are as follow:

Mr. Liu Hong De: responsible for overall operation of the Company;

Mr. Lai Wei Xuan: assisting the chairman for daily operation; responsible for operation management, review 
of strategic investment;

Mr. You Lei: responsible for high-tech electronic products segment and assisting in strategic planning;

Ms. Zhou Chun Hua: responsible for financial management, finance and strategic investment and capital 
operation;

Mr. Chen Hong Liang: responsible for human resources, legal issues, audit and disciplinary inspection;

Mr. Liu Jun: responsible for international expansion, foreign issues, overseas institution management and 
responsible for trading and logistics segment.
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3. BOARD (continued)
Compliance of the Directors
There is no non-compliance with Rule 3.10(1) and (2) and Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules by the Directors 
during the year ended 31 December 2017. None of the independent non-executive Directors did not comply 
with one or more independence assessment guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and none of 
the members of the Board had any financial, business, family or other material/related relationship with each 
other during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Directors’ training
Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary introduction and information to ensure that he/she 
has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities 
under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The company secretary of the Company also provides 
Directors with updates on the latest development of and amendments to the Listing Rules and other relevant 
legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.

In addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development so as to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. From the effective date of the Revised Code at 1 January 
2016, the Company has arranged internal trainings for Directors, including legal compliance trainings, 
seminars and information access. A summary of training received by the Directors for the year ended 31 
December 2017 according to the records provided by the Directors to the Company is as follows:

Legal 
Compliance 

Training 
(2017.8.25)

Executive Directors:
Liu Hong De (Chairman) ✓

Lai Wei Xuan (Vice Chairman) ✓

You Lei (Vice Chairman) ✓

Zhou Chun Hua ✓

Chen Hong Liang ✓

Liu Jun ✓

Independent non-executive Directors:
Wong Wai Ling ✓

Wu Wei ✓

Wei Wei ✓



972017年度報告 中航國際控股股份有限公司

Corporate Governance Report

4. CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
In the 2014 annual general meeting of the Company held on 18 June 2015, the seventh session of the 
Board was formed through end-of-term election in accordance with the articles of association of the 
Company. Mr. Wu Guang Quan was re-elected as chairman of the Board (Chairman), with a term of 3 years 
which will end at the date of 2017 annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2018. Mr. Wu 
Guang Quan (吳光權) has resigned as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board with effect from 
the close of the extraordinary general meeting convened by the Company on 15 February 2017. 

On 15 February 2017, an extraordinary general meeting was held by the Company to approve the 
appointment of Mr. Liu Hong De as the executive Director of the Company, and at the Board meeting held 
on 15 February 2017, Mr. Liu Hong De was elected as the Chairman of the Board of the Company, with the 
term commencing from 15 February 2017 to the date of the 2017 annual general meeting of the Company 
to be held in 2018.

In accordance with code provision A.2.1 of the Code, roles of the chairman and the chief executive should 
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The responsibility of the chairman and 
the chief executive should be clearly established and set out in writing. During the year ended 31 December 
2017, as the Company is engaged in investment holding, the executive Directors exercise the function of the 
management of the Company and the Company did not appoint any chief executive. The executive Director 
and Chairman of the Company, Mr. Liu Hong De and the Board hold meeting regularly to consider major 
matters that influence the operation of the Group. The Board considers that this structure will not impair the 
balance of authority and rights between the Board and the management of the Company. Each executive 
Director being assigned with different functions will complement the role of the Chairman. The Board 
believes that this structure is beneficial to establishing a stable and consistent leadership, which will enable 
effective operation of the Group.

5. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The independent non-executive Directors are Ms. Wong Wai Ling, Mr. Wu Wei and Mr. Wei Wei. The 
number of independent non-executive Directors is in compliance with the provision of the Listing Rules, 
among which, Ms. Wong Wai Ling is a qualified accountant with extensive experience in accounting and 
finance. The Company has received the confirmation letters in respect of independence from each of the 
independent non-executive Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules, and considers that all the independent non-executive Directors comply with the requirements 
of independence according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Under Code Provision A.4.3, if an independent non-executive Director serves more than 9 years, his/
her further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders. 
As such, although Ms. Wong Wai Ling has been serving as an independent non-executive director of 
the Company for more than nine years, the Board considers that Ms. Wong is a person of integrity and 
independent in judgement and character. She is independent of management and free from any business 
or other relationships or circumstances which could materially interfere with the exercise of her independent 
judgement. The Board considers that Ms. Wong meets the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 
of the Listing Rules, and is of the view that her independence is not affected by her long service with the 
Company. Hence, the Board considered Ms. Wong as independent and should be re-elected at the AGM.
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6. SUBCOMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
The Board established three committees, namely audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination 
committee. The roles and responsibilities of each committee are as follow:

(1) Audit Committee
The Board of the Company has established the audit committee to fulfill the functions of reviewing 
the financial reporting and monitoring the effectiveness and objectiveness of the internal control 
system, risk management and auditing procedure. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee 
were published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on 29 December 2015.

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Wong Wai 
Ling, Mr. Wu Wei, and Mr. Wei Wei, of which Ms. Wong Wai Ling acts as the chairman of the audit 
committee. She is a qualified accountant with extensive experience in accounting and finance.

The Audit Committee met twice on 3 March 2017 and 18 August 2017 respectively, to discuss (1) 
the resolution related to the auditor’s report, results announcement and report of the directors of the 
Company for the year of 2016; (2) the resolution related to the review of the connected transactions 
of the Company; (3) the resolution related to the enhancement of corporate governance and internal 
control of the Company; (4) the resolution related to the unaudited interim financial statements and 
interim result announcement of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2017; and (5) the 
resolution related to the corporate governance and internal control of the Company and director’s 
report the first half of 2017. The Audit Committee provided recommendation to the Board regarding 
the above matters for its approval. Please refer to the table of attendance records in the paragraph 
headed “3. Board – Details of meetings and attendance” in this Corporate Governance Report for the 
attendance of the meetings held by the Audit Committee for the year ended 31 December 2017.

(2) Remuneration Committee
The Board has established the remuneration committee to fulfill the functions of providing 
recommendations to the Board in the aspects of the performance, engagement, remuneration and 
award of each executive Directors, and drawing up the overall remuneration policy. The details of 
the terms of reference of Remuneration Committee were published on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company on 28 March 2012.

For the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017, Remuneration Committee comprises 
Mr. Liu Hong De and Mr. Chen Hong Liang as the executive Directors of the Company, and Ms. 
Wong Wai Ling, Mr. Wu Wei and Mr. Wei Wei as independent non-executive Directors, of which 
independent non-executive Director Mr. Wei Wei acts as the chairman.
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6. SUBCOMMITTEES OF THE BOARD (continued)
(2) Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee of the Company met on 10 March 2017 to discuss (1) the resolution 
related to the remuneration policy for Directors and senior management of the Company for the year 
of 2016; (2) the resolution related to the procedure of formulating the remuneration policy of the 
Company; and (3) the resolution related to the remuneration, benefits and director service contract of 
Ms. Wong Wai Ling. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee reported that, the remuneration 
of the executive directors should be assessed and determined according to the operation results 
of the Company during the year and the accomplishment of the operational and management 
targets. The fixed remuneration policy is adopted for the independent directors of the Company. 
The Remuneration Committee adopted the model stated in paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code as its 
terms of reference where the Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to the Board 
on the remuneration packages of executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee provided 
recommendation to the Board regarding the above matters for its approval. Please refer to the table 
of attendance records in the paragraph headed “3. Board – Details of meetings and attendance” 
in this Corporate Governance Report for the attendance of the meetings held by the Remuneration 
Committee for the year ended 31 December 2017.

(3) Nomination Committee
The Board has set up the nomination committee which is responsible for reviewing the structure, size 
and composition of the Board and providing recommendations as to the proposed changes in the 
Board according to the corporate strategy of the Company. The Nomination Committee will identify 
suitable candidates for directorship by taking into consideration their qualifications, experience, 
integrity and potential contribution to the Company, as well as assess the independence of the 
independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules. The details of the terms of reference of Nomination Committee were published on the 
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on 23 August 2013.

For the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017, the Nomination Committee comprises 
Mr. Liu Hong De and Mr. Chen Hong Liang as the executive Directors of the Company, and Ms. 
Wong Wai Ling, Mr. Wu Wei and Mr. Wei Wei as independent non-executive Directors, of which 
independent non-executive Director Mr. Wu Wei acts as the chairman.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Nomination Committee held a meeting on 10 
March 2017 to review (1) the structure, size and composition of the Board (including their skills, 
knowledge and experience); (2) the appointment or re-appointment or succession of Directors; (3) the 
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (4) the Board’s diversity policy; and (5) the 
recommendation of re-appointing Ms. Wong Wai Ling as an independent non-executive Director. On 
10 March 2017, a nomination committee meeting was held for the proposal of re-appointment of Ms. 
Wong Wai Ling as an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Please refer to the table 
of attendance records in the paragraph headed “3. Board – Details of meetings and attendance” in 
this Corporate Governance Report for the details of meetings and attendance of the meetings held by 
the Nomination Committee for the year ended 31 December 2017.
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6. SUBCOMMITTEES OF THE BOARD (continued)
(4) Corporate Governance

The corporate governance functions performed by the Board include the following:

(a) Formulate and review the corporate governance policy and practice of the Company;

(b) Review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and 
the senior management;

(c) Review and monitor the policy and practice of the Company regarding its compliance with 
laws and regulatory requirements;

(d) Formulate, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance handbook applicable to 
the employees and the Directors; and

(e) Review whether the Company has complied with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules (Corporate 
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board had reviewed and discussed the corporate 
governance policy of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance 
policy of the Group.

7. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The aggregate remuneration paid/payable to the external auditors in relation to their audit and audit related 
services provided to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out as follows:

Type of services
Amount of 

remuneration
(RMB: ’000)

Audit services 5,500
Audit related services

Review on the continuing connected transactions 600
Review on the preliminary result announcement 400

  
Total 6,500  

The expense shown in this table is based on the year of contract instead of year of cash payment.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
All of the Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the accounts and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017. The Board was responsible 
for preparing the financial statements of the Company and the Group with assistance of the financial and 
accounting departments. The Board prepared the financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. Appropriate accounting policies have also been used and applied 
consistently. The Board has regularly reviewed and monitored the financial reporting procedures, risk 
management, internal control system and recommendation of external auditors and its appointment, 
retirement and removal (if any) and reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to operate as a 
going concern, therefore the Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. The audit committee of the Company is of the view that the selection and 
appointment of external auditors met the actual requirement of the Company and its audit and non-audit 
services can truly reflect the financial condition of the Company.

9. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND 
ASSESSMENT OF THE BOARD
The aggregate basic salaries and allowance paid to executive Directors by the Company were RMB0; 
and each executive Director is subject to the annual bonus from the Board according to the remuneration 
policies of the Group.

The aggregate remuneration amount paid to independent non-executive Directors was RMB480,000 for the 
year.

10. JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
On 5 February 2018, the Board of the Company announced the appointment of Mr. Xiao Zhang Lin as 
a joint company secretary of the Company with effect from the same day. Mr. Zhong Si Jun, the current 
company secretary, will continue his role as the other joint company secretary.

Both Mr. Zhong Si Jun and Mr. Xiao Zhang Lin are full-time employees of the Company and are familiar with 
the Company’s day-to-day affairs. The joint company secretaries report to the chairman and are responsible 
for providing recommendation on governance matters to the Board. For the year ended 31 December 2017, 
the joint company secretaries confirmed that they have satisfied the requirements in respect of professional 
training under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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11. RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
Two or more shareholders who collectively hold 10% or more of the voting shares at the proposed meeting 
may make a proposal to the Board on holding an extraordinary general meeting or class meeting by signing 
one or several written requests with same content in same format and define the meeting agenda. The 
Board shall convene such meeting as soon as possible upon receipt of the aforesaid written request. The 
aforesaid number of shares held shall be calculated as of the date when the written request was put forward 
by the shareholders.

In case the Board fails to give a notice of convening such meeting within thirty days after receipt of the 
aforesaid written request, the shareholders who put forward the request may convene such a meeting within 
four months after receipt of the request by the Board, and the procedures shall be the same as those for 
convening a general meeting by the Board where possible.

Inquiry to the Board
For any inquiry to the Board, please contact the Company directly at 39/F, AVIC Centre Building, No.1018 
Huafu Road, Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, China, telephone: 0755-21246912; fax: 0755-
83790228.

Proposals at General Meeting
When the Company convenes an annual general meeting, shareholder(s) who hold five percent or more of 
the Company’s total shares carrying voting rights shall be entitled to make new proposals to the Company 
in writing. Where such proposals contain matters within purview of the general meeting, the Company shall 
include such matters in the agenda of the general meeting. However, the proposal should be delivered to the 
Company within thirty days from the dispatch date of the notice of such meeting. The contact information of 
the Company is the same as above.

Communication with Shareholders
The annual general meeting is the primary channel to communicate with shareholders of the Company. The 
chairman of the general meeting proposes separate resolutions for each issue to be considered. During the 
year of 2017, the chairmen of the Board, audit committee members, remuneration committee members, 
nomination committee members and external auditors had attended the annual general meeting to answer 
shareholders’ questions.

According to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), the notice of the annual general 
meeting shall be given to shareholders at least forty-five days before the meeting. The chairman of the 
annual general meeting exercises his power under the Articles to put each proposed resolution to the vote 
by way of conducting a poll. The rules and procedures of the vote will be clearly explained by the chairman 
of the meeting before the commencement of the meeting, and the results of the meeting will be announced 
on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in accordance with the requirements of the 
Listing Rules.
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12. CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
Amendments have been approved by the way of special resolutions in the annual general meeting of 
the Company held on 18 June 2015. On 20 July 2016, the Company has obtained the registration of 
amendments to the Articles from the Industry and Commerce Bureau of Shenzhen.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has not made any amendments to Articles.

13. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
An effective risk management and internal control system benefits the Group in predicting risks, adopting 
control measures to address such threats, and meeting its objectives effectively. Hence, the Board 
considers risk management and internal control as a critical part in operation and governance. In general, 
the Board is responsible for maintaining a robust and effective risk management and internal control system, 
reviewing its effectiveness and safeguarding the shareholders’ investments and company assets. In this 
regard, the Company has established its risk management and internal control system. A well-established 
risk management and internal control system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failing 
to achieve business objectives, and is only capable of providing reasonable, not absolute assurance.

Structure of the Risk Management and Internal Control System
Built on its governance structure, the Group’s risk management and internal control system is structured 
in a model that features “Five Aspects” and “Three Defense Lines”. Within the structure, the roles and 
responsibilities of each aspect are clearly specified, which are stated as follows:

“Five Aspects”

Board • Approving risk management solutions and reports, including the 
overall objectives on corporate risk management, risk preference, risk 
tolerance, risk management strategies and significant risk management 
solutions, judgement criteria or mechanism for significant decision-
making, risks, events and business procedures, risk management 
measures, as well as risk management supervision, evaluation and audit 
reports.

• Performing risk management for significant decision-making, approving 
risk management reports of significant decision-making, and making 
decisions on effective risk control.

• Strengthening the training on corporate risk management culture, 
such as issuing resolutions, approving rewards and punishments, and 
regulations on performance appraisal.

Audit Committee • Reviewing the setting of risk management authority, its responsibilities 
and the fundamental system for risk management.

• Reviewing and approving the annual work plan on internal control and 
evaluation.

• Providing regular summaries and reports to learn the progress in 
developing the internal control system and evaluation work.

• Discussing the scope of work, findings and opinions of internal control 
audit with the auditors.

• Understanding the main defects and rectification in the approach, scope 
and findings of internal control evaluation tests.

• Listening to the risk management reports and internal control reports 
by the management, and regularly reviewing the risk management and 
internal control system of the Company.

• Overseeing the management of the Company in implementing the risk 
management and internal control system
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Risk Management 
and Internal Control 
Committee

• Promoting the establishment of a risk management system, to determine 
the setting of risk management authority and its responsibilities.

• Regularly reviewing and overseeing the policies, systems, procedures 
and implementation of corporate risk management, including risk 
management strategies and significant risk management solutions, 
judgement criteria or mechanism for significant decision-making, 
risks, events and business procedures, the risk management plan 
of the Company, reporting by the risk management department on 
risk management situation, reporting the result of risk management 
appraisals, as well as risk management supervision, evaluation and 
audit reports.

• Providing risk management advice for significant decision-making, 
reviewing and submitting risk management reports on significant 
decision-making, and recommending targeted measures against such 
risks.

• Supervising the cultivation of risk management culture for the Company 
as a whole.

• Regularly reporting risk management work to the Audit Committee.

Audit Supervision 
Department

• Organizing and arranging each functional department to identify and 
assess significant risks at the business level, synthesize and analyse 
the above information to prepare management reports on significant 
risks at the business level and all other risks, and reporting to the Risk 
Management and Internal Control Committee.

• Organizing and coordinating with the Risk Management and Internal 
Control Committee and senior management to identify and assess the 
risks at the corporate level, studying and raising measures and plans on 
managing significant risks at the corporate level.

• Synthesizing all the risk management results at both corporate and 
business levels, to present such results to the Risk Management and 
Internal Control Committee.

• Promoting the development of a comprehensive risk management 
system for the Company, overseeing the implementation of risk 
management policies and internal-risk control procedures, and 
improving internal management.

• Preparing and organizing the implementation of internal audit 
regulations and business standards in accordance with relevant laws 
and regulations, and engage in the standardization and informatization 
of internal audit work.

• Preparing and organizing the implementation of internal audit plans for 
the Company, preparing improvement plans on audit and checking their 
implementation, as well as regularly reporting to the Audit Committee in 
respect of work plans and summaries.

• Establishing and improving the internal audit system, guiding and 
overseeing subordinate units to establish their internal audit arms 
according to regulations, provide internal auditors for such arms and 
carry out internal audits.

• Providing training and guidance on risk management and internal 
control, as well as sharing the knowledge and best approaches of risk 
management.

13. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Structure of the Risk Management and Internal Control System (continued)
“Five Aspects” (continued)
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Execution Level for Risk 
Management

• Each department sets up risk management executives who are 
responsible for the specific risk management work in respective 
business and coordinate with the Risk Management and Internal Control 
Committee and the Audit Supervision Department.

• Regularly updating the risk lists and risk management of the respective 
business.

• Assessing risks in terms of possibility and impact, taking into account 
the characteristics of such business.

• Preparing and executing solutions to the risks relating to respective 
business, and carrying out the specific measures on risk management.

• Monitoring various risks in the respective business, and reporting the 
information of such risks to the Audit Supervision Department in a timely 
manner.

• Working on other fronts in relation to risk management.

“Three Defense Lines”

Audit Supervision Department and
Functional Departments of the Headquarters

(Defense Line 2)

Business Units of the Group’s Subsidiaries
(Defense Line 1)

Defense Line 1 ——

Work Based
on Three
Defense Lines

Internal auditors, discipline 
inspectors and the Supervi-
sory Committee are engaged 
in continuous supervision and 
assessment from the perspec-
tive of a party independent of 
the management.

The management is 
responsible for effective 
risk management while 
operating business.

 

 

 

 

 

The Audit Supervision Depart-
ment and Functional Depart-
ments of the Headquarters 
carry out daily supervision over the 
work by Defense Line 1, with 
regular inspections on risks and 
compliance.

Board

Audit CommitteeDefense Line 2 ——

Defense Line 3 ——

Confirming the 
effectiveness 
of the risk 
management 
and internal 
control system

Internal Auditors,
Discipline Inspectors and

the Supervisory Committee
(Defense Line 3)

The Board is responsible for maintaining and improving the effectiveness of the risk management and internal 
control system as a whole. The Audit Committee and the Risk Management and Internal Control Committee 
represent the Board in monitoring the Group’s financial reporting system and the risk management and 
internal control system, reviewing and overseeing the effectiveness of internal control function, and reviewing 
the corporate governance policies and practices for the Company.

13. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Structure of the Risk Management and Internal Control System (continued)
“Five Aspects” (continued)
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13. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Procedures of Risk Management
The Group has also prepared the Risk Management Manual which defines risk management methods 
and procedures. In addition, the Group has prepared the Comprehensive Risk Management Work 
Regulations, taking into account the actual condition of the Group and according to the Comprehensive Risk 
Management Guidance for State-owned Enterprises (《中央企業全面風險管理指引》) by SASAC, the Basic 
Standards for Corporate Internal Control (《企業內部控制基本規範》) and supporting guidelines jointly issued 
by five national ministries and commissions, including the Ministry of Finance and CSRC. Such regulations, 
applicable to the Group’s headquarters and subsidiaries, have specified the form of work and reporting 
mechanism of risk control and reporting.

In respect of corporate risk management policy, the Group has a well-structured mechanism in place, which 
continuously identifies, assesses and determines the priority of the risks faced by the Group, with proper 
management and monitoring. Risks are under qualitative assessment in terms of occurrence and impact, 
to evaluate the adequacy of the existing control measures. During risk assessment, questionnaire survey, 
interview, information inquiry and special discussion are the main approaches for identifying and assessing 
risks and analyzing material risks. Risk assessment enables the Group to verify its major risks and rank them 
based on their likelihood and impact on the Group’s business. In this way, the Group ascertains its material 
risks. By combining the causes of each risk, its impact on the Group and the best industry practices, we 
target all our material risks to prepare risk management strategies and solutions and issue an annual risk 
assessment report. Set out below are the Group’s main procedures for corporate risk management:

Project
Initiation

Risk
Analysis

Risk
Reporting

Risk
Identification

• Ascertain the participants in risk assessment projects, the approach of and
 introduction to risk assessment, as well as mobilization.

• Record the major risks that can affect the Company in meeting its objectives,
 and the existing measures for risk management.

• Analyse the likelihood and impact of such risks, and assess
 the existing measures for risk management.

• Report risk management results to the senior management of
 the Group and the Company.

Internal Audit and Control Procedures
The Board has performed its function of independently supervising the internal control system through the 
Audit Committee and the Audit Supervision Department of the Company. The Audit Supervision Department 
has internal auditors with professional qualifications, while each subsidiary has engaged full-time or part-time 
internal auditors based on its size. In 2017, the Audit Supervision Department of the Group joined hands 
with intermediaries to form an audit team and complete various audit work, including the annual budgets and 
final accounts of subsidiaries, the review of financial data concerning the annual salary of general managers, 
supervision of tendering activities, performance monitoring, clean practice, risk prevention and control, as 
well as the review of work systems and procedures. In addition, rectification took place in response to the 
issues identified during such audit and internal control defects.
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13. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Internal Audit and Control Procedure (continued)
Tianma Company, Fiyta and SCC, all being the Group’s subsidiaries listed in Shenzhen Stock Exchange, 
have engaged auditors to audit the effectiveness of each Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
The auditors have also raised independent and objective comments and suggestions in the form of internal 
audit report.

In respect of internal audit work, the Group prepares its audit plan by a risk-oriented audit approach. The 
plan specifies the business procedures that require auditing, the ranking of risks in each procedure and 
audit focuses. The Group also prepares an annual audit work plan based on its overall strategic objectives, 
taking into account the actual conditions of each business subsidiary. Work is carried out according to the 
audit work plan and procedures set out at the beginning of the year, with the Group’s operational activities 
and internal control put under independent inspection, supervision and evaluation.

In respect of internal audit work, the Audit Supervision Department reports to the Audit Committee. On 
behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee assesses the performance of the Group’s risk management and 
internal control system, ensures that no abuse or unauthorized disposal of assets would occur, maintains 
proper accounting records as well as true and fair financial statement, and ensure compliance with relevant 
laws and regulations. Internal control provides reasonable (but not absolute) assurance against material 
misstatement or loss, rather than eliminate risks associated with the Group’s business activities. For any 
severe deficiency of internal control identified during the review of the effectiveness of risk management 
and internal control, the Company has set out clear management procedures and responsibilities under its 
management system.

Inside Information
The Group attaches great importance to its responsibility of processing and releasing inside information 
as well as internal control under the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the Listing Rules and preliminary 
principles. The Group:

• has the responsibility of timely releasing its inside information in accordance with the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance and the safe-haven provision thereunder;

• strictly complies with the current laws and regulations applicable in Hong Kong

• strictly forbids unauthorized use of confidential and inside information;

• has prepared a continuous disclosure policy and guideline on monitoring, reporting and releasing 
inside information to our shareholders; and

• has prepared measures to maintain the confidentiality of inside information and ensure that the 
receiver of such information understands his/her responsibility of maintaining the confidentiality of 
such information.
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13. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Review on the Risk Management and Internal Control System
During the year, the Board hosted a number of meetings to review the Group’s business operation and risk 
management, changes to such risks and response capability, the internal control relating to key business 
operations, compliance, as well as the evaluation of significant issues arising from internal and external audit 
reports. At the meeting, the Board also reviewed the comprehensive assessment results of subsidiaries in 
relation to their respective principal activities of control and risk management. Efforts were also made to 
ensure that the functional departments for internal audit and risk management have reviewed the supporting 
documents to the management’s self-analysis of risk management and internal control.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy of resources for internal audit, accounting and financial reporting 
of the Group and staff qualification and experiences. Following its business development, the Group will 
review the overall resources for accounting, internal audit and financial reporting on an on-going basis, 
and continue to boost staff recruitment and training as well as the investment in and budget of information 
technology systems.

14. INVESTOR RELATIONS MANAGEMENT
Investor relations management refers to the boost of recognition and loyalty of investors to the Company 
through efficient communications, with the aim to further achieve value maximization. During the Reporting 
Period, the Company strictly and fully disclosed relevant information to investors in accordance with relevant 
regulations, and timely disclosed important information and relevant progress which may influence the 
interests of the investors through regular or temporary bulletin, striving to improve the quality of information 
disclosure.

Through active activities related to investor relations, the Company aims at improving transparency, 
strengthening communication, making investors better understand the business of the Company and feel 
confident toward its future development, having the Company recognized and supported by the market, so 
that the development potential and actual value of the Company can be fully reflected in the market.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company presents their report together with the audited 
financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the 
year ended 31 December 2017 (the “Year”).

KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES

2017 2016 Change
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

Revenue 36,581,679 33,007,917 10.83%
Profit before taxation 1,570,565 1,797,895 (12.64%)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 408,107 806,066 (49.37%)
Diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of 

the Company (RMB) 0.21 0.41 (48.78%)
Diluted net assets per share attributable to owners of 

the Company (RMB) 6.60 6.12 7.84%
Net cash generated from operating activities 3,535,211 2,170,645 62.86%

Note 1: Reason for choosing the key financial figures and relationship with the Group’s objective

The Company is a joint stock limited company registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the H shares of 
which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Group is principally engaged 
in electronic high-tech, retail and consumer products, trade logistics and real estate businesses. It is a group with 
comprehensive businesses. The selection of key financial figures can prompt the Group to conduct in-depth research 
and understand the changes in market demand including the changes in consumer goods market. The key financial 
figures can also prompt the Group to assess the performance of the Group’s production throughout the Year, correctly 
determine the direction of production development of the Group, optimise related products upgrading and focus on 
professional fields. Strengthening the management of the relevant key financial figures of the Group can enhance the 
competitiveness of the Group.

Note 2: Trends represented by each key financial figure

The revenue, profit before taxation, profit attributable to owners of the Company and diluted earnings per share 
attributable to owners of the Company are the most basic and most important financial figures. Although the key 
financial figures of the Year indicate a decline as compared to last year, the key financial figures can reflect that while the 
Group is focusing on its business after its exit of the residential real estate development business, the business activities 
of the Group still remain normal. The Group will strengthen its internal management work and minimise the Company’s 
various costs so as to further assess the Group’s profit generated from its operations and enable the Group to make 
more correct business decisions. The key financial figure of diluted net assets per share reflects the real interest of the 
controlling shareholder of the Company after conversion of the permanent subordinate convertible securities issued 
by the Company. The growth of this financial figure indicates that the Group continues to create value with reasonable 
capital and debt structure and potential for investment. The key financial figure of net cash generated from operating 
activities is the core operating indicator of the Group. The health level of cash flow is closely related to the business 
development of the Company. The net cash generated from the Company’s operating activities for the Year increased 
significantly year-on-year. It shows that the Company has made great strides in industrial competitiveness and strategic 
customer cooperation.

For further information analysis on major trends, please refer to “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

Note 3: Difference between the key financial figures and financial statements

No difference is noted between the key financial figures and the Financial Statements.



110 AVIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Report of the Directors

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the current principal activities of its 
subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the Financial Statements.

The Group is an investment holding company with diversified strategies and is principally engaged in high-tech 
electronic products, retails and consumer products, trading and logistics business and real estate in China.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Further discussion and analysis of the principal business activities, including a business review of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2017, an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business and the 
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, are set out in the paragraph headed “Business Review” under 
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

THE MAIN RISKS
Business Environment Risk
In 2017, the global economy slowly recovered and the global economy showed signs of stabilisation in the short 
term. The year of 2017 is an important year for the implementation of the “13th Five-Year Plan” in China, and is a 
year of deepening structural reforms on the supply side. China’s economy has shifted from a high-speed growth 
stage to a high-quality development stage. As affected by deep institutional mechanisms, the domestic economy is 
still facing traditional overcapacity, low real economy investment efficiency and structural imbalances in the financial 
and real economy, finance and real estate and financial systems. Changes in the international and domestic 
political, economic and social environment, as well as government policies, laws and regulations, etc., may have a 
significant impact on the Group’s business, financial conditions and operating performance.

The Group will build business model tools to enhance strategic planning ideas to respond to changes in the 
business environment, conduct research and analysis of macroeconomic policies, macroeconomics, business 
environment and industry policies and formulate countermeasures through relevant departments in response to 
the impact of policy changes. This reduces the sensitivity of the Group’s businesses to the risks of the business 
environment.

Innovation Risk
Due to the rapid technological upgrading of the Group’s high-tech business, the lack of research and development 
investment or innovation capability will lead to high-tech products failing to meet the market demands and facing 
the risk of being eliminated. In addition, when the Group faces the market environment with rapid consumption 
upgrades and customer needs which are constantly changing, insufficient awareness of overall innovation will lead 
to bottlenecks in the Group’s business growth. 

In response to the innovation risk, on the one hand, the Group will strengthen the construction of innovative talents, 
establish a sound innovation and incentive mechanism and create a culture of organisational innovation, and on the 
other hand, the Group will strengthen independent research and development investment and raise awareness of 
patent protection in order to reduce the innovation risk faced by the Group. 

Exchange Risk
As part of the Group’s businesses are settled in foreign currencies and there are frequent fluctuations in 
international exchange rates, the Group is exposed to the risk of exchange losses. The exchange risk may lead to 
the economic loss of the Company. 
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In response to the exchange risk, the Group requires subsidiaries that are principally engaged in international 
business to promptly report the exchange information to the Group. The Group strengthens the collection, analysis 
and identification of foreign exchange risk information and formulates standard response procedures to reduce 
the impact of exchange risk. The Group will also select appropriate financial products to reduce the impact of 
exchange risk. 

Overseas Operation Risk
Due to the wide range of national conditions and different political and economic environments of various countries, 
the operation of the Group’s overseas business faces the diversified risk in deepening the old market and opening 
up the new markets. In addition, the management work of some overseas projects is also affected by overseas 
political and economic environment. Therefore there is risk that the operation progress of the overseas projects 
cannot meet the expectations. 

The Group will establish sound system and procedures to conduct full-process management of overseas projects. 
Before proceeding with the overseas projects, the Group will conduct prudent and comprehensive evaluation on 
the feasibility of the overseas projects and assess the business management capabilities of the Group. During the 
process of the overseas projects development, the Group will establish risk warning indicators and monitoring 
systems to strengthen daily supervision. After the completion of overseas projects, a post-evaluation mechanism 
will be established by the Group. The above measures will enable the Group to reduce the risk of overseas 
operations.

Recovery Risk of Accounts Receivable
The products of many subsidiaries of the Group are based on the provision of credit sales for customers. If 
those subsidiaries fail to reconcile their accounts with customers in a timely manner and there are no tracking 
management and analysis on overdue receivables with collection measures lacking of strength and timeliness, it will 
not be conducive to the timely recovery of accounts receivables. This may have a material adverse effect on the 
Group or its subsidiaries.

Many subsidiaries of the Group have established receivables management systems. They established market 
analysis mechanism and continued to focus on customer credit risk. They continuously tracked and managed the 
downstream customers’ daily operations, credit status and other information and conducted dynamic management 
on their credit ratings and credit limits. In the future, the Group will further strengthen its system and internal control 
recommendations for the subsidiaries, urge them to improve their management systems on accounts receivable 
and customer credit, establish risk early warning system and reduce the risk posed by accounts receivable to the 
Group as much as possible. 

In addition to the above main risks, there may be other risks and unfavorable factors. The Company will actively 
respond to various tasks. Investors are suggested to seek the opinions of investment advisors or make judgment 
on their own before investing in the Company’s securities.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group promotes green development, actively implements energy saving and emissions reduction and 
continuously promotes the development of environmental protection. The Group strengthens clean production and 
applies new technologies to promote a low-carbon economy. The Group actively carries out green environmental 
promotion activities. During its daily operations, it advocates that employees shall save paper, electricity and water. 
The production-oriented enterprises of the Group actively builds internal energy management systems and energy 
management centers to improve energy efficiency. The Shenzhen factories of Shennan Circuit Co., Ltd which is 
a subsidiary of the Company have obtained the ISO 14001 environmental management system certification. AVIC 
International Renewable Energy Development Co., Ltd has provided energy-saving management services and made 
contributions to the green and environmental protection and harmonious development of the entire society.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS, EMPLOYEES AND OTHER 
STAKEHOLDERS
The Group has always complied with its commitment to business ethics. The Group identifies and seeks to achieve 
win-win results in every commercial activity, and spares no effort to create value for suppliers, customers, society 
and other stakeholders. For suppliers, we adhere to the principle of fair and prudent selection and establish a 
long-term cooperation mechanism. For customers, we continuously improve our services and provide high-quality 
and reasonably priced products. For employees, we remain people-oriented and attach great importance to the 
interests of our employees. For other stakeholders, we institutionalise and systemise social welfare activities and 
promote social development through commercial activities.

Relationship with Suppliers 
The Group consistently establishes good and lasting supply and demand relationships with the suppliers which 
legally exist under the laws with normal operation and sound financial condition. The purpose is to ensure the 
stability of the supply of required goods. For example, the raw materials and other commodities which are required 
by the electronic high-tech business of the Group usually come from suppliers with which the Group has already 
established cooperative relationships. In order to maintain the high standard quality and reputation of the products, 
we also purchase the required commodities from the suppliers in accordance with the market conditions and 
market price. Our priority selection is to purchase raw materials and equipment with good quality from large 
reputable suppliers. 

The Group usually implements various measures to monitor the performance of suppliers. The monitoring measures 
include sampling inspections and field inspections. When entering into a supply agreement with a supplier, the 
Group requires the supplier to provide goods that meet the quality requirements under the agreement and be 
responsible for any product defects. Our supply agreements do not have an automatic renewal clause. 

Relationship with Customers
The Group is customer-centric and puts emphasis on the quality of products delivered and the quality of services 
provided. The Group strictly controls every aspect of production of products and provision of services so as to 
ensure the satisfaction of the customers. The Group complies with the Product Quality Law of People’s Republic 
of China and the relevant regulations of the Group to provide the customers with products and services that meet 
the required standards and also assume responsibility for after-sales. According to the rules and regulations of 
different industries, the Group usually collects prepayments from customers and collects the final payments after 
the products have been delivered and accepted or the services have been provided and accepted. The Group 
pays great attention on customer information protection and implements strict confidentiality rules and regulations 
to protect the information obtained during the process of sales and handling customer complaints. In addition, the 
Group has certain potential for providing customers with customised products and services by relying on its good 
reputation and technical support.
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Relationship with Employees
The Group provides competitive compensation packages to attract and motivate employees. The Group regularly 
reviews employees’ compensation plans and makes necessary adjustments to meet market standards. The Group 
also provides training and development opportunities to the employees so that they can perform at their best to 
achieve the goals of the Group.

At the end of 2017, the Group had a total 39,057 employees and the total number of employees increased by 651 
over 2016. In the year of 2017, the Group incurred staff costs of approximately RMB4,220,025,000. Based on 
the position sequence combining with human resources strategies, the Group has established a payment system 
that was oriented by employees’ performance and competency. Through the performance appraisal system, the 
Group correlates the annual business objectives with the performance appraisal of the employees. The correlation 
provided an effective guarantee for the recruitment, retention and motivation of the Group’s talents. The Group 
has established AVIC Business School which provides the employees with systematic training and fair promotion 
opportunities to help the employees continuously improve the accumulation of knowledge, skills and experience 
and realise the value of their lives. In addition, The Group pays all statutory social insurance and welfare benefits for 
all employees who have already established labor relations with the Company. The Group has established a love 
fund and a psychological counseling hotline which cares for employees’ mental health during their spare time and 
helps those who are in life difficulties to resolve their immediate needs.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Company is a state-owned enterprise incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). It is governed 
by laws and regulations of the PRC and regulated by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration 
Commission of the State Council of PRC and other relevant regulatory authorities. The Group strictly abides by 
domestic laws and regulations such as the Company Law of PRC, the Securities Law of PRC, the Environmental 
Protection Law of PRC and Administrative Measures on Supervision and Management of State-owned Assets 
Transactions. The relevant provisions on State-owned assets supervision further protect the interests of the Group 
in asset transactions and were conducive to the maintenance and appreciation of assets of the Group.

The H shares of the Company are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 
The Company is also regulated by the Stock Exchange and Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. The 
Group operates strictly in accordance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong) and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and other laws 
and regulations. The relevant provisions of the Listing Rules ensure that the Group will continue to seek more fair 
and reasonable opportunities in various transactions, which will help protect the interests of shareholders.

In addition, the Group conducts business in different countries and needs to comply with the relevant laws and 
regulations in the places where business develops. The Group strictly abides by various laws and regulations in 
different countries and regions in the course of its operations, which promotes the standardised operation of the 
Group and helps protect the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. During the year ended 31 December 
2017, the Group had complied in all material respects with various laws and regulations of different countries and 
regions.

For details of the above environmental policies and performance, relationship with suppliers, customers, employees 
and other stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and regulations, please refer to the Environmental, Social 
and Governance Report which is to be published by the Company before 30 June 2018.
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SUBSIDIARIES
Information on the principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the Group is set out in Note 13 and 14 to 
the Financial Statements respectively.

GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION OF MARKETS
Information on business segments of the Group is set out in Note 6 to the Financial Statements.

RESULTS
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in the Financial Statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2017, the distributable reserves of the Group were approximately RMB5,490,869,000 as 
reported in the statutory accounts prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the 
PRC.

ALLOCATION OF PROFITS
According to the Company Law of the PRC and the articles of association of the Company, when distributing net 
profit each year, the Company shall set aside 10% of its net profit as reported in the PRC statutory accounts for the 
statutory general reserve fund (except where the fund has reached 50% of the Company’s registered share capital). 
This reserve cannot be used for purposes other than those for which they are created and are not distributable as 
cash dividends. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the statutory general reserve fund of the Company is as 
follows:

2017 2016
% RMB’000 % RMB’000

Statutory general reserve fund 18.91% 220,507 16.21% 189,058
     

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company for the year are set out in the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity, Note 27 and Note 47 to the Financial Statements.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the Group’s operating results, assets and liabilities for the past five financial years ended 31 
December 2017 is set out in the section headed “Financial Highlights” in this annual report.



1152017年度報告 中航國際控股股份有限公司

Report of the Directors

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
As at 31 December 2017, the Company has not entered into or maintained any contracts in respect of the 
management or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s total purchases from the five largest suppliers were 
RMB3,381,702,000, accounting for approximately 11.35% of the Group’s total purchases for the year ended 31 
December 2017. The largest supplier accounted for approximately 3.59% of the Group’s total purchases.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s sales to the five largest customers accounted for 
approximately 19.73% (2016: approximately 22.36%) of the Group’s turnover for the year. The largest customer 
accounted for approximately 4.90% (2016: approximately 8.94%) of the Group’s turnover.

As at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), or any 
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) are 
interested in the five largest suppliers or five largest customers of the Group.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Details of major properties held for investment of the Group are set out in Note 11 to the Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 10 
to the Financial Statements.

BANK LOANS
Information on the bank loans of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out in Note 29 to the 
Financial Statements.

TAXATION
Details of the Group’s taxation for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 40 to the Financial 
Statements.

TAXATION POLICY
Pursuant to the relevant income tax laws of the PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group are subject to income tax at the 
applicable rate of 25% unless preferential tax rate were applicable.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2017, to the knowledge of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company, the following 
parties (other than the Directors, supervisors or chief executive of the Company) had interests, or short positions in 
the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed 
to the Company or otherwise notified to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”):

Long positions in the Shares:

Name of shareholder Capacity

Number and 
class of 

securities

Approximate 
percentage of 

the same class 
of securities

Approximate 
percentage of 

total registered 
share capital

Aviation Industry Corporation of China, 
Ltd. (“Aviation Industry”)

Interest of controlled 
corporation

1,634,608,792 
domestic shares

(Note 1)

196.24% 140.17%

AVIC International Holding Corporation 
(“AVIC International”)

Interest of controlled 
corporation

1,634,608,792 
domestic shares

(Note 1)

196.24% 140.17%

AVIC International Shenzhen Company 
Limited (“AVIC Shenzhen”)

Beneficial owner 429,774,574 
domestic shares

(Note 1)

51.60% 36.85%

Other shareholders
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited Interest of controlled 

corporations
57,144,000 

H shares 
(Note 2)

17.15% 4.90%

Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited Interest of controlled 
corporations

57,144,000 
H shares 
(Note 2)

17.15% 4.90%

Cheung Kong Investment 
Company Limited

Interest of controlled 
corporation

28,573,000 
H shares 
(Note 2)

8.58% 2.45%

Empire Grand Limited Beneficial owner 28,573,000 
H shares 
(Note 2)

8.58% 2.45%

Hutchison Whampoa Limited Interest of controlled 
corporation

28,571,000 
H shares 
(Note 2)

8.58% 2.45%

Hutchison International Limited Beneficial owner 28,571,000 
H shares 
(Note 2)

8.58% 2.45%



1172017年度報告 中航國際控股股份有限公司

Report of the Directors

Name of shareholder Capacity

Number and 
class of 

securities

Approximate 
percentage of 

the same class 
of securities

Approximate 
percentage of 

total registered 
share capital

Jiang Jian Jun Beneficial owner & 
interest of controlled 
corporation

15,398,000
H shares 
(Note 3)

4.62% 1.32%

China Silver Investments 
Development Ltd

Beneficial owner 15,398,000
H shares 
(Note 3)

4.62% 1.32%

Notes:

1. Aviation Industry owns 62.52% of the equity interest in AVIC International which in turn owns 100% equity interest in AVIC 
Shenzhen. Hence, Aviation Industry is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the Shares in which AVIC International and 
AVIC Shenzhen are interested in, respectively.

AVIC International owns 100% of the equity interest in AVIC Shenzhen. Hence, AVIC International is deemed, or taken to 
be, interested in all the Shares in which AVIC Shenzhen is interested.

As at 31 December 2017:

(1) AVIC International held: (A) 437,264,906 domestic shares, representing approximately 37.50% of the issued 
share capital of the Company; and (B) perpetual subordinated convertible securities in the outstanding amount of 
RMB2,663,465,514 which may be converted into 767,569,312 domestic shares at the initial conversion price of 
RMB3.47 (subject to the adjustment pursuant to the terms of perpetual subordinated convertible securities).

(2) AVIC Shenzhen held: (A) 395,709,091 domestic shares, representing approximately 33.93% of the issued share 
capital of the Company; and (B) perpetual subordinated convertible securities in the outstanding amount of 
RMB118,207,225 which may be converted into 34,065,483 domestic shares at the initial conversion price of 
RMB3.47 (subject to the adjustment pursuant to the terms of perpetual subordinated convertible securities).

(3) Beijing Raise Science Co., Ltd. (the “Beijing Raise”) held the perpetual subordinated convertible securities (the 
“PSCS”) issued by the Company in total of RMB1,058,729,021. In October 2017, Beijing Raise transferred all 
the PSCS at the consideration of RMB1,137,943,200 which was put on record by the State-owned assets 
management department to AVIC International. Beijing Raise ceased to hold any PSCS issued by the Company.

2. Empire Grand Limited (“Empire Grand”) holds 28,573,000 H Shares and Empire Grand is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Cheung Kong Investment Company Limited, which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cheung Kong (Holdings) 
Limited. Accordingly, Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited was deemed to be interested in the 28,573,000 H shares held by 
Empire Grand.

Hutchison International Limited (“HIL”) holds 28,571,000 H shares and HIL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hutchison 
Whampoa Limited. Hutchison Whampoa Limited was deemed to be interested in the 28,571,000 H shares held by HIL. 
Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited is entitled to exercise or control the exercise of more than one-third of the voting power 
at the general meetings of Hutchison Whampoa Limited. Accordingly, Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited was deemed to 
be interested in the 28,571,000 H shares held by HIL. In addition, Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of CK Hutchison Holdings Limited. Accordingly, CK Hutchison Holdings Limited was deemed to be interested 
in the 57,144,000 H shares in total held by Empire Grand and HIL.

3. Mr. Jiang Jian Jun (“Mr. Jiang”) beneficially owned the entire equity interest of China Silver Investments Development 
Ltd., which held 15,398,000 H shares. Accordingly, Mr. Jiang was deemed to be interested in the H shares held by China 
Silver Investments Development Ltd..

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)
Long positions in the Shares: (continued)
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 26 to the Financial Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association and the laws of the 
PRC, which require the Company to firstly offer new shares to the existing shareholders to purchase according to 
their respective proportions of shareholding.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wu Guang Quan (chairman until 15 February 2017 and resigned on 15 February 2017)
Mr. Liu Hong De (chairman since 15 February 2017)
Mr. Lai Wei Xuan, vice chairman
Mr. You Lei, vice chairman
Mr. Pan Lin Wu (resigned on 15 February 2017)
Ms. Zhou Chun Hua (appointed on 15 February 2017)
Mr. Chen Hong Liang
Mr. Liu Jun

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Wong Wai Ling
Mr. Wu Wei
Mr. Wei Wei

Each of Mr. Lai Wei Xuan, Mr. You Lei, Mr. Chen Hong Liang, Mr. Liu Jun, Ms. Wong Wai Ling, Mr. Wu Wei and 
Mr. Wei Wei had entered into a service agreement with the Company which commences from 18 June 2015 and 
will expire at the 2017 annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2018. Each of Mr. Liu Hong De and 
Ms. Zhou Chun Hua had entered into a service agreement with the Company which commences from 15 February 
2017 and will expire at the 2017 annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2018.

No Director or Supervisor has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company 
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
Profiles of the Directors and Supervisors are set out in the section of “Profile of Directors and Supervisors” in this 
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
As at 31 December 2017, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, supervisors of the 
Company is interested in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions 
which the Directors, supervisors or chief executives were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the 
SFO) or which are required to be entered into the register maintained by the Company under section 352 of the 
SFO or which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for 
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At any time during the year ended 31 December 2017 was the Company, its subsidiaries or its holding company a 
party to any arrangement to enable any Directors, supervisors or management members of the Company to acquire 
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporates.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
As at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors or Supervisors had any significant interest, either direct or indirect, 
in any contract or arrangement of significance to the business of the Company.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance has been entered into, or was subsisting 
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during 
the year ended 31 December 2017.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and Supervisors are set out in Note 48 to the Financial Statements.

The executive Directors do not receive any emolument from the Company. The emoluments of the independent 
non-executive Directors are determined with reference to the economic situation and their responsibilities and 
duties within the Company.

DIVIDENDS
The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.05 per share for the year ended 31 December 
2017. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting and subject to further 
announcement(s) in respect to the book closure dates, record date and payment date, the proposed 2017 final 
dividend is expected to be distributed to shareholders on or around 8 August 2018. 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

2017 2016
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

Total borrowings 22,843,811 18,589,087
Total liabilities 45,748,322 39,414,224
Non-controlling interests 14,821,698 13,327,266
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 12,993,036 12,039,247
Total assets 73,563,056 64,780,737
Borrowings to equity ratio* 82.13% 73.28%
Liabilities to equity ratio* 164.48% 155.38%

   

* Borrowings to equity ratio=Total borrowings at the end of the year/Total equity of the Company at the end of the year

* Liabilities to equity ratio=Total liabilities at the end of the year/Total equity of the Company at the end of the year
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
As at 31 December 2017, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group amounted to approximately 
RMB12,222,026,000 (2016: RMB9,020,381,000), which were mainly derived from the following sources:

• Cash and bank deposits at the beginning of the year;

• Bank loans, borrowings from related parties; and

• Revenue from operations.

As at 31 December 2017, the total borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately RMB22,843,811,000 
(2016: RMB18,589,087,000) with annual interest rate ranging from 0% to 6.88% (2016: 0% to 6.44%), of which 
the current borrowings amounted to approximately RMB12,298,881,000 (2016: RMB9,608,905,000) and the non-
current borrowings amounted to RMB10,544,930,000 (2016: RMB8,980,182,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the capital expenditure of the Group amounted to approximately 
RMB8,308,938,000, the details of which are set forth below:

Company Name Project Name Amount
RMB’000

Fiyta Ancillary construction for the watch industrial base in Guangming 
New Area, and purchase of other long-term assets

43,244

Engineering Company Purchase of a new office building in Colombo, capital of Sri Lanka 58,686
Hunan AVIC Fastening 

Systems Co., Ltd. 
(湖南中航緊固系統
有限公司)

Hengyang Songmu Industrial Park Project 62,166

Heng Yang AVIC 
Electroplating Centre 
Co., Ltd. 
(衡陽中航電鍍中心
有限公司)

Phase I of the sewage treatment station project 26,299

Xiamen Company Self-owned part of AVIC Zijin Plaza (中航紫金廣場) 5,926
Tianma Company Project of the 6th generation of AMOLED production lines for 

Wuhan Tian Ma, and various technological transformation 
projects

7,350,366

Shandong New Ship 
Building Co., Ltd.

Port construction and equipment 27,105

RED Company Integrated Energy Saving Project in Tai An 8,282
SCC Research and development projects, technological transformation 

projects, and base construction for Nantong Project and Wuxi 
Shennan

624,317

Guangzhou Company Project construction and maintenance of the bitumen base 57,769
Beijing Company Installation of cement equipment, project of Humboldt China 

Design Institute, expansion of East-African Operation Centre, 
and investment projects in Cuba and Zambia

44,778

   

Total 8,308,938
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)
The Group is expected to incur a capital expenditure of approximately RMB16,565,630,000 for the year ended 31 
December 2018, with details as follows:

Company Name Project Name 2018 
Amount

(RMB’ 000)

Tianma Company Wuhan Tianma G6 project, Xiamen Tianma G6 project, 
the organic light-emittng G5.5 line project, etc.

14,372,830

SCC Multilayer printed circuit board project and technological 
transformation project

1,031,540

Fiyta Engineering investment in the timepiece industrial base in Guang 
Ming New District, etc.

363,000

Engineering Company Acquisition of upstream and downstream enterprises 500,000
AFM Company Construction and equipment investment in the Hengyang factory 101,000
Xiamen Company Project on the office building of AVIC Zijin Plaza 27,500
AVIC Lutong Industrial 

Co., Ltd.
Construction of the bitumen base in Tianjin and other related 

construction at the base
71,000

RED Company Projects in Luoyuan County, Dong’an, Tian’an, etc. 74,460
Weihai Shipyard New workshops at the dock, infrastructure renovation, etc. 17,700
Beijing Company Establishment of the engineering machinery operations center 6,600

   
Total 16,565,630

   

PLEDGED ASSETS
As at 31 December 2017, bank loans of RMB2,533,085,000 (31 December 2016: RMB948,043,000) of the Group 
were secured by the following:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and other receivables – 199,877
Buildings 1,167,465 942,810
Construction-in-process 27,042 –
Land use rights 375,821 200,327
Inventory 4,688 –

   

1,575,016 1,343,014
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LOAN-TO-EQUITY RATIO
As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s loan-to-equity ratio (total borrowings divided by shareholders’ equity) was 
82.13% (2016: 73.28%), whilst the liability-to-equity ratio (total liabilities divided by shareholders’ equity) was 
164.48% (2016: 155.38%).

ENTRUSTED DEPOSITS AND OVERDUE TERM DEPOSITS
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company did not have entrusted deposit or overdue term deposit in 
any form.

ISSUE, PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
During the year ended 31 December 2017, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries issued, purchased, sold 
or redeemed the Company’s listed securities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
As at 31 December 2017, the Group had approximately 39,057 employees (2016: 38,406), with employee-related 
costs of approximately RMB4,220,025,000 (2016: RMB4,031,585,000). The Group formulated market-competitive 
remuneration policies with reference to market conditions and individual employees’ performance.

SOCIAL INSURANCE SCHEMES
The Group has participated in the retirement insurance scheme and health insurance scheme managed by Chinese 
governmental authorities. Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations, the Group shall make monthly contributions of 
retirement insurance fund and health insurance fund to such governmental authorities, which amount to 22% and 
8% of the monthly salary of its employees respectively. Of such contributions, the Group shall bear 14% and 6% 
respectively, with the remaining amounts borne by the employees.

Pursuant to the above social insurance schemes, governmental authorities shall pay pensions to the retired 
employees of the Group and bear general medical expenses for the employees of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the fees withdrawn from the social insurance schemes of the Group 
amounted to approximately RMB478,667,000 (2016: approximately RMB452,887,000). 

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Liu Hong De and Ms. Zhou Chun Hua were appointed as executive Directors of the Company at the 
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 15 February 2017, with a term up to the 2017 annual 
general meeting to be held by the Company in 2018. Mr. Wu Guang Quan and Mr. Pan Lin Wu no longer served as 
executive Directors of the Company due to change of job assignments. For details, please refer to the Company’s 
announcements dated 13 December 2016, 28 December 2016 and 15 February 2017 and the circular dated 30 
December 2016.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
As the Group’s products are mainly distributed domestically and its export business is mainly settled in US dollar or 
HK dollar, due to the greater fluctuation of exchange rate in recent years, the Group has been managing its foreign 
exchange risks and actively addressing the exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS
As at 31 December 2017, the Group had the following financial guarantees outstanding:

Guarantor

Guarantor’s 
relationship 
with the 
Company Guaranteed party

Guaranteed party’s 
relationship with 
the Company

2017 
Outstanding 

amounts 
guaranteed

2016 
Outstanding 

amounts 
guaranteed

RMB’000 RMB’000

Tianma Company Subsidiary of 
the Company

Shanghai Tianma Organic Light-Emitting 
Technology Company Limited* 
(上海天馬有機發光顯示技術有限公司)

Associated company 757,386 682,572

Beijing Company Subsidiary of 
the Company

Tuofu Yuanyang Shipping Company Limited* 
(拓富遠洋海運有限公司)

Third Party 126,168 –

Xiamen Company Subsidiary of 
the Company

Xiamen Tianma Microelectronics Company Limited* 
(廈門天馬微電子有限公司)

The guarantor holds 
6% equity interests 
in the guaranteed 
company

94,966 176,000

Engineering Company Subsidiary of 
the Company

CATIC Construction Engineering Company Limited* 
(中航建築工程有限公司)

Associated company 53,900 –

Beijing Company Subsidiary of 
the Company

Taizhou AVIC Shipbuilding Heavy Industry Limited* 
(泰州中航船舶重工有限公司)

Third Party – 347,040

Beijing Company Subsidiary of 
the Company

Zhengli Ocean Engineering Company Limited* 
(正力海洋工程有限公司)

Third party – 11,710

TED Company Subsidiary of 
the Company

AVIC Wang Xin Beijing Science and Technology Co., 
Ltd.* (中航網信（北京）科技有限公司)

Associated company – 25,000

Engineering Company Subsidiary of 
the Company

CATIC Construction Engineering Company Limited* 
(中航建築工程有限公司)

Associated company – 127,400

The Company – Shenzhen AVIC Resources Co., Ltd.* 
(深圳中航資源有限公司)

Fellow subsidiary – 714,000

The Company – Qinghai AVIC Resources Co., Ltd.* 
(青海中航資源有限公司)

Fellow subsidiary – 475,470

The Company – Kunming AVIC Phosphorus Chemical Co., Ltd.* 
(昆明市中航磷化工有限公司)

Fellow subsidiary – 34,000

The Company – Yunnan Hongfu Fertilizer Co., Ltd.* 
(雲南紅富化肥有限公司)

Fellow subsidiary – 6,430

The Company – Qinghai AVIC Silicon Material Co., Ltd.* 
(青海中航矽材料有限公司)

Fellow subsidiary – 23,344

      

1,032,420 2,622,966
      

* The English names of these companies are management’s best efforts at translating the Chinese names of these 
companies as no English names have been registered or available.
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MAJOR LITIGATION
On 13 June 2014, Tang Energy Group Limited (the “Tang Energy”), Soaring Wind Energy LLC. (“Soaring Wind”) 
and its other group members (collectively, the “Claimants”) filed an arbitration claim with the American Arbitration 
Association against CATIC USA Inc (“CATIC USA”), the controlling shareholders of the Company and subsidiaries 
of the Company (including, among others, Aviation Industry, AVIC International and RED Company) (collectively, 
the “Respondents”) in respect of a dispute (the “Dispute”) arising out of a joint venture agreement (the “Arbitration 
Claim”). The Arbitration Claim is the claim brought by the Claimants against the Respondents in respect of a dispute 
arising out of a joint venture agreement (the “JV Agreement”) entered into between Tang Energy and CATIC USA 
in 2008 whereby the Claimants treated CATIC USA as the agent of Aviation Industry in the USA, and all involved 
Aviation Industry groups and their subsidiaries are deemed as a “single group”, all of which shall be bound by the 
exclusivity provisions under the JV Agreement. Therefore, the Claimants seek damages totalling US$2.25 billion 
from the Respondents for the alleged breach of the JV Agreement. After the Respondents receiving final decision 
on the Arbitration Claim issued by the International Centre for Dispute Resolution of International Arbitration Tribunal 
in December 2015 (the “Decision”), pursuant to which the Respondents were jointly and severally liable to pay 
to the Claimants damages and fees (including but not limited to compensation, attorneys’ fees and expenses) in 
relation to the Dispute in the total amount (the “Amount”) of approximately US$71,000,000, the Group had engaged 
a law firm to assist in the Arbitration Claim and has taken further legal action against the Decision. In March 2016, 
the Group had filed an application to the competent court to oppose the enforcement of the Decision and request 
the revocation of the Decision (the “Opposition Application”). As at the date of this announcement the Statement of 
Defense of the Opposition Application has been completed and the court has not made the ultimate final decision. 
The impact of the Arbitration Claim on the Company is subject to the results of the Opposition Application and 
other progress in the future. Meanwhile, the Decision has not determined the proportion of the Amount to be 
assumed by each of the Respondents. The payment of the Amount is still pending the decision of the court and 
there is uncertainty in relation to the enforcement of the Decision. The Company will made further announcement if 
there is further development. For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 29 April 2015 
and 22 December 2015.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this announcement, the Directors were not aware of any litigation or 
claim of material importance pending or threatened against any member of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ CONFIRMATION ON CONTINUING 
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the continuing connected transactions of the Group set out 
below, and confirmed that these transactions had been entered into, in accordance with the relevant agreements, 
by the Group in the ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial terms which are fair and 
reasonable and in the interest of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Among the related party transactions disclosed in note 46 “significant related party transactions” to the Financial 
Statements, the following transactions constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions for 
the Company under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules and are required to be disclosed in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 and Rule 
14A.72 of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that the Company complied with the disclosure requirements 
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please see below the information required to be disclosed in 
compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Material events
1. Discloseable Transaction, Connected Transaction, Very Substantial Acquisition and Very Substantial 

Disposal – Acquisition of 2 Subject Companies Including Xiamen Tianma by Tianma Company and Proposed 
A Shares Placing of Tianma Company
On 10 March 2017, Tianma Company entered into two separate framework agreements (the “Xiamen 
Tianma Framework Agreement” and the “Tianma Organic Framework Agreement”, collectively, the 
“Framework Agreements”) with (a) AVIC International, AVIC International Shenzhen Company Limited (“AVIC 
Shenzhen”), China National Aero Technology Xiamen Company Limited (中國航空技術廈門有限公司) (the 
“Xiamen Company”) and Xiamen Jincai Industrial Development Company Limited (廈門金財產業發展有限
公司) (“Xiamen Jincai”) in relation to the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Xiamen Tianma Company; 
and (b) Shanghai Industrial Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Investment Company”) and Shanghai 
Zhangjiang (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Zhangjiang Company”) in relation to the acquisition of 60% equity 
interest in Tianma Organic Company (the “Xiamen Tianma Acquisition” and the “Tianma Organic Acquisition”, 
collectively, the “Acquisitions”).

Pursuant to the Framework Agreements, the consideration for the Acquisitions will be fully settled by issue 
of consideration shares (the “Consideration Shares”) to the vendors under the Framework Agreements upon 
completion of the respective Acquisitions at an issue price of RMB17.23 per A share, which was determined 
with reference to and not lower than the benchmarked price of the A shares, being 90% of the Average 
Price for the Acquisitions (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 10 March 2017). The 
maximum number of Consideration Shares to be issued under the Xiamen Tianma Framework Agreement 
and the Tianma Organic Framework Agreement will be 613,821,008 and 39,267,579, respectively.

Based on the maximum number of Consideration Shares to be allotted and issued and the issue price of 
RMB17.23 per A share, it is expected that the maximum consideration for the Xiamen Tianma Acquisition 
and the Tianma Organic Acquisition will be RMB10,576,135,967.80 and RMB676,580,386.17, respectively.

The Acquisitions are not inter-conditional with each other.

Pursuant to the Framework Agreements, Tianma Company proposes to issue not more than 111,987,085 
new A shares (the “Placing Shares”) to not more than 10 investors (the “Proposed A Shares Placing”). The 
placing price of the Placing Shares shall not be lower than 90% of the Average Price for the Proposed A 
Shares Placing (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 10 March 2017) and shall not be 
lower than the issue price of the Consideration Shares pursuant to the Framework Agreements, which is 
subject to the rules and regulations of CSRC and Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The proceeds to be raised 
under the Proposed A Shares Placing will be used for the construction of LTPS and colour filter (CF) 
production line of Xiamen Tianma Company, including expenses on purchase of equipment and installation 
which is in line with the requirement of CSRC. The success or failure of the Proposed A Shares Placing 
would not affect the Acquisitions and the Consideration Issue.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Material events (continued)
1. Discloseable Transaction, Connected Transaction, Very Substantial Acquisition and Very Substantial 

Disposal – Acquisition of 2 Subject Companies Including Xiamen Tianma by Tianma Company and Proposed 
A Shares Placing of Tianma Company (continued)
The Xiamen Tianma Acquisition constitutes a very substantial acquisition of the Company under Chapters 
14 and 14A of the Listing Rules and a connected transaction and is subject to the reporting, announcement 
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements.

On the other hand, the Tianma Organic Acquisition constitutes a discloseable transaction of the Company 
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements 
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Assuming the Acquisitions have been completed, upon issue of the Consideration Shares (the “Consideration 
Issue”) (assuming the maximum number of Consideration Shares as provided under the Framework 
Agreements are issued), the equity interest of the Company held in Tianma Company will be diluted from 
approximately 20.81% to approximately 15.98% (including 1.79% equity interest held by Xiamen Company, 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company). If Tianma Company proceeds with the Proposed A Shares 
Placing after completion of the Acquisitions, the equity interests of the Company held in Tianma Company 
will be further diluted to approximately 15.16% (including 1.70% equity interest held by Xiamen Company, 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) of the enlarged issued share capital of Tianma Company 
(assuming 111,987,085 new A Shares are issued) upon completion of the Proposed A shares Placing. Such 
dilution in interest in Tianma Company as a result of the Consideration Issue and the Proposed A Shares 
Placing will constitute a deemed disposal of interest in Tianma Company held by the Company pursuant to 
Rule 14.29 of the Listing Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under the 
Listing Rules) for the Consideration Issue and the Proposed A Shares Placing exceed(s) 75%, the dilution of 
the Company’s equity interest in Tianma Company as a result of the Consideration Issue and the Proposed 
A Shares Placing constitutes a very substantial disposal of the Company under Rule 14.06 of the Listing 
Rules and the transactions are therefore subject to announcement, reporting and Shareholders’ approval 
requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. The Acquisitions and the Proposed A shares Placing 
have been approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting 
held on 12 June 2017. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10 March 2017, the circular 
dated 28 May 2017 and the extraordinary general meeting’s poll result announcement of the Company 
dated 12 June 2017 for details.

The asset appraisal reports of Xiamen Tianma Company and Tianma Organic Company have been filed with 
the SASAC on 17 August 2017 and 22 August 2017, respectively.

On 23 August 2017, Tianma Company entered into the following formal agreements (collectively, the 
“Formal Agreements”) in relation to the Xiamen Tianma Acquisition and the Tianma Organic Acquisition as 
contemplated under the Framework Agreements:

(1) the asset acquisition agreement (the “Xiamen Tianma Formal Agreement”) in relation to the 
acquisition of an aggregate of 100% equity interest in Xiamen Tianma Company with AVIC 
International, AVIC Shenzhen, Xiamen Company and Xiamen Jincai for an aggregate consideration of 
RMB10,452,506,800 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,241,681,897); and

(2) the asset acquisition agreement (the “Tianma Organic Formal Agreement”) in relation to the 
acquisition of an aggregate of 60% equity interest in Tianma Organic Company with Shanghai 
Investment Company and Shanghai Zhangjiang Company for an aggregate consideration of 
RMB656,900,600 (equivalent to approximately HK$769,343,501).
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Material events (continued)
1. Discloseable Transaction, Connected Transaction, Very Substantial Acquisition and Very Substantial 

Disposal – Acquisition of 2 Subject Companies Including Xiamen Tianma by Tianma Company and Proposed 
A Shares Placing of Tianma Company (continued)
As Tianma Company has already distributed dividend for the year of 2016 on 26 July 2017, the issue price 
of the Consideration Shares and the placing price of the Placing Shares was adjusted to RMB17.17 per A 
Share and the consideration under the Acquisitions will be settled in full by a total of 647,024,307 A shares 
to be allotted and issued by Tianma Company as Consideration Shares and the number of Placing Shares 
will be 110,658,124. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23 August 2017.

Each of the Acquisitions and the Proposed A Shares Placing has been approved by SASAC and the 
shareholder’s meeting of Tianma Company. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8 
September and 15 September 2017 for more details.

On 6 December 2017, Tianma Company was informed by CSRC that the Consideration Issue and the 
Proposed A Shares Placing had been approved at the 68th conference meeting for 2017 of the Review 
Committee of Merger, Acquisition and Reorganisation of Listed Companies (上市公司並購重組審核委員會) 
of the CSRC convened on 6 December 2017. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6 
December 2017 for details.

On 15 January 2018, Tianma Company received a written approval from CSRC issued on 11 January 2018 
on the Consideration Issue and the Proposed A Shares Placing with a validity period of twelve months from 
the date of issue. The major terms of the approval are as follows:

1. Tianma Company was approved to issue 389,610,040 new A shares, 89,488,555 new A Shares, 
93,141,147 new A shares, 36,525,940 new A shares, 25,505,748 new A Shares and 12,752,877 new 
A shares to Xiamen Jincai, AVIC International, AVIC Shenzhen, AVIC Xiamen, Shanghai Investment 
Company and Shanghai Zhangjiang Company respectively for the Consideration Issue;

2. Tianma Company was approved to raise no more than RMB1,900,000,000 for the Proposed A 
Shares Placing.

For details, please refer to the announcement issued by the Company on 15 January 2018.

On 31 January 2018, Tianma Company completed assets transfer for its acquisition of two subject 
companies, namely Xiamen Tianma Company and Tianma Organic Company. On the date of assets transfer 
completion, Shanghai Tianma and Xiamen Tianma Company became the wholly-owned subsidiaries of 
Tianma Company respectively; hence, the Entrusted Management Agreement signed between Shanghai 
Tianma and Xiamen Tianma Company on 4 March 2016 has been terminated. Tianma Company issued 
an aggregate of 647,024,307 A Shares (equivalent to the total number of Consideration Shares under the 
Acquisitions) to six transferees, including AVIC International, AVIC Shenzhen, Xiamen Company and Xiamen 
Jincai. Such A Shares were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 2 February 2018. Please refer to the 
announcements of the Company dated 22 January 2018 and 31 January 2018 for more information.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Material events (continued)
2. Proposed Mandate in Relation to the Possible Major Disposal and Connected Transaction

On 17 May 2017, the Board resolved to dispose of 47.12% equity interest in AVIC International Vanke 
Company Limited (“AVIC Vanke”) (the “AVIC Vanke Interest”) held by the Company. As the Company and 
AVIC International both are state-owned enterprises and the AVIC Vanke Interest constitutes State-owned 
assets, the disposal of the AVIC Vanke Interest by the Company is required to go through the process 
of public tender through an equity exchange in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the 
PRC governing the disposal of State-owned assets. It is proposed that the Company will, jointly with 
AVIC International, conduct the disposal of the 60% interest in AVIC Vanke in aggregate in relation to their 
respective 47.12% and 12.88% equity interest in AVIC Vanke through China Beijing Equity Exchange.

Based on the preliminary appraised value of AVIC Vanke as at 31 December 2016, it is expected that 
the minimum bidding price for the Proposed Disposal shall be in the range of RMB1,780,440,000 to 
RMB1,876,680,000. The minimum bidding price of the AVIC Vanke Interest will be determined based on 
the appraised value of AVIC Vanke with reference to prevailing market prices subject to the approval from 
relevant regulatory authorities of State-owned assets in the PRC.

The final consideration will depend on the final bid price offered by the successful bidder for the AVIC Vanke 
Interest, but will in any event be no less than the relevant minimum bidding price.

Given that (i) AVIC International is a controlling Shareholder holding approximately 37.50% of the issued 
share capital of the Company, and it holds 100% equity interest of AVIC Shenzhen, which in turn is a 
controlling Shareholder holding approximately 33.93% of the issued share capital of the Company; and 
(ii) AVIC International directly held 12.88% equity interest in AVIC Vanke, AVIC Vanke is an associate of 
AVIC International and a connected person of the Company and the Proposed Disposal, if materialised, 
will constitute a connected transaction of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 
Accordingly, AVIC International and its associates will abstain from voting in respect of the resolution(s) 
relating to the grant of the Proposed Mandate at the forthcoming EGM.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios set out in the Listing Rules in respect of the Proposed 
Disposal are more than 25% but less than 75%, the Proposed Disposal, if materialised, will also constitute a 
major transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

As such, the Proposed Disposal and the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to the reporting, 
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapters 14 and 14A of the 
Listing Rules. The Proposed Disposal has been approved by the independent shareholders of the Company 
at the extraordinary general meeting. For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 
17 May and 18 May 2017, the circular of the Company dated 22 September 2017, and the poll results of 
the extraordinary general meeting dated 11 October 2017.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Material events (continued)
2. Proposed Mandate in Relation to the Possible Major Disposal and Connected Transaction (continued)

On 23 October 2017, the draft appraisal report of AVIC Vanke in relation to the Proposed Disposal was 
approved by Aviation Industry and the final appraised value of the 100% equity interest in AVIC Vanke was 
RMB3,847,131,600, pursuant to which, the minimum bidding price for the Proposed Disposal was set at 
RMB1,812,768,410. On 3 November 2017, the formal process of public tender in respect of the Proposed 
Disposal was set to take place at China Beijing Equity Exchange (“CBEE”) (北京產權交易所) on 6 November 
2017 in accordance with the relevant requirements applicable to the transfer of state-owned equity interest. 
The minimum bidding price for the Proposed Disposal was RMB1,812,768,410, which was determined with 
reference to the appraised value of AVIC Vanke approved by Aviation Industry.

On 2 January 2018, the Company and AVIC International entered into an equity transaction agreement 
with Hengqin Zhong Chang Sheng Qi Hang Investment Centre (Limited Partnership) (橫琴中長勝啟航投
資中心（有限合夥）) in respect of the disposal of AVIC Vanke Interest and the disposal of 12.88% equity 
interest in AVIC Vanke held by AVIC International at an aggregate consideration of RMB2,348,278,960. The 
consideration for the disposal of AVIC Vanke Interest was RMB1,844,181,743.25. Upon completion of the 
Potential Disposal, the Company will cease to have any equity interest in AVIC Vanke. For details, please 
refer to the announcement issued by the Company on 2 January 2018.

3. Disposal of 75% Equity Interest in GIB Company
On 16 June 2017, the Company announced that it intended to dispose of its 75% equity interest in 
Guangdong International Building Industrial Co., Ltd. (廣東國際大廈實業有限公司) (“GIB Company”) 
through a public tender process. The formal procedures for the public tender are proposed to commence 
on 24 August 2017. The base price for transfer of the 75% equity interest in GIB Company shall be 
RMB297,000,000.

Based on the base price of the tender for transfer of 75% equity interest in GIB Company of 
RMB297,000,000, one or more of the applicable percentage ratios set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules 
in respect of the potential disposal is/are expected to be more than 5% but less than 25%. As such, the 
potential disposal, if materialized, may constitute a discloseable transaction of the Company under Chapter 
14 of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 16 June 2017 
and 23 August 2017.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Material events (continued)
4. Proposed Spin-off and Separate Listing of SCC on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and Possible Major 

Disposal for the Company
On 13 May 2016, the Board issued an announcement in relation to possible spin-off and separate listing 
of SCC, a subsidiary of the Company which is mainly engaged in the PCB business, on Shenzhen Stock 
Exchange (the “Proposed Spin-off”). It is proposed that SCC will offer not more than 70,000,000 shares 
(the “Offer Shares”), including new shares to be issued by SCC and up to 35,000,000 existing shares to 
be sold by the Company. The indicative offer price of the A shares of SCC is expected to be RMB32.86 
per A share and the expected maximum proceeds raised from the proposed A share listing of SCC will 
be RMB2,300,000,000. The offer price per A share of SCC will depend on the domestic market condition 
of PRC at the time of the proposed A share listing with reference to the quotation from target subscribers 
or determined otherwise as agreed between SCC and the lead underwriter. The Board expected that the 
Company will have an interest of not less than 50% in SCC upon the completion of the Proposed Spin-
off and proposed A share listing, SCC will thus remain as a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. 
The Proposed Spin-off was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general 
meeting of the Company held on 26 July 2016. Please refer to the announcements of the Company issued 
on 10 April 2015 and 13 May 2016, the poll results announcement of the extraordinary general meeting 
of the Company dated 26 July 2016 and the circular despatched by the Company dated 21 June 2016, 
respectively, for more details.

On 24 October 2017, the listing of SCC’s A shares on Shenzhen Stock Exchange was approved at the tenth 
meeting of the seventeenth session of Issuance Examination Commission of CSRC. On 17 November 2017, 
SCC received a formal approval in writing from CSRC with a validity period of 12 months from 17 November 
2017.

On 6 December 2017, SCC issued 70,000,000 A shares at the offer price of RMB19.30 each upon 
completion of its initial price inquiry. The subscription payment of both online and offline offer shares 
was completed on 4 December 2017. The total amount of proceeds raised from SCC offering was 
RMB1,351,000,000. After deducting the offering cost, the net proceeds raised from the offering amounted 
to RMB1,268,000,000. The A shares of SCC (stock code: 002916) were listed on the Shenzhen Stock 
Exchange on 13 December 2017. Upon completion of the offering, the Company holds 195,278,970 A 
shares of SCC, representing 69.7425% of the total equity capital of SCC, which remains a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. For details, please refer to the announcements issued by the Company 
on 24 October, 17 November, 6 December and 11 December 2017.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Connected Transactions
5. Connected Transaction – Potential Disposal of 24.5% Equity Interest in AVIC Construction Engineering 

through Public Tender
On 29 November 2017, the Board resolved to approve that the Engineering Company (a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company) and AVIC Shenzhen would conduct the disposal of the 75.5% interest in AVIC 
Construction Engineering Company Limited (“AVIC Construction Engineering”) in aggregate in relation to 
their respective 24.5% and 51% equity interest in AVIC Construction Engineering through CBEE. Based on 
the appraised value of AVIC Construction Engineering as at 30 June 2017, it is expected that the minimum 
bidding price for the disposal of 24.5% equity interest in AVIC Construction Engineering (the “Potential 
Disposal”) would not be lower than RMB39,440,500.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Potential Disposal is more than 
0.1% but all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of such transactions are less than 5%, the 
Potential Disposal is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements, but is exempted from the 
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The public tender process for the Potential Disposal commenced on 30 November 2017. On 23 January 
2018, the Engineering Company and AVIC Shenzhen entered into an equity transaction agreement with 
Shenzhen Lian Heng Investment Company Limited (深圳市聯恒投資有限公司) (“Shenzhen Lian Heng”) in 
respect of the disposal of 24.5% equity interest in AVIC Construction Engineering held by Engineering 
Company and the disposal of 51% equity interest in AVIC Construction Engineering held by AVIC Shenzhen 
at an aggregate consideration of RMB121,541,200. The consideration for the disposal of 24.5% equity 
interest in AVIC Construction Engineering was RMB39,440,520. On 9 February 2018, AVIC Construction 
Engineering completed assets transfer and the registration for such industrial and commercial changes. 
Upon completion of the Potential Disposal, the Engineering Company no longer holds any equity interest in 
AVIC Construction Engineering. For details, please refer to the announcement issued by the Company on 23 
January 2018.
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Connected Transactions (continued)
6. Continuing Connected Transactions – Framework Agreements in relation to Leasing and Management of 

Properties
The rental framework agreement (the “AVIC International Rental Framework Agreement”) dated 13 January 
2014, entered into between the Company and AVIC International in relation to the leasing of real estate 
properties by the Group to AVIC International and/or its associated companies, the tenancy framework 
agreement (the “AVIC International Tenancy Framework Agreement”) dated 13 January 2014, entered into 
between the Company and AVIC International in relation to the leasing of real estate properties to the Group 
by AVIC International and/or its associated companies and the property management framework agreement 
(the “AVIC International Property Management Framework Agreement”) dated 13 January 2014, entered 
into between the Company and AVIC International in relation to the provision of property management 
services to the Group by AVIC International and/or its associated companies are collectively referred to as 
the AVIC International Framework Agreements. The AVIC International Framework Agreements expired on 
31 December 2016. To renew the agreements, the Company entered into the new AVIC International rental 
framework agreement (the “New AVIC International Rental Framework Agreement”), new AVIC International 
tenancy framework agreement (the “New AVIC International Tenancy Framework Agreement”) and new 
AVIC International property management framework agreement (the “New AVIC International Property 
Management Framework Agreement”) with AVIC International on 13 January 2017, each of which for a 
term from the date of its execution to 31 December 2019. The New AVIC International Rental Framework 
Agreement, the New AVIC International Tenancy Framework Agreement and the New AVIC International 
Property Management Framework Agreement are collectively referred to as the New AVIC International 
Framework Agreements, a summary of the major terms of which is set out as follow:

(1) New AVIC International Rental Framework Agreement: the Group agreed to lease to AVIC 
International and/or its associated companies real estate properties during the term of the New AVIC 
International Rental Framework Agreement. The proposed annual caps for the three years from 2017 
to 2019 will be RMB35,000,000.

(2) New AVIC International Tenancy Framework Agreement: AVIC International and/or its associated 
companies agreed to lease its real estate properties to the Group during the term of the New AVIC 
International Tenancy Framework Agreement. The proposed annual caps for the three years from 
2017 to 2019 will be RMB5,000,000, RMB7,000,000 and RMB7,000,000, respectively.

(3) New AVIC International Property Management Framework Agreement: AVIC International and/or its 
associated companies agreed to provide property management services to the Group during the term 
of the New AVIC International Property Management Framework Agreement. The proposed annual 
caps for the three years from 2017 to 2019 will be RMB45,000,000.

As AVIC International (including its associated companies) is a connected person of the Company, the 
New AVIC International Framework Agreements and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute 
continuing connected transaction of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions (continued)
6. Continuing Connected Transactions – Framework Agreements in relation to Leasing and Management of 

Properties (continued)
As the applicable percentage ratios for each of (1) the New AVIC International Rental Framework Agreement, 
(2) the New AVIC International Tenancy Framework Agreement and (3) the New AVIC International Property 
Management Framework Agreement exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, each of (1) the New AVIC 
International Rental Framework Agreement, (2) the New AVIC International Tenancy Framework Agreement 
and (3) the New AVIC International Property Management Framework Agreement will be subject to the 
reporting and announcement requirements, but are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval 
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the announcement of the 
Company dated 13 January 2017.

7. Continuing Connected Transaction – Relevant Financial Services Framework Agreement
On 29 September 2015, the Company and AVIC Finance Co., Ltd. (中航工業集團財務有限責任公司) (“AVIC 
Finance”) entered into the financial services agreement (the “2015 Financial Services Agreement”) for 
renewal of the 2013 Financial Services Agreement (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 3 
April 2013). Pursuant to the 2015 Financial Services Agreement, AVIC Finance would provide to the Group a 
range of financial services as the Company may request from time to time for a term commencing from the 
date on which all the conditions under the 2015 Financial Services Agreement having been satisfied to 31 
December 2018. The financial services provided by AVIC Finance to the Group are set out below:

Year ended 
31 December 

2016

Year ended 
31 December 

2017

Year ending 
31 December 

2018
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB)

Deposit services 
(the maximum daily outstanding balances) 
(the “Deposit Cap”) 2,000,000,000 2,200,000,000 2,500,000,000

    

Year ended 
31 December 

2016

Year ended 
31 December 

2017

Year ending 
31 December 

2018
(USD) (USD) (USD)

Foreign exchange settlement and sale 
(the maximum daily transaction amount) 
(the “Spot FX Trading Cap”) 60,000,000 60,000,000 60,000,000
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7. Continuing Connected Transaction – Relevant Financial Services Framework Agreement (continued)

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios of Deposit Cap are more than 25% but less than 
75%, the deposit services contemplated under the 2015 Financial Services Agreement constituted a 
major transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Aviation Industry is an ultimate 
holding company of the Company and AVIC Finance. Under the Listing Rules, AVIC Finance is a connected 
person of the Company. As each of the applicable percentage ratios of Deposit Cap and Spot FX Trading 
Cap exceeds 5%, the deposit services and foreign exchange services under the 2015 Financial Services 
Agreement are subject to the reporting, announcement and the independent shareholder’s approval 
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 11 August 2017, the Company entered into the supplemental financial services agreement (the 
“Supplemental Financial Services Agreement”) with AVIC Finance, pursuant to which the existing maximum 
daily outstanding balance of deposits (including accrued interest) placed by the Group with AVIC Finance 
during the term of the financial services agreement dated 29 September 2015 entered into between 
the Company and AVIC Finance in relation to the provision of financial services to the Group (details of 
which are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 29 September 2015 and the circular of the 
Company dated 24 November 2015) will be revised to RMB3 billion for a term commencing from the date 
(the “Effective Date”) on which all the conditions under the Supplemental Financial Services Agreement have 
been satisfied (please refer to the paragraph headed “Conditions precedent” in the announcement of the 
Company dated 11 August 2017 for details) to 31 December 2018. The revised caps for deposit services 
under the Supplemental Financial Services Agreement are as follows:

For the period 
from the Effective 

Date to 
31 December 

2017

Year ending 
31 December 

2018
(RMB) (RMB)

Revised deposit cap (the maximum daily outstanding 
balances including accrued interests which is not 
cumulative in nature, inclusive of foreign currency 
converted into RMB) 3,000,000,000 3,000,000,000

   

Aviation Industry is the ultimate holding company of the Company and AVIC Finance. Aviation Industry 
held approximately 62.52% of the equity interest in AVIC International (a controlling shareholder of the 
Company holding approximately 37.50% of the issued share capital of the Company), which in turns owned 
100% equity interest of AVIC Shenzhen (a controlling Shareholder holding approximately 33.93% of the 
issued share capital of the Company), and Aviation Industry also directly and indirectly held the majority 
of equity interest in AVIC Finance. Accordingly, AVIC Finance is a connected person of the Company and 
the transactions contemplated under the Supplemental Financial Services Agreement constitute continuing 
connected transactions of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the applicable 
percentage ratios for provision of deposit services pursuant to the Supplemental Financial Services 
Agreement exceed 5%, the transaction is subject to the reporting, announcement and the independent 
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions (continued)
7. Continuing Connected Transaction – Relevant Financial Services Framework Agreement (continued)

As one of the applicable percentage ratios in relation to the provision of deposit services under the 
Supplemental Financial Services Agreement is more than 25%, such transaction constitutes a major 
transaction of the Company and is subject to the reporting, announcement and the shareholders’ approval 
requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Supplemental Financial Service Agreement has been duly approved by the extraordinary general 
meeting of the Company. For details in relation to the Supplemental Financial Service Agreement, please 
refer to the announcement issued by the Company on 11 August 2017, the circular of the Company dated 
25 September 2017 and the poll results of the extraordinary general meeting dated 11 October 2017.

8. Continuing Connected Transactions – Framework Agreements for the Continuing Connected Transactions of 
the Group in the coming three years
The existing framework agreements, setting out the basic content of the transactions between the Group on 
one hand, and AVIC Industry or AVIC International (including their respective associates, where applicable) 
on the other hand, were entered into on 16 October 2014. As each of the aforesaid agreements would 
expire on 31 December 2017, the Company (or its subsidiaries) entered into: (i) new Aviation Industry sale 
framework agreement (the “New Aviation Industry Sale Framework Agreement”), new Aviation Industry 
purchase framework agreement” (the “New Aviation Industry Purchase Framework Agreement”), new 
Aviation Industry agency services provision framework agreement (the “New Aviation Industry Agency 
Services Provision Framework Agreement”), new Aviation Industry agency services acceptance framework 
agreement (the “New Aviation Industry Agency Services Acceptance Framework Agreement”), new Aviation 
Industry financial assistance provision framework agreement (the “New Aviation Industry Financial Assistance 
Provision Framework Agreement”) and new Aviation Industry financial assistance acceptance framework 
agreement (the “New Aviation Industry Financial Assistance Acceptance Framework Agreement”) with 
AVIC Industry; and (ii) new AVIC International sale framework agreement (the “New AVIC International 
Sale Framework Agreement”), new AVIC International purchase framework agreement (the “New AVIC 
International Purchase Framework Agreement”), new AVIC International agency services provision 
framework agreement (the “New AVIC International Agency Services Provision Framework Agreement”), 
new AVIC International agency services acceptance framework agreement (the “New AVIC International 
Agency Services Acceptance Framework Agreement”), new AVIC International financial assistance 
provision framework agreement (the “New AVIC International Financial Assistance Provision Framework 
Agreement”) and new AVIC International financial assistance acceptance framework agreement (the “New 
AVIC International Financial Assistance Acceptance Framework Agreement”) with AVIC International on 24 
October 2017. The Engineering Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the new 
AVIC International construction services framework agreement (the “New AVIC International Construction 
Services Framework Agreement”) with AVIC International, and the Company entered into the new Aviation 
Industry property rental (letting) framework agreement (the “New Aviation Industry Property Rental (Letting) 
Framework Agreement”) with Aviation Industry on the same date. Details of each of these framework 
agreements are set out as below:
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8. Continuing Connected Transaction – Framework Agreements for the Continuing Connected Transactions of 

the Group in the coming three years (continued)

Name of Agreement Content of Agreements Annual Cap Amount
2018 2019 2020

(RMB) (RMB) (RMB)

New Aviation Industry Sale 
Framework Agreement

Sales of goods 100,000,000 100,000,000 100,000,000

New Aviation Industry Purchase 
Framework Agreement

Procurement of goods 60,000,000 60,000,000 60,000,000

New AVIC International Sale 
Framework Agreement

Sales of goods 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000

New AVIC International Purchase 
Framework Agreement

Procurement of goods 2,500,000,000 2,500,000,000 2,500,000,000

New Aviation Industry Agency Services 
Provision Framework Agreement

Provision of agency services 150,000,000 150,000,000 150,000,000

New Aviation Industry Agency Services 
Acceptance Framework Agreement

Acceptance of agency services 80,000,000 80,000,000 80,000,000

New AVIC International Agency Services 
Provision Framework Agreement

Provision of agency services 180,000,000 180,000,000 180,000,000

New AVIC International Agency Services 
Acceptance Framework Agreement

Acceptance of agency services 50,000,000 50,000,000 50,000,000

New Aviation Industry Financial 
Assistance Provision 
Framework Agreement

Provision of borrowings/
guarantee

500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000

Charge interest/guarantee fee 30,000,000 30,000,000 30,000,000
New Aviation Industry Financial 

Assistance Acceptance 
Framework Agreement

Acceptance of borrowings/
guarantee

2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000

Provision of interest/
guarantee fee

80,000,000 80,000,000 80,000,000

New AVIC International Financial 
Assistance Provision 
Framework Agreement

Provision of borrowings/
guarantee

1,700,000,000 1,700,000,000 1,700,000,000

Charge interest/guarantee fee 75,000,000 75,000,000 75,000,000
New AVIC International Financial 

Assistance Acceptance 
Framework Agreement

Acceptance of loans/guarantee 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000
Provision of interest/

guarantee fee
110,000,000 110,000,000 110,000,000

New AVIC International Construction 
Services Framework Agreement

Provision of construction 
services

700,000,000 500,000,000 400,000,000

New Aviation Industry Property Rental 
(Letting) Framework Agreement

Property letting 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000

     

For details of the aforementioned continuing connected transactions, please refer to the announcement 
of the Company issued on 24 October 2017 and the circular of the Company dated 12 December 2017. 
The abovementioned connected transactions had been approved by the independent shareholders of the 
Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 28 December 2017.
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Connected Transactions (continued)
9. Continuing Connected Transactions – Concessionaire Framework Agreement

On 28 December 2017, Rainbow Department Store Co., Ltd. (天虹商場股份有限公司) (“Rainbow Department 
Store Company”) and Fiyta (a subsidiary of the Company) entered into the 2017 Rainbow Concessionaire 
Framework Agreement (“2017 Rainbow Concessionaire Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which 
Rainbow Department Store Company agreed to allow Fiyta to occupy areas in the department stores owned 
and managed by Rainbow Department Store Company in various cities in the PRC and to establish its 
own sales counters for the sale of Fiyta watches and world-famous watches, etc. for a term of three years 
commencing on 1 January 2018 and expiring on 31 December 2020. According to the 2017 Rainbow 
Concessionaire Framework Agreement, the annual caps in respect of the turnover commission payable by 
Fiyta to Rainbow Department Store Company for the proposed three years from 2018 to 2020 shall not 
exceed RMB27,500,000, RMB30,000,000 and RMB32,500,000, respectively.

As AVIC Shenzhen is a controlling Shareholder of the Company and holds approximately 33.93% of the 
total issued share capital of the Company and approximately 43.41% equity interest of Rainbow Department 
Store Company is owned by AVIC Shenzhen, Rainbow Department Store Company is a connected person 
of the Company.

As the highest applicable percentage ratios for the annual caps of the transactions contemplated under 
the 2017 Rainbow Concessionaire Framework Agreement are more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the 2017 
Rainbow Concessionaire Framework Agreement (including the respective annual caps) are only subject 
to reporting and announcement requirements, but exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval 
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the announcement issued 
by the Company on 28 December 2017.

AUDITOR’S CONFIRMATION
For the purpose o f  Ru le 14A.56 o f  the L is t ing Ru les ,  the Company appo in ted the aud i tors , 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, to carry out review procedures on the connected transactions in accordance with the 
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews 
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing 
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. The auditors provided to the Stock Exchange a copy of letter in respect of the continuing connected 
transactions confirming that:

(a) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditors to believe that the disclosed continuing 
connected transactions have not been approved by the Board.

(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s 
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group.

(c) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were 
not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such 
transactions.

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the disclosed continuing connected transactions, nothing 
has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing 
connected transactions has exceeded the annual cap set by the Company.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
I. An Update of Connected Transaction – Potential Disposal of 24.5% Equity Interest in AVIC Construction 

Engineering Company Limited (“AVIC Construction Engineering”)
On 23 January 2018, Engineering Company (a subsidiary of the Company) and AVIC Shenzhen entered into 
an equity transaction agreement with Shenzhen Lian Heng in respect of the disposal of 24.5% equity interest 
in AVIC Construction Engineering held by Engineering Company and the disposal of 51% equity interest in 
AVIC Construction Engineering held by AVIC Shenzhen, at an aggregate consideration of RMB121,541,200. 
The consideration for the disposal of 24.5% equity interest in AVIC Construction Engineering was 
RMB39,440,520. The consideration for the disposal of 51% equity interest in AVIC Construction Engineering 
was RMB82,100,680. The Group recorded a gain of RMB3,239,020 from the disposal of 24.5% equity 
interest in AVIC Construction Engineering. For details, please refer to the announcement published by the 
Company on 23 January 2018.

II. Appointment of Joint Company Secretary
On 5 February 2018, the Board announced that with effect from the aforementioned date, Mr. Xiao Zhanglin 
(肖章林) had been appointed as a joint company secretary of the Company. Mr. Zhong Sijun (鐘思均), the 
existing company secretary of the Company, will continue to serve as the other joint company secretary of 
the Company. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company on 5 February 2018.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
In accordance with code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 
to the Listing Rules (the “Code”), the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be separate and should 
not be performed by the same individual. The responsibility of the chairman and the chief executive should be 
clearly established in writing. During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the executive Directors exercised 
the function of the management of the Company and the Company did not appoint any chief executive. The Board 
held meetings regularly to consider major matters that influence the operation of the Group. The Board considers 
that the structure will not impair the balance of authority and power between the Board and the management 
of the Company. Each executive Director being assigned with different functions will complement the role of the 
Chairman. The Board believes that this structure is beneficial for establishing a stable and consistent leadership, 
which will enable an effective operation of the Group. Except for the aforesaid, for the financial year ended 31 
December 2017, the Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Code. 

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
The Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the 
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) has been adopted as the code of securities transactions for the Directors and 
supervisors. The Company, having made specific enquiries with all Directors and supervisors, confirmed that, 
during the year ended 31 December 2017, all Directors and supervisors had complied with the required standards 
of dealing in securities specified in the Model Code.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Board has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules to fulfill 
the functions of reviewing and monitoring the financial reporting processes and internal control of the Company. 
The Audit Committee members currently comprise the independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Wong Wai 
Ling, Mr. Wu Wei and Mr. Wei Wei. The Audit Committee has reviewed and confirmed this results announcement 
and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Board has obtained written confirmations from all independent non-executive Directors concerning their 
independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2017. 
The Directors consider that the independent non-executive Directors had remained independent based on the 
requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2017.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on publicly available information and to the best knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date 
with respect to the publication of this annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required 
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, 
offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditors of 
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Company has not changed its 
external auditors in any of the preceding three years.

By order of the Board
AVIC International Holdings Limited
Liu Hong De
Chairman

Shenzhen, the PRC, 20 March 2018
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I. REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) currently comprises Ms. Wong Wai Ling, Mr. 
Wu Wei and Mr. Wei Wei, and is chaired by Ms. Wong Wai Ling. During the year ended 31 December 2017, 
the Audit Committee, a subcommittee of the Board, performed its duties in strict compliance with the Code 
and had effectively monitored the Company’s financial incomes and expenses and its operating activities 
for the year ended 31 December 2017. It had reviewed the Company’s financial statements and interim and 
annual reports, as well as supervised the internal control and information disclosure of the Company, and 
enhanced its communication with the auditors to ensure that they have imposed effective supervision on 
the Company’s operation and management. The works of the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 
December 2017 are summarized as follows:

I) Understanding the actual operations and the progress of major events of the Company, its controlling 
companies and its subsidiaries, and reviewed the financial statements compiled by the Company;

II) Overseeing the quality of internal auditing and the disclosure of financial information pursuant to 
the disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules for listed issuers, reviewing the interim and annual 
financial statements prior to the submission to the Board, and communicating closely with the 
auditors to reach a consensus in all material aspects of the audit report;

III) Examining the completeness of the Company’s financial statements and interim and annual reports 
and reviewing the major opinions in respect of financial reporting set out in the financial statements in 
accordance with the professional ethics of independence, objectiveness and fairness;

IV) Acting as the major representative for the communications between the Company and the external 
auditors pursuant to the Code and monitoring their relationship; reviewing and examining the 
independence of the external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit procedures in accordance 
with applicable standards;

V) Reviewing the implementation of the connected transactions of the Company in the year ended 31 
December 2017;

VI) Providing guidance in respect of internal control, and considering and approving the working plan for 
internal auditing for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The annual result and consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 of the Group 
had been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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I. REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)
The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 December 2017, the details of which are 
as follows:

Subcommittee Audit Committee
Members Ms. Wong Wai Ling, Mr. Wu Wei, Mr. Wei Wei
Number of meetings held 2
Date of meetings held 3 March 2017

18 August 2017

Proposals considered 1. The Proposal to Rev iew the Audi tor ’s Report , Resul ts 
Announcement and Report of Directors of the Company for 2016

2. The Proposal to Review the Compliance of the Connected 
Transactions of the Company

3. The Proposal to Review the Enhancement of Corporate 
Governance and Internal Control of the Company

4. The Proposal to Review the Interim Financial Report and the 
Interim Report on Consolidated Results of the Company for 2017

5. The Proposal to Review the Corporate Governance and Internal 
Control of the Company for the First Half of 2017

II. REPORT OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) currently comprises Mr. Liu 
Hong De, Mr. Chen Hong Liang, Ms. Wong Wai Ling, Mr. Wu Wei and Mr. Wei Wei, and is chaired by 
Mr. Wei Wei. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Remuneration Committee had reviewed 
the remuneration policy and the payment method for the Directors and supervisors. It had also made an 
assessment on the disclosure of the remuneration of the Directors and supervisors in the Company’s annual 
report and is of the opinion that the remuneration standard set for the Directors and supervisors was in 
compliance with the relevant requirements of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s remuneration policy 
and the remuneration disclosures in the Company’s annual report were true and accurate. The works of the 
Remuneration Committee in the year ended 31 December 2017 are summarized as follows:

I) During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Remuneration Committee had reviewed the 
remuneration policy or scheme for all executive Directors and supervisors of the Company in 
accordance with laws, statutes and the articles of associations of the Company, and made 
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors to ensure that none 
of the Directors was involved in the determination of his remuneration. It was delegated with the 
responsibility by the Board to determine the amount of benefits in kind, pension and compensation 
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;
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II. REPORT OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)
II) The Remuneration Committee had supervised the establishment of a formal and transparent 

procedure to formulate the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and supervisors of the 
Company;

III) The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remunerations of the Company’s Directors and 
supervisors for the year ended 31 December 2017, and considered that the procedure for the 
determination of remuneration and distribution standard complied with the provisions of the 
remuneration system;

IV) The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the performance of duties by the Directors and 
supervisors, and assessed their annual performance for the year ended 31 December 2017. It had 
also monitored the implementation of the Company’s remuneration policies.

The Remuneration Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31 December 2017, the details of 
which are as follows:

Subcommittee Remuneration Committee
Members Mr. Liu Hong De, Mr. Chen Hong Liang, Ms. Wong Wai Ling, Mr. Wu Wei 

and Mr. Wei Wei
Number of meeting held 1
Date of meeting held 10 March 2017

Proposals considered 1. The Proposal to Review the Remuneration System of the Directors 
of the Company for 2016

2. The Proposal to Review the Procedure for the Determination of 
the Remuneration Policy of the Company

3. The Proposal to Review the Remuneration, Benefits and Director 
Service Contract of Ms. Wong Wai Ling
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III. REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) currently comprises Mr. Liu Hong 
De, Mr. Chen Hong Liang, Ms. Wong Wai Ling, Mr. Wu Wei and Mr. Wei Wei, and is chaired by Mr. Wu Wei. 
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure, size and 
composition of the Board, as well as the qualification and experience of the candidates. It also had reviewed 
the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee considered that the 
structure of the Board complies with the requirement of the Listing Rules, all of the Directors are competent 
to act as director of the Company, including their skills, knowledge and experience. All of the independent 
non-executive Directors met the requirement of independence under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during 
the year ended 31 December 2017. The works of the Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 
December 2017 are summarized as follows:

I) During the year ended 31 December 2017, the committee had considered and reviewed the 
structure, size and composition of the Board, including skills, knowledge and experience of the 
Directors, and made recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed change to the structure 
of the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

II) The Nomination Committee had considered the suitability of a candidate to act as a director on the 
basis of the candidate’s qualification, experience, integrity and potential contribution to the Company; 
and

III) The Nomination Committee had assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors 
under the requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31 December 2017, the details of which 
are as follows:

Subcommittee Nomination Committee
Members Mr. Liu Hong De, Mr. Chen Hong Liang, Ms. Wong Wai Ling, Mr. Wu Wei 

and Mr. Wei Wei
Number of meetings held 1
Date of meetings held 10 March 2017

Proposals considered 1. The Proposal to Review the Structure, Size and Composition of 
the Board of the Company

2. The Proposal to Review the Independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company

3. The Proposal to Review the Board’s Diversity Policy

4. The Proposal on the Appointment or Re-appointment and 
Succession of Directors

5. The Proposal to Review the Recommendation of Re-appointing 
Ms. Wong Wai Ling as an Independent Non-executive Director
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The Company held the meeting of employee representatives on 24 April 2015 to elect one employee as the 
supervisor for employee representatives and jointly established the supervisory committee with the supervisors re-
elected or appointed during the annual general meeting of the Company held on 18 June 2015 (the “Supervisory 
Committee). The Supervisory Committee of the current session will take office for 3 years, until the annual general 
meeting for the year of 2017 of the Company to be held in 2018.

The Supervisory Committee currently comprises 4 supervisors, namely Mr. Cao Jiang (chairman of the Supervisory 
Committee), Mr. Liang Chi, Mr. Liu Yong Ze and Mr. Yang Xi (supervisor for employees).

During the year of 2017, all members of the Supervisory Committee earnestly performed the function of supervision 
in accordance with the regulations and requirements of the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, 
the articles of associations of the Company and the procedure rules of the Supervisory Committee. By means 
of exercising their functions independently pursuant to the laws through attending the meetings of board of 
Directors as a non-voting member and convening the meeting of the Supervisory Committee, the members of the 
Supervisory Committee supervised and examined the operations of the Company in accordance with the laws, 
the financial position of the Company, the implementation of resolutions passed in the shareholders’ general 
meetings, the process of making major decisions by the Board, the legality and compliance for the operation and 
management activities of the Company as well as the performance of duties by the Directors. It was thus procured 
that the Company is operated legally with a view to safeguard the benefits of the Company, its shareholders and 
employees.

The Supervisory Committee considers that during the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company’s operation, 
financial auditing and result and daily operation and management complied with relevant provisions of the Listing 
Rules and the articles of associations of the Company; the Board members are scrupulous about their duties, 
without breach of laws or rules or damaging the Company’s benefits by utilizing their powers.

The Supervisory Committee expresses the following opinions for the performance of the operation of the Company 
during the year ended 31 December 2017:

THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’S INDEPENDENT OPINIONS ON THE LEGAL 
OPERATION OF THE COMPANY
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company strictly compiled with the laws and statutes such as the 
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China, articles of 
association of the Company and the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, established sound internal 
control system, while the Company conducts standard operation and lawful decision-making procedure. The 
shareholders’ general meetings and the Board meetings were convened in accordance with the procedures as 
provided in relevant laws, regulations and the Company’s articles of association, where the contents of the relevant 
resolutions were legal and valid. When fulfilling duties, the Directors are able to consciously safeguard the benefits 
of the Company and its shareholders, adhere to the principles of good faith and diligence, and do not violate any 
laws or regulations, or damage the Company’s benefits.
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THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’S INDEPENDENT OPINIONS ON REVIEW OF 
COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATUS
The Supervisory Committee carefully reviewed the relevant information such as the 2017 interim report, 2017 
annual report and 2017 auditor’s report presented by PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the Company, with 
unqualified opinion. The Supervisory Committee considered that the Company’s finance system and internal control 
system are sound, the financial operation is normal and financial status is good, and that the auditor’s report can 
truly, objectively and fairly reflect the financial position and operating results of the Company in the year of 2017.

THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’S INDEPENDENT OPINION ON THE ACQUISITION 
AND DISPOSAL OF ASSETS BY THE COMPANY
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Company were in 
compliance with the requirements of laws and regulations including the Company Law of the People’s Republic 
of China, the Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Listing Rules as well as the articles of 
association of the Company and the required review procedures had been performed to ensure that there was no 
damage to the interests of the Company nor any impairment to the Company’s assets.

THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’S INDEPENDENT OPINION ON THE CONNECTED 
TRANSACTIONS OF THE COMPANY
The Supervisory Committee had reviewed the connected transactions and continuing connected transactions of 
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2017 and considered that such connected transactions of the 
Company during the year were in line with the Company’s needs for business development and long-term growth, 
and strictly in compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, the articles of association of the Company and 
the Internal Reporting System for Major Events and Connected Transactions issued by the Company. The Company 
had conducted the approval and information disclosure procedures such that the interests of the Shareholders and 
the Company were not prejudiced.

We hereby report.

By Order of the Supervisory Committee
Cao Jiang
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China 
20 March 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of 
AVIC International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited 
liability)

OPINION
What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of AVIC International 
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) set out on pages 156 to 356, which comprise:

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017;

• the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year 
then ended;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 
the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the 
year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which 
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 
as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in 
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

獨立核數師報告
致中航國際控股股份有限公司股東

（於中華人民共和國註冊成立的有限公司）

意見
我們已審計的內容
中航國際控股股份有限公司（以下簡稱「貴公司」）
及其附屬公司（以下統稱「貴集團」）列載於第156
頁至第356頁的綜合財務報表包括：

• 於二零一七年十二月三十一日的綜合資
產負債表；

• 截至該日止年度的綜合損益表；

• 截至該日止年度的綜合全面收益報表；

• 截至該日止年度的綜合權益變動表；

• 截至該日止年度的綜合現金流量表；及

• 綜合財務報表附註，其中包括主要會計
政策概要。

我們的意見
我們認為，該等綜合財務報表已根據《國際財務
報告準則》真實而中肯地反映了 貴集團於二零
一七年十二月三十一日的綜合財務狀況及其截至
該日止年度的綜合財務表現及綜合現金流量，並
已遵照香港《公司條例》的披露規定妥為擬備。
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BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of 
our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most signif icance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as 
follows:

• Impairment assessment of goodwill

• Revenue recognised using percentage-of-completion 
method

意見的基礎
我們已根據《國際審計準則》進行審計。我們在該
等準則下承擔的責任已在本報告「核數師就審計
綜合財務報表承擔的責任」部分中作進一步闡述。

我們相信所獲得的審計憑證能充足及適當地為我
們的審計意見提供基礎。

獨立性
根據國際會計師專業操守理事會頒佈的《專業會
計師道德守則》（以下簡稱「道德守則」），我們獨
立於 貴集團，並已履行道德守則中的其他專業
道德責任。

關鍵審計事項
關鍵審計事項是根據我們的專業判斷，認為對本
期綜合財務報表的審計最為重要的事項。這些事
項是在我們審計整體綜合財務報表及出具意見時
進行處理的。我們不會對這些事項提供單獨的意
見。

我們在審計中識別的關鍵審計事項概述如下：

• 商譽減值評估

• 收入採用完成百分比法確認
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關鍵審計事項 我們的審計如何處理關鍵審計事項
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

商譽減值評估

Impairment assessment of goodwill

請參閱綜合財務報表附註5(a)「關鍵會計估計及判斷」
及附註8「商譽」。

於二零一七年十二月三十一日，綜合資產負債表所
列商譽為人民幣989,343,000元。商譽主要由二零
一四年的多項業務合併產生。管理層已根據獲分配
商譽的現金產生單位的可收回金額評估商譽減值。
於二零一七年十二月三十一日，概無作出商譽減值。

Refer to Note 5 (a) “Critical accounting estimates 
and judgments” and Note 8 “Goodwil l” to the 
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2017, goodwil l as stated 
in the consolidated balance sheet amounted to 
RMB989,343,000. The goodwill mainly resulted 
from various business combinations in 2014. 
Management has assessed the impairment of 
goodwill based on the recoverable amount of cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) to which the goodwill is 
allocated. No impairment of goodwill was made as 
at 31 December 2017.

我們瞭解及評估管理層未來現金流量預測的組成及其編製
過程。

我們評估管理層對各項現金產生單位的現金流量預測所用
的假設：

－ 收入增長率及毛利率，透過與本年度業務業績、
市場發展及行業趨勢作比較；及

－ 貼現率，透過委託我們內部專家評估各現金產生
單位及可比較公司的資本成本，並考慮地區具體
因素。

We understood and evaluated the composit ion of 
management’s future cash flow forecasts, and the 
process by which they were drawn up. 

We evaluated management’s assumptions used in the 
cash flow forecasts for each CGU including:

– the revenue growth rates and gross margins, by 
comparing them to the current year business 
results, market developments and industry 
trends; and

– the discount rates, by involving our internal 
experts to assess the cost of capital for each 
CGU and comparable companies considering 
territory specific factors.
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關鍵審計事項 我們的審計如何處理關鍵審計事項
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

商譽減值評估（續）

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

我們關注管理層就重大商譽賬面值及於釐定各項現
金產生單位可收回金額時用以估計收入增長率、毛
利率及貼現率所需的重要判斷所履行的商譽減值評
估。

We focused on the goodwill impairment assessment 
performed by management due to the significance 
of the car ry ing amount o f goodwi l l  and the 
significant judgments required in estimating the 
revenue growth rates, gross margins and the 
discount rates used in the determination of the 
recoverable amount of each CGU.

我們評價管理層的敏感度分析，以評估收入增長率及貼現
率的合理可能變動對商譽減值的影響。

按照已執行的程序及所獲憑證，我們發現管理層於釐定商
譽減值評估採用的判斷和估計相當可靠。

We evaluated management’s sensitivity analysis to 
assess the impact on the goodwil l impairment of 
reasonable possible changes to the revenue growth 
rates and discount rates.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence 
obtained, we found management’s judgments and 
estimates applied in the impairment assessment of 
goodwill were supportable.

收入採用完成百分比法確認

Revenue recognised using percentage-of-completion method

請參閱綜合財務報表附註5(b)「關鍵會計估計及判斷」
及附註6「分部資料」。

截至二零一七年十二月三十一日止年度確認建造合
約收入人民幣6,806,673,000元，佔 貴集團的收入
總額19%。完成百分比法用作建造合約收入的列賬
方法。完成百分比乃參考截至年結日已產生的合約
成本較相關建造合約的估計總成本計量。

Refer to Note 5 (b) “Critical accounting estimates 
and judgments” and Note 6 “Segment information” 
to the consolidated financial statements. 

Construct ion contract revenue amount ing to 
RMB6,806,673,000, representing 19% of the total 
revenue of the Group, was recognised for the 
year ended 31 December 2017. The percentage-
of-completion method was used to account for 
construction contract revenue. The percentage 
of completion is measured by reference to the 
contract costs incurred up to the year end date 
compared to the estimated total costs of the 
respective construction contract. 

我們瞭解及評價 貴集團對建造合約預算的內部控制、實
際所產生合約成本的計量及管理層對釐定確認合約收入完
成百分比的覆核。

We understood and evaluated the Group’s internal 
con t ro l  ove r  cons t ruc t i on  con t rac t  budge t i ng , 
measurement of actual contract costs incurred and 
management’s review of the determination of the 
percentage of completion for recognition of contract 
revenue.
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關鍵審計事項 我們的審計如何處理關鍵審計事項
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

收入採用完成百分比法確認（續）

Revenue recognised using percentage-of-completion method (continued)

我們關注採用完成百分比法所確認的收入，因其對
綜合財務報表屬重大，並涉及管理層於估計合約成
本總額所作出的重要假設及估計。

We focused on revenue recognised using the 
percentage-of-completion method because of its 
significance to the consolidated financial statements 
and the significant assumptions and estimates 
made by management in est imating the total 
contract costs.

我們比較過往毛利率與預算毛利率，以評估管理層對毛利
率預算的合理性。

我們以抽樣形式選擇建造合約，並：

－ 審核管理層對成本組合的預算，該等成本包括材
料成本、分包費用及勞工成本；

－ 比較預算成本與證明文件，該等文件包括但不限
於報價及勞工成本價；

－ 比較截至年末所產生實際成本與預算成本，並評
估重大差異；

－ 與管理層及各項目團隊討論建造項目的進度；

We compared the histor ical gross margin to the 
budgeted gross margin for the assessment of the 
reasonableness of the gross margin in management’s 
budget.

We selected construction contracts, on a sampling 
basis, and:

– examined management’s budget for the cost 
components, inc luding costs of mater ia ls , 
subcontracting fees and labour costs;

– compared the budgeted costs to supporting 
documents including, but not limited to, price 
quotations and rate of labour costs;

– compared the actual costs incurred up to year 
end with the budgeted costs and assessed 
significant variances;

– discussed with management and the respective 
project teams the progress of the construction 
projects;
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關鍵審計事項 我們的審計如何處理關鍵審計事項
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

收入採用完成百分比法確認（續）

Revenue recognised using percentage-of-completion method (continued)

－ 透過比較發票與其他證明文件，測試年內建築工
程所產生的實際成本；及

－ 重新計算完成百分比及因此產生而確認的收入。

按照已履行的程序及所獲的憑證，我們發現管理層於確認
建造合約收入應用完成百分比的決定具有理據。

– tested the actual costs incurred on construction 
works during the year by comparing to the 
invoices and other supporting documents; and

– recalculated the percentage of completion and 
the resulting revenue recognised.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence 
obtained, we found management’s determination of 
the percentage of completion for construction contract 
revenue recognised was supportable.
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
informat ion. The other informat ion comprises al l  of the 
information included in the annual report other than the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The d i rectors of the Company are respons ib le for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process.

其他信息
貴公司董事須對其他信息負責。其他信息包括年
報內所有信息，但不包括綜合財務報表及我們的
核數師報告。

我們對綜合財務報表的意見並不涵蓋其他信息，
我們亦不對該等其他信息發表任何形式的鑒證結
論。

結合我們對綜合財務報表的審計，我們的責任是
閱讀其他信息，在此過程中，考慮其他信息是否
與綜合財務報表或我們在審計過程中所了解的情
況有重大抵觸，或似乎存在重大錯誤陳述的情
況。

基於我們已執行的工作，如果我們認為其他信息
存在重大錯誤陳述，我們需要報告該事實。在這
方面，我們沒有任何報告。

董事及治理層就綜合財務報表須承擔的
責任

貴公司董事須負責根據《國際財務報告準則》及香
港《公司條例》的披露規定擬備真實而中肯的綜合
財務報表，並對其認為為使綜合財務報表的擬備
不存在由於欺詐或錯誤而導致的重大錯誤陳述所
必需的內部控制負責。

在擬備綜合財務報表時，董事負責評估 貴集團
持續經營的能力，並在適用情況下披露與持續經
營有關的事項，以及使用持續經營作為會計基
礎，除非董事有意將 貴集團清盤或停止經營，
或別無其他實際的替代方案。

治理層須負責監督 貴集團的財務報告過程。
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獨立核數師報告
Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We 
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other 
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

核數師就審計綜合財務報表承擔的責任

我們的目標，是對整體綜合財務報表是否不存在
由於欺詐或錯誤而導致的任何重大錯誤陳述取得
合理保證，並出具包括我們意見的核數師報告。
我們僅向 閣下（作為整體）報告我們的意見，
除此之外本報告別無其他目的。我們不會就本報
告的內容向任何其他人士負上或承擔任何責任。
合理保證為高水平的保證，但不能保證按《國際
審計準則》進行的審計在某一重大錯誤陳述存在
時總能被發現。錯誤陳述可由欺詐或錯誤引起，
如果合理預期其單獨或匯總起來可能影響綜合財
務報表使用者依賴綜合財務報表所作出的經濟決
定，則有關的錯誤陳述可被視為重大。

在根據《國際審計準則》進行審計的過程中，我們
運用了專業判斷，保持了專業的懷疑態度。我們
亦：

• 識別和評估由於欺詐或錯誤而導致綜合
財務報表存在重大錯誤陳述的風險，設
計及執行審計程序以應對這些風險，以
及獲取充足和適當的審計憑證，作為我
們意見的基礎。由於欺詐可能涉及串
謀、偽造、蓄意遺漏、虛假陳述，或凌
駕於內部控制之上，因此未能發現因欺
詐而導致的重大錯誤陳述的風險高於未
能發現因錯誤而導致的重大錯誤陳述的
風險。

• 了解與審計相關的內部控制，以設計適
當的審計程序，但目的並非對 貴集團
內部控制的有效性發表意見。

• 評估董事所採用會計政策的恰當性及作
出會計估計及相關披露的合理性。
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• 對董事採用持續經營會計基礎的恰當性
作出結論。根據所獲取的審計憑證，確
定是否存在與事項或情況有關的重大不
確定性，從而可能導致對 貴集團的持
續經營能力產生重大疑慮。如果我們認
為存在重大不確定性，則有必要在核數
師報告中提請使用者注意綜合財務報表
中的相關披露。假若有關的披露不足，
則我們應當發表非無保留意見。我們的
結論是基於核數師報告日止所取得的審
計憑證。然而，未來事項或情況可能導
致 貴集團不能持續經營。

• 評估綜合財務報表的整體列報方式、結
構及內容，包括披露，以及綜合財務報
表是否中肯反映交易及事項。

• 就 貴集團內實體或業務活動的財務資
料獲取充足、適當的審計憑證，以便對
綜合財務報表發表意見。我們負責 貴
集團審計的方向、監督和執行。我們為
審計意見承擔全部責任。

除其他事項外，我們與治理層溝通了計劃的審計
範圍、時間安排、重大審計發現等，包括我們在
審計中識別出內部控制的任何重大缺陷。

我們還向治理層提交聲明，說明我們已符合有關
獨立性的相關專業道德要求，並與他們溝通有可
能合理地被認為會影響我們獨立性的所有關係及
其他事項，及於適用情況下，相關的防範措施。

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
f inanc ia l  s ta tements or ,  i f  such d isc losures a re 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate wi th those charged wi th governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have compl ied with re levant eth ica l 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audi t resu l t ing in th is 
independent auditor’s report is Cheung Siu Cheong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 March 2018

從與治理層溝通的事項中，我們確定哪些事項對
本期綜合財務報表的審計最為重要，因而構成關
鍵審計事項。我們在核數師報告中描述這些事
項，除非法律法規不允許公開披露這些事項，或
在極端罕見的情況下，如果合理預期在我們報告
中溝通某事項造成的負面後果超過產生的公眾利
益，我們決定不應在報告中溝通該事項。

出具本獨立核數師報告的審計項目合夥人是張肇
昌。

羅兵咸永道會計師事務所
執業會計師

香港，二零一八年三月二十日
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綜合資產負債表
Consolidated Balance Sheet
於二零一七年十二月三十一日 As at 31 December 2017

於十二月三十一日
As at 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

附註 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

     

資產 ASSETS
非流動資產 Non-current assets
土地使用權 Land use rights 7 2,150,449 2,195,136
商譽 Goodwill 8 989,343 960,054
無形資產 Intangible assets 9 884,700 872,363
物業、廠房及設備 Property, plant and equipment 10 13,826,617 13,520,552
投資物業 Investment properties 11 2,458,127 1,968,682
在建工程 Construction-in-progress 12 10,243,839 3,993,953
使用權益法入賬的
投資

Investments accounted for 
using the equity method 14 2,614,019 4,525,143

貿易及其他應收款項 Trade and other receivables 21 399,150 1,727,577
可供出售金融資產 Available-for-sale financial assets 16 681,767 583,560
遞延所得稅資產 Deferred income tax assets 17 677,320 617,769
其他非流動資產 Other non-current assets 18 278,691 614,749

     

35,204,022 31,579,538
     

流動資產 Current assets
存貨 Inventories 19 6,422,311 5,805,348
發展中物業 Properties under development 20 871,690 679,923
貿易及其他應收款項 Trade and other receivables 21 16,463,410 14,913,716
應收合約工程客戶
款項

Amounts due from customers 
for contract work 22 2,038,512 1,841,368

按公允價值計量且其變動
計入損益的金融資產

Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss 23 15,371 2,901

抵押銀行存款 Pledged bank deposits 24 325,714 937,562
現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents 25 12,222,026 9,020,381

     

38,359,034 33,201,199
     

總資產 Total assets 73,563,056 64,780,737
     

權益 EQUITY
本公司權益持有人應佔
資本與儲備

Capital and reserves attributable to 
owners of the Company

股本 Share capital 26 1,166,162 1,166,162
股份溢價 Share premium 26 1,512,380 1,512,380
其他儲備 Other reserves 27 1,868,979 1,175,232
永久次級可換股
證券

Perpetual subordinated convertible 
securities 28 2,781,674 2,781,674

未分配利潤 Retained earnings 5,663,841 5,403,799
     

12,993,036 12,039,247

非控股股東權益 Non-controlling interests 13 14,821,698 13,327,266
     

總權益 Total equity 27,814,734 25,366,513
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綜合資產負債表
Consolidated Balance Sheet
於二零一七年十二月三十一日 As at 31 December 2017

於十二月三十一日
As at 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

附註 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

     

負債 LIABILITIES
非流動負債 Non-current liabilities
借款 Borrowings 29 10,469,470 8,904,854
遞延所得稅負債 Deferred income tax liabilities 17 737,509 617,537
政府補貼的遞延收入 Deferred income on government grants 30 1,467,316 1,447,927
撥備 Provisions 34 143,933 196,461
貿易及其他應付款項 Trade and other payables 33 124,510 73,391
退休及其他補充福利
責任

Retirement and other supplemental 
benefit obligations 31 404,731 414,274

其他非流動負債 Other non-current liabilities 32 75,673 80,332
     

13,423,142 11,734,776
     

流動負債 Current liabilities
貿易及其他應付款項 Trade and other payables 33 19,171,518 17,056,217
應付合約工程客戶
款項

Amounts due to customers for 
contract work 22 489,700 975,536

借款 Borrowings 29 12,265,389 9,319,542
流動所得稅負債 Current income tax liabilities 381,157 301,509
退休及其他補充福利
責任

Retirement and other supplemental 
benefit obligations 31 15,910 15,742

其他流動負債 Other current liabilities 32 1,506 10,902
     

32,325,180 27,679,448
     

總負債 Total liabilities 45,748,322 39,414,224
     

總權益及負債 Total equity and liabilities 73,563,056 64,780,737
     

隨附第164至356頁的附註為該等綜合財務報表的組成部分。
The accompanying notes on pages 164 to 356 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

董事：劉洪德 董事：賴偉宣
Director: Liu Hong De Director: Lai Wei Xuan

第156至356頁的綜合財務報表已於二零一八年三月二十日經董事會批准，並由董事代表簽署。
The consolidated financial statements on pages 156 to 356 were approved by the Board of Directors on 20 March 
2018 and were signed on its behalf.
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綜合損益表
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
截至二零一七年十二月三十一日止年度 For the Year Ended 31 December 2017

截至十二月三十一日止年度
Year ended 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

附註 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

     

收入 Revenue 6 36,581,679 33,007,917

銷售成本 Cost of sales 37 (30,006,749) (27,320,697)
     

毛利 Gross profit 6,574,930 5,687,220

銷售費用 Distribution costs 37 (2,030,585) (1,897,085)
行政開支 Administrative expenses 37 (3,764,042) (3,307,045)
投資物業的公允價值收益 Fair value gain on investment properties 11 172,619 212,438
其他收入 Other income 35 867,287 664,174
其他收益－淨額 Other gains – net 36 492,831 467,566

     

經營溢利 Operating profit 2,313,040 1,827,268

融資收入 Finance income 38 494,488 591,275
融資成本 Finance costs 38 (1,464,580) (843,134)

     

融資成本－淨額 Finance costs – net 38 (970,092) (251,859)
     

應佔合營企業及聯營
公司業績

Share of results of joint ventures 
and associates 14 227,617 222,486

     

除所得稅前溢利 Profit before income tax 1,570,565 1,797,895

所得稅開支 Income tax expense 40 (451,754) (509,923)
     

本年度溢利 Profit for the year 1,118,811 1,287,972
     

應佔溢利： Attributable to:
本公司權益持有人 Owners of the Company 408,107 806,066
非控股股東權益 Non-controlling interests 710,704 481,906

     

1,118,811 1,287,972
     

本公司權益持有人年內
應佔每股盈利：
（每股以人民幣元列示）

Earnings per share attributable 
to the owners of the Company 
for the year: (RMB per share)

每股基本盈利 Basic earnings per share 41 0.3261 0.6674
     

每股攤薄盈利 Diluted earnings per share 41 0.2074 0.4096
     

隨附第164至356頁的附註為該等綜合財務報表的組成部分。
The accompanying notes on pages 164 to 356 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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綜合全面收益報表
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
截至二零一七年十二月三十一日止年度 For the Year Ended 31 December 2017

截至十二月三十一日止年度
Year ended 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

附註 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

     

本年度溢利 Profit for the year 1,118,811 1,287,972
     

其他全面收益： Other comprehensive income:

不可重新分類至損益的
項目

Items that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss

重新計量退休及其他補充
福利責任

Remeasurements of retirement and other 
supplemental benefit obligations 2,812 (12,619)

自住物業轉為投資物業時的
公允價值收益

Fair value gain on transfer of owner-
occupied property to investment 
property 183,136 6,112

可能重新分類至損益的
項目

Items that may be subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss

可供出售金融資產的公允
價值收益

Fair value gains on available-for-sale 
financial assets 74,362 –

外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences (21,183) (45,502)
     

年內其他全面收益
（扣除稅款）

Other comprehensive income 
for the year, net of tax 239,127 (52,009)

     

年內全面總收益
（扣除稅款）

Total comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax 1,357,938 1,235,963

     

應佔： Attributable to:

－本公司權益持有人 – Owners of the Company 629,415 729,392

－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests 728,523 506,571
     

年內全面總收益 Total comprehensive income for the year 1,357,938 1,235,963
     

隨附第164至356頁的附註為該等綜合財務報表的組成部分。
The accompanying notes on pages 164 to 356 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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綜合權益變動表
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
截至二零一七年十二月三十一日止年度 For the Year Ended 31 December 2017

本公司權益持有人應佔
Attributable to owners of the Company 

股本
Share 

capital

股份溢價
Share 

premium

其他儲備
Other 

reserves

永久次級
可換股證券

Perpetual 
subordinated 

convertible 
securities

未分配利潤
Retained 
earnings

總計
Total

非控股
股東權益

Non-
controlling 

interests

總權益
Total 

equity
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
          

於二零一六年一月一日的結餘 Balance as at 1 January 2016 1,166,162 1,512,380 1,234,425 2,781,674 4,845,122 11,539,763 12,801,353 24,341,116
本年度溢利 Profit for the year – – – – 806,066 806,066 481,906 1,287,972
其他全面收益 Other comprehensive income – – (76,674) – – (76,674) 24,665 (52,009)

          

全面總收益 Total comprehensive income – – (76,674) – 806,066 729,392 506,571 1,235,963
          

與權益持有人的交易 Transactions with owners 
分佔一間聯營公司的儲備 Share of reserves of an associate – – 3,128 – – 3,128 – 3,128
出售附屬公司 Disposals of subsidiaries – – – – – – (63,641) (63,641)
非控股股東權益注資 Capital contributed by non-controlling interests – – – – – – 220,000 220,000
特別儲備－安全生產基金 Special reserve – safety production fund – – 195 – – 195 85 280
提取其他撥備 Appropriation to other reserves – – 14,158 – (14,158) – – –
二零一五年股息 Dividend for 2015 – – – – (233,231) (233,231) (137,102) (370,333)

          

與權益持有人的交易總額 Total transactions with owners – – 17,481 – (247,389) (229,908) 19,342 (210,566)
          

於二零一六年十二月三十一日的結餘 Balance as at 31 December 2016 1,166,162 1,512,380 1,175,232 2,781,674 5,403,799 12,039,247 13,327,266 25,366,513
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綜合權益變動表
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
截至二零一七年十二月三十一日止年度 For the Year Ended 31 December 2017

本公司權益持有人應佔
Attributable to owners of the Company 

股本
Share 

capital

股份溢價
Share 

premium

其他儲備
Other 

reserves

永久次級
可換股證券
Perpetual 

subordinated 
convertible 

securities

未分配利潤
Retained 
earnings

總計
Total

非控股
股東權益

Non-
controlling 

interests

總權益
Total

equity
附註 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

           

於二零一七年一月一日的結餘 Balance as at 1 January 2017 1,166,162 1,512,380 1,175,232 2,781,674 5,403,799 12,039,247 13,327,266 25,366,513
本年度溢利 Profit for the year – – – – 408,107 408,107 710,704 1,118,811
其他全面收益 Other comprehensive income – – 221,308 – – 221,308 17,819 239,127

           

全面總收益 Total comprehensive income – – 221,308 – 408,107 629,415 728,523 1,357,938
           

與權益持有人的交易 Transactions with owners 
分佔一間聯營公司的儲備 Share of reserves of an associate 14(a) – – (1,127) – – (1,127) – (1,127)
與非控股股東權益的交易 Transaction with non-controlling interests – – – – – – (5,845) (5,845)
一間附屬公司的首次公開發售 Initial public offering of a subsidiary 13 – – 441,616 – – 441,616 828,345 1,269,961
出售附屬公司 Disposals of subsidiaries 43(e) – – – – – – (11,518) (11,518)
特別儲備－安全生產基金 Special reserve – safety production fund 27 – – 501 – – 501 105 606
提取其他撥備 Appropriation to other reserves – – 31,449 – (31,449) – – –
二零一六年股息 Dividend for 2016 42 – – – – (116,616) (116,616) (45,178) (161,794)

           

與權益持有人的交易總額 Total transactions with owners – – 472,439 – (148,065) 324,374 765,909 1,090,283
           

於二零一七年十二月三十一日
的結餘

Balance as at 31 December 2017
1,166,162 1,512,380 1,868,979 2,781,674 5,663,841 12,993,036 14,821,698 27,814,734

           

隨附第164至356頁的附註為該等綜合財務報表的組成部分。
The accompanying notes on pages 164 to 356 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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綜合現金流量表
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
截至二零一七年十二月三十一日止年度 For the Year Ended 31 December 2017

截至十二月三十一日止年度
Year ended 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

附註 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

     

營運活動產生的現金流量 Cash flows from operating activities
經營業務產生的現金 Cash generated from operations 43 4,832,962 3,311,133
已付利息 Interest paid (906,405) (729,261)
已付所得稅 Income tax paid (391,346) (411,227)

     

營運活動產生的現金
淨額

Net cash generated from operating 
activities 3,535,211 2,170,645

     

投資活動產生的現金流量 Cash flows from investing activities
在建工程付款 Payment for construction-in-progress (7,528,263) (3,198,883)
購買物業、廠房及
設備

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment (615,708) (745,896)

購買土地使用權 Purchase of land use rights 7 (9,993) (93,335)
購買無形資產 Purchase of intangible assets 9 (53,693) (136,612)
其他非流動資產付款 Payment for other non-current assets (84,817) (164,708)
收購一間附屬公司所得
款項，扣除已付現金

Proceeds for acquisition of a subsidiary, 
net of cash paid – (17,922)

收購及注資聯營公司
款項

Payment for the acquisition of and 
capital injection to associates 14(a) (8,600) (31,755)

收購及注資合營企業
款項

Payment for the acquisition of and 
capital injection to joint ventures – (41,816)

出售附屬公司的現金
流入╱（流出）

Cash inflow/(outflow) from disposals of 
subsidiaries 43(e) 602,529 (20,423)

購買可供出售金融資產 Purchase of available-for-sale financial 
assets – (2,200)

出售物業、廠房及設備
所得款項

Proceeds from disposals of property, 
plant and equipment 43(b) 113,743 48,276

出售無形資產所得款項 Proceeds from disposals of intangible 
assets 113 –

出售可供出售金融資產
所得款項

Proceeds from disposals of available-for-
sale financial assets – 13,990

出售於聯營公司的投資
所得款項

Proceeds from disposals of investments 
in associates 43(c) 680,438 –

出售於合營企業的投資
所得款項

Proceeds from disposals of investments 
in joint ventures 43(d) 1,014,300 –

已收政府補貼 Government grants received 30 960,446 666,724
已收利息 Interest received 218,003 270,690
關聯方貸款 Loans to related parties 46(d) (1,492,947) (2,700)
關聯方償還貸款 Repayments of loan to related parties 46(d) 1,383,713 514,760
已收股息 Dividends received 161,056 667,971

     

投資活動所用現金淨額 Net cash used in investing activities (4,659,680) (2,273,839)
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綜合現金流量表
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
截至二零一七年十二月三十一日止年度 For the Year Ended 31 December 2017

截至十二月三十一日止年度
Year ended 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

附註 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

     

融資活動產生的現金流量 Cash flows from financing activities 
借款所得款項 Proceeds from borrowings 14,032,522 12,646,473
償還借款 Repayments of borrowings (9,607,438) (14,277,921)
關聯方借款 Borrowings from related parties 46(c) 1,341,573 2,312,162
向關聯方償還借款 Repayments of borrowings from 

related parties 46(c) (2,396,254) (3,402,610)
非控股股東權益向
附屬公司注資

Capital contribution to subsidiaries from 
non-controlling interests 43(a) 1,269,961 220,000

派付予本公司股東的
股息

Dividend paid to shareholders of the 
Company 42 (116,616) (233,231)

派付予附屬公司非控股
股東權益的股息

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests of subsidiaries (41,050) (131,070)

     

融資活動所得╱（所用）的
現金淨額

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
financing activities 4,482,698 (2,866,197)

     

現金及現金等價物的增加╱
（減少）淨額

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 3,358,229 (2,969,391)

年初的現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 
of year 9,020,381 11,780,904

匯率變動對現金及
現金等價物的影響

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 
and cash equivalents (156,584) 208,868

     

年末的現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12,222,026 9,020,381
     

隨附第164至356頁的附註為該等綜合財務報表的組成部分。
The accompanying notes on pages 164 to 356 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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綜合財務報表附註
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 GENERAL INFORMATION
AVIC International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
was incorporated as a joint stock limited company in 
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and its 
shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in 
the manufacturing and sales of flat panel displays and 
modules, printed circuit boards and watches, property 
development, logistic and ship building service relating 
to engineering, procurement and construction projects 
(“EPC Projects”) development.

The office address of the Company is 39/F, AVIC Centre 
Building, No.1018 Huafu Road, Futian District, Shenzhen, 
PRC.

The consol idated f inancia l statements have been 
approved for issue on 20 March 2018.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements of the Group 
have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the applicable 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

The consol idated f inancia l statements have been 
prepared under the histor ical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of investment properties, 
available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss and defined benefit 
pension plans. The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand except where otherwise 
indicated. The accounting policies and bases adopted in 
the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
differ from those used in the statutory accounts of 
the Group which are prepared in accordance with the 
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (2006) of 
the People’s Republic of China (“CAS 2006”).

1 一般資料
中航國際控股股份有限公司（「本公司」）
為在中華人民共和國（「中國」）註冊成立
的股份有限公司，其股份已在香港聯合
交易所有限公司主板上市。

本公司及其附屬公司（統稱「本集團」）主
要從事平板顯示屏及模組、印刷電路板
及手錶的製造與銷售、地產開發、有關
工程的物流及造船服務、採購及建設項
目（「EPC項目」）發展。

本公司的註冊辦公地為中國深圳市福田
區華富路1018號中航中心大廈39樓。

綜合財務報表已於二零一八年三月二十
日批准刊發。

2 編製基準
本集團的綜合財務報表是根據國際財務
報告準則（「國際財務報告準則」）及香港
《公司條例》之適用披露規定編製。

綜合財務報表按照歷史成本法編製，並
就投資物業、可供出售金融資產、按公
允價值計量且其變動計入損益的金融資
產及養老金固定收益計劃重估作出修
訂。綜合財務報表以人民幣（「人民幣」）
呈列，除非另有所指，否則所有金額均
已約整至最接近的千位。編製該等綜合
財務報表所採用的會計政策及基準與本
集團編製法定賬目時採用的中華人民共
和國企業會計準則(2006)（「企業會計準則
2006」）有所不同。
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綜合財務報表附註
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise 
its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements are disclosed in Note 5.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures:

(a) The following amendments to standards have 
been adopted by the Group for the first time for 
the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 
2017:

於下列日期或之後
開始的會計期間生效

Effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after

國際會計準則第12號的修訂 所得稅 二零一七年一月一日
Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes 1 January 2017

國際會計準則第7號的修訂 現金流量表 二零一七年一月一日
Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of cash flows 1 January 2017

國際財務報告準則第12號的修訂 於其他實體權益的披露 二零一七年一月一日
Amendment to IFRS 12 Disclosure of interest in other entities 1 January 2017

年度改進項目 二零一四年至二零一六年週期的年度改進 二零一七年一月一日
Annual improvement project Annual improvements 2014-2016 cycle 1 January 2017

The adoption of these amendments did not have 
any impact on the current period or any prior 
period and is not likely to affect future periods.

2 編製基準（續）
編製符合國際財務報告準則的財務報表
需要採用若干關鍵會計估計。管理層亦
須在應用本集團會計政策的過程中作出
判斷。涉及高度判斷或複雜性，或涉及
對綜合財務報表而言屬重大的領域已於
附註5披露。

會計政策及披露變動：

(a) 本集團已於二零一七年一月一日
或之後開始的財政年度首次採納
下列準則修訂：

採納該等修訂並未對本期間或任
何過往期間造成任何影響，亦不
大可能影響未來期間。
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綜合財務報表附註
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 編製基準（續）
(b) 本集團並無提早採納以下已頒佈

但於二零一七年一月一日開始的
財政年度仍未生效的新訂準則、
修訂及詮釋。

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(b) The following new standards, amendments and 

interpretations have been issued but are not 
effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 
2017, and have not been early adopted by the 
Group.

於下列日期或之後
開始的會計期間生效

Effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after

國際財務報告準則第9號 金融工具 二零一八年一月一日
IFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2018

國際財務報告準則第15號 來自客戶合約的收益 二零一八年一月一日
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018

國際財務報告準則第2號的修訂 以股份基礎支付交易的分類及計量 二零一八年一月一日
Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and measurement of 

share-based payment transactions
1 January 2018

國際會計準則第28號的修訂 於聯營公司及合營企業投資 二零一八年一月一日
Amendment to IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2018

國際會計準則第40號的修訂 轉讓投資物業 二零一八年一月一日
Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of investment property 1 January 2018

國際財務報告詮釋委員會－詮釋第22號 外幣交易及預付代價 二零一八年一月一日
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and 

Advance Consideration
1 January 2018

國際財務報告準則第16號 租賃 二零一九年一月一日
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

國際財務報告詮釋委員會－詮釋第23號 所得稅處理的不確定性 二零一九年一月一日
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019

國際財務報告準則第10號及
國際會計準則第28號的修訂

投資者與其聯營公司或合營企業的
資產出售或投入

待定

Amendments to IFRS 10 
and IAS 28

Sale or contribution of assets between an 
investor and its associate or joint venture

To be determined

T h e  G r o u p  h a s  a l r e a d y  c o m m e n c e d  a n 
assessment of the impact of these new or revised 
standards and amendments, certain of which are 
relevant to the Group’s operation. According to 
the preliminary assessment made by the directors 
of the Company, except for IFRS 15, IFRS 9 and 
IFRS 16, no significant impact on the financial 
performance and posi t ions of the Group is 
expected when they become effective.

本集團已開始評估該等新訂或經
修訂準則以及修訂的影響，其中
若干準則及修訂與本集團營運有
關。根據本公司董事作出的初步
評估，除國際財務報告準則第15
號、第9號以及第16號之外，預期
其他準則及修訂生效後不會對本
集團的財務表現及狀況造成重大
影響。
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綜合財務報表附註
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(b) (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Nature of change
The IASB has issued a new standard for the 
recognition of revenue. This will replace IAS 18 
which covers contracts for goods and services 
and IAS 11 which covers construction contracts 
and the related literature. The new standard is 
based on the principle that revenue is recognised 
when control of a good or service transfers to 
a customer. The standard permits either a full 
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach 
for the adoption.

Impact
Management has assessed the effects of applying 
the new standards on the Group’s f inancial 
statements and has identified the following areas 
that are likely to be affected:

• Revenue from construction contract and 
service – the application of IFRS 15 may 
result in the identi f icat ion of separate 
performance obligations which could affect 
the timing of the recognition of revenue. 
As most of the construction contracts are 
the integration of multiple-components of 
the contracts, the individual components 
are considered to be highly interconnected. 
Thus, performance obligations are not 
separately identifiable under IFRS 15, which 
means that the impact on the financial 
performance of applying the IFRS 15 is 
insignificant.

• If certain conditions are met, the cost 
of obtaining an contract will need to be 
recognized as a separate asset, which is 
to be amortized over the respective term 
of the contract. As of 1 January 2018, 
the asset recognized will be increased, 
while cost recognised will be reduced. The 
effect on the gross profit, as a result of the 
capitalisation and depreciation of the asset, 
is insignificant.

2 編製基準（續）
(b) （續）

國際財務報告準則第15號來自客
戶合約的收益
變動的概述
國際會計準則理事會已頒佈收入
確認的新準則。該準則將取代涵
蓋貨品及服務合約的國際會計準
則第18號，以及涵蓋建造合約及
相關資料的國際會計準則第11
號。新準則的原則為於貨品或服
務的控制權轉讓予客戶時確認收
入。此準則容許全面追溯採納或
修訂追溯採納。

影響
管理層已評估應用新準則對本集
團財務報表的影響，並識別以下
可能受影響的範圍：

• 來自建築合約及服務的收
入－應用國際財務報告準
則第15號或會識別出可能
影響收入確認時間的個別
履約責任。由於許多建築
合約結合各項合約的多個
組成部分，個別組成部分
被視為高度相互關連，因
此未能根據國際財務報告
準則第15號個別識別履約
責任，換言之應用國際財
務報告準則第15號對財務
表現的影響不大。

• 倘符合若干條件，取得合
約的成本將須確認為個別
資產，並於合約相關期限
內予以攤銷。於二零一八
年一月一日，已確認的資
產將增加，而已確認的成
本則減少。資本化及資產
折舊對毛利的影響不大。
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2 編製基準（續）
(b) （續）

國際財務報告準則第15號來自客
戶合約的收益（續）
本集團的採納日期
該準則於二零一八年一月一日或
之後開始的財政年度強制應用。
本集團擬使用修訂追溯法採納該
準則，即採納準則的累計影響將
於二零一八年一月一日的未分配
利潤予以確認，相關比較數字將
不予重列。

本集團估計上述綜合影響將增加
本集團於二零一八年一月一日的
未分配利潤，並相應增加於二零
一八年一月一日的流動資產及遞
延稅項負債。

國際財務報告準則第9號金融工具
變動的概述
國際財務報告準則第9號處理金融
資產及金融負債的分類、計量及
終止確認，亦為金融資產引進新
對沖會計規則及新減值模式。

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(b) (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
(continued)
Date of adoption by Group
Mandatory for financial years commencing on or 
after 1 January 2018. The Group intends to adopt 
the standard using the modified retrospective 
approach which means that the cumulat ive 
impact of the adoption wil l be recognised in 
retained earnings as of 1 January 2018 and that 
comparatives will not be restated.

The Group estimates the overall impact of the 
above is an increase of the Group’s retained 
earnings on 1 January 2018, and a corresponding 
increase in current asset and deferred tax liability 
as of 1 January 2018.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Nature of change
IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement 
and derecogn i t ion o f  f inanc ia l  assets and 
financial liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge 
accounting and a new impairment model for 
financial assets.
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2 編製基準（續）
(b) （續）

國際財務報告準則第9號金融工具
（續）
影響
• 有關金融資產及負債分類

及計量的變動

根據本集團的初步評估，
該準則不會對本集團金融
資產及負債的會計處理造
成重大影響。本集團預
期，其目前按攤銷成本計
量的金融資產將繼續採
納其各自的分類及計量
方法。就目前分類為可
供出售金融資產（「可供
出售金融資產」）的權益
工具而言，當中人民幣
627,151,000元來自廈門
天馬微電子有限公司（「廈
門天馬公司」），而本集團
於二零一八年一月二十二
日全面收購該公司（附註
49）。餘下的可供出售金融
資產將重新分類為按公允
價值計量且其變動計入損
益的金融資產。

新對沖會計規則將使對沖
工具的會計處理更貼近本
集團的風險管理實務。作
為一般性原則，由於該準
則引進更傾向以原則為基
準之方法，故可能有更多
合資格採用對沖會計方法
之對沖關係。儘管本集團
尚未進行詳細評估，惟當
採納國際財務報告準則第9
號時，本集團現時之對沖
關係將不適合作持續對沖
會計。

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(b) (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impact
• C h a n g e s  o n  c l a s s i f i c a t i o n  a n d 

measurement of f inancia l assets and 
liabilities

According to the preliminary assessment 
of the Group, there wil l be immaterial 
impact on the Group’s accounting for 
financial assets and liabilities. The Group 
expects that its financial assets currently 
measured at amortised cost will continue 
with their respective classif ication and 
measurements. For the equity instruments 
cur rent l y  c lass i f i ed as ava i lab le- fo r -
s a l e  f i n a n c i a l  a s s e t s  ( t h e  “ A F S ” ) , 
RMB627,151,000 of it comes from Xiamen 
Tianma Microelectronics Company Limited 
(“Xiamen Tianma Company”), which will 
be wholly acquired by the Group on 22 
January 2018 (Note 49). The rest of the 
AFS will be reclassified to the financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The new hedge accounting rules will align 
the accounting for hedging instruments 
more  c l ose l y  w i t h  t he  G roup ’s  r i s k 
management pract ices. As a genera l 
ru le, more hedge re lat ionships might 
be eligible for hedge accounting, as the 
standard introduces a more principles-
based approach. While the Group is yet 
to undertake a detailed assessment, the 
Group’s current hedge relationships would 
not qualify as continuing hedges upon the 
adoption of IFRS 9.
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2 編製基準（續）
(b) （續）

國際財務報告準則第9號金融工具
（續）
影響（續）
• 減值模式的變動

新減值模式要求以預期信
用虧損，而非國際會計準
則第 39號下僅以已產生
信用虧損確認減值撥備。
該規定適用於按攤銷成本
分類的金融資產、國際財
務報告準則第 15號來自
客戶合約的收益下之合約
資產、應收租賃款項、貸
款承擔及若干財務擔保合
約。根據迄今進行的評
估，本集團預期，與國際
會計準則第39號即期所產
生的虧損模式比較，國際
財務報告準則第9號所引進
的新減值模式將普遍導致
提早確認虧損（附註3.12）。

新訂準則亦引入擴大披露
範圍之要求及呈列方式變
動。該等要求及變動預期
將改變本集團有關其金融
工具披露之性質及程度（尤
其是於採納新訂準則之年
度）。

本集團的採納日期
該準則必須於二零一八年一月一
日或之後開始的財政年度予以應
用。本集團將自二零一八年一月
一日起追溯應用該等新規則，以
及根據該項準則允許之可行權宜
處理方法。二零一七年之比較數
字將不予重列。

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(b) (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impact (continued)
• Changes on the impairment model

The new impairment model requires the 
recogni t ion of impai rment prov is ions 
based on expected credit losses rather 
than only incurred credit losses as is the 
case under IAS 39. It applies to financial 
assets c lass i f i ed a t  amor t i sed cost , 
contract assets under IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers, lease 
receivables, loan commitments and certain 
financial guarantee contracts. Based on 
the assessments undertaken to date, the 
Group expects the new impairment model 
introduced by IFRS 9 will generally result in 
earlier recognition of losses compared to 
the current incurred loss model of IAS 39 
(Note 3.12).

T h e  n e w s t a n d a r d  a l s o  i n t r o d u c e s 
expanded disclosure requirements and 
changes in  p resenta t ion .  These a re 
expected to change the nature and extent 
of the Group’s d isc losures about i ts 
financial instruments particularly in the year 
of the adoption of the new standard.

Date of adoption by Group
Must be applied for financial years commencing 
on or after 1 January 2018. The Group will apply 
the new rules retrospectively from 1 January 2018, 
with the practical expedients permitted under 
the standard. Comparatives for 2017 will not be 
restated.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(b) (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases
Nature of change
IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result 
in almost al l leases being recognised on the 
consolidated balance sheet, as the distinction 
between operating and finance leases is removed. 
Under the new standard, an asset (the right to 
use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay 
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are 
short-term and low-value leases. The accounting 
for lessors will not significantly change.

Impact
The Group is a lessee of certain off ices and 
buildings, which are currently accounted for as 
operating leases under IAS 17 based on the 
accounting policy as set out in Note 3.31. As 
at 31 December 2017, the Group’s minimum 
lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
lease agreements are of RMB420,390,000 as 
disclosed in Note 45(b). Under IFRS 16, lessees 
are required to recognise a lease liability reflecting 
future lease payments and a right-of-use asset 
for all lease contracts in the consolidated balance 
sheet. Lessees will also have to present interest 
expense on the lease liability and depreciation on 
the right-of-use asset in the income statement. 
In comparison with operating leases under IAS 
17, this will change not only the allocation of 
expenses but also the total amount of expenses 
recognised for each period of the lease term. The 
combination of a straight-line depreciation of the 
right-of-use asset and the effective interest rate 
method applied to the lease liability will result in 
a higher total charge to profit or loss in the initial 
years of the lease, and decreasing expenses 
during the latter part of the lease term. The new 
standard has included an optional exemption for 
certain short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets. This exemption can only be applied by 
lessees.

2 編製基準（續）
(b) （續）

國際財務報告準則第16號租賃
變動的概述
國際財務報告準則第16號於二零
一六年一月頒佈。由於經營及融
資租賃之區分被剔除，故絕大部
分租賃將於綜合資產負債表內確
認。根據該新訂準則，資產（租賃
資產的使用權）及支付租金之金融
負債均予以確認。唯一例外是短
期及低價值之租賃。出租人之會
計處理將不會出現重大改變。

影響
本集團為若干辦公室及樓宇的承
租人，根據附註3.31所載的會計
政策，目前根據國際會計準則第
17號入賬為經營租賃。於二零
一七年十二月三十一日，本集
團根據不可撤銷經營租賃協議
作出的最低租賃付款為人民幣
420,390,000元，並於附註45(b)
披露。根據國際財務報告準則第
16號，承租人須確認租賃負債，
以於綜合資產負債表內反映所有
租賃合約的未來租賃付款及使用
權資產。承租人亦將須於收入表
內呈列租賃負債的利息開支及使
用權資產的折舊。與國際會計準
則第17號的經營租賃比較，此準
則不僅變更開支分配方式，亦變
更租期內各期間所確認的開支總
額。使用權資產的直線折舊法與
應用於租賃負債的實際利率法結
合後，會導致租賃最初數年內計
入損益的總支出較高，而支出會
於租賃後期逐漸減少。該新準則
的選擇性豁免包括若干短期租賃
及低價值資產的租賃。該豁免僅
可適用於承租人。
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2 編製基準（續）
(b) （續）

國際財務報告準則第16號租賃
（續）
本集團的採納日期
該準則於二零一九年一月一日或
之後開始的財政年度強制應用。
於現階段，本集團並不擬於該生
效日期前採納該準則。本集團擬
應用簡單過渡方式，並將不會重
列首次採納前一年的比較數額。

概無其他尚未生效的準則預期對
目前或未來報告期間的實體及可
預見未來交易造成重大影響。

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(b) (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Date of adoption by Group
Mandatory for financial years commencing on or 
after 1 January 2019. At this stage, the Group 
does not intend to adopt the standard before its 
effective date. The Group intends to apply the 
simplified transition approach and will not restate 
comparative amounts for the year prior to first 
adoption.

There are no other standards that are not yet 
effective and that would be expected to have 
a material impact on the entity in the current or 
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future 
transactions.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The pr inc ipa l  account ing po l ic ies app l ied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

3.1 Consolidation
3.1.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiar ies are al l ent i t ies ( including 
structured entities) over which the Group 
has cont ro l .  The Group cont ro ls  an 
entity when the Group is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the 
abi l i ty to affect those returns through 
i ts power over the ent i ty . Except for 
business combinations applying business 
combinat ion invo lv ing ent i t ies under 
common cont ro l  as deta i led in Note 
3.1.1(a ) be low, subs id iar ies are fu l ly 
consol idated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. They 
are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases.

D e - f a c t o  c o n t r o l  m a y  a r i s e  i n 
c i rcumstances where the s ize of the 
Group’s vot ing r ights re la t ive to the 
size and dispersion of holdings of other 
shareholders give the Group the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies, 
etc.

3 主要會計政策概要

編製該等綜合財務報表採用的主要會計
政策載於下文。除另有說明外，此等政
策在所呈報的所有年度內貫徹應用。

3.1 綜合賬目
3.1.1 附屬公司

附屬公司是指本集團擁有
控制權的所有實體（包括結
構實體）。當本集團承受參
與實體所得的可變回報的
風險或有權享有參與實體
所得的可變回報，且有能
力透過其對實體的權力影
響該等回報時，則本集團
控制該實體。除應用下文
附註3.1.1(a)所詳述共同控
制下實體業務合併的業務
合併外，附屬公司在控制
權轉移至本集團之日起全
面綜合入賬，並在控制權
終止當日起取消綜合入賬。

倘相對其他股東的表決權
益的數量及分散情況，本
集團的表決權益數量佔
優，使本集團獲得控制其
財務及經營政策等的權
力，則本集團擁有實際控
制權。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.1 綜合賬目（續）
3.1.1 附屬公司（續）

本集團內公司間的交易、
交易結餘及收支予以對
銷。於資產確認的公司間
交易產生的溢利及虧損亦
予以對銷。在必要時，附
屬公司的會計政策會予以
變動，以確保與本集團所
採納的政策保持一致。

業績內的非控股股東權益
及附屬公司權益分別於綜
合損益表、綜合全面收入
報表及綜合權益變動表及
綜合資產負債表分開呈列。

(a) 共同控制下實體的
業務合併
就共同控制下實體
的業務合併而言，
綜合財務報表包括
發生共同控制合併
的合併實體或業務
的財務報表，猶如
已自合併實體或業
務首次受控制方控
制當日起已合併計
算。

合併各實體或業務
的淨資產已按控制
方預期的現有賬面
值綜合入賬。在控
制方權益延續的情
況下，並無就商譽
或共同控制合併時
收購方於被收購方
的可識別資產、負
債及或然負債的公
允淨值的權益超逾
成本的差額確認任
何金額。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Consolidation (continued)

3.1.1 Subsidiaries (continued)
Intercompany transact ions, balances, 
income and expenses on transactions 
between Group companies are eliminated. 
Profits and losses resulting from inter-
company transactions that are recognised 
in assets are also eliminated. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controll ing interests in the results 
and equity of subsidiar ies are shown 
separately in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss, consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, consolidated 
s ta tement o f  changes in  equ i ty  and 
consolidated balance sheet respectively.

(a) Business combinat ion involv ing 
entities under common control
For business combination involving 
entities under common control, the 
consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the financial statements 
o f  t h e  c o m b i n i n g  e n t i t i e s  o r 
businesses in which the common 
control combination occurs as if 
they had been combined from the 
date when the combining entities 
or businesses first came under the 
control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining 
entities or businesses are combined 
using the existing book values from 
the controlling parties’ perspective. 
N o  a m o u n t  i s  r e c o g n i s e d  i n 
consideration for goodwill or excess 
of acquirers’ interest in the net 
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, l iabil it ies and contingent 
liabilities over cost at the time of 
common control combination, to 
the extent of the continuation of the 
controlling party’s interest.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Consolidation (continued)

3.1.1 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Business combinat ion involv ing 

ent i t ies under common contro l 
(continued)
The consol idated statement of 
profit or loss includes the results of 
each of the combining entities or 
businesses from the earliest date 
presented or since the date when 
the combining entities or businesses 
f i r s t  came under  the common 
control, where there is a shorter 
period, regardless of the date of the 
common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements 
are presented as if the entities or 
businesses had been combined at 
the previous balance sheet date or 
when they first came under common 
control, whichever is shorter.

A uniform set of accounting policies 
is adopted by those entit ies. All 
intra-group transactions, balances 
and unrealised gains on transactions 
between combin ing ent i t ies or 
bus i nesses  a re  e l im ina ted  on 
consolidation.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.1 綜合賬目（續）
3.1.1 附屬公司（續）

(a) 共同控制下實體的
業務合併（續）

綜合損益表包括各
合併實體或業務由
所呈列最早日期或
合併實體或業務首
次受共同控制當日
以來（以較短期間為
準）的業績，而不論
共同控制合併的日
期。

於綜合財務報表呈
列比較金額時假設
實體或業務於上一
個結算日或其首次
受共同控制時（以較
短者為準）已合併計
算。

該等實體採納一套
統一的會計政策。
合併實體或業務之
間 所 有 集 團 間 交
易、交易結餘及未
變現收益於綜合賬
目時對銷。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.1 綜合賬目（續）
3.1.1 附屬公司（續）

(a) 共同控制下實體的
業務合併（續）

涉及共同控制下實
體以外的所有業務
合併均採用收購會
計法入賬，而不論
權益工具或其他資
產有否被收購。收
購附屬公司的轉讓
代價包括：

• 所轉讓資產
的公允價值

• 對被收購業
務之前擁有
人所產生負
債

• 本集團所發
行股權

• 或然代價安
排產生的任
何資產或負
債的公允價
值；及

• 附屬公司任
何之前股權
的公允價值。

於業務合併時所收
購的可識別資產及
所承擔的負債及或
然負債，初步按收
購日期的公允價值
計量。本集團按逐
項收購基準，以公
允價值或按非控股
股東權益所佔被收
購方可識別資產淨
值已確認金額的比
例確認於被收購方
的任何非控股股東
權益。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Consolidation (continued)

3.1.1 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Business combinat ion involv ing 

ent i t ies under common contro l 
(continued)
T h e  a c q u i s i t i o n  m e t h o d  o f 
accounting is used to account for all 
business combinations other than 
involving entit ies under common 
con t ro l ,  r ega rd less i f  whe the r 
equity instruments or other assets 
are acquired. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a 
subsidiary comprises the:

• fa i r  va lues o f  the assets 
transferred

• l iab i l i t ies incur red to the 
f o r m e r  o w n e r s  o f  t h e 
acquired business

• equity interests issued by the 
Group

• fair value of any asset or 
l i ab i l i t y  r esu l t i ng  f rom a 
cont ingent cons iderat ion 
arrangement, and

• f a i r  v a l u e  o f  a n y  p r e -
existing equity interest in the 
subsidiary.

Identif iable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair 
va lues at the acquis i t ion date. 
The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree 
on an acquisit ion-by-acquisit ion 
basis, e i ther at fa i r va lue or at 
t he  non -con t ro l l i ng  i n t e r es t ’ s 
p r o p o r t i o n a t e  s h a r e  o f  t h e 
recognised amounts of acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Consolidation (continued)

3.1.1 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Business combinat ion involv ing 

ent i t ies under common contro l 
(continued)
A c q u i s i t i o n - r e l a t e d  c o s t s  a r e 
expensed as incurred.

I f  the bus iness combinat ion is 
achieved in stages, the acquisition 
date carrying value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree is re-measured to fair 
value at the acquisition date; any 
gains or losses arising from such 
re-measurement are recognised in 
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to 
be t ransferred by the Group is 
recognised at fa i r  va lue at the 
acqu i s i t i on  da te .  Subsequen t 
changes to the fair value of the 
contingent consideration that is 
deemed to be an asset or liability 
is recognised in accordance with 
IAS39 either in profit or loss or as 
a change to other comprehensive 
income. Contingent consideration 
that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured, and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within 
equity.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.1 綜合賬目（續）
3.1.1 附屬公司（續）

(a) 共同控制下實體的
業務合併（續）

與收購相關的成本
於產生時支銷。

如業務合併分階段
達成，於收購日期
收購方先前所持的
被收購方股權的賬
面值於收購日期按
公 允 價 值 重 新 計
量，重新計量所產
生的收益或虧損在
損益中確認。

本集團所轉讓的任
何或然代價在收購
日期按公允價值確
認。被視為一項資
產或負債的或然代
價公允價值隨後變
動，將按照國際會
計準則第 39號規
定，於損益確認或
確認為其他全面收
益變動。分類為權
益的或然代價毋須
重新計量，而其後
結算於權益入賬。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.1 綜合賬目（續）
3.1.1 附屬公司（續）

(a) 共同控制下實體的
業務合併（續）

已轉讓代價、被收
購方的任何非控股
股東權益金額及任
何之前於被收購方
的股權於收購日期
的公允價值超出所
購入可識別資產淨
值公允價值的差額
入賬為商譽。於議
價購買時，如已轉
讓代價、已確認非
控股股東權益及已
計量過往所持權益
的總額少於所收購
附屬公司資產淨值
的公允價值，有關
差額於綜合損益表
直接確認。

(b) 於附屬公司擁有權
的變動（不會導致控
制權變動）
本集團將其與非控
股股東權益進行且
不導致失去控制權
的交易入賬為權益
交易－即與擁有人
以其作為擁有人身
分進行的交易。所
支付任何代價的公
允價值與相關應佔
所收購附屬公司淨
資產賬面值的差額
入賬為權益。有關
向非控股股東權益
出售的收益或虧損
亦在權益記賬。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Consolidation (continued)

3.1.1 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Business combinat ion involv ing 

ent i t ies under common contro l 
(continued)
The excess of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree 
and the acquisition-date fair value 
of any previous equity interest in 
the acquiree over the fair value of 
the identifiable net assets acquired 
is recorded as goodwill. If the total 
of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and 
previously held interest measured 
is less than the fair value of the net 
assets of the subsidiary acquired in 
the case of a bargain purchase, the 
difference is recognised directly in 
the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

(b) Changes in ownership interests 
in subsidiaries without change of 
control
Transactions with non-controlling 
interests that do not result in loss 
of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions – that is, as 
transactions with the owners in 
the i r  capac i t y  as owners .  The 
difference between fair value of any 
consideration paid and the relevant 
share acquired of the carrying value 
of net assets of the subsidiary is 
recorded in equity. Gains or losses 
on disposals to non-control l ing 
interests are also recorded in equity.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Consolidation (continued)

3.1.1 Subsidiaries (continued)
(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have 
control, any retained interest in 
the entity is re-measured to its fair 
value at the date when control is 
lost, with the change in carrying 
amount recognised in prof i t  or 
loss. The fair value is the init ial 
carrying amount for the purposes 
of subsequently accounting for the 
retained interest as an associate, 
joint venture or financial asset. In 
addition, any amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive 
income in respect of that entity are 
accounted for as if the Group had 
direct ly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities. This may mean 
that amounts previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss.

3.1.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted 
for at cost less impairment. Cost includes 
direct attributable costs of investment. The 
results of subsidiaries are accounted for 
by the Company on the basis of dividend 
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in 
subsidiaries is required upon receiving 
a dividend from these investments if the 
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive 
income of the subsidiary in the period 
the dividend is declared or if the carrying 
amount of the investment in the separate 
financial statements exceeds the carrying 
amount in the consol idated f inanc ia l 
statements of the investee’s net assets 
including goodwill.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.1 綜合賬目（續）
3.1.1 附屬公司（續）

(c) 出售附屬公司
倘本集團喪失對實
體的控制權，則於
失去控制權當日按
公允價值重新計量
實體的任何保留權
益，賬面值變動於
損益確認。就其後
入 賬 列 作 聯 營 公
司、合營企業或金
融 資 產 的 保 留 權
益，公允價值為初
始賬面值。此外，
先前於其他全面收
益確認與該實體有
關的任何金額按猶
如本集團已直接出
售相關資產或負債
的方式入賬。這可
能意味著先前在其
他全面收益確認的
金額須重新分類至
損益。

3.1.2 獨立財務報表
於附屬公司的投資按成本
扣除減值入賬。成本包括
投資直接應佔成本。本公
司根據已收及應收股息為
基準，計算附屬公司的業
績。

倘宣派股息期內，股息超
出附屬公司的全面總收益
或倘於獨立財務報表內投
資的賬面值超出綜合財務
報表內受投資公司淨資產
（包括商譽）的賬面值，於
附屬公司投資的減值測試
須於自該等投資收取股息
時作出。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.1 綜合賬目（續）
3.1.3 聯營公司

聯營公司指所有本集團對
其有重大影響力而無控制
權的實體，通常附帶有
20%至 50%投票權的股
權。於初始按成本確認
後，（見下文3.1.5）於聯營
公司的投資以權益會計法
入賬。

3.1.4 合營安排
根據國際財務報告準則第
11號合營安排，於合營
安排的投資分類為合營業
務或合營企業。分類視乎
各投資方的合約權利及責
任而非合營安排的法律架
構。本集團已評估其合營
安排的性質，並將其釐定
為合營企業。

合營企業
於合營企業的權益乃於綜
合資產負債表初步按成本
確認後使用權益法（見下文
(3.1.5)）入賬。

3.1.5 權益會計法
根據權益會計法，投資初
步按成本確認，其後進行
調整以於損益確認本集團
應佔被投資方收購後利潤
或虧損，並於其他全面收
入確認本集團應佔被投資
方其他全面收益的變動。
已收或應收聯營公司及合
營企業的股息確認為於投
資賬面值的扣減。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Consolidation (continued)

3.1.3 Associates
Associates are al l ent i t ies over which 
the Group has significant influence but 
not control, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of 
the voting rights. Investments in associates 
are accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting (see (3.1.5) below), after 
initially being recognised at cost.

3.1.4 Joint arrangements
Under  I FRS 11 Jo in t  A r rangemen ts 
investments in joint arrangements are 
classif ied as either joint operations or 
joint ventures. The classification depends 
on the contractual rights and obligations 
of each investor, rather than the legal 
structure of the joint arrangement. The 
Group has assessed the nature of its joint 
arrangements and determined them to be 
joint ventures.

Joint ventures
Interests in joint ventures are accounted 
for using the equity method (see (3.1.5) 
below), after initially being recognised at 
cost in the consolidated balance sheet.

3.1.5 Equity accounting
Under the equity method of accounting, 
the investments are initially recognised at 
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition 
p ro f i t s  o r  l osses  o f  t he  i nves tee  i n 
profit or loss, and the Group‘s share of 
movement in other comprehensive income 
of the investee in other comprehensive 
income. Dividends received or receivable 
from associates and joint ventures are 
recognised as a reduction in the carrying 
amount of the investment.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Consolidation (continued)

3.1.5 Equity accounting (continued)
When the Group’s share of losses in an 
equity-accounted investment equals or 
exceeds its interest in the entity, including 
any other unsecured long-term receivables, 
the Group does not recognise further 
losses, unless it has incurred obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the other 
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between 
the Group and its associates and joint 
ventures are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in these entit ies. 
Unreal ised losses are also el iminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence 
of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of equity accounted 
investees have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted 
investments is tested for impairment in 
accordance with the policy described in 
Note 3.9.

3.1.6 Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-
control l ing interests that do not result 
in a loss of control as transactions with 
equity owners of the Group. A change 
i n  owne r sh i p  i n t e r es t  r e su l t s  i n  an 
adjustment between the carrying amounts 
of the control l ing and non-control l ing 
interests to reflect their relative interests 
in the subsidiary. Any difference between 
the amount of the adjustment to non-
controlling interests and any consideration 
paid or received is recognised in a separate 
reserve within equity attributable to owners 
of the Group.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.1 綜合賬目（續）
3.1.5 權益會計法（續）

當本集團於按權益法入賬
投資應佔的虧損等於或超
過其於該實體的權益（包括
任何其他無抵押長期應收
款項）時，本集團不會確認
進一步虧損，除非代表其
他實體承擔責任或支付款
項則作別論。

本集團與其聯營公司及合
營企業之間交易的未變現
收益按本集團於該等實體
的權益予以對銷。未變現
虧損亦會予以對銷，除非
該交易證實已轉讓資產出
現減值則作別論。按權益
法入賬被投資方的會計政
策已於必要時變更，以確
保與本集團所採納會計政
策一致。

按權益法入賬投資的賬面
值根據附註3.9所述政策進
行減值測試。

3.1.6 擁有權權益變動
本集團將與不會導致失去
控制權的非控股股東權益
交易視作與本集團權益持
有人的交易。擁有權權益
變動導致控股股東與非控
股股東權益之間的賬面值
出現調整，以反映其各自
於附屬公司的權益。非控
股股東權益調整數額與任
何已付或已收代價之間的
任何差額於本集團權益持
有人應佔權益中的獨立儲
備內確認。



182 AVIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

綜合財務報表附註
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.1 綜合賬目（續）
3.1.6 擁有權權益變動（續）

當本集團因失去控制權、
共同控制權或重大影響力
而不再對投資綜合入賬或
按權益會計法入賬時，於
實體的任何保留權益按其
公允價值重新計量，而賬
面值變動於損益確認。就
其後入賬列作聯營公司、
合營企業或金融資產的保
留權益而言，該公允價值
成為初步賬面值。此外，
先前於其他全面收益就該
實體確認的任何金額按猶
如本集團已直接出售有關
資產或負債的方式入賬。
這意味著先前於其他全面
收益確認的金額重新分類
至損益或轉撥至適用國際
財務報告準則所指明╱許
可的另一權益類別內。

倘於合營企業或聯營公司
的擁有權權益減少但保留
共同控制權或重大影響
力，則僅按比例將先前於
其他全面收益確認的金額
重新分類至損益（如適用）。

3.2 分部報告
經營分部按照向首席經營決策者
提供的內部報告貫徹一致的方式
報告。首席經營決策者被認定為
作出策略決定的董事會，由他們
負責分配資源和評估經營分部的
表現。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Consolidation (continued)

3.1.6 Changes in ownership interests (continued)
When the Group ceases to consolidate or 
equity account for an investment because 
o f  a loss o f  cont ro l ,  jo in t  cont ro l  or 
significant influence, any retained interest 
in the ent i ty is remeasured to i ts fa i r 
value with the change in carrying amount 
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value 
becomes the initial carrying amount for 
the purposes of subsequently accounting 
for the retained interest as an associate, 
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, 
any amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect 
of that entity are accounted for as if the 
Group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities. This may mean that 
amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss or transferred to another 
category of equity as specified/permitted 
by applicable IFRSs.

I f  t he  owne rsh ip  i n t e r es t  i n  a  j o i n t 
venture or an associate is reduced but 
joint control or signif icant inf luence is 
retained, only a proportionate share of the 
amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to 
profit or loss where appropriate.

3.2 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief 
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance 
of the operating segments, has been identified 
as the board of directors that makes strategic 
decisions.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements 
o f  each o f  the Group ’s  en t i t i es  a re 
measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity 
operates (the “functional currency”). The 
consol idated f inancial statements are 
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is 
the Company’s functional currency and 
presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
F o r e i g n  c u r r e n c y  t r a n s a c t i o n s  a r e 
translated into the functional currency 
using the exchange rates prevail ing at 
the dates of the transactions or valuation 
where items are re-measured. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabil it ies 
denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss, except when deferred in 
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges or 
qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that 
re la ted to bor rowings and cash and 
cash equivalents are presented in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss 
within ‘finance income or cost’. All other 
foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss within ‘Other gains-net’.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.3 外幣匯兌
(a) 功能和列賬貨幣

本集團每個實體的財務報
表所列項目以該實體營運
所在的主要經濟環境貨幣
（「功能貨幣」）計量。綜合
財務報表以人民幣（「人民
幣」）呈報，人民幣為本公
司的功能貨幣及列賬貨幣。

(b) 交易及結餘
外幣交易採用交易日或重
新計量項目作出估值的日
期的匯率換算為功能貨
幣。除了符合資格在權益
中遞延入賬的現金流量對
沖或淨投資對沖外，結算
此等交易產生的匯兌收益
及虧損以及將外幣列值的
貨幣資產和負債以年終匯
率換算產生的匯兌收益及
虧損在綜合損益表確認。

與借款、現金及現金等價
物相關的匯兌收益及虧損
在綜合損益表中的「融資收
入或成本」範圍內呈列。所
有其他匯兌收益及虧損在
綜合損益表中的「其他收
益－淨額」內呈列。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.3 外幣匯兌（續）
(b) 交易及結餘（續）

以外幣列值被分類為可供
出售的債務證券公允價值
變動，按照證券的攤銷成
本變動與該證券賬面值的
其他變動所產生的折算差
額進行分析。與攤銷成本
變動有關的折算差額於損
益確認，賬面值的其他變
動則於其他全面收益確認。

非貨幣金融資產及負債（如
按公允價值計量且其變動
計入損益的權益）的折算差
額確認為公允價值收益或
虧損的一部分。非貨幣金
融資產（如分類為股權）的
折算差額計入其他全面收
益。

(c) 集團公司
功能貨幣與列賬貨幣不同
的所有集團實體（當中沒有
嚴重通脹貨幣）的業績及財
務狀況，按如下方式換算
為列賬貨幣：

－ 每份呈報的資產負
債表內的資產及負
債按該結算日的收
市匯率換算；

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (continued)
C h a n g e s  i n  t h e  f a i r  v a l u e  o f  d e b t 
securities denominated in foreign currency 
c l a ss i f i ed  as  a va i l ab l e - f o r - sa l e  a r e 
analysed between translation differences 
resulting from changes in the amortised 
cost of the security and other changes 
in the carrying amount of the security. 
Translation differences related to changes 
in the amortised cost are recognised in 
profit or loss, and other changes in the 
carrying amount are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary 
f inancial assets and l iabi l i t ies such as 
equities held at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognised as part of the fair value 
gain or loss. Translation difference on non-
monetary financial assets, such as equities 
classif ied as at, are included in other 
comprehensive income.

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all 
the Group entities (none of which has the 
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) 
that have a functional currency different 
f rom the p resen ta t i on  cu r rency  a re 
translated into the presentation currency as 
follows:

– Assets and l i ab i l i t i es fo r  each 
b a l a n c e  s h e e t  p r e s e n t e d  a r e 
translated at the closing rate at the 
date of that balance sheet;
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies (continued)
– Income and expenses for each 

statement o f prof i t  or loss are 
translated at average exchange 
rates (unless this average is not 
a reasonable approx imat ion of 
the cumulative effect of the rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates, 
in which case income and expenses 
are translated at the dates of the 
transactions); and

– All resulting exchange differences 
a r e  r e c o g n i s e d  i n  o t h e r 
comprehensive income.

Goodwi l l  and fa i r  va lue ad justments 
arising on the acquisit ion of a foreign 
entity are treated as assets and liabilities 
of the foreign entity and translated at 
the closing rate. Currency transaction 
differences arising are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial 
disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation 
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire 
interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal 
involving loss of control over a subsidiary 
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal 
involving loss of joint control over a joint 
venture that includes a foreign operation, 
or a disposal involving loss of significant 
influence over an associate that includes 
a foreign operation), all of the currency 
t ransact ion d i f fe rences accumulated 
in equity in respect of that operat ion 
attributable to the owners of the Company 
are reclassified to profit or loss.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.3 外幣匯兌（續）
(c) 集團公司（續）

－ 每份損益表內的收
入和費用按平均匯
率換算（除非此平
均匯率並不代表交
易日期匯率累計影
響的合理約數；在
此情況下，收支按
交易日期的匯率換
算）；及

－ 所有由此產生的匯
兌差額在其他全面
收益中確認。

因收購海外實體產生的商
譽及公允價值調整視為海
外實體資產和負債，並按
收市匯率換算。所產生的
貨幣交易差額於其他全面
收益中確認。

(d) 出售海外業務及部分出售

出售海外業務（即出售本集
團海外業務全部權益，或
出售涉及失去對擁有海外
業務的一間附屬公司的控
制權，或出售涉及失去對
擁有海外業務的一間合營
企業的共同控制權，或出
售涉及失去對擁有海外業
務的一間聯營公司的重大
影響力），所有歸屬於本公
司權益持有人業務的權益
累計貨幣交易差額將重新
分類至損益。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.3 外幣匯兌（續）
(d) 出售海外業務及部分出售

（續）
倘為部分出售而並未導致
本集團失去對擁有海外業
務的一間附屬公司的控制
權，累計匯兌差額的應佔
比例重新歸類為非控股股
東權益，而不會於損益確
認。就所有其他部分出售
（即調減本集團於聯營公司
或合營企業的擁有權權益
後而並未導致本集團失去
重大影響力或共同控制權）
而言，累計匯兌差額的應
佔比例重新分類至損益。

3.4 物業、廠房及設備
物業、廠房及設備按歷史成本減
累計折舊及減值列賬。歷史成本
包括收購該等項目直接應佔的開
支。成本亦可包括從權益中轉撥
有關以外幣購買物業、廠房及設
備的合資格現金流量對沖產生的
任何收益╱虧損。

其後成本只有在與該項目有關的
未來經濟利益有可能流入本集
團，且該項目的成本能可靠計量
時，計入資產賬面值或確認為個
別資產（如適用）。已更換零件的
賬面值已被剔除入賬。所有其他
維修及保養在產生的財政期間內
於綜合損益表支銷。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial 
disposal (continued)
In the case of a partial disposal that does 
not result in the Group losing control over a 
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, 
the proportionate share of accumulated 
exchange differences are re-attributed 
to non-controlling interests and are not 
recognised in profit or loss. For all other 
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the 
Group’s ownership interest in associates 
or joint ventures that do not result in 
the Group losing significant influence or 
joint control) the proportionate share of 
the accumulated exchange difference is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

3.4 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
items. Cost may also include transfers from equity 
of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges 
of foreign currency purchases of property, plant 
and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All 
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
is provided using the straight-line method over 
their estimated useful lives, after deducting the 
estimated residual value. The estimated useful 
lives are as follows:

Freehold land in Japan and 
Malaysia

Permanent

Buildings 10 to 50 years
Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years
Machinery and equipment 5 to 30 years
Motor vehicles 5 to 18 years
Computer and electronic 

equipment
3 to 10 years

Other equipment 5 to 13 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carry ing amount is greater than i ts 
estimated recoverable amount (Note 3.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined 
by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognised within ‘Other gains-net’ in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.4 物業、廠房及設備（續）
物業、廠房及設備折舊在扣除其
估計剩餘價值後按其估計可使用
年限以直線法計提撥備。估計可
使用年限如下：

於日本及馬來西亞的
永久業權土地

無期限

樓宇 10至50年
租賃裝修 3至5年
機器及設備 5至30年
運輸工具 5至18年
電腦及電子設備 3至10年

其他設備 5至13年

資產剩餘價值及可使用年限在每
個報告期進行檢討，及在適當時
調整。

倘資產賬面值高於其估計可收回
金額時，其賬面值即時撇減至可
收回金額（附註3.9）。

出售收益及虧損經比較所得款項
與賬面值後釐定，並在綜合損益
表的「其他收益－淨額」中確認。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.5 投資物業
投資物業主要由租賃土地及樓宇
所組成，為獲得長期租金或資本
增值或兩者兼備持有，且並非由
本集團佔用。投資物業亦包括正
在就日後用作投資物業建設或開
發的物業。以經營租賃持有的土
地，如符合投資物業其餘定義，
按投資物業記賬。在該情況下，
經營租賃猶如其為融資租賃而記
賬。投資物業初步按成本計量，
包括相關的交易成本及（如適用）
借款成本。在初步確認後，投資
物業按公允價值列賬，公允價值
指由外部估值師於每個報告日期
釐定的公開市值。公允價值根據
活躍市場價格計算，如有需要就
個別資產的性質、地點或狀況的
任何差異做出調整。如沒有此項
資料，本集團利用其他估值方
法，例如比較不活躍市場的近期
價格或折現現金流量預測法。公
允價值變動在綜合損益表內列賬
為「投資物業公允價值收益」的部
分估值收益或虧損。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.5 Investment property

Investment property, pr incipal ly compris ing 
leasehold land and buildings, is held for long-term 
rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, 
and that is not occupied by the Group. It also 
includes properties that are being constructed or 
developed for future use as investment properties. 
Land held under operating leases are accounted 
for as investment properties when the rest of 
the definition of an investment property is met. 
In such cases, the operating leases concerned 
are accounted for as if they were finance leases. 
Investment property is in i t ia l ly measured at 
cost, including related transaction costs and 
where applicable borrowing costs. After initial 
recognition, investment properties are carried 
at fair value, representing open market value 
determined at each reporting date by external 
valuer. Fair value is based on active market prices, 
adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the 
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. 
If the information is not available, the Group uses 
alternative valuation methods such as recent 
prices on less active markets or discounted 
cash flow projections. Changes in fair values are 
recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss as part of a valuation gain or loss in ‘fair value 
gain on investment properties’.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.5 Investment property (continued)

Transfers to, or from, investment property shall be 
made when, and only when, there is a change in 
use, evidenced by:

(a) commencement of owner-occupation, 
for a transfer from investment property to 
owner-occupied property;

(b) commencement of development with a 
view to sale, for a transfer from investment 
property to properties under development;

(c) end of owner-occupation, for a transfer 
f r o m  o w n e r - o c c u p i e d  p r o p e r t y  t o 
investment property; or

(d) commencement of an operating lease 
to another party , for a t ransfer f rom 
inventories to investment property.

When an owner-occupied property becomes an 
investment property, which is measured as fair 
value,

(a) Any result ing decrease in the carrying 
amount of the property is recognised in 
profit or loss.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.5 投資物業（續）
當存在或僅有當存在以下證據證
明用途改變時，才可轉入或轉出
投資物業：

(a) 投資物業用途改變為自用
時，將投資物業轉換為自
用物業；

(b) 開發用以出售時，將投資
物業轉換為發展中物業；

(c) 自用物業終止自用用途
時，將自用物業轉換為投
資物業；或

(d) 經營租賃予另一方時，將
存貨轉換為投資物業。

倘業主佔用物業轉變為投資物業
（以公允價值計量），

(a) 因此導致物業賬面值的任
何減少，在損益確認。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.5 投資物業（續）
(b) 因此產生的任何賬面值增

加按以下方式處理：

(i) 若增加僅限於撥回
先前就該物業確認
的減值虧損，增加
在損益確認。於損
益確認的金額並不
超出需要將賬面值
回復至在並無確認
減值虧損情況下所
釐定的賬面值（扣除
折舊後）的金額。

(ii) 任何餘下賬面值增
額則於其他全面收
益確認，及於權益
項 下 增 加 重 估 盈
餘。於其後出售該
投資物業時，計入
權益的重估盈餘可
轉 撥 至 未 分 配 利
潤。由重估盈餘轉
撥至未分配利潤毋
須經損益作出。

以公允價值計量的投資物
業轉換為自用物業，視作
該物業的成本為轉換使用
當日的公允價值。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.5 Investment property (continued)

(b) Any result ing increase in the carrying 
amount is treated as follows:

(i) To the extent that the increase 
reverses a previous impairment 
loss for that property, the increase 
is recognised in profit or loss. The 
amount recognised in prof i t  or 
loss does not exceed the amount 
needed to restore the carry ing 
amount to the carrying amount that 
would have been determined (net 
of depreciation) had no impairment 
loss been recognised.

(ii) Any remaining part of the increase is 
recognised in other comprehensive 
i n c o m e  a n d  i n c r e a s e s  t h e 
revaluation surplus within equity. 
On subsequent d isposal of the 
investment property, the revaluation 
surplus included in equity may be 
transferred to retained earnings. The 
transfer from revaluation surplus 
to retained earnings is not made 
through profit or loss.

For a transfer from investment property 
carried at fair value to owner-occupied 
property, the property’s deemed cost is its 
fair value at the date of change in use.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.6 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill
Goodwi l l  ar ises on the acquis i t ion of 
subsidiaries represents the excess of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of 
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
and the acquisition-date fair value of any 
previous equity interest in the acquiree over 
the fair value of the identified net assets 
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, 
g o o d w i l l  a c q u i r e d  i n  a  b u s i n e s s 
combination is allocated to each of the 
cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups 
of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination. Each 
unit or group of units to which the goodwill 
is allocated represents the lowest level 
within the entity at which the goodwil l 
is monitored for internal management 
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the 
operating segment level.

G o o d w i l l  i m p a i r m e n t  r e v i e w s  a r e 
undertaken annually or more frequently 
i f events or changes in circumstances 
indicate a potent ia l impairment (Note 
3.12). The carry ing value of the CGU 
containing the goodwill is compared to the 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of 
value in use and the fair value less costs 
of disposal. Any impairment is recognised 
immediately as an expense and is not 
subsequently reversed.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.6 無形資產
(a) 商譽

商譽於收購附屬公司時產
生，即所轉讓代價、被收
購方的任何非控股股東權
益金額及先前於被收購方
的股本權益於收購日期的
公允價值高於已收購可識
別資產淨值的公允價值時
的任何差額。

就減值測試而言，業務合
併所取得的商譽分配給預
期可從合併的協同效應中
獲益的各現金產生單位
（「現金產生單位」）或現金
產生單位組別。獲分配商
譽的各單位或單位組別，
指該實體就內部管理目的
而監察商譽的最低層面。
商譽按經營分部層面監察。

商譽每年進行減值檢討，
或當有事件出現或情況改
變顯示可能出現減值時，
作出更頻密檢討（附註
3.12）。包含商譽的現金產
生單位賬面值與可收回金
額作比較，可收回金額為
使用價值與公允價值減出
售成本的較高者。任何減
值即時確認為開支，且其
後不會撥回。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.6 無形資產（續）
(b) 商標及特許權

分開購入的商標及特許權
按歷史成本列示。在業務
合併中購入的商標及特許
權於收購日期按公允價值
確認。商標及特許權無限
定可使用年限，並按成本
減累計減值虧損列賬。

商標包括 KHD Humboldt 
Wedag International AG
（「KHD」）的品牌名稱。由
於品牌名稱的賬面值將不
會隨時間攤銷，故品牌名
稱的估計可使用年限為無
限期。

商標及特許權須每年作減
值檢討，或倘發生事件或
情況變化顯示潛在減值
時，須更頻繁作減值檢討
（附註3.12）。商標及特許
權賬面值與可收回金額作
對比，而可收回金額為使
用價值與扣除出售成本後
的公允價值間的較高者。
任何減值均即時確認為開
支。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.6 Intangible assets (continued)

(b) Trademarks and licenses
Separate ly acqu i red t rademarks and 
l icences are shown at histor ical cost. 
Trademarks and licences acquired in a 
business combination are recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date. Trademarks 
and licences have an indefinite useful life 
and are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment loss.

Trademarks include the brand name of 
KHD Humboldt Wedag International AG 
(“KHD”). The estimated useful life of the 
brand name is indefinite as the carrying 
value of the brand name will not amortise 
over time.

Trademarks and l icenses impai rment 
rev i ews a re  unde r taken annua l l y  o r 
more f requent ly i f  events or changes 
in c i rcumstances indicate a potent ia l 
impairment (Note 3.12). The carrying value 
of Trademarks and licenses are compared 
to the recoverable amount, which is the 
higher of value in use and the fair value 
less costs of disposal. Any impairment is 
recognised immediately as an expense.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.6 Intangible assets (continued)

(c) Computer software
Acquired computer software programmes 
are capitalised on the basis of the costs 
incurred to acquire and br ing to use 
the specif ic software. These costs are 
amortised over the estimated useful lives of 
5 to 10 years on a straight-line basis.

C o s t  a s s o c i a t e d  w i t h  d e v e l o p i n g 
o r  m a i n t a i n i n g  c o m p u t e r  s o f t w a r e 
programmes which do not generate future 
economic benef i ts are recognised as 
expense as incurred.

(d) Patents
Patents are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of 10-
25 years.

(e) Maritime rights of use
Maritime rights of use are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over the period of 10-50 
years.

(f) Contractual customer relationships
Cont rac tua l  cus tomer  r e l a t i onsh ips 
acquired in a business combination are 
recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. The contractual customer relations 
are carr ied at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment. Amortisation 
is calculated using the straight-line method 
from 5-20 years over the expected life of 
the customer relationship.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.6 無形資產（續）
(c) 電腦軟件

所購電腦軟件程序按收購
特定軟件及投入使用所產
生的成本進行資本化。有
關成本按其估計可使用年
限5至10年以直線法攤銷。

與開發或維護不會產生未
來經濟利益的電腦軟件程
序相關的成本於產生時確
認為開支。

(d) 專利權
專利權按其估計可使用年
限10至25年以直線法攤銷。

(e) 海事使用權
海事使用權按10至50年期
限以直線法攤銷。

(f) 合約客戶關係
由業務合併獲得的合約客
戶關係於收購日期按公允
價值確認。合約客戶關係
按成本減去累計攤銷及減
值列賬。攤銷利用直線法
按自超過客戶關係估計年
限5至20年計算。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.7 土地使用權
所有在中國的土地都是國有的，
個人擁有權並不存在。本集團收
購若干土地的使用權，就該等使
用權支付的溢價列賬為土地使用
權。

持作自用的土地使用權以成本列
賬並以直線法按土地剩餘租賃期
攤銷。

3.8 在建工程
在建工程包括興建中的廠房及其
他物業、機械及設備，按成本扣
除減值列賬。成本包括建築成
本、廠房及機械成本，以及於興
建或安裝及測試期間用以撥支該
等資產的借款的利息支出。當相
關資產達致可使用狀態，其成本
轉入物業、廠房及設備，並按上
述有關政策計算折舊。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.7 Land use rights

All land in the PRC is stated-owned and no 
individual ownership r ight exists. The Group 
acquired the rights to use certain land and the 
premiums paid for such rights are recorded as 
land use rights.

Land use rights which are held for self-use are 
stated at cost and amortised over the remaining 
period of the leases on a straight-line basis.

3.8 Construction-in-progress
Construction-in-progress represents plant and 
other property, machinery and equipment under 
construction and is stated at cost less impairment. 
This includes the costs of construction, the 
costs of p lant and machinery, and interest 
charges arising from borrowings used to finance 
these assets during the period of construction 
or instal lat ion and testing. When the assets 
concerned are available for use, the costs are 
transferred to property, plant and equipment and 
depreciated in accordance with the policies as 
stated above.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwil l and intangible assets that have an 
indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation 
and are tested annually for impairment, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other 
assets are tested for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash f lows. Non-f inancial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the impairment at each 
reporting date.

3.10 Financial assets
3.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets 
in the following categories: at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and receivable 
and available-for-sale. The classification 
depends on the purposes fo r  wh ich 
the f i nanc ia l  asse ts  were acqu i red . 
Management determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial recognition.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.9 非金融資產的減值
沒有確定使用年限的商譽及無形
資產毋須攤銷，但每年須接受減
值測試。當有事件出現或情況改
變顯示商譽及無形資產可能出現
減值時，則須進行更頻密的減值
測試。就其他資產而言，當有事
件出現或情況改變顯示賬面值可
能無法收回時，則會進行減值測
試。減值虧損按資產的賬面值超
出其可收回金額的差額確認。可
收回金額為資產公允價值減銷售
成本與使用價值兩者的較高者。
於評估減值時，資產按可分開識
別現金流量的最低層次組合。除
商譽外，已減值非金融資產在每
個報告日期就減值是否可以撥回
進行檢討。

3.10 金融資產
3.10.1 分類

本集團把金融資產分為以
下類別：按公允價值計量
且其變動計入損益、貸款
及應收款項及可供出售。
分類視乎購入金融資產的
目的。管理層在初步確認
時釐定金融資產的分類。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.10 金融資產（續）
3.10.1 分類（續）

(a) 按公允價值計量且
其變動計入損益的
金融資產
指持作買賣用途的
金融資產。金融資
產若在購入時主要
用 作 在 短 期 內 出
售，則分類為此類
別。衍生工具除非
被指定為對沖，否
則亦分類為持作買
賣用途。倘預期於
12個月內結算，此
類別資產分類為流
動資產，否則分類
為非流動。

(b) 貸款及應收款項
貸款及應收款項為
有固定或可釐定付
款但沒有在活躍市
場上報價的非衍生
金融資產。此等項
目包括在流動資產
內，但若結算或預
期結算日由報告期
末起計超過12個月
者，則分類為非流
動資產。本集團的
貸款及其他應收款
項包括綜合資產負
債表中「貿易及其他
應收款項」、「抵押
銀行存款」及「現金
及現金等價物」（附
註21、24及25）。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.10 Financial assets (continued)

3.10.1 Classification (continued)
(a) Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are financial assets 
held for trading. A financial asset is 
classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling 
in the short term. Derivatives are 
categor ised as held for t rading 
un less they are des ignated as 
hedges. Assets in this category 
are classi f ied as current assets 
i f expected to be sett led within 
12 months; otherwise, they are 
classified as non-current.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. 
They are included in current assets, 
except for the amounts that are 
settled or expected to be settled 
more than 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period, these are 
classified as non-current assets. 
The  G roup ’ s  l oans  and  o the r 
receivables comprise ‘trade and 
other receivables’ and ‘pledged 
bank deposit’ and ‘cash and cash 
equivalents’ in the consol idated 
balance sheet (Notes 21, 24 and 
25).
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.10 Financial assets (continued)

3.10.1 Classification (continued)
(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 
are non-derivatives that are either 
des ignated in th is category or 
not classified in any of the other 
categories. They are included in 
non-cur ren t  assets un less the 
investment matures or management 
intends to dispose of the investment 
within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period.

3.10.2 Recognition and measurement
Regular way purchases and sa les of 
f inancial assets are recognised on the 
trade-date, the date on which the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Investments are initially recognised at fair 
value plus transaction costs for all financial 
assets not carried at fair value through 
profit or loss. Financial assets carried at 
fair value through profit or loss are initially 
recognised at fair value, and transaction 
costs are expensed in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. Financial assets 
are derecognised when the r ights to 
receive cash flows from the investments 
have expired or have been transferred and 
the Group has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership. Available-
for-sale financial assets and financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans 
and receivables are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.10 金融資產（續）
3.10.1 分類（續）

(c) 可供出售金融資產
可供出售金融資產
為被指定作為此類
別或並無分類為任
何其他類別的非衍
生工具。除非投資
到期或管理層有意
在報告期末後 12
個月內出售該項投
資，否則此等資產
列在非流動資產內。

3.10.2 確認及計量
定期購入及出售的金融資
產在交易日確認而交易日
指本集團承諾購入或出售
該資產之日。對於並非按
公允價值計量且其變動計
入損益的金融資產，其投
資初步按公允價值加交易
成本確認。按公允價值計
量且其變動計入損益的金
融資產，初步按公允價值
確認，而交易成本則在綜
合損益表支銷。當從投資
收取現金流量的權利已到
期或已轉讓，而本集團將
擁有權的絕大部分風險和
回報轉讓時，金融資產即
終止確認。可供出售金融
資產及按公允價值計量且
其變動計入損益的金融資
產其後按公允價值列賬。
貸款及應收款項其後利用
實際利率法按攤銷成本列
賬。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.10 金融資產（續）
3.10.2 確認及計量（續）

「按公允價值計量且其變動
計入損益的金融資產」類別
因公允價值變動而產生的
收益或虧損，會於產生期
間在綜合損益表按「其他收
益－淨額」呈列。按公允價
值計量且其變動計入損益
的金融資產所產生的股息
收入，在本集團收取付款
的權利確立以後，於綜合
損益表其他收入確認。

當分類為可供出售的證券
售出或減值時，在權益中
確認的累計公允價值調整
列入綜合損益表「其他收益 
— 淨額」內。

「按公允價值計量且其變動
計入損益的金融資產」類別
因公允價值變動而產生的
盈虧，會於產生期間在綜
合損益表按「其他收益－淨
額」呈列。按公允價值計入
損益的金融資產所產生的
股息收入，在本集團收取
付款的權利確立以後，於
綜合損益表其他收入確認。

分類為可供出售貨幣及非
貨幣證券的公允價值變動
於其他全面收益確認。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.10 Financial assets (continued)

3.10.2 Recognition and measurement (continued)
Gains or losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss’ category are 
presented in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss within ‘Other gains-net’ in 
the period in which they arise. Dividend 
income from financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss 
as part of other income when the Group’s 
right to receive payments is established.

When securities classified as available for 
sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated 
fair value adjustments recognised in equity 
are included in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss as `Other gains-net’.

Gains or losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss’ category are 
presented in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss within ‘Other gains-net’ in 
the period in which they arise. Dividend 
income from financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss 
as part of other income when the Group’s 
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary 
and non-monetary securities classified as 
available-for-sale are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.10 Financial assets (continued)

3.10.2 Recognition and measurement (continued)
Interest on available-for-sale securities 
calculated using the effect ive interest 
method is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss as part of other 
income. Dividends on available-for-sale 
equity instruments are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss 
as part of other income when the Group’s 
right to receive payments is established.

3.11 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the 
net amount reported in the consolidated balance 
sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The 
legally enforceable right must not be contingent 
on future events and must be enforceable in the 
normal course of business and in the event of 
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company 
or the counterparty.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.10 金融資產（續）
3.10.2 確認及計量（續）

採用實際利率法計算的可
供出售證券利息，於綜合
損益表確認為其他收入的
一部分。當本集團收取款
項的權利確立時，可供出
售股本工具的股息於綜合
損益表內確認為其他收入
的一部分。

3.11 金融工具抵銷
倘若存在合法可強制執行的權利
以抵銷所確認金額及擬按淨額基
準結算或變現資產及同時結算負
債，則金融資產與負債相互抵
銷，而淨額於綜合資產負債表內
呈報。合法可強制執行的權利不
得依賴未來事件，以及於日常業
務過程中及出現違約、無力償債
或破產時，均可對本公司及對手
方合法強制執行。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.12 金融資產減值
(a) 按攤銷成本列賬的資產

本集團於每個報告期末評
估是否存在客觀證據證明
某一項金融資產或某組金
融資產出現減值。僅當存
在客觀證據證明因為初步
確認資產後發生一宗或多
宗事件導致出現減值（「損
失事項」），而該宗（或該
等）損失事項對該項或該組
金融資產的估計未來現金
流量構成的影響可以可靠
估計，有關金融資產或金
融資產組別才出現減值及
產生減值虧損。

減值證據可包括債務人或
一組債務人正面臨重大財
務困難、違約或未能償還
利息或本金、彼等有可能
破產或進行其他財務重
組，以及有可觀察得到的
數據顯示估計未來現金流
量出現可計量的減少，例
如欠款金額變動或出現與
違約相關的經濟狀況。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.12 Impairment of financial assets

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at the end of each 
reporting period whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. A financial 
asset or a group of f inancial assets is 
impa i red and impa i rment losses are 
incurred only if there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more 
events that occurred af ter the in i t ia l 
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and 
that loss event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or group of financial assets 
that can be reliably estimated.

Ev idence of impai rment may inc lude 
indications that the debtors or a group of 
debtors is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest 
or principal payments, the probability that 
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisat ion, and where observable 
data indicate that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash 
f lows, such as changes in arrears or 
economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.12 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a) A s s e t s  c a r r i e d  a t  a m o r t i s e d  c o s t 
(continued)
For loans and receivables category, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit 
losses that  have not been incur red ) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original 
e f fec t i ve in te res t  ra te .  The ca r ry ing 
amount of the asset is reduced and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. If 
a loan or held-to-maturity investment has 
a variable interest rate, the discount rate 
for measuring any impairment loss is the 
current effective interest rate determined 
u n d e r  t h e  c o n t r a c t .  A s  a  p r a c t i c a l 
exped ien t ,  the Group may measure 
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s 
fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of 
the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised (such as an improvement in the 
debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the 
previously recognised impairment loss is 
recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.12 金融資產減值（續）
(a) 按攤銷成本列賬的資產

（續）
就貸款及應收款項類別而
言，虧損金額根據資產賬
面值與按金融資產原實際
利率貼現的估計未來現金
流量（不包括尚未產生的未
來信用虧損）的現值兩者的
差額計量。資產賬面值予
以削減，而虧損金額則在
綜合損益表確認。如貸款
或持有至到期投資有浮動
利率，計量任何減值虧損
的貼現率為按合約釐定的
當前實際利率。在實際應
用中，本集團可利用可觀
察市場價格，按工具的公
允價值計量減值。

如在其後期間，減值虧損
的金額減少，而此減少可
客觀地聯繫至減值確認後
才發生的事件（例如債務人
的信用評級有所改善），則
之前已確認的減值虧損撥
回可在綜合損益表確認。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.12 金融資產減值（續）
(b) 分類為可供出售的資產

本集團於每個報告期末評
估是否存在客觀證據證明
某一金融資產或某組金融
資產出現減值。

就債務證券而言，倘出現
減值憑證，其累計虧損（收
購成本與當前公允價值兩
者的差額）減該金融資產以
往於損益內確認的任何減
值虧損於權益中剔除，並
於損益確認。倘於其後期
間，分類為可供出售的債
務工具的公允價值增加，
且該增加能夠客觀地聯繫
至於損益確認減值虧損後
發生的事項，則減值虧損
透過綜合損益表撥回。

就股權投資而言，證券公
允價值大幅或長期低於其
成本亦為資產減值的憑
證。倘出現減值憑證，其
累計虧損（以收購成本與當
前公允價值兩者的差額計
量）減該金融資產過往於損
益內確認的任何減值虧損
於權益中剔除，並於損益
確認。在綜合損益表確認
的權益工具減值虧損並不
會透過綜合損益表撥回。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.12 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(b) Assets classified as available for sale
The Group assesses at the end of each 
reporting period whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence 
exists the cumulative loss – measured as 
the difference between the acquisit ion 
cost and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss – is 
removed from equity and recognised in 
profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, 
the fair value of a debt instrument classified 
as available for sale increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to 
an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised in profit or loss, the 
impairment loss is reversed through the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For equity investments, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
security below its cost is also evidence 
that the assets are impaired. If any such 
evidence exists the cumulat ive loss – 
measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, 
less any impairment loss on that financial 
asset previously recognised in profit or loss 
– is removed from equity and recognised in 
profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss on equity instruments are not reversed 
through the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.12 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(c) Assets c lass i f ied as he ld-to-matur i ty 
financial assets
Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payment and fixed maturities 
that the Group’s management has the 
position intention and abil ity to hold it 
maturity. If the Group were to sell other 
than an insigni f icant amount of held-
to-maturity f inancial assets, the whole 
category would be tainted and reclassified 
as avai lable for sale. Held-to-maturity 
financial assets are included in non-current 
assets, except for those with maturities 
less than 12 months from the end of the 
reporting period, which are classified as 
current assets.

(d) Assets classified as derivative financial 
instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date a derivative contract 
is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. The Group’s 
derivative instruments do not qualify for 
hedge accounting, and are accounted for 
at fair value through profit or loss. Changes 
in the fair value of the Group’s derivative 
instruments that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. Trading derivative are defined 
as a current asset and liability.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.12 金融資產減值（續）
(c) 分類為持有至到期金融資

產的資產
持有至到期金融資產是指
設有固定或可釐定的款
項，並具備固定到期日且
本集團管理層明確打算並
能夠持有至到期日的非衍
生金融資產。倘本集團出
售持有至到期金融資產（金
額微不足道者除外），整
個類別將受到影響，並重
新分類至可供出售金融資
產。持有至到期金融資產
計入非流動資產，惟於報
告期末起計12個月內到期
者，則分類為流動資產。

(d) 分類為衍生金融工具的資
產
衍生工具初步按衍生工具
合約訂立日期的公允價值
確認，其後按公允價值重
新計量。本集團的衍生工
具不合資格按對沖會計處
理，並透過損益按公允價
值記賬。本集團不合資格
按對沖會計處理的衍生工
具的公允價值變動，即時
於損益確認。交易衍生品
界定為流動資產及負債。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.13 存貨
存貨按成本與可變現淨值兩者的
較低者列賬。成本利用加權平均
法釐定。製成品及在製品的成本
包括設計成本、原材料、直接勞
工、其他直接成本和相關的生產
經常開支（依據正常營運能力）。
其中不包括借款成本。可變現淨
值為在日常業務過程中的估計售
價，減適用的可變動銷售開支。

3.14 發展中物業
發展中物業以成本與可變現淨值
兩者的較低者列賬。可變現淨值
參考於日常業務過程中銷售物業
所得款項減去適用可變動銷售開
支及預期竣工成本，或由管理層
根據當時市況作出的估計釐定。

物業的發展成本包括土地使用權
費用、建築成本、資本化融資成
本及在正常經營週期的發展期間
產生的專業費用。竣工後，該等
物業轉為持作出售的竣工物業。

倘一項發展中物業成為自用物
業，其被重新分類為物業、廠房
及設備。未來作為投資物業用途
的發展中物業分類為在建投資物
業。

成本以加權平均法釐定。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the 
weighted average method. The cost of finished 
goods and work in progress comprises design 
costs, raw materials, direct labour, other direct 
costs and related production overheads (based on 
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing 
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less 
applicable variable selling expenses.

3.14 Properties under development
Propert ies under development are stated at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net 
realisable value is determined by reference to 
the sale proceeds of properties in the ordinary 
course of business, less applicable variable selling 
expense and the anticipated costs to completion, 
or by management estimates based on prevailing 
marketing conditions.

Development cost of property comprises land 
use rights, construction costs, capitalised finance 
costs and professional fees incurred during the 
development period of a normal operating cycle. 
On completion, the properties are transferred to 
completed properties held for sale.

If a property under development becomes owner-
occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant 
and equipment. Property under development for 
future use as investment property is classified as 
investment property under construction.

Cost is determined using the weighted average 
method.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.15 Trade and other receivables

Trade rece i vab les  a re  amoun ts  due f rom 
customers for merchandise sold or services 
performed in the ordinary course of business. 
If collection of trade and other receivables is 
expected in one year or less (or in the normal 
operating cycle of the business if longer), they 
are classified as current assets. If not, they are 
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less provision for impairment.

3.16 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand 
and deposits held at call with banks.

3.17 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the 
Company’s equity share capital, the consideration 
paid, including any directly attributable incremental 
costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from 
equity attributable to owners of the Company 
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where 
such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, 
any consideration received (net of any directly 
attributable incremental transaction costs and the 
related income tax effects) is included in equity 
attributable to the Company’s owners.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.15 貿易及其他應收款項
貿易應收款項是於日常業務過程
中向客戶銷售商品或提供服務而
應收的款項。倘貿易及其他應收
款項預計將在一年或一年內收回
（若更長則在業務正常經營週期
內），則分類為流動資產。否則，
在非流動資產中呈報。

貿易及其他應收款項初步按公允
價值確認，其後則以實際利率法
按攤銷成本減減值撥備計量。

3.16 現金及現金等價物
現金及現金等價物包括手頭現金
及銀行活期存款。

3.17 股本
普通股分類為權益。

發行新股份或購股權直接應佔的
增量成本，列入權益作為所得款
項的扣減（扣除稅項）。

倘任何本集團公司購入本公司的
權益股本，所支付的代價（包括任
何直接所佔的增量成本（扣除所得
稅後））從本公司權益持有人應佔
權益中扣除，直至股份被註銷或
重新發行為止。如股份其後被重
新發行，任何已收取代價（扣除任
何直接所佔的增量交易成本及相
關所得稅影響）計入本公司權益持
有人應佔權益。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.18 永久次級可換股證券
本集團發行的永久次級可換股證
券給予持有人權利以固定每股行
使價隨時以該等證券轉換為固定
數目的本公司股份。永久次級可
換股證券並無到期日，且不可贖
回。該等證券分類為權益。

3.19 貿易應付款項
貿易應付款項是於日常業務過程
中向供應商購買商品或服務應付
的債務。應付賬目如在一年或以
內（或如較長則為業務正常經營週
期內）到期，則分類為流動負債。
否則，將列作非流動負債。

貿易應付款項初始以公允價值確
認，其後利用實際利息法按攤銷
成本計量。

3.20 借款
借款初始按公允價值扣除產生的
交易成本確認。借款其後按攤銷
成本列賬；所得款項（扣除交易成
本）與贖回價值的任何差額使用實
際利率法於借款期間內在綜合損
益表確認。

除非本集團有無條件權利將負債
的結算遞延至結算日後最少12個
月，否則借款分類為流動負債。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.18 Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities 
issued by the Group give the right to the holders 
to convert those securities into a fixed number 
of the Company’s shares at any t ime at a 
fixed exercise price per share. The perpetual 
subordinated convert ible securit ies have no 
maturity date and are not redeemable. These 
securities are classified as equity.

3.19 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or 
services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Accounts 
payable are classif ied as current l iabi l i t ies i f 
payment is due within one year or less (or in the 
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If 
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

3.20 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 
are subsequent ly stated at amort ised cost; 
any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss over the period of the borrowings using 
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities 
unless the Group has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the balance sheet date.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.21 Borrowing costs

The borrowing costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition and construction of a property, 
plant and equipment that needs a substantially 
long period of time of acquisition and construction 
for its intended use commence to be capitalised 
and recorded as part of the cost of the asset when 
expenditures for the asset and borrowing costs 
have been incurred, and the activities relating 
to the acquisit ion and construction that are 
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use 
have commenced. The capitalisation of borrowing 
costs ceases when the asset under acquisition 
or construction becomes ready for its intended 
use, the borrowing costs incurred thereafter are 
recognised in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. Capital isation of borrowing costs is 
suspended when the acquisition or construction 
of a property, plant and equipment is interrupted 
abnormally and the interruption lasts for more than 
3 months, until the acquisition or construction is 
resumed.

For a borrowing that is specifically for the purpose 
of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amounts of 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation are the 
actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing 
during the period less any investment income on 
the temporary investment of these borrowings.

For the other borrowings related to acquisition, 
construct ion and product ion of a qual i fy ing 
asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible 
for capitalisation shall be the lower of the actual 
bor rowing costs incur red and the amount 
of qual i fy ing asset not f inanced by specif ic 
borrowings multiplying capitalisation rate. The 
capitalisation rate is the weighted average interest 
rate of these borrowings. All other borrowing 
costs are expensed.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.21 借款成本
直接歸屬於收購及興建物業、廠
房及設備（需經較長時間收購及興
建方能達至擬定用途）的借款成
本，在資產支出及借款成本產生
以及為使資產達至擬定用途所需
收購及興建活動展開時，開始資
本化並計入該資產的成本。借款
成本於所收購或興建資產達至擬
定用途時停止資本化，其後產生
的借款成本於綜合損益表確認。
倘物業、廠房及設備的收購或興
建發生非正常中斷，且中斷持續
3個月以上，借款成本暫停資本
化，直至資產的收購或興建重新
開始為止。

就取得合資格資產的特定用途借
款而言，合資格資本化的借貸成
本金額為於該期間借款產生的實
際借款成本減以該等借款進行臨
時投資所獲任何投資收益。

就與收購、興建及生產合資格資
產有關的其他借款而言，合資格
資本化的借款成本金額應為已產
生實際借款成本與並非由特定借
款提供資金的合資格資產兩者的
較低者乘以資本化率。資本化率
為該等借款的加權平均利率。所
有其他借款成本均列作開支。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.22 建築合約
合約成本於產生時確認。倘建築
合約的結果不能可靠估計，則合
約收入僅就可能收回的已產生合
約成本予以確認。倘建築合約的
結果能可靠估計，且合約將可獲
利，則合約收入於合約期間予以
確認。倘合約總成本將超過合約
總收入，則預期虧損即時確認為
開支。

合約工程修改、申索及獎勵金計
入合約收入，以與客戶協定且能
可靠計量者為限。

本集團採用「完成百分比法」確
定在某段期間內須確認的適當金
額。完成階段根據完成的合約工
程實質比例，參考每份合約直至
結算日的已產生成本佔估計總預
算成本的百分比確定。

就已產生成本加已確認溢利（減已
確認虧損）超過進度付款的所有
進行中合約而言，本集團將應收
客戶合約工程的總金額呈報為資
產。客戶未支付的進度付款和保
留款列入貿易應收款項。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.22 Construction contracts

Contract costs are recognised when incurred. 
When the outcome of a construction contract 
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is 
recognised only to the extent of contract costs 
incurred that are likely to be recoverable. When 
the outcome of a construction contract can be 
estimated reliably and it is probable that the 
contract will be profitable, contract revenue is 
recognised over the period of the contract. When 
it is probable that total contract costs will exceed 
total contract revenue, the expected loss is 
recognised as an expense immediately.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive 
payments are included in contract revenue to 
the extent that they have been agreed with 
the customer and are capable of being reliably 
measured.

The Group uses the “percentage of completion 
method” to determine the appropriate amount 
to be recognised in a given period. The stage of 
completion is determined based on the completion 
of a physical proportion of the contract work by 
reference to the cost incurred up to the balance 
sheet date as a percentage of total estimated 
budgeted cost for each contract.

The Group presents as an asset the gross amount 
due from customers for contract work for all 
contracts in progress for which costs incurred 
plus recognised profits (less recognised losses) 
exceed progress billings. Progress billings not 
yet paid by customers and retention are included 
within trade receivables.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.22 Construction contracts (continued)

The Group presents as a l iabi l i ty the gross 
amount due to customers for contract work for all 
contracts in progress for which progress billings 
exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits (less 
recognised losses).

3.23 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the per iod compr ises 
current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively.

(a) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated 
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date in the countries where the company’s 
subsidiaries and associates operate and 
generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in 
tax returns with respect to situations in 
which applicable tax regulation is subject 
to interpretation. It establishes provisions 
where appropriate on the basis of amounts 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.22 建築合約（續）
就進度付款超過已產生成本加已
確認溢利（減已確認虧損）的所有
進行中合約而言，本集團將其合
約工程的應付客戶總金額呈報為
負債。

3.23 即期及遞延所得稅
期內稅項開支包括即期及遞延稅
項。稅項於綜合損益表確認，惟
於其他全面收益或直接於權益確
認的項目除外。在此情況下，稅
項亦分別於其他全面收益或直接
於權益確認。

(a) 即期所得稅
即期所得稅支出根據本公
司附屬公司及聯營公司營
運及產生應課稅收入所在
國家於結算日已頒佈或實
質頒佈的稅務法例計算。
管理層就適用稅務法例詮
釋所規限的情況定期評估
報稅表的狀況，並在適用
情況下根據預期須向稅務
機關繳納的稅款設定撥備。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.23 即期及遞延所得稅（續）
(b) 遞延所得稅

內在基準差額
遞延所得稅使用負債法就
資產及負債的稅基與其於
綜合財務報表中所載賬面
值之間的暫時差額作出確
認。然而，倘遞延稅項負
債自初步確認商譽產生，
則不會予以確認，如遞延
所得稅來自交易（業務合併
除外）中對資產或負債的初
步確認，而交易時會計損
益或應課稅損益均不受影
響，則不作記賬。遞延所
得稅採用在結算日前已頒
佈或實質頒佈，及在相關
遞延所得稅資產變現或遞
延所得稅負債結算時預期
將會適用的稅率（及法例）
釐定。

遞延所得稅資產僅在可能
有未來應課稅溢利可用作
抵銷暫時差額時確認。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.23 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences
De fe r red i ncome tax i s  recogn ised , 
using the liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the consol idated f inancial 
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities 
are not recognised if they arise from the 
initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred 
income tax is not accounted for i f  i t 
arises from initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction other than a 
business combination that at the time of 
the transaction affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income 
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date and 
are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised 
only to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be 
utilised.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.23 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)
Outside basis differences
Defe r red income tax i s  p rov ided on 
t e m p o r a r y  d i f f e r e n c e s  a r i s i n g  o n 
investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
except for deferred income tax l iabil ity 
where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary di f ference is control led by 
the Group and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Generally the Group 
is unable to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference for associates. Only 
when there is an agreement in place that 
gives the Group the ability to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference in the 
foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in 
relation to taxable temporary differences 
arising from the associate’s undistributed 
profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised 
on deduct ib le temporary d i f fe rences 
arising from investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint arrangements only to 
the extent that it is probable the temporary 
difference will reverse in the future and 
there is sufficient taxable profit available 
against which the temporary difference can 
be utilised.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.23 即期及遞延所得稅（續）
(b) 遞延所得稅（續）

外部基準差額
遞延所得稅就於附屬公司
及聯營公司投資產生的暫
時差額計提撥備，惟倘本
集團可控制暫時差額的撥
回時間，且暫時差額在
可預見將來有可能不會撥
回的遞延所得稅負債則除
外。本集團通常不能控制
聯營公司暫時差額撥回。
僅限於訂立協議賦予本集
團能力於可見將來控制暫
時差額撥回，則就聯營公
司未分配利潤產生的應課
稅暫時差額不確認遞延稅
項負債。

遞延所得稅資產僅會於暫
時差額有可能將於未來撥
回及有充足應課稅溢利可
用以動用暫時差額時，在
附屬公司、聯營公司及合
營安排投資產生可扣稅暫
時差額確認。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.23 即期及遞延所得稅（續）
(c) 抵銷

遞延所得稅資產及負債在
有合法行使的權利將即期
稅項資產與即期稅項負債
抵銷時，及在遞延所得稅
資產及負債與由同一稅務
機關向同一應課稅實體或
不同應課稅實體（該等實體
擬按淨額基準結算結餘）徵
收的所得稅項有關時，方
可抵銷。

3.24 僱員福利
本集團設有多項離職後福利計
劃，包括界定福利及界定供款退
休金計劃以及離職後醫療計劃。

(a) 退休金責任
界定供款計劃屬退休金計
劃，本集團可據此向單獨
實體作出固定供款。倘基
金並無持有充足資產向全
體僱員支付與本期間及過
往期間僱員服務有關的利
益，本集團並無法定或推
定責任進一步作出供款。
界定福利計劃為並非屬界
定供款計劃的退休金計劃。

一般而言，界定福利計劃
確定僱員在退休時可收取
的退休福利金額，一般會
視乎年齡、服務年資及補
償等一個或多個因素而定。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.23 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(c) Offsetting
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
a r e  o f f s e t  w h e n  t h e r e  i s  a  l e g a l l y 
enforceable r ight to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and 
when the deferred income taxes assets 
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on either the 
taxable entity or different taxable entities 
where there is an intention to settle the 
balances on a net basis.

3.24 Employee benefit
The Group operates various post-employment 
schemes, including both defined benefit and 
defined contribution pension plans and post-
employment medical plans.

(a) Pension obligations
A defined contribution plan is a pension 
plan under which the Group pays fixed 
cont r ibut ions in to a separate ent i ty . 
The Group has no legal or constructive 
obligations to pay further contributions if 
the fund does not hold sufficient assets to 
pay all employees the benefits relating to 
employee service in the current and prior 
periods. A defined benefit plan is a pension 
plan that is not a defined contribution plan.

Typical ly def ined benef i t plans def ine 
an amount of pension benef i t that an 
employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors such as 
age, years of service and compensation.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.24 Employee benefit (continued)

(a) Pension obligations (continued)
The liability recognised in the consolidated 
balance sheet in respect of defined benefit 
pension plans is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the end of 
the reporting period less the fair value of 
plan assets. The defined benefit obligation 
is calculated annual ly by independent 
actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the defined 
bene f i t  ob l i ga t i on  i s  de te rm ined by 
discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using interest rates of high-quality 
corporate bonds that are denominated 
in the currency in which the benefits will 
be paid, and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related 
pension obligation. In countries where 
there is no deep market in such bonds, 
the market rates on government bonds are 
used.

The current service cost of the defined 
benefit plan, recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss in employee 
benefit expense, except where included in 
the cost of an asset, reflects the increase 
in the defined benefit obligation results 
f rom employee serv ice in the current 
year, benefit changes, curtailments and 
settlements.

P a s t - s e r v i c e  c o s t s  a r e  r e c o g n i s e d 
immediately in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.24 僱員福利（續）
(a) 退休金責任（續）

在綜合資產負債表內就有
關界定福利退休金計劃確
認的負債，為報告期末界
定福利責任的現值減計劃
資產的公允價值。界定福
利責任每年由獨立精算師
以預計單位貸記法計算。
界定福利責任的現值利用
將用以支付福利的貨幣計
值且到期日與有關退休金
責任年期相近的高質素公
司債券的利率，將估計未
來現金流出貼現釐定。對
於有關債券市場不大的國
家而言，則採用政府債券
的市場利率。

界定福利計劃的當期服務
成本於綜合損益表僱員福
利費用中確認，惟已計入
資產成本者除外，反映本
年度僱員服務所產生界定
福利責任的增加、福利的
變動、縮減及結算。

過往服務成本即時於綜合
損益表確認。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.24 僱員福利（續）
(a) 退休金責任（續）

利息成本淨值按界定福利
責任的結餘淨值及計劃資
產的公允價值，按貼現率
計算。該成本於綜合損益
表中計入僱員福利費用內。

經驗調整所產生的精算收
益及虧損以及精算假設變
動，於產生期間自其他全
面收益的權益中扣除或計
入。

就界定供款計劃而言，本
集團按強制、合約或自願
基準向公營或私營退休金
保險計劃作出供款。本集
團作出供款後，即無進一
步付款責任。供款在應付
時確認為僱員福利費用。
預付供款按照現金退款或
可減少未來付款而確認為
資產。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.24 Employee benefit (continued)

(a) Pension obligations (continued)
The net interest cost is calculated by 
apply ing the discount rate to the net 
balance of the defined benefit obligation 
and the fair value of plan assets. This cost 
is included in employee benefit expense in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from 
exper ience adjustments and changes 
in actuarial assumptions are charged or 
credited to equity in other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they arise.

For defined contribution plans, the Group 
pays contribution to publicly or privately 
administered pension insurance plans 
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary 
basis. The Group has no further payment 
o b l i g a t i o n s  o n c e  t h e  c o n t r i b u t i o n s 
have been paid. The contributions are 
recognised as employee benefit expense 
when they are due. Prepaid contributions 
are recognised as an asset to the extent 
that a cash refund or a reduction in the 
further payments is available.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.24 Employee benefit (continued)

(b) Other post-employment obligations
Some group companies provide post-
retirement healthcare benefits to their 
retirees. The entitlement to these benefits 
is usually conditional on the employee 
remaining in service up to retirement age 
and the completion of a minimum service 
per iod. The expected costs of these 
benefits are accrued over the period of 
employment using the same accounting 
methodology as used for defined benefit 
pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from experience adjustments and 
changes in actuar ia l assumptions are 
charged or credited to equity in other 
comprehensive income in the period in 
which they arise. These obligations are 
valued annually by independent qualified 
actuaries.

(c) Termination benefits and early retirement 
benefits
Termination benefits are payable when 
employment is terminated by the Group 
before the normal ret irement date, or 
whenever an employee accepts voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. 
The Group recognises termination benefits 
at the earlier of the following dates: (i) when 
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer 
of those benefits; and (ii) when the entity 
recognises costs for a restructuring that 
is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves 
the payment of termination benefits. In 
the case of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy, the termination 
benef i ts are measured based on the 
number of employees expected to accept 
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 
12 months after the end of the reporting 
period are discounted to their present 
value.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.24 僱員福利（續）
(b) 其他離職後責任

若干集團公司向其退休人
士提供退休後醫療福利。
享有該等福利的權利通常
須以僱員於直至退休年齡
前一直在任且完成最低服
務期間為先決條件。該等
福利的預計成本使用與界
定福利退休金計劃所用的
相同會計方法於僱傭期間
累計。經驗調整所產生的
精算收益及虧損以及精算
假設的變動於產生期間自
其他全面收益的權益中扣
除或計入。該等責任每年
由獨立合資格精算師進行
評估。

(c) 終止福利及提前退休福利

終止福利為在正常退休日
之前本集團終止僱傭而應
付的款項或員工自願接受
裁員以換取的福利。本集
團於以下日期的較早者確
認終止福利：(i)本集團無法
再撤回所提供的福利；及
(ii)實體就國際會計準則第
37號範疇內的重組確認成
本並涉及支付終止福利。
於提出鼓勵自願接受裁員
的要約情況下，終止福利
按預期接納要約的僱員數
目計量。於報告期末後超
過12個月到期應付的福利
折現至其現值。



216 AVIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

綜合財務報表附註
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.25 研究及開發
研究開支在產生時確認為費用。
開發項目（涉及新產品及改良產品
的設計和測試）產生的成本在滿足
下列條件時確認為無形資產：

• 技術上可行地完成該無形
資產以供使用；

• 管理層有意完成並使用或
出售該無形資產；

• 有能力使用或出售該無形
資產；

• 可證明該無形資產將可產
生未來經濟利益；

• 有足夠的技術、財務資源
和其他資源支持，以完成
該無形資產的開發並使用
或出售該無形資產；及

• 歸屬於該無形資產開發階
段的開支能可靠計量。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.25 Research and development

Resea rch  expend i t u r es  i s  r ecogn i sed  as 
an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on 
development projects (relating to the design 
and testing of new and improved products) are 
recognised as intangible assets when the following 
criteria are met:

• it is technically feasible to complete the 
intangible asset so that it will be available 
for use;

• management intends to complete the 
intangible asset and use or sell it;

• there is an ab i l i t y  to use or se l l  the 
intangible asset;

• it can be demonstrated how the intangible 
asse t  w i l l  gene ra te  p robab le  f u tu re 
economic benefits;

• adequate technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the development 
and to use or sell the intangible asset are 
available; and

• t he  expend i t u re  a t t r i bu tab l e  t o  t he 
intangible asset during its development can 
be reliably measured.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.25 Research and development (continued)

Other development expenditures that do not meet 
these criteria are recognised as an expense as 
incurred. Development cost previously recognised 
as an expense is not recognised as an asset in a 
subsequent period. Capitalised development costs 
are recorded as intangible assets and amortised 
from the point at which the asset is ready for use 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives.

3.26 Provisions
Prov i s i ons  fo r  env i ronmenta l  r es to ra t i on , 
r e s t r uc tu r i ng  cos t s  and  l ega l  c l a ims  a r e 
recognised when: the Group has a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation; and the 
amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring 
provisions comprise lease termination penalties 
and employee termination payments. Provisions 
are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, 
the likelihood that an outflow will be required 
in settlement is determined by considering the 
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow 
with respect to any one item included in the same 
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
the expenditures expected to be required to settle 
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The 
increase in the provision due to passage of time is 
recognised as interest expense.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.25 研究及開發（續）
其他不符合該等標準的開發開支
在產生時確認為費用。先前已確
認為費用的開發成本不會在往後
期間確認為資產。已資本化的開
發成本列為無形資產，由資產可
供使用時起於其估計可使用年限
以直線法攤銷。

3.26 撥備
倘本集團因過往事件而產生現有
法定或推定責任；很可能需有資
源流出以清償責任；及金額已被
可靠估計時，須就環境復原、重
組費用和法律索償確認撥備。重
組撥備包括租賃終止罰款和僱員
辭退付款。就未來經營虧損作出
的撥備不予確認。

倘有多項類似義務，需於結算時
資源流出的可能性按責任類別整
體考慮而釐定。即使有關同一責
任類別所含任何一個項目的資源
流出可能性極低，仍須確認撥備。

撥備使用稅前利率按照預期需清
償責任的開支現值計量，該利率
反映當時市場對貨幣時間值和有
關責任特定風險的評估。隨著時
間流逝而增加的撥備確認為利息
支出。
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.27 收入確認
收入按已收或應收代價的公允價
值計量，為就供應貨品應收的金
額，並於扣除回扣及增值稅後列
賬。倘收入金額能可靠計量；未
來經濟利益可能流入實體；及本
集團每項業務均符合具體標準時
（如下文所述），本集團將確認收
入。本集團會根據其往績並考慮
客戶類別、交易種類和每項安排
的特點作出估計。

(a) 銷售貨品
銷售貨品在本集團實體已
將貨品交付予客戶，而客
戶已接收貨品且有關應收
款項的收回可合理確保時
確認。

(b) 合約收入
個別建築合約收入採用「完
成百分比法」（附註3.22）確
認。

(c) 租賃收入
按經營租約出租的投資物
業所得租賃收入以直線法
於租賃期在綜合損益表內
確認。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.27 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
cons idera t ion rece ived or  rece ivab le ,  and 
represents amounts receivable for goods supplied, 
stated net of discounts returns and value added 
taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the 
amount of revenue can be reliably measured; 
when it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria 
have been met for each of the Group’s activities, 
as descr ibed be low. The Group bases i ts 
estimates of return on historical results, taking into 
consideration the type of customer, the type of 
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Sale of goods
Sale of goods are recognised when a 
Group entity has delivered products to the 
customer. The customer has accepted the 
products and collectability of the related 
receivables is reasonably assured.

(b) Contract revenue
Revenue from indiv idual construct ion 
contracts is recognised by using the 
“percentage of completion method” (Note 
3.22).

(c) Rental income
Rental income from investment properties 
leased out under an operating lease is 
recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease.
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.27 收入確認（續）
(d) 服務收入

提供服務的收入在提供服
務的會計期間確認。

(e) 利息收入
利息收入採用實際利率法
按時間比例基準確認。

(f) 股息收入
股息收入在收取款項的權
利確定時確認。

3.28 股息分派
向本公司股東分派的股息在股息
獲本公司股東批准（如適用）的期
間內於本集團及本公司財務報表
內確認為負債。

3.29 政府補貼
當能夠合理地保證可收取政府補
貼，而本集團將會符合所有附帶
條件時，政府提供的補貼將按其
公允價值確認。

與成本有關的政府補貼遞延入
賬，並按擬補償的成本配合所需
期間在綜合損益表中確認。

與物業、廠房及設備有關的政府
補貼列入非流動負債，作為政府
補貼遞延收入，並按有關資產的
預計年限以直線法計入綜合損益
表。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.27 Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) Services income
Revenue from rendering of services is 
recognised in the accounting period in 
which the services are rendered.

(e) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest 
method.

(f) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the 
right to receive payment is established.

3.28 Dividend distribution
D i v i d e n d  d i s t r i b u t i o n  t o  t h e  C o m p a n y ’ s 
shareholders is recognised as a l iab i l i ty in 
the Group’s and in the Company’s f inancial 
statements in the period in which the dividends 
are approved by the Company’s shareholders, 
where appropriate.

3.29 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised 
at their fair value where there is a reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and the 
Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred 
and recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss over the period necessary to 
match them with the costs they are intended to 
compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and 
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as 
deferred income on government grants and are 
credited to the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected 
lives of the related assets.
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3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.30 財務擔保
財務擔保合約要求發出人就償付
持有人因指定債務人未能根據債
務工具的原有或經修訂條款支付
到期款項所蒙受損失而作出特定
付款的合約。於初步確認後，財
務擔保合約由發出人須按對債務
的最佳估計及初步確認款項的較
高者減（如適用）就確認所賺取費
用收入於擔保合約年期內按直線
法計算所得累計攤銷計量。

3.31 租賃
(a) 倘本集團為出租人

融資租賃
融資租賃為將出租資產擁
有權附帶的絕大部分風險
和回報轉讓予承租人的租
賃。於租賃期開始時，本
集團將其可收取的最低租
賃付款確認為融資租賃應
收款項，並同時將無擔保
剩餘價值列賬為資產。以
下兩者 (a)最低租賃付款與
無擔保剩餘價值之和及 (b)
該等款項的現值（於綜合資
產負債表中作為融資租賃
應收款項，淨額呈列）之間
的差額確認為未賺取融資
收入。最低租賃付款為承
租人須或可能須於租賃期
作出的付款加承租人（或與
該承租人有關聯或無關聯
的訂約方）向出租人擔保的
任何剩餘價值。

3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.30 Financial guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that 
requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a 
specified debtor fails to make payment when due 
in accordance with the original or modified terms 
of a debt instrument. After initial recognition, 
an issuer of such a contract shall measure it at 
the higher of the best estimate of the obligation 
and the amount initially recognised less, when 
appropriate, cumulative amortisation calculated to 
recognise the fee income earned on a straight line 
basis over the life of the guarantee contract.

3.31 Leases
(a) Where the Group is the lessor

Finance lease
A finance lease is a lease that transfers 
substantial ly al l the r isks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the leased asset 
to the lessee. At the commencement of 
the lease term, the Group recognises the 
minimum lease payments receivable by the 
Group as a finance lease receivable and 
records the unguaranteed residual value as 
an asset at the same time. The difference 
between (a) the aggregate of the minimum 
lease payments and the unguaranteed 
residual value and (b) their present value 
(presented in the consolidated balance 
sheet as finance lease receivable, net) is 
recognised as unearned finance income. 
Minimum lease payments are the payments 
over the lease term that the lessee is or 
can be required to make plus any residual 
value guaranteed to the lessor by the 
lessee, or a party related or unrelated to 
the lessee.
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3 S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.31 Leases (continued)

(a) Where the Group is the lessor (continued)
Finance lease (continued)
Unearned financial income is allocated to 
each period during the lease term using 
actuarial method that allocates rentals 
between finance income and repayment of 
capital in each accounting period in such a 
way that finance income is recognised as 
a constant periodic rate of return (implicit 
effective interest rate) on the lessor’s net 
investment in the lease. Lease agreements 
for which the base rent is based on floating 
interest rates are included in minimum 
lease payments based on the f loating 
interest rate existing at the commencement 
of the lease; any increase or decrease 
i n  l ease  paymen ts  t ha t  r e su l t  f r om 
subsequent changes in floating interest rate 
are contingent rentals and are recorded as 
an increase or a decrease in lease revenue 
in the period of the interest rate change.

Operating lease
Leases in which a significant portion of 
the risks and rewards of ownership are 
retained by the Group are classified as 
operat ing leases. Payments received 
from lessees under operating leases (net 
of any incentives grant to the lessee) are 
recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease.

(b) Where the Group is the lessee
Leases in which a significant portion of the 
risks and rewards of ownership are retained 
by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating 
leases (net of any incentives received from 
the lessor) are charged to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease.

3 主要會計政策概要（續）

3.31 租賃（續）
(a) 倘本集團為出租人（續）

融資租賃（續）
未賺取融資收入使用於各
會計期間對融資收入及資
本還款進行分配的精算法
透過將融資收入確認為有
關出租人於租賃的淨投資
的固定定期回報率方式分
配至租賃期各期間。基本
租金基於浮動利率的租賃
協議計入最低租賃付款（基
於租賃期開始時存在的浮
動利率）；其後浮動利率變
動所致租賃付款的任何增
加或減少屬或然租金，並
於利率變動期間記入租賃
收入的增加或減少。

經營租賃
擁有權的重大部分風險和
回報由本集團保留的租賃
分類為經營租賃。根據經
營租賃自承租人收取的付
款（扣除給予承租人任何獎
勵金後），於租賃期內以直
線法在綜合損益表確認。

(b) 倘本集團為承租人
擁有權的重大部分風險和
回報由出租人保留的租賃
分類為經營租賃。根據經
營租賃作出的付款（扣除自
出租人收取的任何獎勵金
後），於租賃期內以直線法
在綜合損益表支銷。
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial 
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, price 
risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management programme focuses on the unpredictability 
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge 
certain risk exposures.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s act iv i t ies are pr inc ipal ly 
conducted in RMB. Although major i ty 
of the Group’s assets and liabilities are 
denominated in RMB, the Group is stil l 
subject to foreign exchange risk arising 
from future commercial transactions and 
recognised assets and l iabil it ies which 
are denominated in non-RMB, mainly 
including US Dollars (“USD”), European 
Dollars (“EUR”), etc. The Group entered 
into forward contracts to hedge certain 
the foreign exchange risk. In addition, the 
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies 
is subject to the rules and regulations of 
foreign exchange controls promulgated by 
the PRC government.

4 財務風險管理
本集團的業務承受著多種財務風險：市
場風險（包括外匯風險、價格風險、公允
價值利率風險及現金流量利率風險）、信
貸風險及流動資金風險。本集團的整體
風險管理計劃專注於金融市場的難預測
性，並尋求盡量減低對本集團財務表現
的潛在不利影響。本集團採用衍生金融
工具對沖若干風險。

(a) 市場風險
(i) 外匯風險

本集團業務主要以人民幣
為單位。雖然本集團大部
分資產及負債以人民幣計
值，但仍然面臨來自於未
來商業交易以及所確認以
非人民幣（主要包括美元
（「美元」）、歐元（「歐元」）
等）計值的已確認資產及負
債的外匯風險。本集團訂
立遠期合約以對沖若干外
匯風險。此外，人民幣與
外幣的兌換須遵守中國政
府頒佈的外匯管理規定及
條例。
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign 
currency denominated monetary assets 
and monetary liabilities at the respective 
balance sheet dates are as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

資產 Assets
美元 USD 7,322,028 8,363,717

歐元 EUR 1,021,259 1,148,477

其他 Others 450,836 2,697,266
    

8,794,123 12,209,460
    

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

負債 Liabilities
美元 USD 4,534,673 5,127,075

歐元 EUR 1,407,509 1,440,519

其他 Others 659,717 3,265,270
    

6,601,899 9,832,864
    

4 財務風險管理（續）
(a) 市場風險（續）

(i) 外匯風險（續）
本集團以外幣計值的貨幣
資產及貨幣負債於各結算
日的賬面值如下：
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4 財務風險管理（續）
(a) 市場風險（續）

(i) 外匯風險（續）
下表顯示有關人民幣兌美
元及歐元除稅前溢利升值
5%的敏感度分析。本敏感
度分析僅包括以外幣計值
的貨幣項目，並在年底就
各自的匯率變動作出換算
調整。

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
The following table shows the sensitivity 
analysis on prof i t before tax of a 5% 
increase in RMB against the USD and EUR. 
The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign 
currency denominated monetary items and 
adjusts their translation at the year the end 
for the respective changes in rate.

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

美元匯率升值5% 5% appreciation in exchange 
rate of USD

年度除稅前溢利增加 Increase in the profit before tax 
for the year 104,526 161,832

歐元匯率升值5% 5% appreciation in exchange 
rate of EUR

年度除稅前溢利減少 Decrease in the profit before tax 
for the year (14,484) (14,602)

    

(ii) Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities 
price risk of its unlisted share investments 
which are classified on the consolidated 
balance sheet as financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss (Note 23). 
To manage i ts pr ice r isk ar is ing from 
investments, the Group diversi f ies i ts 
portfolio, in accordance with the limits set 
by the Group. The exposure of the price 
risk of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss is not material to the Group.

(ii) 價格風險
本集團由於持有非上市股
份投資（於綜合資產負債表
分類為按公允價值計量且
其變動計入損益的金融資
產）而面臨股本證券價格
風險（附註23）。為管理投
資產生的價格風險，本集
團根據本集團所設定的限
度，分散其組合。本集團
所面臨按公允價值計量且
其變動計入損益的金融資
產價格風險並不重大。
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本集團借款的利率及還款
期於附註29披露。

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from 
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable 
rates expose the Group to cash f low 
interest-rate risk. Borrowings issued at 
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value 
interest-rate risk. The Group has not used 
any interest rate swap arrangements but 
wil l consider hedging interest rate risk 
should the need arise.

The table below summaries the impact of 
changes in interest rate at 31 December 
2017 and 31 December 2016 with all other 
variables held at constant on the Group’s 
profit for the year.

利率
Interest rate

上升10% 下跌10%
10% higher 10% lower
人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000
    

浮動利率借款 Borrowings at variable rates

二零一七年溢利
（減少）╱增加

(Decrease)/increase in profit 
for year 2017 (50,202) 50,202

    

二零一六年溢利
（減少）╱增加

(Decrease)/increase in profit 
for year 2016 (45,612) 45,612

    

The interest rates and terms of repayment 
of borrowings of the Group are disclosed in 
Note 29.

4 財務風險管理（續）
(a) 市場風險（續）

(iii) 現金流量及公允價值利率
風險
本集團的利率風險主要來
自借款。按浮動利率發行
的借款令本集團承受現金
流量利率風險，按固定利
率發行的借款令本集團承
受公允價值利率風險。本
集團並無使用任何利率掉
期安排。然而，本集團會
於有需要時考慮對沖利率
風險。

下表概述在其他變數維持
不變的情況下，於二零
一七年十二月三十一日及
二零一六年十二月三十一
日的利率變動對本集團年
度溢利的影響。
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4 財務風險管理（續）
(b) 信貸風險

本集團因現金及現金等價物、初
始期限超逾三個月的定期存款、
抵押銀行存款及貿易及其他應收
款項承受信貸風險。

本集團絕大部分現金及現金等價
物以及抵押銀行存款均存放於屬
於高信貸質量金融機構的國有金
融機構及著名銀行。本集團已全
部履約的銀行現金、銀行存款及
抵押銀行存款概無於本年度內進
行重新商討。

貿易及其他應收款項的賬面值指
本集團就金融資產所面臨的最大
信貸風險。於二零一七年十二月
三十一日，五大客戶佔貿易及其
他應收款項結餘逾29%（二零一六
年：34%）。

本集團一般向現有客戶授出不超
過一年的信用期限，且不需抵押
品。本集團貿易應收款項的賬齡
分析於附註21披露。管理層定期
對貿易及其他應收款項的可收回
性進行集中及個別評估，基準為
過往付款記錄、逾期時間長短、
債務人財務實力及與相關債務人
是否有任何爭議。本集團於收取
貿易及其他應收款項的過往經驗
屬已列賬撥備範圍內，董事認為
已就不可收回應收款項計提足夠
撥備。

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to 
its cash and cash equivalents, term deposits with 
initial term of over three months, pledged bank 
deposits, and trade and other receivables.

Substantially all of the Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents and pledged bank deposits are held 
in state-owned financial institutions and reputable 
banks which are all high-credit-quality financial 
institutions. None of cash at bank, bank deposits 
and pledged bank deposits of the Group that were 
fully performing has been renegotiated during the 
year.

The ca r ry ing amounts o f  t rade and o the r 
receivables represent the Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial 
assets. The top 5 customers accounted for more 
than 29% of the balance of trade and other 
receivables as at 31 December 2017 (2016: 34%).

The Group normally grants credit terms of not 
more than 1 year to existing customers without 
collaterals. Aging analysis of the Group’s trade 
receivables is disclosed in Note 21. Management 
makes periodic collective assessment as well 
as individual assessment on the recoverability of 
trade and other receivables based on historical 
payment records, the length of the overdue 
period, the financial strength of the debtors and 
whether there are any disputes with the relevant 
debtors. The Group’s historical experience in 
collection of trade and other receivables falls 
within the recorded allowances and the directors 
are of the opinion that adequate provision for 
uncollectible receivables has been made.
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(c) 流動資金風險
本集團董事會透過維持充足現金
以應付日常營運承擔以及透過銀
行信貸融資（包括短期及長期銀行
貸款）取得充足資金來管理流動資
金風險。

下表根據綜合資產負債表餘下期
間至合約到期日的分析，將本集
團的非衍生金融負債分為有關到
期日組別。該表所披露的金額為
合約未貼現現金流量。由於貼現
影響不大，故於十二個月內到期
的結餘與其賬面結餘相若。

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral 
held or other credit enhancements:

本集團最高風險
Group Maximum exposure

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

有關資產負債表外項目
的信貸風險值：

Credit risk exposure relating to 
off-balance sheet items: 

財務擔保 Financial guarantees 1,032,420 2,622,966
    

(c) Liquidity risk
The board of directors of the Group manage the 
liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash to meet 
the normal operating commitments and sourcing 
adequate funding through banking credit facilities, 
including short-term and long-term bank loans.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
grouping based on the remaining period at the 
consolidated balance sheet to the contractual 
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the 
table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their 
carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is 
not significant.

4 財務風險管理（續）
(b) 信貸風險（續）

扣除持有抵押品或其他信用增級
前的最高信用風險：
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4 財務風險管理（續）
(c) 流動資金風險（續）

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

少於1年 1至2年 2至5年 超過5年
總計

Total
Less than 

1 year
Between 

1 and 2 years
Between 

2 and 5 years
Over 

5 years
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

於二零一七年十二月三十一日 At 31 December 2017
借款（本金額加利息） Borrowings (principal amount plus 

interest) 12,699,230 2,661,310 6,272,070 2,897,811 24,530,421
貿易及其他應付款項
（不包括非金融負債）

Trade and other payables 
(excluded non-financial liabilities) 13,889,210 124,510 – – 14,013,720

其他負債 Other liabilities 5,367 73,137 – – 78,504
財務擔保合約本金額 Principal amount of 

financial guarantee contracts 171,150 117,151 617,951 126,168 1,032,420
       

總計 Total 26,764,957 2,976,108 6,890,021 3,023,979 39,655,065
       

少於1年 1至2年 2至5年 超過5年
總計
Total

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 2 years

Between 
2 and 5 years

Over 
5 years

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

於二零一六年十二月三十一日 At 31 December 2016
借款（本金額加利息） Borrowings (principal amount 

plus interest) 9,475,288 3,047,142 3,764,108 3,191,546 19,478,084

貿易及其他應付款項
（不包括非金融負債）

Trade and other payables (excluded 
non-financial liabilities) 12,895,856 73,391 – – 12,969,247

其他負債 Other liabilities 23,895 8,086 81,887 61 113,929

財務擔保合約本金額 Principal amount of 
financial guarantee contracts 1,347,794 588,250 686,922 – 2,622,966

       

總計 Total 23,742,833 3,716,869 4,532,917 3,191,607 35,184,226
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments 
carried at fair value, by valuation method. The 
different levels have been defined as follows:

• Quoted pr ices (unadjusted) in act ive 
markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(Level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included 
within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 
prices) (Level 2).

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not 
based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s assets 
that are measured at fair value at 31 December 
2017. See Note 11 for disclosures of investment 
properties that are measured at fair value.

第一級 第二級 第三級 總計
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

資產 Assets
按公允價值計量且其變動
計入損益的金融資產

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss 15,371 – – 15,371

可供出售金融資產 Available-for-sale 
financial assets – – 681,767 681,767

      

總資產 Total assets 15,371 – 681,767 697,138
      

4 財務風險管理（續）
(d) 公允價值估計

下表按估值法分析按公允價值列
賬的金融工具。不同級別定義如
下：

• 同類資產或負債在活躍市
場上的報價（未經調整）（第
一級）。

• 除第一級所包括的報價
外，資產或負債的可直接
觀察所得輸入值（即價格）
或間接觀察所得輸入值（即
從價格得出）（第二級）。

• 並非根據可觀察市場數據
釐定的資產或負債輸入值
（即不可觀察輸入值）（第三
級）。

下表載列於二零一七年十二月
三十一日按公允價值計量的本集
團資產。有關按公允價值計量的
投資物業的披露見附註11。
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4 財務風險管理（續）
(d) 公允價值估計（續）

下表載列於二零一六年十二月
三十一日按公允價值計量的本集
團資產。

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Fair value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the Group’s assets 
that are measured at fair value at 31 December 
2016.

第一級 第二級 第三級 總計
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

資產 Assets
按公允價值計量且其變動
計入損益的金融資產

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss 2,901 – – 2,901

可供出售金融資產 Available-for-sale 
financial assets – – 583,560 583,560

      

總資產 Total assets 2,901 – 583,560 586,461
      

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 
during the year.

年內，第一級與第二級之間概無
轉撥。
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Fair value estimation (continued)

(i) Financial instruments in Level 1
The fair value of f inancial instruments 
traded in act ive markets is based on 
quoted market prices at the balance sheet 
date. A market is regarded as active if 
quoted prices are readily and regularly 
ava i lab le f rom an exchange, dea le r , 
broker, industry group, pricing service, 
or regulatory agency, and those prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring 
market transactions on an arm’s length 
basis. The quoted market price used for 
financial assets held by the Group is the 
current bid price. These instruments are 
included in Level 1. Instruments included 
in Level 1 comprise equity investments 
in listed A shares of companies listed on 
Shenzhen or Shanghai Stock Exchange.

(ii) Financial instruments in Level 2
The fair value of financial instruments that 
are not traded in an active market (for 
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined by using valuation techniques. 
These valuation techniques maximise the 
use of observable market data where it is 
available and rely as little as possible on 
entity specific estimates. If all significant 
inputs required to fair value an instrument 
are observable, the instrument is included 
in Level 2.

4 財務風險管理（續）
(d) 公允價值估計（續）

(i) 第一級金融工具
於活躍市場買賣的金融工
具公允價值根據結算日的
市場報價計算。活躍市場
指可輕易及定期地從交易
所、交易商、經紀人、
行業集團、報價服務或規
管機構取得報價的市場，
而有關報價反映定期按公
平基準進行的實際市場交
易。本集團所持金融資產
所用的市場報價為當時買
盤價。該等工具列入第一
級。第一級所包括的工具
包含於深圳或上海證券交
易所上市的公司的上市A股
股權投資。

(ii) 第二級金融工具
於活躍市場並無買賣的金
融工具（例如場外衍生工
具）公允價值利用估值技術
釐定。該等估值技術盡量
利用可觀察市場數據（如
有），盡量少依賴實體的特
定估計。如計算工具的公
允價值所需所有重大輸入
值為可觀察數據，則該工
具列入第二級。
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4 財務風險管理（續）
(d) 公允價值估計（續）

(ii) 第二級金融工具
倘一個或多個重大輸入值
並非根據可觀察市場數據
所得，則該工具列入第三
級。

用於評估金融工具的具體
估值技術包括：

• 市場報價或同類工
具的交易商報價；

• 利率掉期的公允價
值根據可觀察的收
益率曲線估計未來
現金流量的現值計
算；

• 遠期外匯合約的公
允價值則採用結算
日 的 遠 期 匯 率 釐
定，所產生的價值
再貼現至現值；

• 例如貼現現金流量
分析的其他技術用
於釐定餘下金融工
具的公允價值。

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Fair value estimation (continued)

(ii) Financial instruments in Level 2 (continued)
If one or more of the significant inputs is 
not based on observable market data, the 
instrument is included in Level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value 
financial instruments include:

• Quoted market pr ices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments;

• The fair value of interest rate swaps 
is calculated as the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows 
based on observable yield curves;

• The fair value of forward foreign 
exchange contracts is determined 
using forward exchange rates at 
the balance sheet date, with the 
resulting value discounted back to 
present value;

• O t h e r  t e c h n i q u e s ,  s u c h  a s 
discounted cash flow analysis, are 
used to determine fair value for the 
remaining financial instruments.
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(e) 資本風險管理
本集團管理資本的目的為保障本
集團繼續以持續經營方式為股東
提供回報以及為其他股東帶來利
益，並維持最佳資本架構以降低
資金成本。

為維持或調整資本架構，本集團
可調整向股東支付股息的金額、
發行新股份或出售資產以減少債
項。

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Fair value estimation (continued)

(iii) Financial instruments in Level 3
The following table presents the changes in 
Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 
December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

可供出售金融資產
Available-for-sale 
financial assets

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

年初結餘 Opening balance 583,560 604,151
添置 Additions – 2,200
於其他全面收益確認的
公允價值收益

Fair value gain recognised in other 
comprehensive income

99,151 –

出售 Disposal (944) (7,791)
撥備 Provision – (15,000)

    

年末結餘 Closing balance 681,767 583,560
    

(e) Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital 
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders 
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends 
paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell 
assets to reduce debt.

4 財務風險管理（續）
(d) 公允價值估計（續）

(iii) 第三級金融工具
下表呈列截至二零一七年
十二月三十一日及二零
一六年十二月三十一日止
年度第三級工具的變動。
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4 財務風險管理（續）
(e) 資本風險管理（續）

與業內其他公司一樣，本集團根
據資本負債比率監控資本。該比
率按負債淨額除以資本總額計
算。負債淨額按借款總額（包括如
綜合資產負債表中所示的「流動及
非流動借款」）減現金及現金等價
物計算。資本總額按綜合資產負
債表所示「權益」加負債淨額計算。

於二零一七年及二零一六年十二
月三十一日的資本負債比率如下：

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(e) Capital risk management (continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group 
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing 
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided 
by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total 
borrowings (including ‘current and non-current 
borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated balance 
sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total 
capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the 
consolidated balance sheet plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2017 and 
2016 are as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

借款總額(i) Total borrowings (i) 22,843,811 18,589,087

減：現金及現金等價物
（附註25）

Less: cash and cash equivalents 
(Note 25) (12,222,026) (9,020,381)

    

負債淨額 Net debt 10,621,785 9,568,706

總權益 Total equity 27,814,734 25,366,513
    

資本總額 Total capital 38,436,519 34,935,219
    

資本負債比率 Gearing ratio 28% 27%
    

(i) Total borrowings comprised borrowings 
o f  R M B 2 2 , 7 3 4 , 8 5 9 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 1 6 : 
R M B 1 8 , 2 2 4 , 3 9 6 , 0 0 0 )  ( N o t e  2 9 ) , 
borrowings included in other liabilities of 
RMB75,460,000 (2016: RMB82,053,000), 
and borrowings included in trade and 
other payables of RMB33,492,000 (2016: 
RMB282,638,000).

(i) 借款總額包括為數人民
幣 22,734,859,000 元
（二零一六年： 人民幣
18,224,396,000元）（附註
29）的借款，計入其他負
債 的 人 民 幣 75,460,000
元（二零一六年：人民幣
82,053,000元）的借款及
計入貿易及其他應付款
項 的 人 民 幣 33,492,000
元（二零一六年：人民幣
282,638,000元）的借款。
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Impairment of goodwill
The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually 
or whenever there is an indication of impairment 
in accordance with the account ing pol ic ies 
stated in Note 3.9. The recoverable amount of 
cash generating units to which the goodwill is 
allocated is determined based on value-in-use 
calculations (Note 8). In estimating the future cash 
flow forecasts, management makes assumptions 
on the revenue growth rates, gross margins and 
the discount rates. Effects of reasonable possible 
changes on these key assumptions are explained 
in Note 8. No impai rment o f goodwi l l  was 
recognised during the year.

(b) Construction contracts
The Group uses the percentage-of-completion 
method to account for its construction contract 
revenue. The stage of completion is measured 
by reference to the contract costs incurred up 
to the year end date compared to the estimated 
total costs of the respective construction contract. 
Significant assumptions and estimates are made 
by management in estimating the total contract 
costs. Changes in assumptions and estimates 
will lead to an increase or decrease in revenue 
recognised for the year. Management regularly 
checks and ad jus ts  the assumpt ions and 
estimates in determining the total contract costs.

5 關鍵會計估計及判斷

估計及判斷會持續予以評估，並以過往
經驗及其他因素（包括在某些情況下被視
為對未來事件的合理預計）為依據。

(a) 商譽減值
本集團根據附註3.9所述的會計政
策每年或於出現減值跡象時測試
商譽有否出現任何減值。商譽獲
分配的現金產生單位的可收回金
額已按使用價值計算釐定（附註
8）。估計未來現金流量預測時，
管理層對收入增長率、毛利率及
貼現率進行假設。對該等關鍵假
設合理可能變動的影響於附註8解
釋。年內並無確認商譽減值。

(b) 建造合約
本集團採用完成百分比法將建造
合約收入列賬。完工階段乃參照
截至年結日所產生的合約成本與
相關建造合約估計總成本的比較
計量。管理層於估計總合約成本
時已作出重大假設及估計。假設
及估計變動將導致年內確認收入
增加或減少。管理層定期檢查並
調整釐定總合約成本的假設及估
計。
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5 關鍵會計估計及判斷（續）

(c) 應收款項減值
本集團根據貿易及其他應收款項
的可收回性評估並參考將予收回
金額的數額及時間，就應收款項
減值作出撥備。倘發生事件或情
況有變顯示結餘可能不能收回，
則會就貿易及其他應收款項作出
撥備。識別潛在減值需要運用判
斷及估計。倘預期與原本估計不
同，有關差異將影響有關估計變
動期間貿易及其他應收款項的賬
面值以及呆賬開支。

(d) 物業、廠房及設備減值
物業、廠房及設備按成本減累計
折舊列賬。倘發生事件或情況有
變顯示可能不能收回賬面值，則
就減值審核該等賬面值。所確認
的減值虧損為資產賬面值超過其
可收回金額的數額。可收回金
額為資產公允價值減出售成本與
使用價值兩者中的較高者。於估
計資產的可收回金額時，將作出
多項假設，包括與資產有關的未
來現金流量、折舊及貼現率。倘
未來事件與有關假設並未相符，
將須修訂可收回金額，而此舉可
能對本集團的經營業績或財務狀
況構成影響。管理層認為，截至
二零一七年十二月三十一日的物
業、廠房及設備的賬面值毋須計
提減值支出。

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGMENTS (continued)
(c) Impairment of receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of 
receivables based on an assessment of the 
recoverability of trade and other receivables with 
reference to the extent and duration that the 
amount will be recovered. Provisions are applied 
to trade and other receivables where events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
balances may not be collectible. The identification 
of potent ia l impairment requires the use of 
judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is 
different from the original estimate, such difference 
will impact the carrying value of trade and other 
receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the 
period in which such estimate has been changed.

(d) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation. These carrying 
amounts are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. In estimating the recoverable 
amounts of assets, various assumptions, including 
future cash f lows to be associated with the 
assets and depreciation and discount rates, are 
made. If future events do not correspond to such 
assumptions, the recoverable amounts will need 
to be revised, and this may have an impact on 
the Group’s results of operations or financial 
position. Management considered that there was 
no impairment charge required to be made to the 
carrying value of property, plant and equipment as 
at 31 December 2017.
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGMENTS (continued)
(e) Impairment of inventories

In determining the amount of impairment required 
for obso lete and s low-mov ing inventor ies , 
the Group would evaluate customers’ orders, 
ageing analysis of inventories and compare the 
carrying amount of inventories to their respective 
net real isable value. A considerable amount 
of judgment is required in determining such 
impairment. If conditions which have impact on 
the net realisable value of inventories deteriorate, 
additional allowances may be required.

(f) Income taxes and deferred taxation
Significant judgment is required in determining 
the provision for income tax. There are many 
transact ions and calculat ions for which the 
ultimate determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business. Where the final 
tax outcome of these matters is different from 
the amounts that were initially recorded, such 
d i f fe rence wi l l  impact the income tax and 
deferred tax provision in the period in which such 
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary 
differences and tax losses are recognised when 
management considers to be probable that future 
taxable profit wil l be available against which 
the temporary differences or tax losses can be 
utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may 
be different.

5 關鍵會計估計及判斷（續）

(e) 存貨減值
於釐定陳舊及滯銷存貨的減值金
額時，本集團須評估客戶訂單、
存貨賬齡分析，並將存貨的賬面
值與其各自可變現淨值作比較。
於釐定有關減值時須作出大量判
斷。倘影響存貨可變現淨值的條
件惡化，則可能須作出額外撥備。

(f) 所得稅及遞延稅項
於釐定所得稅撥備時須作出重大
判斷。在正常業務過程中，許多
交易及計算的最終釐定並不確
定。倘該等事項的最終稅務結果
與最初記錄金額不同，則該差異
將影響作出釐定期間的所得稅及
遞延稅項撥備。

當管理層認為未來應課稅溢利有
可能出現可用作抵銷暫時性差異
或可動用稅項虧損時，若干暫時
性差異及稅項虧損有關的遞延稅
項資產會予以確認。實際使用結
果可能不同。
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5 關鍵會計估計及判斷（續）

(g) 投資物業估值
本集團的若干投資物業位於無活
躍房產市場的區域，於此情況
下，公允價值使用現金流量貼現
法估計，其中包括若干主要假
設，如市場租金、佔用率及貼現
率。假設需運用判斷及估計。倘
預期與最初估計不同，則該差異
將於估計改變期間影響投資賬面
值及投資物業公允價值收益╱虧
損。

6 分部資料
本公司董事會為主要經營決策者。管理
層根據董事會審閱的報告（用以作出策略
性決定）釐定經營分部。

董事會從產品的角度考慮業務。本集團
重新劃分為下列五個業務分部：

• 平板顯示屏及模組（「FPD」）產品
製造與銷售

• 印製電路板（「PCB互聯」）產品製
造與銷售

• 零售與消費品－製造及銷售電動
及名牌石英鐘錶

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGMENTS (continued)
(g) Investment property valuation

The Group’s certa in investment propert ies 
are located in areas where there are no active 
property market, in such cases, the fair value is 
estimated by discounted cash flow method, which 
involves a number of key assumptions, including 
market rents, occupancy rates, discounts rates. 
The assumptions require the use of judgment and 
estimates. Where the expectation is different from 
the original estimate, such difference will impact 
the carrying value of investment and fair value 
gain/loss on investment property in the period in 
which such estimate has been changed.

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The chief operating decision-makers have been identified 
as the board of directors of the Company. Management 
has determined the operating segments based on the 
reports reviewed by the board of directors that are used 
to make strategic decisions.

The board considers the business from a product 
perspective. The Group is reorganised into the five 
business segments below:

• Manufacture and sales of flat panel displays and 
modules (“FPD”) products

• Manufacture and sales of printed circuit boards 
(“PCB”) products

• Retails and Consumer Products – manufacture 
and sales of mechanical and branded quartz time 
pieces
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
• Trading and Logistics – trading, logistics and 

shipping building business related to EPC Projects

• Real Estate – real estate development and 
construction engineering work

The hotel business and standard parts products are 
included in other segments as they do not meet the 
quantitative threshold of separation.

The board assesses the performance of the operating 
segments based on the profit.

Segment assets consist primarily of land use rights, 
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, 
construction-in-progress, inventories, properties under 
development, trade and other receivables and cash and 
equivalents.

Inter-segment revenue are carried out according to the 
terms and conditions agreed by both parties.

The segment information provided to the board of 
directors for the reportable segments for the year ended 
31 December 2017 is as follows:

6 分部資料（續）
• 貿易與物流－有關EPC項目的貿

易、物流及船舶建造業務

• 地產－地產開發及建築工程項目

酒店業務及標準件歸入所有其他分部，
原因是該等業務並未達到獨立呈報的定
量下限。

董事會根據溢利評估經營分部表現。

分部資產主要包括土地使用權、物業、
廠房及設備、投資物業、在建工程、存
貨、發展中物業、貿易及其他應收款項
以及現金及現金等價物。

分部間收入根據訂約雙方協商的條款及
條件釐定。

向董事會提供截至二零一七年十二月
三十一日止年度的可報告分部的分部資
料如下：
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6 分部資料（續）
本集團的分部資料分析如下：

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
An analysis of the Group’s segment information is as 
follows:

截至二零一七年十二月三十一日止年度
Year ended 31 December 2017

FPD產品
製造與銷售

PCB互聯產品
製造與銷售

零售與
消費品 貿易與物流 地產 其他 總計

Manufacture 
and Sales 

of FPD 
Products

Manufacture 
and Sales 

of PCB 
Products

Retails 
and 

Consumer 
Products

Trading 
and 

Logistics Real Estate Others Total
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

分部業績 Segment results RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
         

來自外部客戶的收入 Revenue from external customers 13,788,016 5,502,534 3,322,928 8,728,103 4,517,885 722,213 36,581,679
分部間收入 Inter-segment revenue – – 3,788 71,668 – – 75,456
分部業績* Segment results* 533,703 523,425 193,120 (241,419) (172,635) (55,891) 780,303
其他收入（附註35） Other income (Note 35) 662,682 101,839 34,581 60,469 1,731 5,985 867,287
其他收益－淨額（附註36） Other gains-net (Note 36) (18,110) (15,747) 6,933 (245) 520,896 (896) 492,831
投資物業公允價值
收益（附註11）

Fair value gain on investment properties 
(Note 11) 4,955 1,244 104,951 57,221 118 4,130 172,619

經營溢利 Operating profit 1,183,230 610,761 339,585 (123,974) 350,110 (46,672) 2,313,040

融資成本淨額（附註38） Finance costs, net (Note 38) (278,760) (101,377) (39,992) (464,249) 10,961 (96,675) (970,092)
應佔使用權益法入賬的
投資（虧損）╱溢利
（附註14）

Share of (loss)/profit of investments 
accounted for using the equity 
method (Note 14) (37,943) (223) 456 200,130 62,072 3,125 227,617

所得稅開支（附註40） Income tax expense (Note 40) (86,886) (55,065) (75,617) (84,649) (149,624) 87 (451,754)
本年度溢利 Profit for the year 779,641 454,096 224,432 (472,742) 273,519 (140,135) 1,118,811

－物業、廠房及設備
折舊（附註37）

– Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment (Note 37) 971,749 274,805 32,719 153,767 31,331 158,129 1,622,500

－土地使用權攤銷
（附註37）

– Amortisation of land use rights 
(Note 37) 18,676 5,763 732 18,789 189 7,737 51,886

－無形資產攤銷
（附註37）

– Amortisation of intangible assets 
(Note 37) 38,388 3,943 5,029 34,384 53 212 82,009

－其他非流動資產攤銷
（附註37）

– Amortisation of other non-current 
assets (Note 37) 5,293 2,050 12,002 17,958 6,390 337 44,030

－壞賬撥備（附註37） – Provision for bad debts (Note 37) 185,611 7,142 11,840 32,556 20,673 10,854 268,676
－陳舊存貨撥備（附註37） – Provision for inventory obsolescence 

(Note 37) 81,563 9,808 50,587 53,817 2,209 3,578 201,562
－應收客戶合約工程

款項撥備（附註37）
– Provision for amounts due from 

customers for contract work 
(Note 37) – – – 54,245 – – 54,245

         

* Segment resu l ts  represent  g ross pro f i t  deduct 
distribution costs and administrative expenses.

* 分部業績指毛利扣除銷售費用及行政
開支。
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
An analysis of the Group’s segment information is as 
follows: (continued)

截至二零一六年十二月三十一日止年度
Year ended 31 December 2016

FPD產品
製造與銷售

PCB互聯產品
製造與銷售

零售與
消費品 貿易與物流 地產 其他 總計

Manufacture 
and Sales 

of 
FPD Products

Manufacture 
and Sales 

of PCB 
Products

Retails 
and 

Consumer 
Products

Trading 
and 

Logistics Real Estate Others Total
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

分部業績 Segment results RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
         

來自外部客戶的收入 Revenue from external customers 10,656,337 4,438,580 2,965,074 10,745,852 3,544,146 657,928 33,007,917
分部間收入 Inter-segment revenue – 74 4,989 1,229 – – 6,292
分部業績* Segment results* 162,900 338,306 168,884 (210,024) 7,709 15,315 483,090
其他收入 Other income 396,552 75,548 38,121 127,710 18,397 7,846 664,174
其他收益－淨額 Other gains-net (2,618) (16,765) (696) 32,817 (3,660) 458,488 467,566
投資物業公允價值收益 Fair value gain on investment 

properties 5,255 675 105,437 105,963 1,534 (6,426) 212,438
經營溢利 Operating profit 562,089 397,764 311,746 56,466 23,980 475,223 1,827,268

融資成本淨額 Finance costs, net 147,235 (80,069) (57,709) (101,379) (2,129) (157,808) (251,859)
應佔使用權益法入賬
的投資（虧損）╱溢利

Share of (loss)/profit of investments 
accounted for using the equity method (4,938) (195) 586 172,993 44,382 9,658 222,486

所得稅開支 Income tax expense (125,573) (25,104) (63,302) (98,395) (45,222) (152,327) (509,923)
本年度溢利 Profit for the year 578,813 292,396 191,321 29,685 21,011 174,746 1,287,972

－物業、廠房及設備折舊 – Depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment 1,083,820 292,738 134,421 148,178 47,120 64,478 1,770,755

－土地使用權攤銷 – Amortisation of land use rights 15,378 5,763 732 17,404 189 11,608 51,074
－無形資產攤銷 – Amortisation of intangible assets 40,265 4,475 968 19,182 102 136 65,128
－其他非流動資產攤銷 – Amortisation of other non-current 

assets 17,243 649 9,542 13,544 8,649 401 50,028
－壞賬撥備 – Provision for bad debts 10,612 3,695 10,188 44,717 21,391 472 91,075
－陳舊存貨撥備 – Provision for inventory obsolescence 97,022 32,916 19,190 (6,302) (93) – 142,733
－應收客戶合約工程

款項撥備
– Provision for amounts due from 

customers for contract work – – – 60,415 28,623 – 89,038
         

* Segment resu l ts  represent  g ross pro f i t  deduct 
distribution costs and administrative expenses.

6 分部資料（續）
本集團的分部資料分析如下：（續）

* 分部業績指毛利扣除銷售費用及行政
開支。
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6 分部資料（續）
本集團的分部資料分析如下：（續）

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
An analysis of the Group’s segment information is as 
follows: (continued)

於二零一七年十二月三十一日
As at 31 December 2017

FPD產品
製造與銷售

PCB互聯產品
製造與銷售

零售與
消費品 貿易與物流 地產 未分配 總計

Manufacture 
and Sales 

of FPD 
Products

Manufacture 
and Sales 

of PCB 
Products

Retails 
and 

Consumer 
Products

Trading 
and 

Logistics Real Estate Unallocated Total
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

分部資產 Segment assets RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
         

分部資產 Segment assets 33,096,461 6,683,917 3,609,704 17,012,760 7,320,615 3,225,580 70,949,037
使用權益法入賬的
投資（附註14）

Investments accounted for 
using the equity method (Note 14) 313,408 5,186 43,880 726,227 237,423 1,287,895 2,614,019

總資產 Total assets 33,409,869 6,689,103 3,653,584 17,738,987 7,558,038 4,513,475 73,563,056
總負債 Total liabilities 16,970,315 3,965,118 1,139,579 15,473,346 6,116,583 2,083,381 45,748,322
資本性支出 Capital expenditure 7,350,366 624,317 43,244 143,860 58,686 88,465 8,308,938

         

於二零一六年十二月三十一日
As at 31 December 2016

FPD產品
製造與銷售

PCB互聯產品
製造與銷售

零售與
消費品 貿易與物流 地產 未分配 總計

Manufacture 
and Sales 

of FPD 
Products

Manufacture 
and Sales 

of PCB 
Products

Retails 
and 

Consumer 
Products

Trading 
and 

Logistics Real Estate Unallocated Total
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

分部資產 Segment assets RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
         

分部資產 Segment assets 25,263,774 4,599,821 3,751,498 17,380,671 6,234,663 3,025,167 60,255,594
使用權益法入賬的投資 Investments accounted for 

using the equity method 330,351 5,409 43,424 686,479 432,107 3,027,373 4,525,143
總資產 Total assets 25,594,125 4,605,230 3,794,922 18,067,150 6,666,770 6,052,540 64,780,737
總負債 Total liabilities 9,652,552 3,330,667 1,572,809 15,659,357 5,246,642 3,952,197 39,414,224
資本性支出 Capital expenditure 3,033,750 390,587 125,695 434,452 6,742 189,509 4,180,735
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收入乃按客戶所在國家進行分配。

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
The Group entities are principally domiciled in the PRC. 
The result of its revenue from external customers in PRC 
and other countries and districts are disclosed as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

收入 Revenue
中國內地 Mainland China 19,684,369 16,114,341

香港 Hong Kong 1,184,130 1,306,007

歐美 Europe and America 4,379,738 4,066,993

東亞及東南亞 East Asia and Southeast Asia 6,462,261 4,625,314

其他 Others 4,871,181 6,895,262
    

綜合損益表收入總額 Total revenue per consolidated statement 
of profit or loss

36,581,679 33,007,917

    

Revenue is allocated based on the country in which 
customers are located.

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

除金融工具及遞延稅項
資產外非流動資產總額

Total of non-current assets other 
than financial instruments and 
deferred tax assets

中國內地 Mainland China 29,810,726 22,803,833

香港 Hong Kong 110,607 77,639

歐美 Europe and America 631,615 574,217

東亞及東南亞 East Asia and Southeast Asia 128,806 300,230

其他 Others 150,012 369,570
    

30,831,766 24,125,489

使用權益法入賬的投資 Investments accounted for using the 
equity method 2,614,019 4,525,143

    

33,445,785 28,650,632
    

6 分部資料（續）
本集團各實體主要位於中國。其來自中
國以及其他國家及地區的外部客戶的收
入披露如下：
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6 分部資料（續） 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

資本性支出 Capital expenditure
中國內地 Mainland China 8,104,052 3,688,798

香港 Hong Kong 892 396

歐美 Europe and America 43,003 32,793

其他 Others 160,991 458,748
    

8,308,938 4,180,735
    

Capital expenditure is allocated based on where the 
assets are located.

Revenue consists of the following:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

按類別分類的收入分析 Analysis of revenue by category
貨品銷售 Sale of goods 28,994,539 25,016,044

建築合約收益 Revenue from construction contracts 6,806,673 7,279,812

租金收入 Rental income 351,422 283,687

服務收入 Services income 206,726 200,734

其他 Others 222,319 227,640
    

綜合損益表收入總額 Total revenue per consolidated statement 
of profit or loss 36,581,679 33,007,917

    

The Group has a large number of customers, none of 
which contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue 
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

資本性支出按資產所在地進行分配。

收入細分如下：

本集團客戶眾多，概無客戶佔本集團
截至二零一七年及二零一六年十二月
三十一日止年度的收入10%或以上。
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7 LAND USE RIGHTS

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

於一月一日的賬面淨值 Net book value at 1 January 2,195,136 2,195,127

添置 Additions 9,993 93,335

自在建工程轉撥 Transfer from construction-in-progress – 107,243

收購一間附屬公司 Acquisition of a subsidiary – 13,799

攤銷 Amortisation (51,886) (51,074)

出售 Disposal (2,794) –

出售附屬公司 Disposal of subsidiaries – (163,294)
    

於十二月三十一日的賬面淨值 Net book value at 31 December 2,150,449 2,195,136
    

Amort isat ion charges o f RMB51,886,000 (2016: 
RMB51,074,000) were included in the administrative 
expenses.

The Group’s land use rights are in mainland China. 
The respective land use rights in mainland China were 
granted for periods of 30-50 years from the date of 
grant.

As at 31 December 2017, certain bank borrowings 
were secured by the land use rights of the Group 
with net book value totalling RMB375,821,000 (2016: 
RMB200,327,000). Details of the secured borrowings are 
in Note 29(a).

7 土地使用權

攤銷支出人民幣51,886,000元（二零一六
年：人民幣51,074,000元）已計入行政開
支。

本集團的土地使用權均位於中國內地。
位於中國內地的有關土地使用權的使用
期自授出之日起計30至50年。

於二零一七年十二月三十一日，若干銀
行借款由本集團賬面淨值合共人民幣
375,821,000元（二零一六年：人民幣
200,327,000元）的土地使用權作抵押。
抵押借款的詳情載於附註29(a)。
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8 GOODWILL

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

於一月一日 As at 1 January 960,054 945,168

收購一間附屬公司 Acquisition of a subsidiary – 1,384

外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences 29,289 13,502
    

於十二月三十一日 As at 31 December 989,343 960,054
    

Goodwill mainly arose from the acquisition of 69.77% 
interest of AVIC Weihai Shipyard Company Limited 
(“Weihai Shipyard”) (中航威海船廠有限公司) in 2011, 
100% interest of Deltamarin Oy (“Deltamarin”) in 2013, 
89.02% interest of KHD Wedag Internat ional AG 
(“KHD”) in 2014, and 90% interest of Wuhan Tianma 
Microelectronics Co., Ltd (“Wuhan Tianma”) in 2014.

Goodwill is classified under the Trading and Logistics 
segment. The recoverable amount of other CGUs is 
determined based on value-in-use calculations. Those 
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on 
financial forecasts prepared by management covering a 
five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period 
are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated 
below.

8 商譽

商譽主要源自於二零一一年收購中航威
海船廠有限公司（「威海船廠」）69.77%股
權、於二零一三年收購德他馬林船舶設
計公司（「德他馬林」）全部股權、於二零
一四年收購KHD Wedag International AG 
（「KHD」） 89.02%股權及於二零一四年
收購武漢天馬微電子有限公司（「武漢天
馬」）90%股權。

商譽歸類於貿易與物流分部項下。其他
現金產生單位的可收回金額基於使用價
值計算。有關計算按管理層所編製涵蓋
五年期的財務預測採用稅前現金流量預
測進行。超過五年期的現金流量採用以
下所述的估計增長率推算。
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8 GOODWILL (continued)
The key assumptions used for fair value less costs to sell 
and value-in-use calculations are as follows:

威海船廠
Weihai 

Shipyard
德他馬林

Deltamarin KHD

武漢天馬
Wuhan 
Tianma

其他
Others

       

賬面值（人民幣千元） Carrying amount (RMB’000) 227,107 114,048 350,300 261,482 36,406

年收益增長率 Annual revenue growth rates 3.00% 3.50% 3.00% 2.00% 0.00%-3.00%

邊際利潤 Gross margins 17.80% 7.00%-9.00% 13.18% 12.00% 17.00%

年貼現率 Annual discount rates 20.67% 15.74% 17.47% 14.94% 14.97%-16.42%
       

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of 
each CGU within the operating segment.

Management determined budgeted gross margins based 
on past performance and its expectations of market 
development. The weighted average revenue growth 
rates used are consistent with the forecasts included 
in industry reports. The discount rates used are pre-tax 
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant operating 
segments.

The d i rectors o f  the Company cons ider that no 
impairment charge was required after performing the 
impairment assessment.

If the estimated future cash flows had been 10% lower 
than management’s estimates as at 31 December 
2017 and 2016, the Group would have recognised 
RMB96,050,000 impairment loss on the goodwill (2016: 
RMB207,207,000).

If the discount rate had increased 1% as at 31 December 
2017 and 2016, the Group would have recognised 
RMB247,030,000 impairment loss on the goodwill (2016: 
RMB290,204,000).

8 商譽（續）
用作公允價值減銷售成本及使用價值計
算的主要假設如下：

此等假設已用於分析經營分部內各現金
產生單位。

管理層根據過往表現及其對市場發展的
預期釐定預算邊際利潤。所採用的加權
平均收益增長率與業界報告所載預測一
致。所採用的貼現率為稅前貼現率，並
反映與有關經營分部相關的特定風險。

經進行減值評估後，本公司董事認為毋
須計提減值支出。

倘估計未來現金流量較於二零一七年及
二零一六年十二月三十一日管理層的估
計低10%，則本集團可確認商譽減值虧
損人民幣96,050,000元（二零一六年：人
民幣207,207,000元）。

倘於二零一七年及二零一六年十二月
三十一日貼現率增加1%，則本集團可確
認商譽減值虧損人民幣247,030,000元
（二零一六年：人民幣290,204,000元）。
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9 無形資產 9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

電腦軟體
Computer 

software

商標及許可證
Trademark 

and licenses

海域使用權
Maritime 

rights of use
專利

Patents

客戶關係
Customer 

relationships
其他

Others
總計

Total
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
         

於二零一七年一月一日 At 1 January 2017
成本 Cost 328,747 226,429 25,670 414,397 256,248 5,943 1,257,434
累計攤銷及減值 Accumulated amortisation and 

impairment (220,353) (3,922) (9,835) (96,786) (51,132) (3,043) (385,071)
         

賬面淨值 Net book amount 108,394 222,507 15,835 317,611 205,116 2,900 872,363
         

截至二零一七年
十二月三十一日止年度

Year ended 31 December 2017

年初賬面淨值 Opening net book amount 108,394 222,507 15,835 317,611 205,116 2,900 872,363
匯兌差額 Exchange differences 343 14,625 – 10,505 14,720 – 40,193
添置 Additions 52,899 233 – 561 – – 53,693
內部發展 Internal development 573 – – – – – 573
出售 Disposals (113) – – – – – (113)
攤銷支出 Amortisation charge (30,734) (1,940) (1,216) (26,539) (21,411) (169) (82,009)

         

年末賬面淨值 Closing net book amount 131,362 235,425 14,619 302,138 198,425 2,731 884,700
         

於二零一七年
十二月三十一日

At 31 December 2017

成本 Cost 382,449 241,287 25,670 425,463 270,968 5,943 1,351,780
累計攤銷及減值 Accumulated amortisation 

and impairment (251,087) (5,862) (11,051) (123,325) (72,543) (3,212) (467,080)
         

賬面淨值 Net book amount 131,362 235,425 14,619 302,138 198,425 2,731 884,700
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9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

電腦軟體
Computer 

software

商標及許可證
Trademark 

and licenses

海域使用權
Maritime 

rights of use
專利

Patents

客戶關係
Customer 

relationships
其他

Others
總計
Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

         

於二零一六年一月一日 At 1 January 2016
成本 Cost 308,637 220,106 25,670 284,936 249,463 5,943 1,094,755

累計攤銷及減值 Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment (185,152) (2,276) (8,619) (73,617) (47,405) (2,874) (319,943)

         

賬面淨值 Net book amount 123,485 217,830 17,051 211,319 202,058 3,069 774,812
         

截至二零一六年
十二月三十一日止年度

Year ended 
31 December 2016

年初賬面淨值 Opening net book amount 123,485 217,830 17,051 211,319 202,058 3,069 774,812

匯兌差額 Exchange differences 1,207 6,323 – 7,443 6,785 – 21,758

添置 Additions 14,594 – – 122,018 – – 136,612

內部發展 Internal development 4,309 – – – – – 4,309

攤銷支出 Amortisation charge (35,201) (1,646) (1,216) (23,169) (3,727) (169) (65,128)
         

年末賬面淨值 Closing net book amount 108,394 222,507 15,835 317,611 205,116 2,900 872,363
         

於二零一六年
十二月三十一日

At 31 December 
2016

成本 Cost 328,747 226,429 25,670 414,397 256,248 5,943 1,257,434

累計攤銷及減值 Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment (220,353) (3,922) (9,835) (96,786) (51,132) (3,043) (385,071)

         

賬面淨值 Net book amount 108,394 222,507 15,835 317,611 205,116 2,900 872,363
         

Amortisation charges was included in the administrative 
expenses for the year.

9 無形資產（續）

攤銷支出已計入本年度行政開支。
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10 物業、廠房及設備 10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

二零一七年
2017

土地及樓宇
Land and 
buildings

租賃物業裝修
Leasehold 

Improvements

機器及設備
Machinery and 

equipment

汽車
Motor 

Vehicles

電腦及
電子設備

Computer 
and electronic 

equipment

其他設備
Other 

equipment
總額

Total
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
         

截至二零一七年
十二月三十一日止年度

Year ended 
31 December 2017

成本 Cost
年初 At beginning of year 8,828,151 559,471 13,503,431 194,129 550,380 229,434 23,864,996
自在建工程轉撥
（附註12）

Transfer from construction-in-
progress (Note 12) 316,763 – 1,076,388 1,697 87,543 34,213 1,516,604

添置 Additions 186,181 56,379 274,286 10,831 50,583 24,548 615,708
轉撥至投資物業
（附註11）

Transfer to investment 
properties (Note 11) (88,433) – – – – – (88,433)

出售附屬公司
（附註43(e)）

Disposals of subsidiaries 
(Note 43(e)) (211) – (1,834) – – (5,688) (7,733)

轉撥至在建工程
（附註12）

Transfer to construction-in-
progress (Note 12) – – (616) – – – (616)

其他出售（附註43(b)） Other disposals (Note 43(b)) (48,761) – (146,402) (20,029) (13,193) (8,654) (237,039)
匯兌差額 Exchange differences (25,178) – (14,289) (8,156) (2,225) 532 (49,316)

         

年末 At end of year 9,168,512 615,850 14,690,964 178,472 673,088 274,385 25,614,171
         

累積折舊 Accumulated depreciation
年初 At beginning of year 1,529,873 427,808 7,768,718 143,592 337,366 118,064 10,325,421
本年度計提 Charge for the year 306,132 72,957 1,112,542 18,258 62,543 37,168 1,622,500
轉撥至投資物業
（附註11）

Transfer to investment 
properties (Note 11) (15,788) – – – – – (15,788)

出售附屬公司
（附註43(e)）

Disposals of subsidiaries 
(Note 43(e)) (211) – (1,553) – – (5,579) (7,343)

轉撥至在建工程
（附註12）

Transfer to construction-in-
progress (Note 12) – – (209) – – – (209)

其他出售（附註43(b)） Other disposals (Note 43(b)) (44,177) – (42,216) (17,872) (11,763) (6,654) (122,682)
匯兌差額 Exchange differences (19,450) – (10,238) (890) (1,863) 508 (31,933)

         

年末 At end of year 1,756,379 500,765 8,827,044 143,088 386,283 143,507 11,769,966
         

減值 Impairment
年初 At beginning of year 5,524 – 13,114 74 301 10 19,023
其他出售（附註43(b)） Other disposals (Note 43(b)) – – (3,269) – – – (3,269)
本年度計提 Charge for the year – – 1,834 – – – 1,834

         

年末 At end of year 5,524 – 11,679 74 301 10 17,588
         

賬面淨值 Net book amount

年末 At end of year 7,406,609 115,085 5,852,241 35,310 286,504 130,868 13,826,617
         

年初 At beginning of year 7,292,754 131,663 5,721,599 50,463 212,713 111,360 13,520,552
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(continued)

二零一六年
2016

土地及樓宇
Land and 
buildings

租賃物業裝修
Leasehold 

Improvements

機器及設備
Machinery and 

equipment

汽車
Motor 

Vehicles

電腦及
電子設備

Computer 
and electronic 

equipment

其他設備
Other 

equipment
總額
Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

         

截至二零一六年
十二月三十一日止年度

Year ended 
31 December 2016

成本 Cost
年初 At beginning of year 7,536,022 467,426 12,917,388 189,062 491,119 177,199 21,778,216
自在建工程轉撥 Transfer from construction-in-

progress 1,361,969 – 423,060 279 18,612 3,544 1,807,464
收購一間附屬公司 Acquisition of a subsidiary 23,928 – 77 – 11 – 24,016
添置 Additions 149,512 92,045 383,739 12,290 74,309 34,001 745,896
轉撥至投資物業 Transfer to investment 

properties (38,499) – – – – – (38,499)
出售附屬公司 Disposals of subsidiaries (215,873) – (52,810) – (969) (2,099) (271,751)
其他出售 Other disposals (2,848) – (184,274) (9,306) (38,663) (11,143) (246,234)
匯兌差額 Exchange differences 13,940 – 16,251 1,804 5,961 27,932 65,888

         

年末 At end of year 8,828,151 559,471 13,503,431 194,129 550,380 229,434 23,864,996
         

累積折舊 Accumulated depreciation
年初 At beginning of year 1,300,996 321,546 6,634,687 123,162 306,579 107,974 8,794,944
收購一間附屬公司 Acquisition of a subsidiary 287 – 2 – 1 – 290
本年度計提 Charge for the year 284,320 106,262 1,277,818 25,470 59,519 17,366 1,770,755
轉撥至投資物業 Transfer to investment 

properties (2,101) – – – – – (2,101)
出售附屬公司 Disposals of subsidiaries (57,207) – (18,239) – (249) – (75,695)
其他出售 Other disposals (2,966) – (134,560) (7,644) (33,863) (7,736) (186,769)
匯兌差額 Exchange differences 6,544 – 9,010 2,604 5,379 460 23,997

         

年末 At end of year 1,529,873 427,808 7,768,718 143,592 337,366 118,064 10,325,421
         

減值 Impairment
年初 At beginning of year 5,524 – 11,521 74 301 10 17,430
其他出售 Other disposals – – (1,565) – – – (1,565)
本年度計提 Charge for the year – – 3,158 – – – 3,158

         

年末 At end of year 5,524 – 13,114 74 301 10 19,023
         

賬面淨值 Net book amount

年末 At end of year 7,292,754 131,663 5,721,599 50,463 212,713 111,360 13,520,552
         

年初 At beginning of year 6,229,502 145,880 6,271,180 65,826 184,239 69,215 12,965,842
         

10 物業、廠房及設備（續）
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10 物業、廠房及設備（續）

(a) 本集團的物業、廠房及設備按歷
史成本列賬。

(b) 折舊費在以下分類中資本化或支
銷：

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(continued)
(a) The property, plant and equipment of the Group 

were stated at historical cost.

(b) Depreciation charge was capitalised or expensed 
in the following categories:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

銷貨成本 Cost of goods sold 1,285,222 1,379,550

行政開支 Administrative expenses 285,969 343,800

在建工程 Construction in progress 2,060 11,365

銷售費用 Distribution costs 49,249 36,040
    

1,622,500 1,770,755
    

The Group’s buildings are mainly situated in the mainland 
China.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, certain bank 
borrowings were secured by the property, plant and 
equipment with net book value of RMB1,167,465,000 
(2016: RMB942,810,000) (Note 29 (a)).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group was still in the 
progress of obtaining t it le cert i f icates of bui ldings 
with a net book value of RMB400,572,000 (2016: 
RMB237,812,000).

本集團的樓宇主要位於中國內地。

於二零一七年及二零一六年十二
月三十一日，若干銀行借款由賬
面淨值為人民幣 1,167,465,000
元（ 二 零 一 六 年 ： 人 民 幣
942,810,000元）的物業、廠房及
設備（附註29(a)）作抵押。

於二零一七年十二月三十一日，
本集團仍在辦理賬面淨值為人民
幣400,572,000元（二零一六年：
人民幣237,812,000元）的樓宇產
權證。
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11 投資物業 11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

按公允價值 At fair value

一月一日期初結餘 Opening balance at 1 January 1,968,682 2,321,920

自物業、廠房及設備轉撥 Transfer from property, plant and equipment 316,826 36,963

－轉撥物業、廠房及設備的
賬面淨值（附註10）

– Net book value of property, plant and 
equipment transferred (Note 10) 72,645 36,398

－轉撥自物業、廠房及設備
的收益重新估值

– Revaluation gains upon transfer from 
property, plant and equipment 244,181 565

自在建工程轉撥 Transfer from construction-in-process – 218,696

－轉撥在建工程的
賬面淨值

– Net book value of construction-in-process 
transferred – 212,180

－轉撥在建工程的收益
重新估值

– Revaluation gains upon transfer from 
construction-in-process – 6,516

公允價值調整淨收益 Net gain from fair value adjustment 172,619 212,438

出售一間附屬公司 Disposal of a subsidiary – (821,335)
    

十二月三十一日期末結餘 Closing balance at 31 December 2,458,127 1,968,682
    

(a) Amounts recognised in profit and loss for 
investment properties were as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

租金收入 Rental income 181,699 174,599

產生租金收入的物業的
直接經營開支

Direct operating expenses from 
properties that generated rental 
income (38,316) (53,550)

    

143,383 121,049
    

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no 
unprovided contractual obligations for future 
repairs and maintenance (31 December 2016: Nil).

(a) 於損益確認的投資物業金額如下：

於二零一七年十二月三十一日，
本集團概無未來維修及保養的未
撥備合約責任（二零一六年十二月
三十一日：無）。
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11 投資物業（續）
(b) 租賃安排

若干投資物業透過長期經營租賃
出租予承租人，承租人每月支付
租金。

根據不可撤銷經營租賃，未在綜
合財務報表中確認的投資物業最
低應收租賃款額如下：

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
(b) Leasing arrangements

Certain investment properties have been leased 
to tenants under long-term operating leases with 
rentals payable monthly.

Minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable 
operat ing leases o f  investment proper t ies 
not recognised in the consol idated f inancial 
statements are as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

一年以內 Not later than one year 187,819 195,558
一年以上及五年以內 Later than one year and not later 

than five years 333,505 405,140
五年以上 Later than five years 58,159 57,385

    

579,483 658,083
    

The investment propert ies of the Group are 
situated in the PRC.

(c) Fair values of investment properties
An independent  va lua t ion o f  the Group ’s 
investment properties has been performed by 
valuer, China United Assets Appraisal Company 
L imi ted, to determine the fa i r  va lue of the 
investment properties as at 31 December 2017 
and 2016. The revaluation gain is included in ‘fair 
value gain on investment properties’. The following 
table analyses the investment properties carried at 
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels 
have been defined as follows:

• Quoted pr ices (unadjusted) in act ive 
markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(Level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included 
within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 
prices) (Level 2).

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not 
based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

本集團的投資物業均位於中國。

(c) 投資物業的公允價值
本集團的投資物業已由估值師中
聯資產評估有限公司進行獨立估
值，以釐定該等投資物業於二
零一七年及二零一六年十二月
三十一日的公允價值。重估收益
計入「投資物業公允價值收益」。
下表按估值法分析以公允價值列
賬的投資物業。不同級別定義如
下：

• 同類資產或負債於活躍市
場上的報價（未經調整）（第
一級）。

• 除第一級所包括的報價
外，資產或負債的可直接
（即價格）或間接（即從價格
得出）觀察所得輸入值（第
二級）。

• 並非根據可觀察市場數據
釐定的資產或負債輸入值
（即不可觀察輸入值）（第三
級）。
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11 投資物業（續）
(c) 投資物業的公允價值（續）

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
(c) F a i r  v a l u e s  o f  i n v e s t m e n t  p r o p e r t i e s 

(continued)

於二零一七年十二月三十一日
使用以下各項計量公允價值
Fair value measurements 

at 31 December 2017 using

同類資產
於活躍

市場上的
報價（第一級）

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets for 

identical 
assets 

(Level 1)

其他重大
可觀察輸入值
（第二級）

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs 

(Level 2)

重大不可
觀察輸入值
（第三級）

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

（人民幣千元） （人民幣千元） （人民幣千元）
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)

     

投資物業 Investment properties

－辦公樓宇－中國 – Office buildings – PRC – 957,375 993,177
－生產地－中國 – Manufacturing sites – PRC – – 469,273
－住宅－中國 – Dwelling houses – PRC – 30,555 7,747

     

– 987,930 1,470,197
     

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into 
and transfer out of fair value hierarchy levels as of 
the date of the event or change in circumstances 
that caused the transfer.

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 
during the year.

本集團的政策為於發生導致轉撥
的事件或情況變動當日確認公允
價值層級的轉入及轉出。

於年內，第一級、第二級及第三
級之間並無轉撥。
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11 投資物業（續）
(c) 投資物業的公允價值（續）

採用重大不可觀察輸入值計量的
公允價值（第三級）

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
(c) F a i r  v a l u e s  o f  i n v e s t m e n t  p r o p e r t i e s 

(continued)
Fa i r  va lue measurements us ing s ign i f icant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3)

辦公樓宇
Office 

buildings

生產地
Manufacturing 

sites

住宅
Dwelling 

houses
（人民幣千元） （人民幣千元） （人民幣千元）

(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
     

於二零一七年一月一日 As at 1 January 2017 857,504 456,298 6,397
公允價值調整淨收益 Net gains from fair value 

adjustment 90,706 12,975 1,350
添置 Additions 44,967 – –

     

於二零一七年
十二月三十一日

As at 31 December 2017
993,177 469,273 7,747

     

本年度計入年末所持
資產溢利「投資物業
公允價值收益」項下
的總收益

Total gains for the year included in 
profit for assets held at the end 
of the year, under ‘fair value gain 
on investment properties’ 90,706 12,975 1,350

     

本年度計入年末所持
資產溢利的未變現
收益變動

Change in unrealised gains for 
the year included in profit for 
assets held at the end of the 
year 90,706 12,975 1,350
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11 投資物業（續）
(c) 投資物業的公允價值（續）

採用重大不可觀察輸入值計量的
公允價值（第三級）（續）

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
(c) F a i r  v a l u e s  o f  i n v e s t m e n t  p r o p e r t i e s 

(continued)
Fa i r  va lue measurements us ing s ign i f icant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (continued)

辦公樓宇
Office 

buildings

生產地
Manufacturing

sites

住宅
Dwelling 
houses

（人民幣千元） （人民幣千元） （人民幣千元）
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)

     

於二零一六年一月一日 As at 1 January 2016 1,398,174 440,856 33,689

公允價值調整淨收益 Net gains from fair value 
adjustment 6,655 15,442 254

添置 Additions 255,658 – –

出售一間附屬公司 Disposal of a subsidiary (802,983) – (27,546)
     

於二零一六年
十二月三十一日

As at 31 December 2016
857,504 456,298 6,397

     

本年度計入年末所持
資產溢利「投資物業
公允價值收益」項下
的總收益

Total gains for the year included in 
profit for assets held at the end 
of the year, under ‘fair value gain 
on investment properties’ 6,655 15,442 254

     

本年度計入年末所持
資產溢利的未變現
收益變動

Change in unrealised gains for 
the year included in profit for 
assets held at the end of the 
year 6,655 15,442 254

     

Valuation processes of the Group
The Group’s investment properties were valued at 
31 December 2017 by independent professionally 
qualified valuer who holds a recognised relevant 
p ro fess iona l  qua l i f i ca t i on and has recen t 
experience in the locations and segments of the 
investments properties valued. For all investment 
propert ies, their current use equates to the 
highest and best use.

本集團的估值過程
本集團的投資物業於二零一七年
十二月三十一日由合資格的獨立
專業估值師進行估值，該估值師
持有相關認可專業資格，且近期
曾於所估值投資物業的地點及分
部進行估值。所有投資物業均以
其目前最有效及最佳的方式使用。
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11 投資物業（續）
(c) 投資物業的公允價值（續）

本集團的估值過程（續）
本集團財務部設有一支團隊，專
責就財務報告目的審閱由獨立估
值師進行的估值。該團隊直接向
董事會報告。於二零一七年十二
月三十一日，該等物業的公允價
值已由中聯資產評估有限公司釐
定。

估值技術
就公允價值層級為第二級的投資
物業而言，估值採用銷售比較法
釐定。相鄰近的可資比較物業售
價就主要特徵（例如物業面積）等
差異作出調整。該估值方法的最
重要輸入值為每平方米的價格。

就公允價值層級為第三級的投資
物業而言，估值根據重大不可觀
察輸入值並使用貼現現金流量預
測釐定。該等輸入值包括：

未來租金
現金流入

根據物業實際地點、
類型及質量，並以任
何存在租賃的條款、
其他合約及外在憑證
作支持，例如類似物
業的現時市場租金；

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
(c) F a i r  v a l u e s  o f  i n v e s t m e n t  p r o p e r t i e s 

(continued)
Valuation processes of the Group (continued)
The Group’s f inance department includes a 
team that reviews the valuations performed by 
the independent valuer for financial reporting 
purposes. This team reports directly to the board 
of directors. As at 31 December 2017, the fair 
values of the properties have been determined by 
China United Assets Appraisal Company Limited.

Valuation techniques
For investment propert ies which fa i r  va lue 
hierarchy level is Level 2, the valuation was 
determined using the sale comparison approach. 
Sales prices of comparable properties in close 
proximity are adjusted for differences in key 
attr ibutes such as property s ize. The most 
significant input into this valuation approach is 
price per square meter.

For investment propert ies which fa i r  va lue 
hierarchy level is Level 3, the valuations were 
determined using discounted cash flow projections 
based on significant unobservable inputs. These 
inputs include:

Future rental cash 
inflows

Based on  t he  ac tua l 
location, type and quality 
of the propert ies and 
supported by the terms 
of any existence lease, 
o t h e r  c o n t r a c t s  a n d 
external evidence such 
as current market rents 
for similar properties;
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貼現率 反映現金流量金額及
時間不確定性的現時
市場評估；

估計空置率 根據任何現有租賃屆
滿後的現時及預計未
來市場狀況；

維修成本 包括就物業的預期可
使用年期而言維持其
用途的必要投資；

資本化率 根據物業的實際地
點、大小及質量，並
計及估值日期的市場
數據；

最終價值 計及有關維修成本、
空置率及市場租金的
假設。

於本年度，估值技術並無變動。

Discount rates Reflecting current market 
a s s e s s m e n t  o f  t h e 
uncertainty in the amount 
and timing of cash flows;

Estimated 
vacancy rates

Based on current and 
expected future market 
conditions after expiry of 
any current lease;

Maintenance costs I n c l u d i n g  n e c e s s a r y 
investments to maintain 
f u n c t i o n a l i t y  o f  t h e 
property for its expected 
useful life;

Capitalisation rates Based on actual location, 
size and quality of the 
propert ies and tak ing 
into account market data 
at the valuation date;

Terminal value T a k i n g  i n t o  a c c o u n t 
assumptions regarding 
m a i n t e n a n c e  c o s t s , 
v a c a n c y  r a t e s  a n d 
market rents.

The re  we re  no  changes  t o  t he  va l ua t i on 
techniques during the year.

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
(c) F a i r  v a l u e s  o f  i n v e s t m e n t  p r o p e r t i e s 

(continued)
Valuation techniques (continued)

11 投資物業（續）
(c) 投資物業的公允價值（續）

估值技術（續）
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12 在建工程 12 CONSTRUCTION-IN-PROGRESS

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

年初 At beginning of year 3,993,953 3,175,032

自物業、廠房及設備轉撥
（附註10）

Transfer from property, plant and equipment 
(Note 10) 407 –

轉撥至投資物業 Transfer to investment properties – (212,180)

添置(a) Additions (a) 7,773,472 2,948,933

轉撥至物業、廠房及設備
（附註10）

Transfer to property, plant and equipment 
(Note 10) (1,516,604) (1,807,464)

轉撥至土地使用權 Transfer to land use rights – (107,243)

轉撥至其他非流動資產 Transfer to other non-current assets (7,389) (3,125)
    

10,243,839 3,993,953
    

(a) Included in the addit ions were mainly costs 
incurred for the construction of production plants 
and improvement and renovation projects.

B a n k  l o a n  i n t e r e s t  c a p i t a l i s e d  i n  t h e 
cons t ruc t i on - i n -p rog ress  du r i ng  the  yea r 
amounted to RMB10,063,000 (Note 38) (2016: 
RMB54,966,000) and the capitalised interest rate 
was 4.89% per annum (2016: 2.67% per annum).

As at 31 December 2017, certain bank borrowings 
were secured by the construction-in-process with 
net book value of RMB27,042,000 (2016: Nil) 
(Note 29(a)).

(a) 添置主要包括建造生產廠房、改
造及翻新工程產生的成本。

年內，計入在建工程的資本化銀
行貸款利息為人民幣10,063,000
元（附註38）（二零一六年：人民
幣54,966,000元），資本化利率
為每年4.89%（二零一六年：每年
2.67%）。

於二零一七年十二月三十一日，
若干銀行借款由賬面淨值為人民
幣27,042,000元（二零一六年：
無）的在建工程（附註 29(a)）作
抵押。
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13 附屬公司
下表載列於二零一七年十二月三十一日
的主要附屬公司：

13 SUBSIDIARIES
The following is a list of principal subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2017:

附屬公司名稱
Name of subsidiary

已發行股本詳情╱
註冊資本
Particulars of issued 
share capital/
Registered capital

企業類別
Type of legal entity

註冊成立國家及
業務性質
Country of incorporation 
and nature of business

直接由本公司
持有的

普通股比例
Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares 
directly 

held by the 
Company

由本集團
持有的

普通股比例
Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares 
held by the 

Group

直接由非控股
股東權益
持有的

普通股比例
Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares 
directly 
held by 

non-
controlling 

interests
       

天馬微電子股份有限公司（「天馬」）(i)(a)
Tianma Microelectronics Co., Ltd. 

(“Tianma”) (i)(a)

人民幣1,401,098,744元
每股面值人民幣1元的
普通股

RMB1,401,098,744 
Ordinary shares of 
RMB1 each

股份公司（於深圳證券
交易所上市）

Joint stock company 
(listed on the Shenzhen 
Stock Exchange)

中國深圳
製造及銷售液晶顯示器
Shenzhen, PRC
Manufacture and sales of liquid 

crystal displays

20.81% 20.81% 79.19%

深南電路股份有限公司（「深南電路」）(ii)(c)
Shennan Circuit Co., Ltd. (“SCC”) (ii)(c)

人民幣280,000,000元
每股面值人民幣1元的
普通股

RMB280,000,000 
Ordinary shares of 
RMB1 each

股份公司（於深圳證券交易
所上市）

Joint stock company 
(listed on the Shenzhen 
Stock Exchange)

中國深圳
製造及銷售印刷電路板
Shenzhen, PRC 
Manufacture and sales of printed 

circuit boards

69.74% 69.74% 30.26%

飛亞達（集團）股份有限公司
（「飛亞達」）(i)(b)

Fiyta Holdings Limited (“Fiyta”) (i)(b)

人民幣438,744,881元
每股面值人民幣1元的
普通股

RMB438,744,881 
Ordinary shares of 
RMB1 each

股份公司（於深圳證券
交易所上市）

Joint stock company 
(listed on the Shenzhen 
Stock Exchange)

中國深圳
製造及銷售鐘錶
Shenzhen, PRC 
Manufacture and sales of watches 

and clocks

37.15% 37.15% 62.85%

廣東國際大廈實業有限公司（「廣東國際」）
Guangdong Industrial Building Company 

Limited (“GIB Company”)

人民幣150,000,000元
RMB150,000,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國廣州
酒店及物業經營
Guangzhou, PRC 
Hotel and property operations

75% 75% 25%

深圳航空標準件有限公司（「航標公司」）
Shenzhen Aero Fasteners AFM Company 

Limited (“AFM Company”)

人民幣120,000,000元
RMB120,000,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國深圳
製造及銷售標準部件
Shenzhen, PRC 
Manufacture and sales of standard 

parts

100% 100% –
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附屬公司名稱
Name of subsidiary

已發行股本詳情╱
註冊資本
Particulars of issued 
share capital/
Registered capital

企業類別
Type of legal entity

註冊成立國家及
業務性質
Country of incorporation 
and nature of business

直接由本公司
持有的

普通股比例
Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares 
directly 

held by the 
Company

由本集團
持有的

普通股比例
Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares 
held by the 

Group

直接由非控股
股東權益
持有的

普通股比例
Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares 
directly 
held by 

non-
controlling 

interests
       

中國航空技術北京有限公司（「北京公司」）
China National Aero-Technology Beijing 

Company Limited (“Beijing Company”)

人民幣800,000,000元
RMB800,000,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國北京
貿易活動及製造船隻
Beijing, PRC 
Trading activities and shipbuilding

100% 100% –

中航技國際經貿發展有限公司
（「經貿公司」）

China National Aero-Technology Trade 
and Economy Development Company 
Limited (“TED Company”)

人民幣60,000,000元
RMB60,000,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國北京
買賣電子及電腦設備
以及招標管理

Beijing, PRC 
Trading of electronic and 

computer equipment and tender 
management

100% 100% –

中國航空技術廣州有限公司（「廣州公司」）
China National Aero-Technology 

Guangzhou Company Limited 
(“Guangzhou Company”)

人民幣300,000,000元
RMB300,000,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國廣州
機械車輛、醫療設備、
瀝青工程等貿易物流

Guangzhou, PRC 
Trading and logistics of machinery 

vehicles, medical facilities and 
bitumen engineering

100% 100% –

中國航空技術廈門有限公司（「廈門公司」）
China National Aero-Technology Xiamen 

Corporation (“Xiamen Company”)

人民幣550,000,000元
RMB550,000,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國廈門
船舶、石材等貿易物流
Xiamen, PRC 
Trading and logistics of shipping, 

stone materials

100% 100% –

中國航空技術國際工程有限公司
（「國際工程」）

China National Aero-Technology 
Engineering Company Limited 
(“Engineering Company”)

人民幣680,000,000元
RMB680,000,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國北京
建築業務、項目管理、房地產發展、
建築物料買賣及提供勞務服務

Beijing, PRC 
Construction activities, project 

management, Real estate 
development, construction material 
trade and rendering of labour 
service

100% 100% –

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)13 附屬公司（續）
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附屬公司名稱
Name of subsidiary

已發行股本詳情╱
註冊資本
Particulars of issued 
share capital/
Registered capital

企業類別
Type of legal entity

註冊成立國家及
業務性質
Country of incorporation 
and nature of business

直接由本公司
持有的

普通股比例
Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares 
directly 

held by the 
Company

由本集團
持有的

普通股比例
Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares 
held by the 

Group

直接由非控股
股東權益
持有的

普通股比例
Proportion 
of ordinary 

shares 
directly 
held by 

non-
controlling 

interests
       

北京中航瑞信投資管理有限公司
（「北京瑞信」）

Beijing AVIC Ruixin Investment 
Management Company Limited 
(“Beijing Ruixin”)

人民幣60,000,000元
RMB60,000,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國北京
房地產發展
Beijing, PRC 
Real estate development

90% 90% 10%

成都中航瑞賽置業有限公司（「成都瑞賽」）
Chengdu AVIC Raise Real Estate 

Company Limited (“Chengdu Raise”)

人民幣120,000,000元
RMB120,000,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國成都
房地產發展
Chengdu, PRC 
Real estate development

60% 60% 40%

中航國際新能源發展有限公司
（「新能源公司」）

AVIC International Renewable Energy 
Development Co., Ltd (“RED 
Company”)

人民幣100,000,000元
RMB100,000,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國北京
買賣再生能源設備
Beijing, PRC 
Trading of renewable energy 

equipment

100% 100% –

威海船廠
Weihai Shipyard

人民幣1,091,600,000元
RMB1,091,600,000

有限責任公司
Limited liability company

中國威海
製造船隻
Weihai, PRC 
Ship building

69.77% 69.77% 30.23%

中航國際船舶控股有限公司（「船舶公司」）
AVIC International Maritime Holdings 

Limited (“AVIC Maritime”)

285,576,000股無面值的
普通股

285,576,000 Ordinary 
shares and no par value

股份公司（於新加坡證券
交易所有限公司上市）

Joint stock company 
(listed on the Singapore 
Exchange Ltd)

新加坡製造船隻
Singapore, Ship building

73.87% 73.87% 26.13%

KHD 49,703,573股無面值的
普通股

49,703,573 Ordinary 
shares and no par value

股份公司（於法蘭克福
證券交易所上市）

Joint Stock company 
(listed on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange)

德國EPC項目
Germany, EPC Projects

89.02% 89.02% 10.98%

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)13 附屬公司（續）
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13 附屬公司（續）
(i) 於二零一七年十二月三十一日，

本公司、本公司控股公司中航國
際控股股份有限公司（「中航國
際」）及本公司主要股東中國航空
技術深圳有限公司（「中航深圳」）
分別持有天馬微電子股份有限公
司（「天馬」）20.81%、5.56%及
5.79%股權。其他股權由公眾股東
所持有。自二零一四年一月起，
本公司已與中航國際及中航深圳
訂立協議，內容關於中航國際及
中航深圳同意遵守本公司於天馬
的股東大會投票權。

於二零一七年十二月三十一日，
本公司持有飛亞達（集團）股份有
限公司（「飛亞達」）37.15%股權，
而其他股權由公眾股東所持有。

本公司董事認為，儘管其股權低
於半數，但本公司對天馬及飛亞
達擁有實際控制權，並因此於天
馬及飛亞達的投資計入綜合財務
報表的附屬公司，當中考慮的全
部事實及情況包括但不限於：a)與
天馬其他股東的合約安排；b)本集
團較其他單一股東擁有較多投票
權；c)其他股東的持股分散；d)過
往股東大會的出席及投票方式；
及e)本公司於天馬及飛亞達董事會
上佔大多數議席。

(ii) 深南電路發售新A股，並於二零
一七年十二月十三日於深圳證券
交易所上市。深南電路A股的發
行價為人民幣19.3元，深南電路
已發行股份數目為70,000,000股
A股。深南電路發售的所得款項
淨額為人民幣 1,269,961,000元
（附註43(a)）。深南電路已發行
股本面值為人民幣1.0元。本公
司於發售後直接持有的普通股比
率為69.74%。攤薄收益人民幣
441,616,000元已計入其他儲備。

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(i) As a t  31 December 2017,  the Company ,  AV IC 

I n t e r n a t i o n a l  H o l d i n g  C o r p o r a t i o n  ( t h e  “ A V I C 
International”), the holding company of the Company 
and AVIC International Shenzhen Company Limited 
(the “AVIC Shenzhen”), the major shareholder of the 
Company, held 20.81%, 5.56% and 5.79% equity 
interests of Tianma Microelectronics Co. Ltd. (the 
“Tianma”) respectively. The other equity interests were 
held by public shareholders. The Company has entered 
into an agreement with AVIC International and AVIC 
Shenzhen since January 2014 that AVIC International 
and AVIC Shenzhen agreed to follow the votes with the 
Company in Tianma’s shareholders’ meetings.

As at 31 December 2017, the Company held 37.15% 
equity interests in Fiyta Holdings Limited (the “Fiyta”) 
and the other equity interests were held by public 
shareholders.

The directors of the Company are in the view that the 
Group has de facto control over Tianma and Fiyta and 
therefore accounted for the investments in Tianma 
and Fiyta as subsidiaries in the consolidated financial 
statements despite its equity interests was below 50%, 
in consideration of all facts and circumstances including 
but not l imited to: a) The contractual arrangement 
with other shareholders of Tianma; b) The Group has 
more voting rights than any other single shareholder; c) 
There is a dispersion in holdings of other shareholders; 
d )  A t tendance and vot ing pat te rns a t  p rev ious 
shareholders’ meetings; and e) The Company has 
majority of the board seats in the board of Tianma and 
Fiyta.

(ii) SCC offered new A shares and was l isted on the 
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 13 December 2017. The 
issue price for the A Share of SCC was RMB19.3, and 
the number of issued shares of SCC was 70,000,000 
A shares. The net proceeds raised from the SCC 
offering was RMB1,269,961,000 (Note 43(a)). The par 
value of the issued share capital of SCC was RMB1.0. 
The proportion of ordinary shares directly held by the 
Company was 69.74% after the offering. The dilution 
gain, amounted to RMB441,616,000, was credited to 
other reserve.
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13 附屬公司（續）
非控股股東權益包含以下各項：

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
The non-controlling interests comprised the following:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

天馬 Tianma 11,288,137 10,749,717

飛亞達 Fiyta 1,822,659 1,711,718

深南電路 SCC 984,288 61,144

其他 Others 726,614 804,687
    

14,821,698 13,327,266
    

Set out below are the summarised financial information of 
each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are 
material to the Group.

(a) Tianma
Summarised balance sheet

於十二月三十一日
As at 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

流動 Current
資產 Assets 11,260,234 9,387,264

負債 Liabilities (10,213,476) (5,403,776)
    

流動資產總淨值 Total current net assets 1,046,758 3,983,488
    

非流動 Non-current
資產 Assets 18,433,820 12,310,491

負債 Liabilities (5,014,245) (2,532,880)
    

非流動資產總淨值 Total non-current net assets 13,419,575 9,777,611
    

淨資產 Net assets 14,466,333 13,761,099
    

下文載列擁有對本集團而言屬重大的非
控股股東權益的各附屬公司財務資料概
要。

(a) 天馬
資產負債表概要
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13 附屬公司（續）
(a) 天馬（續）

全面收益報表概要

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Tianma (continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

收入 Revenue 13,788,016 10,656,337

除所得稅前溢利 Profit before income tax 866,527 687,353

所得稅開支 Income tax expenses (86,886) (125,573)

其他全面收益 Other comprehensive income 7,301 25,514
    

全面總收益 Total comprehensive income 786,942 587,294
    

分配至非控股股東權益的
全面總收益

Total comprehensive income 
allocated to non-controlling 
interests 786,942 587,294

    

派付予非控股股東
權益的股息

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests – –
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13 附屬公司（續）
(a) 天馬（續）

現金流量表概要

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Tianma (continued)

Summarised statement of cash flows

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

營運活動產生的現金流量 Cash flows from operating 
activities

經營業務產生的現金 Cash generated from operations 2,120,259 1,124,795

已付利息 Interests paid (154,647) (63,721)

已付所得稅 Income tax paid (44,309) (80,467)
    

營運活動產生的現金淨額 Net cash generated from operating 
activities 1,921,303 980,607

投資活動所用的現金淨額 Net cash used in investing activities (7,331,806) (3,042,418)

融資活動產生╱（所用）的
現金淨額

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
financing activities 5,181,500 (954,897)

    

現金及現金等價物的
減少淨額

Net decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents (229,003) (3,016,708)

年初的現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of the year 4,459,278 7,333,914

現金及現金等價物匯兌收益 Exchange gain on cash and cash 
equivalents (72,769) 142,072

    

年末的現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
the year 4,157,506 4,459,278

    

The information above is the amount before inter-
company eliminations.

上述資料為未計及公司間對銷的
金額。
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13 附屬公司（續）
(b) 飛亞達

資產負債表概要

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) Fiyta

Summarised balance sheet

於十二月三十一日
As at 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

流動 Current
資產 Assets 2,427,899 2,827,632
負債 Liabilities (1,026,042) (1,508,668)

    

流動資產總淨值 Total current net assets 1,401,857 1,318,964
    

非流動 Non-current
資產 Assets 1,645,909 1,420,090
負債 Liabilities (204,051) (176,772)

    

非流動資產總淨值 Total non-current net assets 1,441,858 1,243,318
    

淨資產 Net assets 2,843,715 2,562,282
    

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

收入 Revenue 3,326,716 2,970,063
除所得稅前溢利 Profit before income tax 303,838 259,612
所得稅開支 Income tax expenses (75,617) (63,302)
其他全面收益 Other comprehensive income 255 5,618

    

全面總收益 Total comprehensive income 228,476 201,928
    

分配至非控股股東權益的
全面總收益

Total comprehensive income 
allocated to non-controlling 
interests 144,328 (325)

    

派付予非控股股東
權益的股息

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests – 43,875

    

全面收益報表概要
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13 附屬公司（續）
(b) 飛亞達（續）

現金流量表概要

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) Fiyta (continued)

Summarised statement of cash flows

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

營運活動產生的現金流量 Cash flows from operating 
activities

經營業務產生的現金 Cash generated from operations 652,819 565,353

已付利息 Interests paid (41,825) (64,923)

已付所得稅 Income tax paid (46,039) (44,671)
    

營運活動產生的現金淨額 Net cash generated from operating 
activities 564,955 455,759

投資活動所用的現金淨額 Net cash used in investing activities (126,466) (185,210)

融資活動所用的現金淨額 Net cash used in financing activities (680,511) (482,613)
    

現金及現金等價物的
減少淨額

Net decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents (242,022) (212,064)

年初的現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of the year 427,228 637,388

現金及現金等價物匯兌收益 Exchange gains on cash and cash 
equivalents (258) 1,904

    

年末的現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
the year 184,948 427,228

    

The information above is the amount before inter-
company eliminations.

上述資料為未計及公司間對銷的
金額。
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13 附屬公司（續）
(c) 深南電路

資產負債表概要

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(c) SCC

Summarised balance sheet

於十二月三十一日
As at 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

流動 Current
資產 Assets 3,885,443 1,829,254
負債 Liabilities (2,788,869) (1,919,085)

    

流動資產總淨額 Total current net assets 1,096,574 (89,831)
    

非流動 Non-current
資產 Assets 3,573,018 3,310,746
負債 Liabilities (1,491,192) (1,643,045)

    

非流動資產總淨值 Total non-current net assets 2,081,826 1,667,701
    

淨資產 Net assets 3,178,400 1,577,870
    

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

收入 Revenue 5,502,538 4,598,502
除所得稅前溢利 Profit before income tax 505,377 304,656
所得稅開支 Income tax expenses (55,065) 112
其他全面收益 Other comprehensive income – 274,573

    

全面總收益 Total comprehensive income 450,312 579,341
    

分配至非控股股東
權益的全面總收益

Total comprehensive income 
allocated to non-controlling 
interests 144,328 281

    

派付予非控股股東
權益的股息

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests – 1,527

    

全面收益報表概要
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13 附屬公司（續）
(c) 深南電路（續）

現金流量表概要

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(c) SCC (continued)

Summarised statement of cash flows

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

營運活動產生的現金流量 Cash flows from operating 
activities

經營業務產生的現金 Cash generated from operations 1,024,486 944,971

已付利息 Interests paid (85,267) (105,515)

已付所得稅 Income tax paid (43,215) (37,217)
    

營運活動產生的現金淨額 Net cash generated from operating 
activities 896,004 802,239

投資活動所用的現金淨額 Net cash used in investing activities (530,945) (489,108)

融資活動產生╱（所用）
的現金淨額

Net cash generated from/(used) in 
from financing activities 1,053,257 (253,680)

    

現金及現金等價物的增加
淨額

Net increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 1,418,316 59,451

年初的現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of the year 185,288 116,669

現金及現金等價物匯兌
（虧損）╱收益

Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and 
cash equivalents (10,305) 9,168

    

年末的現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
the year 1,593,299 185,288

    

The information above is the amount before inter-
company eliminations.

上述資料為未計及公司間對銷的
金額。
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14 使用權益法入賬的投資

於綜合資產負債表確認的金額如下：

14 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD
The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance 
sheet are as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

聯營公司(a) Associates (a) 2,531,094 2,670,333

合營企業(b) Joint ventures (b) 82,925 1,854,810
    

於十二月三十一日 At 31 December 2,614,019 4,525,143
    

Share of result of results of associates and joint ventures 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
are as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

聯營公司 Associates 224,776 471,908

合營企業 Joint ventures 2,841 (249,422)
    

227,617 222,486
    

綜合損益表中確認的應佔聯營公司及合
營企業的業績如下：
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14 使用權益法入賬的投資（續）

(a) 於聯營公司的投資

14 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
(a) Investment in associates

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

年初 At beginning of year 2,670,333 2,664,196

注資 Capital injection 8,600 31,755

轉撥自附屬公司 Transfer from subsidiaries 3,038 6,993

已收股息 Dividends received (159,610) (499,513)

應佔聯營公司溢利 Share of profits of associates 224,776 471,908

上游交易未變現溢利 Unrealised profits from upstream 
transaction 21,000 –

應佔聯營公司的儲備
（附註27）

Share of reserves of an associate 
(Note 27) (1,127) 3,128

出售於聯營公司的投資
(i)（附註43(c)）

Disposal of investments in associates 
(i) (Note 43(c)) (235,916) (8,134)

    

年末 At end of year 2,531,094 2,670,333
    

(i) The amount in 2017 represented the disposal of 
20% interests in Hangfa Investment Management 
Co., Ltd. (“Hangfa”) and other associates. 
The total proceed of the disposals amounted 
to RMB680,438,000. The disposal of Hangfa 
was arranged through a public tender process 
conducted on China Beijing Equity Exchange 
(“CBEE”) and completed in November 2017. 
The total disposal gain of RMB444,522,000 is 
included in Other gains – net (Note 36).

(i) 二零一七年的金額指出售航發
投資管理有限公司（「航發」）
20%權益及其他聯營公司。
出售事項的所得款項總額達人
民幣680,438,000元。出售航
發由北京產權交易所（「北京產
權交易所」）通過公開投標方
式進行，並於二零一七年十一
月完成。出售收益總額人民
幣444,522,000元計入其他收
益－淨額（附註36）。
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14 使用權益法入賬的投資（續）

(a) 於聯營公司的投資（續）
以下載列於二零一七年十二月
三十一日董事認為對本集團屬重
大的本集團聯營公司。下列聯營
公司有僅由普通股組成的股本，
直接由本集團持有；註冊成立或
註冊所在國亦為其主要營業地點。

於二零一七年及二零一六年於聯
營公司的重大投資性質：

14 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
(a) Investment in associates (continued)

Set out below are the associates of the Group 
as at 31 December 2017, which, in the opinion 
of the directors, are material to the Group. The 
associates as listed below have share capital 
consist ing sole ly of ordinary shares, which 
are held directly by the Group; the country of 
incorporation or registration is also their principal 
place of business.

Nature of material investment in associates in 
2017 and 2016:

實體名稱
Name of entity

營業地點╱
註冊成立國家
Place of business/
country of 
incorporation

企業類別
Type of legal entity

擁有權
權益百分比

% of 
ownership 

interest

關係性質
Nature of the 
relationship

計量方法
Measurement 
method

      

中航地產股份有限公司（「中航地產」）
AVIC Real Estate Company Limited 

(“AVIC Real Estate”)

中國，有限責任公司
PRC, Limited Liability 

company

股份公司（於深圳證券
交易所上市）

Joint stock company 
(listed on Shenzhen 
Stock Exchange)

22.35% 附註
Note

權益
Equity

Note: AVIC Real Estate is engaged in real estate 
deve l opmen t  and  p rov i s i on  o f  p rope r t y 
management services mainly in China.

As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of the 
Group’s interest in AVIC Real Estate, which is 
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, was 
RMB1,447,642,538 (2016: RMB1,827,816,000).

Other associates are private companies and 
there is no quoted market price available for their 
shares.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the 
Group’s interest in the associates.

附註： 中航地產主要於中國從事地產
開發及提供物業管理服務。

於二零一七年十二月三十一日，
本集團於中航地產（其於深圳證券
交易所上市）權益的公允價值為人
民幣1,447,642,538元（二零一六
年：人民幣1,827,816,000元）。

其他聯營公司為私人公司，其股
份並無市場報價。

概無與本集團於聯營公司的權益
有關的或然負債。
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14 使用權益法入賬的投資（續）

(a) 於聯營公司的投資（續）
資產負債表概要

14 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
(a) Investment in associates (continued)

Summarised balance sheet

二零一七年 二零一六年
中航地產 AVIC Real Estate 2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

流動 Current
現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents 2,070,669 1,956,273

其他流動資產 Other current assets 9,032,269 10,464,391
    

流動資產總值 Total current assets 11,102,938 12,420,664
    

金融負債（不包括貿易
應付款項）

Financial liabilities (excluding trade 
payables) 3,922,148 6,011,521

其他流動負債（包括貿易
應付款項）

Other current liabilities (including 
trade payables) 5,690,524 3,530,323

    

流動負債總額 Total current Liabilities 9,612,672 9,541,844
    

非流動 Non-current
資產 Assets 8,012,775 9,300,834

    

金融負債 Financial liabilities 4,127,119 5,183,820

其他非流動負債 Other non-current liabilities 775,742 2,266,407
    

非流動負債總額 Total non-current liabilities 4,902,861 7,450,227
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14 使用權益法入賬的投資（續）

(a) 於聯營公司的投資（續）
全面收益報表概要

14 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
(a) Investment in associates (continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

收入 Revenue 5,893,494 6,322,366

折舊及攤銷 Depreciation and amortisation 33,775 24,474

融資收入 Finance income 20,236 41,812

融資開支 Finance expense (394,979) (474,992)
    

除所得稅前溢利 Profit before income tax 259,872 298,745

所得稅開支 Income tax expenses (294,600) (159,834)
    

本年度（虧損）╱溢利 (Loss)/profit for the year (34,728) 138,911

其他全面收益 Other comprehensive income (2,941) 10,856
    

全面總收益 Total comprehensive income (37,669) 149,766
    

自中航地產收取的股息 Dividends received from AVIC Real 
Estate 10,436 7,454
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14 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
(a) Investment in associates (continued)

Reconci l ia t ion of the summar ised f inanc ia l 
information presented to the carrying amount of 
the Group’s interest in AVIC Real Estate:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

年初資產淨值 Net assets at beginning of the 
year 4,729,427 4,695,344

本年度（虧損）╱溢利 (Loss)/profit for the year (34,728) 138,911

－中航地產持有人應佔 – Attributable to the owners of AVIC 
Real Estate 151,290 163,008

－中航地產非控股股東
權益應佔

– Attributable to the non-controlling 
interests AVIC Real Estate (186,018) (24,097)

其他全面收益 Other comprehensive income (2,941) 10,856

與非控股股東權益交易 Transaction with non-controlling 
interests 1,107 (82,336)

股息 Dividends (92,685) (33,348)
    

期末資產淨值 Closing net assets 4,600,180 4,729,427

減：非控股股東權益 Less: non-controlling interests (420,122) (645,206)
    

中航地產權益持有人
應佔資產淨值

Net assets attributable to owners 
of AVIC Real Estate 4,180,058 4,084,221

    

於中航地產的權益
（二零一七年：22.35%；
二零一六年：22.35%）

Interest in AVIC Real Estate 
(2017: 22.35%; 
2016: 22.35%) 934,243 912,823

    

賬面值 Carrying value 934,243 912,823
    

14 使用權益法入賬的投資（續）

(a) 於聯營公司的投資（續）
所呈列財務資料概要與本集團於
中航地產權益的賬面值對賬：
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14 使用權益法入賬的投資（續）

(a) 於聯營公司的投資（續）
其他聯營公司的財務資料概要

14 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
(a) Investment in associates (continued)

Summar ised f inanc ia l  in format ion o f  o ther 
associates

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

其他聯營公司於綜合財務
報表的賬面總值

Total carrying amount of other 
associates in consolidated 
financial statements 1,596,851 1,757,510

    

其他聯營公司的本年度業績： Other associates’ results for the 
year:

本年度溢利 Profit for the year 190,963 435,476
    

全面總收益 Total comprehensive income 190,963 435,476
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14 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
(b) Investments in joint ventures

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

年初 At beginning of year 1,854,810 2,189,433

注資 Capital injection – 41,816

已收股息 Dividends received (1,447) (121,338)

應佔外幣折算差額 Share of currency translation 
differences (2,782) (5,679)

出售（附註43(d)） Disposals (Note 43(d)) (1,770,497) –

應佔合營企業溢利╱（虧損） Share of profits/(losses) of joint 
ventures 2,841 (249,422)

    

年末 At end of year 82,925 1,854,810
    

(i) During the year, the Group disposed of the 
47.12% equity interest in AVIC Vanke Limited 
Company, which is pr incipal ly engaged in 
real estate development and operation, land 
development, hotel and property management, 
investment and consultat ion services. The 
equity interest was sold to Hengqin Zhong 
Chang Sheng Qi Hang Investment Centre 
(Limited Partnership) (橫琴中長勝啟航投資中
心（有限合夥）). Total consideration amounted 
to RMB1,844,182,000 and the disposal was 
arranged through a publ ic tender process 
c o n d u c t e d  o n  C B E E  a n d  c o m p l e t e d  i n 
December 2017.

(ii) All joint ventures are private companies and 
there is no quoted market price available for 
their shares. Directors of the Company believe 
that these joint ventures are not material and 
have not separately disclosed their financial 
information.

14 使用權益法入賬的投資（續）

(b) 於合營企業的投資

(i) 年內，本集團出售中航萬科有
限公司47.12%股權，該公司
主要從事房地產開發及運營、
土地開發、酒店及物業管理、
投資及諮詢服務。股權出售給
橫琴中長勝啟航投資中心（有
限合夥）。代價總額為人民幣
1,844,182,000元，而出售事
項透過於北京產權交易所進行
公開招標過程安排，並於二零
一七年十二月完成。

(ii) 所有合營企業為私人公司，而
該等股份並無市場報價。本公
司董事相信，該等合營企業並
不重大，故並無個別披露其財
務資料。



280 AVIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

綜合財務報表附註
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
At 31 December 2017
Assets as per consolidated balance sheet

貸款及
應收款項

Loans and 
receivables

按公允價值
計量且其變動

計入損益
的資產

Assets at 
fair value 

through 
the profit 

& loss

可供出售
金融資產

Available-
for-sale

financial 
assets

總計
Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

可供出售金融資產（附註16） Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 16) – – 681,767 681,767
按公允價值計量且其變動計入
損益的金融資產（附註23）

Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss (Note 23) – 15,371 – 15,371

貿易及其他應收款項
（不包括非金融資產）

Trade and other receivables excluding non-
financial assets 13,489,617 – – 13,489,617

已抵押銀行存款（附註24） Pledged bank deposits (Note 24) 325,714 – – 325,714
現金及現金等價物（附註25） Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) 12,222,026 – – 12,222,026

      

總計 Total 26,037,357 15,371 681,767 26,734,495
      

15 按類別分類的金融工具
於二零一七年十二月三十一日
於綜合資產負債表所載資產
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15 按類別分類的金融工具（續）

於二零一六年十二月三十一日
於綜合資產負債表所載資產

15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 
(continued)
At 31 December 2016
Assets as per consolidated balance sheet

貸款及
應收款項

Loans and 
receivables

按公允價值
計量且其變動

計入損益
的資產

Assets at 
fair value 
through 

the profit 
& loss

可供出售
金融資產
Available-

for-sale
financial 

assets
總計
Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

可供出售金融資產 Available-for-sale financial assets – – 583,560 583,560

按公允價值計量且其變動
計入損益的金融資產

Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss – 2,901 – 2,901

貿易及其他應收款項
（不包括非金融資產）

Trade and other receivables excluding non-
financial assets 14,069,852 – – 14,069,852

已抵押銀行存款 Pledged bank deposits 937,562 – – 937,562

現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents 9,020,381 – – 9,020,381
      

總計 Total 24,027,795 2,901 583,560 24,614,256
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15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 
(continued)
Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet

按攤銷成本
計算的其他
金融負債

按攤銷成本
計算的其他
金融負債

Other 
financial 

liabilities at 
amortised 

cost

Other 
financial 

liabilities at 
amortised 

cost

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

借款 Borrowings 22,734,859 18,224,396

貿易及其他應付款項
（不包括非金融負債）

Trade and other payables excluding 
non-financial liabilities 14,013,720 12,969,247

其他非流動負債 Other non-current liabilities 75,673 80,332

其他流動負債 Other current liabilities 1,506 10,902
    

總計 Total 36,825,758 31,284,877
    

15 按類別分類的金融工具（續）

於綜合資產負債表所載負債
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16 A V A I L A B L E - F O R - S A L E  F I N A N C I A L 
ASSETS

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

非上市證券 Unlisted securities

股本證券 Equity securities 727,781 629,574

減：減值虧損撥備 Less: provision for impairment losses (46,014) (46,014)
    

681,767 583,560
    

All available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in 
RMB.

The fair value of unlisted companies are based on cash 
flows discounted using a rate based on the market 
interest rate and the risk premium specific to the unlisted 
companies. The fair values are within level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy (Note 4(d)(iii)).

None of these financial assets is past due but not 
impaired.

16 可供出售金融資產

所有可供出售金融資產均以人民幣列值。

非上市公司的公允價值乃根據有關非上
市公司的市場利率及風險溢價所貼現後
的現金流量計算。其公允價值為公允價
值層級第三級（附註4(d)(iii)）。

該等金融資產概無已逾期但未減值。
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17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

遞延稅項資產： Deferred tax assets:

－超過十二個月後撥回 – to be recovered after more than 
12 months 488,589 471,216

－十二個月內撥回 – to be recovered within 12 months 188,731 146,553
    

677,320 617,769
    

遞延稅項負債： Deferred tax liabilities:

－超過十二個月後結算 – to be settled after more than 12 months (729,467) (617,537)

－十二個月內結算 – to be settled within 12 months (8,042) –
    

(737,509) (617,537)
    

遞延稅項（負債）╱資產－淨額 Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets – net (60,189) 232
    

The net movements on the deferred income tax account 
are as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

年初 At beginning of year 232 (132,555)

於綜合損益表中計入
（附註40）

Credited to consolidated statement of 
profit or loss (Note 40) (14,491) (93,458)

出售附屬公司 Disposals of subsidiaries – 228,032

直接（計入）╱扣除自其他
全面收益中的稅項

Tax (credited)/charged directly to other 
comprehensive income (37,229) 3,855

外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences (8,701) (5,642)
    

年末 At end of year (60,189) 232
    

17 遞延所得稅

遞延所得稅項的淨變動如下：
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17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
Details of the income tax charge are shown in Note 40.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
during the year, without taking into consideration the 
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are 
as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

貿易及其他
應收款項的

減值虧損撥備
Provision 

for 

impairment 

losses on 

trade 

and other 

receivables

陳舊存貨撥備
Provision 

for inventory 

obsolescence

稅項虧損
Tax losses

政府補貼
Government 

grants

未變現溢利
Unrealised 

profits

應付薪金
以及退休及
其他補充
福利責任
Salaries 

payable and 

retirement 

and other 

supplemental 

benefit 

obligations

應計開支
Accrued 

expenses

其他
Others

總計
Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

           

於二零一六年一月一日 At 1 January 2016 69,293 57,798 297,947 114,459 95,298 37,225 1,271 23,189 696,480

（扣除自）╱計入
綜合損益表

(Charged)/Credited to the 

consolidated statement of 

profit or loss (3,052) (4,904) (65,285) (14,483) (16,647) (16,655) 8,236 16,470 (96,320)

直接計入其他
全面收益的稅項

Tax credited directly to other 

comprehensive income – – – – – 4,824 – – 4,824

外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences 2,949 2,460 12,682 4,872 4,056 1,584 1,041 – 29,644
           

於二零一六年
十二月三十一日

At 31 December 2016

69,190 55,354 245,344 104,848 82,707 26,978 10,548 39,659 634,628
           

計入╱（扣除自）
綜合損益表

Credited/(Charged) to the 

consolidated statement of 

profit or loss 12,417 1,288 (56,928) 59,378 (20,084) (21,435) (11,563) 12,114 (24,813)

直接扣除自其他全面
收益的稅項

Tax charged directly to other 

comprehensive income – – – – – (2,393) – – (2,393)

外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences 11,250 9,384 48,374 – 15,472 6,044 3,971 – 94,495
           

於二零一七年
十二月三十一日

At 31 December 2017

92,857 66,026 236,790 164,226 78,095 9,194 2,956 51,773 701,917
           

17 遞延所得稅（續）
所得稅開支的詳情載於附註40。

年內遞延稅項資產及負債（並無計及於同
一徵稅區內抵銷的結餘）的變動如下：

遞延稅項資產：
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17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities:

加速稅項折舊
Accelerated 

tax 

depreciation

可供出售
金融資產的

公允價值收益
Fair value 

gains of 

available-for-

sale financial 

assets

業務收購的
資產公允
價值收益

Fair value 

gain on 

assets 

acquired 

from business 

acquisition

投資物業的
公允價值變動

Fair value 

change on 

investment 

properties

自住物業
轉投資物業

Transfer of 

owner-

occupied 

property to 

investment 

properties

重新計量土地
使用權公允
價值收益

Fair value 

gain on 

remeasure 

land 

use-right

未確認
融資成本

Unrecognised 

financial 

cost

應計收入
Accrued 

income

總計
Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

          

於二零一六年
一月一日

At 1 January 2016

9,472 – 358,536 353,630 39,384 16,692 822 50,499 829,035

計入╱（扣除自）
綜合損益表

Credited/(Charged) to 

consolidated statement 

of profit or loss 1,253 – 93,470 (57,705) (1,825) (11,671) 666 (27,050) (2,862)

直接計入其他全面
收益的稅項

Tax credited directly to other 

comprehensive income – – – 969 – – – – 969

出售附屬公司 Disposals of subsidiaries – – (228,032) – – – – – (228,032)

外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences 403 – 15,261 15,052 1,676 710 35 2,149 35,286
           

於二零一六年
十二月三十一日

At 31 December 2016

11,128 – 239,235 311,946 39,235 5,731 1,523 25,598 634,396
           

計入╱（扣除自）
綜合損益表

Credited/(Charged) to 

consolidated statement 

of profit or loss (8,075) – (47,787) 43,155 – (2,877) 179 (13,509) (28,914)

直接計入其他全面
收益的稅項

Tax credited directly to other 

comprehensive income – 24,788 – – 61,045 – – – 85,833

外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences 1,538 – 58,211 – – 2,710 133 8,199 70,791
           

於二零一七年
十二月三十一日

At 31 December 2017

4,591 24,788 249,659 355,101 100,280 5,564 1,835 20,288 762,106
           

17 遞延所得稅（續）
遞延稅項負債：
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17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets in the 
accounts relating to:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

結轉稅項虧損 Tax losses carried forward 2,312,579 1,975,073
    

Deferred income tax assets had not been recognised as 
it is not probable that taxable profit will be made available 
to uti l ise the deductible tax losses and temporary 
differences in the foreseeable future.

According to the Corporate Income Tax Law, tax losses 
of the PRC companies can be carried forward to offset 
future assessable profit for a period of 5 years.

The expiry date of tax losses carried forward in respect 
of which deferred tax assets have not been accounted 
for is as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

一年內到期 Expire within 1 year 418,603 136,206

一至兩年內到期 Expire in 1–2 years 620,985 418,603

兩至三年內到期 Expire in 2–3 years 629,832 620,985

三至四年內到期 Expire in 3–4 years 126,755 629,832

四至五年內到期 Expire in 4–5 years 516,404 169,447
    

2,312,579 1,975,073
    

As at 31 December 2017, deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities balances of RMB24,597,000 (2016: 
RMB16,859,000) were related to the same company and 
were offset against each other.

17 遞延所得稅（續）
本集團未確認與下列有關的遞延稅項資
產：

由於可預見將來不可能有應課稅溢利而
就此可動用可扣稅虧損及暫時性差異，
故並無確認遞延所得稅資產。

根據企業所得稅法，中國公司稅項虧損
可結轉用以抵銷未來五年的應課稅溢利。

與未列賬遞延稅項資產相關的結轉稅項
虧損到期日如下：

於二零一七年十二月三十一日，遞延
稅項資產及遞延稅項負債結餘人民幣
24,597,000元（二零一六年：人民幣
16,859,000元）與同一公司有關，並彼此
相互抵銷。
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19 存貨

18 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

土地使用權預付款 Prepayment for land use rights 160,000 160,000

設備預付款 Prepayment for equipment 89,739 387,519

無形資產預付款 Prepayment for intangible assets 6,813 6,831

廣告費用預付款 Prepaid advertisement fee – 8,115

其他 Others 22,139 52,284
    

278,691 614,749
    

19 INVENTORIES

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

存貨－按成本 Inventories – cost

原材料 Raw materials 1,186,608 1,171,605

在製品 Work-in-progress 807,827 513,158

製成品 Finished goods 4,840,377 4,432,016
    

6,834,812 6,116,779
    

減：存貨撇減撥備 Less: provision for write-down of 
inventories 

原材料 Raw materials (80,809) (84,564)

在製品 Work-in-progress (22,207) (7,917)

製成品 Finished goods (309,485) (218,950)
    

(412,501) (311,431)
    

存貨－淨值 Inventories – net 6,422,311 5,805,348
    

18 其他非流動資產
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19 存貨（續）
確認為開支並列入銷售成本的存貨成本
為人民幣25,637,007,000元（二零一六
年：人民幣22,618,911,000元）。

本集團已於二零一七年撇銷過往年度作
出的撥備人民幣 100,492,000元（二零
一六年：人民幣116,397,000元）。

於二零一七年十二月三十一日，若干
銀行借款由賬面值人民幣4,688,000元
（二零一六年：無）的存貨作抵押（附註
29(a)）。

20 發展中物業

19 INVENTORIES (continued)
The cos t  o f  i nventor ies recogn ised as expense 
a n d  i n c l u d e d  i n  c o s t  o f  s a l e s  a m o u n t e d  t o 
RMB25,637,007,000 (2016: RMB22,618,911,000).

The Group had written-off provision of RMB100,492,000 
in 2017 (2016: RMB116,397,000).

As 31 December 2017, certain bank borrowing was 
secured by inventories with book value amounted to 
RMB4,688,000 (Note 29(a)) (2016: Nil).

20 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

預期將完成的發展中物業： Properties under development expected to 
be completed:

於正常經營週期計入
流動資產

Within the normal operating cycle 
included under current assets 871,690 679,923

    

結餘包括： Balance comprises:
建築成本 Construction costs 504,347 333,961
土地使用權 Land use rights 197,084 212,789
資本化權益 Interest capitalised 170,259 133,173

    

871,690 679,923
    

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

於十二個月內收回 To be recovered within 12 months 167,316 350,149
將於超過十二個月後收回 To be recovered after more than 12 months 704,374 329,774

    

871,690 679,923
    

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of 
interest incurred eligible for capitalisation in 2017 was 
3.61% per annum (2016: 3.40% per annum).

釐定二零一七年符合資本化所產生權益
金額的資本化率為每年3.61%（二零一六
年：每年3.40%）。
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於二零一七年十二月三十一日，概無銀
行借款由貿易應收款項（二零一六年十二
月三十一日：人民幣199,877,000元）作
抵押（附註29(a)）。

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

貿易應收款項 Trade receivables 8,491,277 7,594,867

減：應收款項減值撥備(a) Less: provision for impairment of 
receivables (a) (423,573) (238,818)

    

貿易應收款項－淨額 Trade receivables – net 8,067,704 7,356,049

其他應收款項(b) Other receivables (b) 4,008,895 4,989,560

應收票據(c) Notes receivable (c) 996,573 1,414,173

支付供應商預付款 Prepayments to suppliers 1,795,870 1,619,005

尚未抵扣的增值稅款 Excess of input over output value added tax 1,577,073 952,436

應收利息 Interests receivable 57,427 43,293

按金 Deposits 282,212 187,566

融資租賃應收款項(d) Finance lease receivables (d) 76,806 79,211
    

16,862,560 16,641,293
    

減：非即期部分 Less: non-current portion

－按金 – Deposits (197,572) (160,044)

－其他應收款項 – Other receivables (139,182) (1,488,322)

－融資租賃應收款項 – Finance lease receivables (62,396) (79,211)
    

(399,150) (1,727,577)
    

即期部分 Current portion 16,463,410 14,913,716
    

As at 31 December 2017, no bank borrowings were 
secured by trade receivables (Note 29(a)) (31 December 
2016: RMB199,877,000).

21 貿易及其他應收款項
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21 貿易及其他應收款項（續）

本集團貨物銷售的信用期限為一至十二
個月。貿易應收款項的賬齡分析如下：

21 T R A D E A N D O T H E R R E C E I V A B L E S 
(continued)
The Group’s credit term on sale of goods is from 
1 month to 12 months. The aging analysis of trade 
receivables is as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

一年內 Within 1 year 6,820,659 6,086,581

一至兩年 Between 1 and 2 years 860,365 901,340

兩至三年 Between 2 and 3 years 347,210 342,304

超過三年 Over 3 years 463,043 264,642
    

8,491,277 7,594,867

減：減值虧損撥備 Less: provision for impairment losses (423,573) (238,818)
    

8,067,704 7,356,049
    

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables 
are denominated in the following currencies:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

人民幣 RMB 4,467,412 2,868,608

美元 USD 2,828,660 3,508,230

其他 Others 1,195,205 1,218,029
    

8,491,277 7,594,867
    

本集團貿易應收款項賬面值以下列貨幣
計值：
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於二零一七年十二月三十一日，
人民幣50,012,000元（二零一六
年十二月三十一日： 人民幣
203,752,000元）的貿易應收款
項已逾期但未減值。根據過往經
驗，由於信用素質並無重大變
動，且該等結餘仍被視為悉數收
回，故管理層認為毋須就該等結
餘計提減值撥備。該等無抵押貿
易應收款項賬齡分析如下：

21 T R A D E A N D O T H E R R E C E I V A B L E S 
(continued)
(a) Movement of the provision for impairment of trade 

receivables are as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

於一月一日 At 1 January 238,818 154,650

應收款項減值撥備 Provision for receivable impairment 262,953 104,054

撇銷的不可收回應收款項 Uncollectible receivables written off (38,104) (17,484)

收購一間附屬公司 Addition of a subsidiary – 13,384

撥回撥備 Provision reversed (40,094) (15,786)
    

於十二月三十一日 At 31 December 423,573 238,818
    

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables 
o f  R M B 5 0 , 0 1 2 , 0 0 0  ( 3 1  D e c e m b e r  2 0 1 6 : 
RMB203,752,000 )  were pas t  due bu t  no t 
impaired. Based on past experience, management 
be l i eves tha t  no impa i rment  a l l owance i s 
necessary in respect of these balances as there 
has not been a signi f icant change in credit 
quality and the balances are sti l l considered 
fully recoverable. The aging analysis of these 
uncollateralised trade receivables is as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

一至兩年 Between 1 and 2 years 384 106,469

兩至三年 Between 2 and 3 years 49,628 4,016

三年以上 Over 3 years – 93,267
    

50,012 203,752
    

21 貿易及其他應收款項（續）

(a) 貿易應收款項減值撥備變動如下：
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21 貿易及其他應收款項（續）

(a) 貿易應收款項減值撥備變動如
下：（續）
於二零一七年十二月三十一
日 ， 貿 易 應 收 款 項 人 民 幣
1,620,606,000 元（ 二 零 一 六
年十二月三十一日： 人民幣
1,304,534,000元）已減值。於二
零一七年十二月三十一日，撥備
金額為人民幣423,573,000元（二
零一六年十二月三十一日：人民
幣238,818,000元）。該等應收款
項賬齡如下：

21 T R A D E A N D O T H E R R E C E I V A B L E S 
(continued)
(a) Movement of the provision for impairment of trade 

receivables are as follows: (continued)
As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables 
of RMB1,620,606,000 (31 December 2016: 
RMB1,304,534,000) were impaired. The amount 
o f  the prov is ion was RMB423,573,000 as 
at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 
RMB238,818,000). The aging of these receivables 
is as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

一至兩年 Between 1 and 2 years 859,981 794,871

兩至三年 Between 2 and 3 years 297,582 338,288

三年以上 Over 3 years 463,043 171,375
    

1,620,606 1,304,534
    

The addit ions and reversal of provisions for 
impaired receivables have been included in 
administrative expenses. Amounts charged to the 
allowance account are generally written off when 
there is expectation that additional cash could not 
be recovered.

The maximum exposure to credit r isk at the 
reporting date is the carrying value of receivable 
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any 
collateral as security of trade receivables and 
other receivables.

應收款項減值撥備的增加及撥回
已計入行政費用。計入撥備賬戶
的金額一般於預期無法收回額外
現金時撇銷。

於報告日，信貸風險上限為上述
應收款項的賬面價值。本集團並
無持有任何抵押品作為貿易應收
款項及其他應收款項的抵押。
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即期貿易應收款項及其他應收款
項的賬面值與其公允價值相若。

21 T R A D E A N D O T H E R R E C E I V A B L E S 
(continued)
(b) Included in other receivables were loans of 

RMB1,206,459,000 (2016: RMB1,097,225,000) to 
related parties as disclosed in Note 46(d).

(c) Notes receivable include bank acceptance bills 
and commercial acceptance bi l ls which are 
analysed as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

商業承兌匯票 Commercial acceptance bills 234,106 54,007

銀行承兌匯票 Bank acceptance bills 762,467 1,360,166
    

996,573 1,414,173
    

The carrying amount of current trade receivables 
and other receivables approximated their fair 
values.

21 貿易及其他應收款項（續）

(b) 計入其他應收款項包括附註46(d)
所披露給予關聯方的貸款共計人
民幣1,206,459,000元（二零一六
年：人民幣1,097,225,000元）。

(c) 應收票據包括銀行承兌匯票及商
業承兌匯票，分析如下：
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21 貿易及其他應收款項（續）

(d) 融資租賃應收款項
租賃總投資與應收最低租賃付款
現值之間的對賬載列如下。

21 T R A D E A N D O T H E R R E C E I V A B L E S 
(continued)
(d) Finance lease receivables

Reconciliation between the gross investment in 
leases and the present value of minimum lease 
payments receivable is set out below.

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

租賃總投資 Gross investment in leases 104,322 112,142

應收最低租賃付款 Minimum lease payments receivables 104,322 112,142

減：有關應收最低租賃
付款的未賺取融資
收入

Less: unearned finance income related 
to minimum lease payments 
receivables (27,516) (32,931)

    

應收最低租賃付款現值 Present value of minimum lease 
payments receivables 76,806 79,211

    

The table below analyses the Group’s gross 
investment in leases by maturity:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

－一年以內 – Not later than 1 year 21,596 16,299

－一年以上及五年以內 – Later than 1 year and not later 
than 5 years 44,588 35,709

－五年以上 – Later than 5 years 38,138 60,134
    

104,322 112,142
    

下表分析本集團按到期日分類的
租賃總投資：
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22 建築合約 22 CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

所產生合約成本加應佔溢利 Contract costs incurred plus 
attributable profits 21,092,382 23,119,811

減：迄今的進度付款 Less: progress billings to date (19,474,063) (22,167,841)

減：撥備 Less: provision (69,507) (86,138)
    

進行中合約的資產負債表
淨值狀況

Net balance sheet position for 
ongoing contracts 1,548,812 865,832

    

呈列如下： Presented as:

應收客戶合約工程款項 Amounts due from customers for 
contract work 2,038,512 1,841,368

應付客戶合約工程款項 Amounts due to customers for 
contract work (489,700) (975,536)

    

1,548,812 865,832
    

Movements in the provision for amounts due from 
customers for contract work are as below:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

於一月一日 At 1 January 86,138 203,287

年內確認撥備 Provision recognised during the year 54,245 89,038

年內撇銷 Written-off during the year (70,876) (206,187)
    

於十二月三十一日 At 31 December 69,507 86,138
    

應收客戶合約工程款項撥備的變動如下：
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於二零一七年十二月三十一日，投資的
公允價值以所報市價計算。上市股本證
券的公允價值計量分類至公允價值層級
第一級。

24 抵押銀行存款
若干銀行結餘為抵押存款，將於償還銀
行貸款及使用信用額度後解除抵押。

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

金融資產： Financial assets:

上市股本權益 Listed equity interests 15,371 2,901
    

The fair value of the investment at 31 December 2017 
was calculated using the quoted market price. The 
fair value measurement of the listed equity security is 
categorised within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

24 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
Certain bank balances were pledged deposits which will 
be released upon the settlement of the repayment of the 
bank loans and the use of credit amount.

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

簽發信用證的擔保存款 Guarantee deposits for issuance 
of letters of credit 164,598 199,084

發行銀行承兌匯票的
擔保存款

Guarantee deposits for issuance 
of bank acceptance bill 135,192 16,402

履行建築合約保證的
擔保存款

Guarantee deposits for performance 
security of construction contract 25,881 170

興建預售物業的擔保存款 Guarantee deposits for construction 
of pre-sale properties – 6,019

出售廣東航粵實業
有限公司代價的
擔保存款

Guarantee deposits of consideration 
for disposal of Guangdong Hangyue 
Industrial Company Limited – 710,000

其他 Others 43 5,887
    

325,714 937,562
    

23 按公允價值計量且其變動計入損
益的金融資產
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25 現金及現金等價物
年利率介乎0.35厘至2.71厘的現金及現金
等價物結餘分析如下：

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The balance of cash and cash equivalents with an annual 
interest rate from 0.35% to 2.71% are analysed as 
follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

銀行存款及手頭現金 Cash at bank and on hand 12,222,026 9,020,381
    

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are 
denominated in the following currencies:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

人民幣 RMB 7,586,999 3,369,782

美元 USD 3,128,197 4,068,632

歐元 EUR 618,613 451,924

其他 Others 888,217 1,130,043
    

12,222,026 9,020,381
    

26 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

股份數目
Number of share

股本
Capital

內資股
Domestic 

Shares
H股

H Shares

股份總數
Total 

Number of 
shares

已發行及
繳足普通股

Ordinary 
shares,
 issued 

and fully 
paid

股份溢價
Share 

premium
總計

Total
千股 千股 千股 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

Thousands Thousands Thousands RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
        

於二零一六年一月一日，
二零一六年及二零一七年
十二月三十一日

As at 1 January 2016, 
31 December 2016 and 2017

832,974 333,188 1,166,162 1,166,162 1,512,380 2,678,542
        

現金及現金等價物的賬面值以下列貨幣
列值：

26 股本及股份溢價
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27 OTHER RESERVES

資本儲備
Capital 
reserve

法定一般
儲備基金

Statutory 
general 

reserve fund

可供出售
金融資產
重估儲備

Available-
for-sale 

financial 
assets 

revaluation 
reserve

自有物業
轉投資物業的

重估收益
Revaluation 

gain on 
transfer of 

owner-
occupied 

property to 
investment 

property

重新計量離職
福利責任

Re-
measurements 

of post – 
employment 

benefit 
obligations

外幣折算差額
Currency 

translation 
differences

總計
Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

         

於二零一六年一月一日的
結餘

Balance as at 1 January 2016
1,562,225 174,898 13,214 124,155 (11,177) (628,890) 1,234,425

重新計量離職福利責任 Re-measurements of post-employment 
benefit obligations – – – – (6,232) – (6,232)

自有物業轉投資物業的
重估收益

Revaluation gain on transfer of owner-
occupied property to investment 
property – – – 5,747 – – 5,747

外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences – – – – – (76,189) (76,189)
應佔一間聯營公司儲備 Share of reserve of an associate 3,128 – – – – – 3,128
轉撥至儲備 Appropriation to reserves – 14,158 – – – – 14,158
特別儲備－安全生產基金 Special reserve – safety production fund 195 – – – – – 195

         

於二零一六年十二月
三十一日的結餘

Balance as at 31 December 2016 1,565,548 189,056 13,214 129,902 (17,409) (705,079) 1,175,232

         

於二零一七年一月一日的
結餘

Balance as at 1 January 2017
1,565,548 189,056 13,214 129,902 (17,409) (705,079) 1,175,232

重新計量離職福利責任 Re-measurements of post-employment 
benefit obligations – – – – (858) – (858)

自有物業轉投資物業的
重估收益

Revaluation gain on transfer 
of owner-occupied property 
to investment property – – – 118,525 – – 118,525

可供出售金融資產的
公允價值收益

Fair value gains on available-
for-sale financial assets – – 74,363 – – – 74,363

外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences – – – – – 29,278 29,278
應佔一間聯營公司儲備
（附註14(a)）

Share of reserve of an associate 
(Note 14(a)) (1,127) – – – – – (1,127)

轉撥至儲備 Appropriation to reserves – 31,449 – – – – 31,449
特別儲備－安全生產基金 Special reserve – safety production fund 501 – – – – – 501
一間附屬公司的首次
公開發售（附註13）

Initial public offering of a subsidiary 
(Note 13) 441,616 – – – – – 441,616

         

於二零一七年十二月
三十一日的結餘

Balance as at 31 December 2017 2,006,538 220,505 87,577 248,427 (18,267) (675,801) 1,868,979

         

27 其他儲備
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27 其他儲備（續）
根據中國有關法例及法規，本集團的中
國附屬公司於抵銷過往年度累計虧損後
及向股東分派溢利前，須自純利撥款至
儲備基金、酌情盈餘儲備及企業發展基
金。撥入儲備基金的款項按純利10%計
提，直至基金結餘達至其註冊資金50%
為止。撥入酌情盈餘儲備及企業發展基
金的款項由中國附屬公司董事釐定。

經董事會批准後，儲備基金可用於抵銷
累計虧損或增資；企業發展基金可用於
擴大生產或增資。

28 永久次級可換股證券

於二零一二年九月五日，本公司發行本
總額人民幣2,781,674,000元的永久次
級可換股證券（「永久次級可換股證券」）
予控股公司中航國際、中航深圳（持有本
公司35.63%股本權益的本公司股東）及
北京瑞賽科技有限公司（「北京瑞賽」），
分別作為收購多家附屬公司的部分購
買代價。此等永久次級可換股證券可
按初步轉換價每股人民幣3.47元轉換為
801,634,000股本公司內資股。

北 京 瑞 賽 持 有 合 計 約 人 民 幣
1,058,729,021元本公司發行之永久次級
可換股證券。二零一七年十月，北京瑞
賽以經國有資產管理部門備案的代價約
人民幣1,137,943,200元，將全部所持本
公司發行之永久次級可換股證券轉讓給
中航國際，北京瑞賽不再持有本公司發
行之永久次級可換股證券。

27 OTHER RESERVES (continued)
In accordance with relevant laws and regulations of 
the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group should 
make appropriations from the net profit to the reserve 
fund, discretionary surplus reserve and the enterprise 
expansion fund, after offsetting accumulated losses 
from prior years, and before profit distributions to the 
shareholders. The appropriations to the reserve fund 
are made at 10% of the net profit until the balance of 
the fund reaches 50% of their registered capital. The 
amounts of appropriations to the discretionary surplus 
reserve and the enterprise expansion fund are determined 
by the directors of the PRC subsidiaries.

Upon approval from the board of directors, the reserve 
fund can be used to offset accumulated losses or to 
increase capital; the enterprise expansion fund can be 
used to expand production or to increase capital.

28 P E R P E T U A L  S U B O R D I N A T E D 
CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES
The Company issued an aggregate principal amount of 
RMB2,781,674,000 perpetual subordinated convertible 
securit ies (“PSCS”) on 5 September 2012 to AVIC 
International, the holding company, AVIC Shenzhen, the 
Company’s shareholder holding 35.63% of the equity 
interests of the Company, and Beijing Raise Science 
Co., Ltd. (北京瑞賽科技有限公司 )  ( “Bei j ing Raise”) , 
respectively as part of the purchase consideration 
for acquisition of subsidiaries. These PSCS could be 
convertible into 801,634,000 domestic shares of the 
Company at an initial conversion price of RMB3.47 per 
share.

Beijing Raise held the perpetual subordinated convertible 
securities PSCS issued by the Company in total of 
RMB1,058,729,021. In October 2017, Beijing Raise 
t ransferred a l l  the PSCS at the cons iderat ion of 
RMB1,137,943,200 which was put on record by the 
State-owned assets management department to AVIC 
International. Beijing Raise ceased to hold any PSCS 
issued by the Company.
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28 P E R P E T U A L  S U B O R D I N A T E D 
CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES (continued)
The PSCS have no maturity date and conferred a right 
to receive distributions from and including the date of 
issue of the PSCS at 1% per annum on any outstanding 
principal amount of distribution payable annually in 
arrears on 31 July each year, subject to the terms of 
the PSCS. The Company was entitled to elect to defer 
a distribution pursuant to the terms of the PSCS. Any 
arrears of distributions due in respect of the PSCS would 
be extinguished by the Company in full through the 
delivery by the Company of its domestic shares issuable 
by it upon the exercise of the PCSC holder’s conversion 
right.

On or at any time after 12 months after the date of issue 
of the PSCS, the Company may, at its sole discretion 
and pursuant to the terms of the PSCS, elect to convert 
the PSCS in whole (but not in part into domestic shares), 
subject to the provisions of restriction on conversion set 
out in the terms of the PSCS.

28 永久次級可換股證券（續）

永久次級可換股證券並無到期日及有權
收取永久次級可換股證券自發行日期起
（包括該日）就任何尚未償還本金額按年
息1厘計算每年七月三十一日到期應付的
年度分派款項，惟須受永久次級可換股
證券的條款所限。本公司有權按永久次
級可換股證券條款選擇延期分派款項。
永久次級可換股證券持有人行使轉換權
後，本公司將透過派發其可發行內資股
全數終止任何就永久次級可換股證券而
到期的分派欠款。

自永久次級可換股證券發行日期後12個
月或任何時間，本公司可全權並根據永
久次級可換股證券條款選擇轉換全部（但
非部份）永久次級可換股證券為內資股，
惟須受永久次級可換股證券條款所載轉
換限制條文所限。
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29 借款
借款包括銀行借款及其他借款，分析如
下：

29 BORROWINGS
Bor row ings inc lude bank bor row ings and o ther 
borrowings which are analysed as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

非流動 Non-current

銀行借款 Bank borrowings

－已抵押(a) – pledged (a) 2,472,397 754,891

－有擔保(b) – guaranteed (b) – 1,350,144

－無抵押 – unsecured 8,865,625 5,668,827

中期票據(c) Medium-term notes (c) 1,800,000 1,800,000

關聯方借款（附註46(c)） Related party borrowings (Note 46(c)) 266,093 1,041,811

免息政府貸款(d) Interest-free government loan (d) 161,700 156,537
    

13,565,815 10,772,210

減：非流動借款的即期部分 Less: current portion of non-current 
borrowings (3,096,345) (1,867,356)

    

10,469,470 8,904,854
    

流動 Current

銀行借款 Bank borrowings

－已抵押(a) – pledged (a) 60,688 193,152

－有擔保(b) – guaranteed (b) 884,000 294,591

－無抵押 – unsecured 7,109,094 5,819,232

關聯方借款（附註46(c)） Related party borrowings (Note 46(c)) 1,115,262 1,145,211

非流動借款的即期部分 Current portion of non-current borrowings 3,096,345 1,867,356
    

12,265,389 9,319,542
    

22,734,859 18,224,396
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(b) 該等貸款由下列擔保支持：

29 BORROWINGS (continued)
(a) These bank loans were secured by the following:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

貿易及其他應收款項 Trade and other receivables – 199,877
樓宇（附註10(b)） Buildings (Note 10(b)) 1,167,465 942,810
在建物業（附註12） Construction-in-progress (Note 12) 27,042 –
土地使用權（附註7） Land use rights (Note 7) 375,821 200,327
存貨（附註19） Inventory (Note 19) 4,688 –

    

1,575,016 1,343,014
    

(b) These loans were supported by the guarantees 
provided by:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

中航國際 AVIC International 884,000 194,999
中國航空工業集團
有限公司（「航空工業」）

Aviation Industry Corporation of China, 
Ltd. (“Aviation Industry”) – 244,592

第三方 Third Parties – 1,205,144
    

884,000 1,644,735
    

(c) AVIC Internat ional , the Company’s hold ing 
company, provided a full unconditional irrevocable 
jo int and severa l l iab i l i ty guarantee for the 
medium-term notes.

The Group has issued the following notes:

金額 年利率 期限

發行日 Issuing Date Amount
Annual 

Interest Rate Term
人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000
     

二零一三年四月十七日 17 April 2013 600,000 4.78% 5年 5 years
二零一五年七月十四日 14 July 2015 500,000 4.10% 3年 3 years
二零一六年三月十一日 11 March 2016 700,000 3.28% 3年 3 years

     

29 借款（續）
(a) 該等銀行貸款以下列各項作抵押：

(c) 本公司控股公司中航國際已就中
期票據提供全額無條件不可撤回
共同及個別債務擔保。

本集團已發行以下票據：
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29 借款（續）
(d) 本公司於二零一五年二月二日獲

授免息貸款人民幣 200,000,000
元，用於建造TFT-LCD生產線。
該貸款自二零一五年二月四日至
二零二零年二月二日分期償還。
等額貸款以當時適用市場利率每
年6厘計息，估計貸款於授出日期
的公允價值為人民幣149,450,000
元。所得款項總額與貸款公允價
值之間的差額人民幣50,550,000
元乃源自免息貸款的利益，並已
確認為遞延收入。此遞延收入將
會在相關資產的可使用年期內攤
銷。

(e) 借款的賬面值以下列貨幣計值：

29 BORROWINGS (continued)
(d) Interest- f ree loan of RMB200,000,000 was 

granted on 2 February 2015 for constructing the 
TFT-LCD production line. The loan is repaid by 
instalments from 4 February 2015 to 2 February 
2020. Using the prevailing market interest rates 
for an equivalent loan of 6% per annum, the fair 
value of the loan is estimated at RMB149,450,000 
on grant date. The difference of RMB50,550,000 
be tween the g ross p roceeds and the fa i r 
value of the loan on inception is treated as the 
benefit derived from the interest free loan and is 
recognised as deferred revenue. The deferred 
revenue will be amortised within the useful life of 
the relevant assets.

(e) The carrying amounts of the borrowings are 
denominated in the following currencies:

二零一七年
2017

二零一六年
2016

人民幣千元 實際年利率 人民幣千元 實際年利率

RMB’000

Effective 
Annual

Interest Rate RMB’000

Effective 
Annual

Interest Rate
      

人民幣 RMB 19,613,793 0.00%~6.53% 13,419,771 0.00%~6.88%

美元 USD 1,880,248 0.54%~6.03% 2,720,541 1.65%~5.53%

歐元 EUR 989,495 2.11%~2.60% 1,712,935 2.11%~6.00%

其他 Others 251,323 371,149
      

22,734,859 18,224,396
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(f) 本集團的借款利率風險如下：

29 BORROWINGS (continued)
(e) (continued)

The exposure of the borrowings to interest-rate 
changes and the contractual repricing dates at the 
balance sheet dates are as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

一年內 Within 1 year 12,265,389 9,319,542

一至兩年 Between 1 and 2 years 4,601,266 3,117,012

兩至五年 Between 2 and 5 years 2,015,310 2,878,606

超過五年 Over 5 years 3,852,894 2,909,236
    

22,734,859 18,224,396
    

(f) The interest rate exposure of the borrowings of 
the Group are as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

浮息借款 Borrowings at floating rates 12,567,912 11,126,333

定息借款 Borrowings at fixed rates 10,166,947 7,098,063
    

總計 Total 22,734,859 18,224,396
    

29 借款（續）
(e) （續）

於結算日，借款面臨的利率變動
及合約重新定價日期風險如下：
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29 借款（續）
(g) 按固定息率計息的非流動借款賬

面值及公允價值如下：

29 BORROWINGS (continued)
(g) The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-

current borrowings carried at fixed interest rate 
are as follows:

賬面值
Carrying amount

公允價值
Fair value

二零一七年 二零一六年 二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016 2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

銀行借款 Bank borrowings 1,916,084 1,460,000 1,555,233 1,180,726

中期票據 Medium-term notes 700,000 1,800,000 684,865 1,559,947
      

2,616,084 3,260,000 2,240,098 2,740,673
      

30 DEFERRED INCOME ON GOVERNMENT 
GRANTS
The amounts represented various subsidies granted by 
and received from local government authorities in the 
PRC. The movements for the year ended 31 December 
2017 and 31 December 2016 are as follows:

於二零一七年
一月一日

At 
1 January 

2017

已收補貼
Receipt of 

grants

計入溢利╱
（虧損）

Credited to
 profit/(loss)

計入在建工程
Credited to 

construction-
in-process

於二零一七年
十二月三十一日

At 
31 December 

2017
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
         

與資產有關的政府
補貼（不包括政府
免息貸款）

Government grant related 
to assets (excluding 
government interest free loan) 515,927 91,226 (61,129) – 546,024

與成本有關的政府補貼 Government grant related to costs 291,968 869,220 (487,583) (326,680) 346,925
政府優惠利率貸款 Government interest 

preferential loans 640,032 – (65,665) – 574,367
       

1,447,927 960,446 (614,377) (326,680) 1,467,316
       

30 政府補貼的遞延收入

此等金額代表由中國當地政府機關授出
及自其收取的各項補貼。截至二零一七
年十二月三十一日及二零一六年十二月
三十一日止年度的變動如下：
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30 DEFERRED INCOME ON GOVERNMENT 
GRANTS (continued)

於二零一六年
一月一日 已收補貼

計入溢利╱
（虧損）

於二零一六年
十二月

三十一日
At 

1 January 
2016

Receipt of 
grants

Credited 
to profit

/(loss)

At 
31 December 

2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

與資產有關的政府
補貼（不包括政府
免息貸款）

Government grant related 
to assets (excluding 
government interest free loan) 506,233 66,730 (57,036) 515,927

與成本有關的
政府補貼

Government grant related 
to costs 174,027 500,821 (382,880) 291,968

政府優惠利率貸款 Government interest 
preferential loans 600,763 99,173 (59,904) 640,032

      

1,281,023 666,724 (499,820) 1,447,927
      

30 政府補貼的遞延收入（續）
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31 退休及其他補充福利責任

下表載列已計入綜合財務報表的本集團
離職後福利金額及活動。

31 RETIREMENT AND OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL 
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
The table below outl ines where the Group’s post-
employment amounts and activity are include in the 
consolidated financial statements.

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

就下列各項的資產
負債表責任：

Balance sheet obligations for:

－補充退休福利計劃 – Supplemental retirement benefits plan 43,455 44,098
－提前退休福利計劃 – Early retirement benefit plan – 78
－界定退休金福利－有注資

計劃資產
– Defined pension benefits – with funded 

plan assets 26,216 33,426
－界定退休金福利－無注資

計劃資產
– Defined pension benefits – without 

funded plan assets 175,573 176,967
－其他界定退休福利 – Other defined pension benefits 175,397 175,447

    

計入綜合資產負債表的負債 Liabilities on the consolidated 
balance sheet 420,641 430,016

    

就下列各項的損益表
支出計入經營溢利：

Charge to statement of profit or loss 
included in operating profit for:

－補充退休福利計劃 – Supplemental retirement benefits plan 1,249 1,263
－提前退休福利計劃 – Early retirement benefit plan (14) 7
－界定退休金福利－有注資

計劃資產
– Defined pension benefits – with 

funded plan assets 3,348 3,177
－界定退休金福利－無注資

計劃資產
– Defined pension benefits – without 

funded plan assets 8,164 8,339
－其他界定退休福利 – Other defined pension benefits 2,535 3,398

    

15,282 16,184
    

就下列各項重新計量： Re-measurements for:
－補充退休福利計劃 – Supplemental retirement benefits plan 2,106 (922)
－界定退休金福利－有注資

計劃資產
– Defined pension benefits – with 

funded plan assets (5,169) 2,156
－界定退休金福利－無注資

計劃資產
– Defined pension benefits – without 

funded plan assets (1,938) 9,134
－其他界定退休福利 – Other defined pension benefits 94 7,075

    

(4,907) 17,443
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本集團提前退休福利及補充福利責任的
變動如下：

31 RETIREMENT AND OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL 
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
The amounts of early retirement and supplemental benefit 
obligations recognised in the consolidated balance sheet 
are determined as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

界定福利責任的現值 Present value of defined benefits obligations 420,641 430,016

減：即期部分 Less: current portion (15,910) (15,742)
    

非即期部分 Non-current portion 404,731 414,274
    

The movements of Group’s early retirement benefit and 
supplemental benefit obligations are as follows:

責任現值
Present 
value of 

obligation

計劃資產
公允價值

Fair value 
of plan 
assets

總計
Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

於二零一六年一月一日 At 1 January 2016 427,865 (32,756) 395,109

過往服務成本 Past service cost 3 – 3

現有服務成本 Current service cost 9,871 – 9,871

利息支出╱（收入） Interest expense/(income) 6,650 (340) 6,310
     

444,389 (33,096) 411,293
     

重新計量 Re-measurements

－經驗虧損 – Experience losses 6,560 – 6,560

－財務假設變動虧損 – Loss from change in financial 
assumptions 10,883 – 10,883

     

17,443 – 17,443
     

31 退休及其他補充福利責任（續）

於綜合資產負債表確認的提前退休及補
充福利責任金額釐定如下：
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31 退休及其他補充福利責任（續）

責任現值
Present 
value of 

obligation

計劃資產
公允價值

Fair value 
of plan 
assets

總計
Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

供款－僱員 Contributions – Employers – (4,429) (4,429)

計劃付款－福利付款 Payments from plans – Benefit 
payments (20,182) 1,362 (18,820)

匯兌差額 Exchange difference 28,176 (3,647) 24,529
     

於二零一六年
十二月三十一日

At 31 December 2016
469,826 (39,810) 430,016

     

於二零一七年一月一日 At 1 January 2017 469,826 (39,810) 430,016

過往服務成本 Past service cost 1 – 1

現有服務成本 Current service cost 10,455 – 10,455

利息支出╱（收入） Interest expense/(income) 5,002 (176) 4,826
     

485,284 (39,986) 445,298
     

重新計量 Re-measurements

－經驗虧損 – Experience losses (2,435) – (2,435)

－財務假設變動虧損 – Loss from change in financial 
assumptions (1,297) (1,175) (2,472)

     

(3,732) (1,175) (4,907)
     

出售一間附屬公司 Disposal of a subsidiary (3,027) – (3,027)
     

計劃付款－福利付款 Payments from plans 
– Benefit payments (17,929) (4,523) (22,452)

匯兌差額 Exchange difference 4,526 1,203 5,729
     

於二零一七年十二月
三十一日

At 31 December 2017
465,122 (44,481) 420,641

     

31 RETIREMENT AND OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL 
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
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31 RETIREMENT AND OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL 
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
The above obl igat ions were determined based on 
actuarial valuations performed by independent qualified 
actuarial firms, using the projected unit credit actuarial 
cost method.

The material actuarial assumptions used in valuing these 
obligations are as follows:

二零一六年
2016

補充退休
福利計劃

Supplemental 
retirement 

benefits plan

提前退休
福利計劃

Early 
retirement 

benefit plan

界定退休金
福利－有注資

計劃資產
Defined 
pension 

benefits –
 with funded 
plan assets

界定退休金
福利－無注資

計劃資產
Defined 
pension 

benefits – 
without funded 

plan assets

其他界定
退休福利

Other 
defined 
pension 
benefits

       

貼現率（每年） Discount rate (per annum) 2.8% 2.3% 0.9% 0.9% 1.9%

薪金增長率 Salary growth rate 8% 5%~11% 1.9% 1.9% 1.5%

預期壽命 Life expectancy
86 86

不適用
N/A

不適用
N/A

不適用
N/A

僱員流動率 Employee turnover rate 不相關
Not relevant

不相關
Not relevant

不相關
Not relevant

不相關
Not relevant 0%

       

31 退休及其他補充福利責任（續）

上述責任根據獨立合資格精算公司採用
預計單位貸記精算成本法作出的精算估
值釐定。

對此等責任估值所採用的重大精算假設
如下：
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31 退休及其他補充福利責任（續） 31 RETIREMENT AND OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL 
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

二零一七年
2017

補充退休
福利計劃

Supplemental 
retirement 

benefits plan

提前退休
福利計劃

Early 
retirement 

benefit plan

界定退休金
福利－有注資

計劃資產
Defined 
pension 

benefits – 
with funded 
plan assets

界定退休金
福利－無注資

計劃資產
Defined 
pension 

benefits – 
without 
funded 

plan assets

其他界定
退休福利

Other 
defined 
pension 
benefits

       

貼現率（每年） Discount rate (per annum)
3.0%

不適用
N/A 0.9% 0.9% 1.9%

薪金增長率 Salary growth rate
8%

不適用
N/A 1.9% 1.9% 1.5%

預期壽命 Life expectancy
86%

不適用
N/A

不適用
N/A

不適用
N/A

不適用
N/A

僱員流動率 Employee turnover rate 不相關
Not relevant

不相關
Not relevant

不相關
Not relevant

不相關
Not relevant 0%

       

Assumptions regarding future mortality are set based on 
actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics 
and experience in related countries. These assumptions 
translate into an average life expectancy in years for a 
pensioner retiring at the age of 60.

The planned assets of the defined pension benefits are as 
follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

投資基金 Investment funds 42,891 39,807
    

有關未來死亡率的假設乃按照在相關國
家刊發的統計數字及經驗，根據精算意
見訂定。該等假設可推算出領取退休金
人士於六十歲退休後的平均預期壽命。

界定退休金福利的計劃資產如下：
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31 RETIREMENT AND OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL 
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

All the planned assets have quoted prices in active 
markets.

The sensit iv ity of the defined benefit obl igation to 
changes in the weighted principal assumptions is as 
follows:

(a) Supplemental retirement benefits plan and 
early retirement benefit plan

對界定福利責任的影響
Impact on defined benefit obligations

假設變動 假設增加 假設減少
Change in 

assumption
Increase in 

assumption
Decrease in 
assumption

     

貼現率 Discount rate
0.5%

減少4.8%
Decrease by 4.8%

增加5.23%
Increase by 5.23%

退休金增長率 Pension growth rate
0.5%

增加2.46%
Increase by 2.46%

減少2.37%
Decrease by 2.37%

     

假設增加一年 假設減少一年
To increase 

by 1 year 
in assumption

To decrease 
by 1 year 

in assumption
    

預期壽命 Life expectancy 增加5.68%
Increase by 5.68%

不適用
N/A

    

(b) Defined pension benefits – with and without 
funded plan assets

對界定福利責任的影響
Impact on defined benefit obligations

假設變動 假設增加 假設減少
Change in 

assumption
Increase in 

Assumption
Decrease in 
Assumption

     

貼現率 Discount rate
0.5%

減少6.5%
Decrease by 6.5%

增加7.0%
Increase by 7.0%

退休金增長率 Pension growth rate
0.25%

增加1.3%
Increase by 1.3%

減少1.3%
Decrease by 1.3%

     

31 退休及其他補充福利責任（續）

所有計劃資產於活躍市場均有報價。

界定福利責任對加權主要假設變動的敏
感度如下：

(a) 補充退休福利計劃及提前退休福
利計劃

(b) 界定退休金福利－有及無注資計
劃資產
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的變動及所有其他假設維持不變
而計算。這種情況在實際上不太
可能發生，且部分假設的變動可
能互相關連。於計算界定福利責
任對主要精算假設的敏感度時，
已採用綜合財務狀況表所確認計
算退休金責任的相同方法（界定福
利責任現值於報告期末以預計單
位貸記法計算）。

與前期相比，編製敏感度分析所
使用的假設方式及模式並無變動。

31 RETIREMENT AND OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL 
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
(c) Other defined pension benefits

對界定福利責任的影響
Impact on defined benefit obligations

假設變動 假設增加 假設減少
Change in 

assumption
Increase in 

Assumption
Decrease in 
assumption

     

貼現率 Discount rate
0.5%

減少5.0%
Decrease by 5.0%

增加5.5%
Increase by 5.5%

退休金增長率 Pension growth rate
0.5%

增加2.6%
Increase by 2.6%

減少2.5%
Decrease by 2.5%

     

假設增加一年 假設減少一年
To increase 

by 1 year 
in assumption

To decrease 
by 1 year 

in assumption
    

預期壽命 Life expectancy 增加0.0%
Increase by 0.0%

減少0.0%
Decrease by 0.0%

    

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a 
change in an assumption while holding all other 
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely 
to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions 
may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity 
of the defined benefit obligation to significant 
actuarial assumptions the same method (present 
value of the defined benefit obligation calculated 
with the projected unit credit method at the end 
of the reporting period) has been applied as when 
calculating the pension liability recognised within 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The methods and types of assumptions used in 
preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change 
compared to the previous period.

31 退休及其他補充福利責任（續）

(c) 其他界定退休金福利

上述敏感度分析乃根據一項假設
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31 退休及其他補充福利責任（續）

(c) 其他界定退休金福利（續）
透過其基本退休計劃及界定退休
金福利，本集團承受多項風險，
其中最重大的風險詳述如下：

資產波幅 計劃負債乃參考企
業債券回報率的貼
現率計算，倘計劃
資 產 較 此 回 報 率
低，將會產生虧絀。

通賬風險 大多數計劃的福利
責任與通賬有關；
較高通賬將會導致
較高負債（儘管在
大部分情況下，通
漲增幅水平會設定
上限，以保障計劃
免受極端通漲的影
響）。大多數計劃資
產均不受固定利息
債券影響或與權益
通賬稍有關連，換
言之，通賬增加亦
將增加虧絀。

預期壽命 大多數計劃責任是
為成員有生之年提
供福利，因此，預
期壽命延長將導致
計劃負債增加。

31 RETIREMENT AND OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL 
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
(c) Other defined pension benefits (continued)

Through its fundamental retirement plan and 
defined pension benefits, the Group is exposed 
to a number of risks, the most significant of which 
are detailed below:

Asset volatility T h e  p l a n  l i a b i l i t i e s  a r e 
calculated using a discount 
rate set with reference to 
corporate bond yields; if plan 
assets underper form th is 
yield, this will create a deficit.

Inflation risk The majority of the plans’ 
benefit obligations are linked 
t o  i n f l a t i o n ,  a n d  h i g h e r 
inflation will lead to higher 
liabilities (although, in most 
cases, caps on the level of 
inflationary increases are in 
place to protect the plan 
against extreme inf lat ion). 
The majority of the plan’s 
assets are either unaffected 
b y  f i x e d  i n t e r e s t  b o n d s 
or loosely correlated with 
equities inflation, meaning 
that an increase in inflation 
will also increase the deficit.

Life expectancy The majority of the plans’ 
obl igations are to provide 
benefits for the l i fe of the 
member, so increases in 
l i fe expectancy wi l l result 
in an increase in the plans’ 
liabilities.
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31 RETIREMENT AND OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL 
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
(d) Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted 

defined pension benefits:

少於一年
Less than 

a year

一至兩年
Between 
1-2 years

兩至五年
Between 
2-5 years

超過五年
Over 

5 years
總計

Total
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
       

於二零一七年
十二月三十一日

At 31 December 2017

補充退休福利計劃 Supplement retirement 
benefits plan 3,890 3,787 10,686 43,455 61,818

界定退休金福利－
有注資計劃資產

Defined pension benefits 
– with funded plan assets 347 521 2,315 74,090 77,273

界定退休金福利－
無注資計劃資產

Defined pension benefits
– without funded plan 
assets 3,299 6,657 14,529 163,346 187,831

其他界定退休金福利 Other defined pension 
benefits 11,859 11,750 34,158 117,627 175,394

       

19,395 22,715 61,688 398,518 502,316
       

少於一年
Less than 

a year

一至兩年
Between 

1-2 years

兩至五年
Between 

2-5 years

超過五年
Over 5 

years
總計
Total

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

於二零一六年
十二月三十一日

At 31 December 2016

補充退休福利計劃 Supplement retirement 
benefits plan 3,925 3,795 10,556 38,634 56,910

提前退休福利計劃 Early retirement benefit plan 79 – – – 79
界定退休金福利－
有注資計劃資產

Defined pension benefits
 – with funded plan assets 238 358 2,145 78,004 80,745

界定退休金福利－
無注資計劃資產

Defined pension benefits
 – without funded plan 
assets 3,277 3,397 15,494 165,782 187,950

其他界定退休金福利 Other defined pension 
benefits 11,581 22,995 33,195 107,636 175,407

       

19,100 30,545 61,390 390,056 501,901
       

31 退休及其他補充福利責任（續）

(d) 未貼現界定退休福利預期到期日
分析如下：
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32 其他負債

(a) 本集團附屬公司深南電路於二零
零九年十月向中航深圳借款人民
幣75,000,000元。該等款項為無
抵押，按三個月期上海銀行同業
拆息每年4.7厘計息及須於二零
一九年十月償還。

32 OTHER LIABILITIES

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

應付中航深圳款項(a) Payable to AVIC Shenzhen (a) 75,000 75,000

應付威海經濟技術
開發區國有資產
經營管理公司款項

Payable to Weihai Economic and 
Technological Development Zone State-
owned Assets Management Co., Ltd – 6,725

其他 Others 2,179 9,509
    

77,179 91,234

減：即期部分 Less: current portion (1,506) (10,902)
    

75,673 80,332
    

(a) SCC, a subsid iary of the Group, borrowed 
RMB75,000,000 from AVIC Shenzhen in October 
2009. The amounts are unsecured, interest 
bearing at a rate of 3 month SHIBOR plus 4.7% 
per annum and repayable in October 2019.
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33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

貿易應付款項 Trade payables 8,753,982 8,342,557

應付薪金及員工福利 Salaries and staff welfare payables 858,368 692,901

應付票據 Notes payable 2,559,246 2,090,214

客戶墊支 Advances from customers 3,715,254 3,241,995

應付利息 Interest payable 113,729 88,998

應付股息 Dividend payable 31,264 27,136

其他應付稅項 Other taxes payable 708,686 225,465

應計費用及其他應付款項(a) Accruals and other payables (a) 2,358,524 2,277,870

客戶按金 Deposits from customers 196,975 142,472
    

19,296,028 17,129,608

減：非流動部分 Less: non-current portion

－客戶按金 – Deposits from customers (124,510) (73,391)
    

流動部分 Current portion 19,171,518 17,056,217
    

(a) Included in accruals and other payables were 
RMB33,492,000 (2016: RMB282,638,000) due 
to related parties as disclosed in Note 46(c). 
These amounts were unsecured, bearing annual 
interest rate from 0% to 6% and are repayable on 
demand.

33 貿易及其他應付款項

(a) 計入應計費用及其他應付款項包
括附註 46(c)所披露的應付關聯
方款項人民幣33,492,000元（二
零一六年：人民幣 282,638,000
元）。該等款項為無抵押、以年利
率0厘至6厘計息，並須按要求償
還。
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(c) 本集團貿易應付款項的賬面值以
下列貨幣計值：

33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
(b) At 31 December 2017, the ageing analysis of 

trade payables is as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

一年內 Within 1 year 7,343,892 7,379,859

一至兩年 Between 1 and 2 years 877,616 614,723

兩至三年 Between 2 and 3 years 301,361 202,414

三年以上 Over 3 years 231,113 145,561
    

8,753,982 8,342,557
    

(c) The carrying amounts of Group’s trade payables 
are denominated in the following currencies:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

人民幣 RMB 5,314,196 5,008,198

美元 USD 2,370,920 2,018,009

其他 Others 1,068,866 1,316,350
    

8,753,982 8,342,557
    

33 貿易及其他應付款項（續）
(b) 於二零一七年十二月三十一日，

貿易應付款項的賬齡分析如下：
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34 撥備 34 PROVISIONS

環境復原(a)
Environmental 
restoration (a)

虧損合約(b)
Loss 

contracts (b)

法律索償(c)
Legal 

claims (c)
保證(d)

Warranty (d)
總計

Total
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
         

於二零一六年一月一日 At 1 January 2016 6,448 4,690 101,723 88,137 200,998

添置 Additions 2,395 18,972 – 43,995 65,362

已動用 Utilised – – (74,897) – (74,897)

外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences 805 1,364 1,787 1,042 4,998
       

於二零一六年十二月三十一日 At 31 December 2016 9,648 25,026 28,613 133,174 196,461
       

於二零一七年一月一日 At 1 January 2017 9,648 25,026 28,613 133,174 196,461
添置 Additions – 4,785 2,497 52,299 59,581
已動用 Utilised – (28,268) (26,130) (56,106) (110,504)
外幣折算差額 Currency translation differences (156) (302) (120) (1,027) (1,605)

       

於二零一七年十二月三十一日 At 31 December 2017 9,492 1,241 4,860 128,340 143,933
       

(a) The provision incurred by Tianma Japan, Ltd. was 
in connection with the removal of pollution of the 
soil of the Akita plant.

(b) The amount of loss contracts is accrued by the 
management of KHD, a subsidiary of the Group. 
Expected contract losses are recognised through 
valuation allowance provisions. All identifiable risks 
are taken into account when determining such 
expected contract losses.

(c) The outstand ing ba lance of prov is ions for 
legal claims mainly consists lawsuit of KHD, a 
subsidiary of the Group, relating to an ongoing 
litigation of corporate income tax with the local 
income tax authorities in respect to admissibility of 
deducting the provisions in previous years.

(a) 天馬日本有限公司產生的撥備與
清除秋田工廠的受污染土壤有關。

(b) 虧損合約金額由本集團附屬公司
KHD管理層累計。預計合約虧損
透過估值撥備確認。於釐定有關
預計合約虧損時已計及全部可識
別風險。

(c) 法律索償尚未動用的撥備主要包
括：本集團附屬公司KHD與當地
所得稅監管部門進行的訴訟，關
於是否受理以前年度抵扣的撥備。
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34 PROVISIONS (continued)
(d) The provisions for warranties cover all the risks 

identifiable which relate to guarantee or warranty 
commitments. The provisions are measured on a 
contract-by-contract basis according to the best 
estimate. The amounts reported as non-current 
incorporate warranty commitments for a term of 
more than one year. The anticipated maturities 
range between one and four years.

35 OTHER INCOME

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

政府補貼收入 Government grants income 725,163 499,820

服務及保修收入 Service and maintenance income 78,825 78,510

違約收入 Default income 7,415 19,749

補償收入 Compensation income 10,137 1,263

副產品銷售 Sales of by-products 43,068 51,641

其他 Others 2,679 13,191
    

867,287 664,174
    

34 撥備（續）
(d) 保證撥備覆蓋與擔保或保證承擔

有關的所有可識別風險。該等撥
備乃按個別合約基準根據最佳估
計計量。呈報為非即期的有關金
額包括為期一年以上的保證承
擔。估計到期時間介乎一至四年。

35 其他收入
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36 其他收益－淨額 36 OTHER GAINS-NET

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

出售附屬公司的收益 Gain on disposals of subsidiaries – 450,588

出售於聯營公司投資的
收益╱（虧損）（附註43(c)）

Gain/(loss) on disposal of investments 
in associates (Note 43(c)) 444,522 (1,929)

補償開支 Compensation expenses (4,235) (1,636)

出售於合營企業投資的收益
（附註43(d)）

Gain on disposal of investments in 
joint ventures (Note 43(d)) 73,685 –

出售可供出售金融資產的
（虧損）╱收益

(Loss)/gain on disposals of available-for-sale 
financial assets (944) 6,199

出售物業、廠房及設備的
收益╱（虧損）（附註43(b)）

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (Note 43(b)) 2,655 (9,624)

衍生金融工具的公允價值
變動

Fair value changes on derivative 
financial instruments 8,667 5,580

來自貼現銀行承兌匯票的虧損 Loss from discounting bank acceptance bills (31,570) (30,046)

其他收益 Others gain 51 48,434
    

492,831 467,566
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37 按性質分類的費用 37 EXPENSES BY NATURE

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

製成品及在製品的存貨變動 Changes in inventories of finished 
goods and work in progress (703,030) (140,455)

應收客戶合約工程款項變動 Changes in amounts due from 
customers for contract work (197,144) 442,737

使用的原材料及消耗品 Raw materials and consumables used 26,514,363 22,616,633

僱員福利支出（附註39） Employee benefits expenses (Note 39) 4,220,025 4,031,585

維修保養支出 Repairs and maintenance expenditure 517,588 448,126

陳舊存貨撥備 Provision for inventory obsolescence 201,562 142,733

壞賬撥備 Provision for bad debts 268,676 91,075

應收客戶合約工程款項撥備
（附註22）

Provision for amounts due from customers 
for contract work (Note 22) 54,245 89,038

物業、廠房及設備折舊
（附註10）

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment (Note 10) 1,622,500 1,770,755

土地使用權攤銷（附註7） Amortisation of land use rights (Note 7) 51,886 51,074

無形資產攤銷（附註9） Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) 82,009 65,128

其他非流動資產攤銷 Amortisation of other non-current assets 44,030 50,028

經營租賃支出 Operating lease rentals 413,842 290,018

營業稅及其他徵費 Business tax and other levies 221,071 225,651

核數師審核服務酬金 Auditor’s remuneration for audit services 6,500 7,000

核數師非審核服務酬金 Auditors’ remuneration for non-audit services 16,697 15,073

水電費 Utility expenses 664,755 657,377

運輸費支出 Transportation expenses 422,927 429,683

差旅費 Travelling expenses 127,536 131,423

業務招待支出 Entertainment expenses 42,419 71,268

專業費用 Professional fees 172,142 231,039

銀行費用 Bank charges 24,603 42,864

其他費用 Other expenses 1,012,174 764,974
    

銷售成本、銷售費用及
行政開支總額

Total cost of sales, distribution costs and 
administrative expenses 35,801,376 32,524,827
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38 融資成本－淨額

在建工程銀行貸款資本化利息為人民
幣 10,063,000元（二零一六年：人民
幣54,966,000元）。資本化利率為每年
4.89%（二零一六年：每年2.67%）。

發展中物業銀行貸款資本化利息為人
民幣41,484,000元（二零一六年：人民
幣10,565,000元）。資本化利率為每年
3.61%（二零一六年：每年3.40%）。

38 FINANCE COSTS – NET

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

利息收入 Interest income (316,606) (232,137)

融資活動的匯兌收益 Foreign exchange gain on financing activities (177,882) (359,138)
    

(494,488) 591,275

利息支出 Interest expense

－銀行借款 – bank borrowings 928,738 620,441

－關聯方借款 – borrowings from related parties 107,180 184,590

－中期票據 – medium-term notes 72,140 67,694

－短期票據 – short-term notes – 1,583

－債券 – debentures – 3,536

減：資本化利息 Less: interest capitalised (51,547) (65,531)
    

1,056,511 812,313

融資活動的匯兌
虧損

Foreign exchange loss on 
financing activities 408,069 30,821

    

支銷融資成本 Finance costs expensed 1,464,580 843,134
    

融資成本淨額 Net finance costs 970,092 251,859
    

Bank loan interest capital ised in the construction-
in-progress amounted to RMB10,063,000 (2016: 
RMB54,966,000). The capitalised interest rate was 4.89% 
per annum (2016: 2.67% per annum).

Bank loan interest capitalised in the properties under 
development amounted to RMB41,484,000 (2016: 
RMB10,565,000). The capitalised interest rate was 3.61% 
per annum (2016: 3.40% per annum).
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39 僱員福利費用

本集團已參與由政府機關組織及管理，
並於中國實行的僱員社會保險計劃，包
括退休金、醫療及其他社會福利。根據
有關條文，本集團每月須向政府機關繳
納養老保險及醫療保險供款，供款額分
別相當於僱員月薪的22%及8%，本集團
分別承擔其中14%及7%，其餘款項由僱
員承擔。除以上供款外，本集團並無其
他義務。

39 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

工資、薪金及花紅 Wages, salaries and bonus 3,359,368 3,280,403

福利、醫療及其他費用 Welfare, medical and other expenses 366,708 282,111

社會保險成本 Social security costs 478,667 452,887

提前退休及
補充退休金福利

Early retirement and supplemental pension 
benefits 15,282 16,184

    

4,220,025 4,031,585
    

The Group has participated in employee social security 
plans enacted in the PRC, which cover pension, medical 
and other welfare benefits. The plans are organised and 
administered by the governmental authorities. Pursuant 
to the relevant provisions, the Group is required to make 
monthly contributions in respect of retirement insurance 
and health insurance to governmental authorit ies, 
equivalent to 22% and 8% respectively based on the 
monthly salaries of its employees, of which, the Group 
bears 14% and 7% respectively, and the employees bear 
the rest. The Group has no further obligation beyond the 
contribution.
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39 僱員福利費用（續）
(a) 五名最高薪人士

於二零一七年，本集團五名最高
薪人士並無包括酬金於附註48
分析的任何董事（二零一六年：
無）。年內應付該五名人士（二零
一六年：五名）的酬金如下：

酬金介乎以下範圍：

39 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)
(a) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were 
the highest in the Group for the year 2017 do 
not include any directors (2016: Ni l ) whose 
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented 
in Note 48. The emoluments payable to these 
five individuals (2016: five) during the year are as 
follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

基本薪金、房屋津貼、
其他津貼及實物利益

Basic salaries, housing allowance, 
other allowances and benefits in kind 13,145 16,307

    

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

酬金範圍 Emolument bands

2,500,001港元至
3,000,000港元

HKD2,500,001-HKD3,000,000
2 1

3,000,001港元至
3,500,000港元

HKD3,000,001-HKD3,500,000
2 4

4,000,001港元至
4,500,000港元

HKD4,000,001-HKD4,500,000
1 –
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40 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Pursuant to the relevant income tax law of PRC, the 
subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC were 
subject to income tax at a rate of 25% unless preferential 
rates were applicable. Certain subsidiaries were qualified 
as High and New Technology Enterprises in the PRC and 
were entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% in 
2017 (2016: 15%).

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the 
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of 
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group 
operates.

Income tax charged for the year represents:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

年內溢利的即期所得稅 Current income tax on profits for the year 448,206 602,975

前一年度撥備不足╱
（超額撥備）

Under/(over) provision in respect 
of prior year 18,039 (594)

    

即期所得稅總額 Total current income tax 466,245 602,381

遞延所得稅（附註17） Deferred income tax (Note 17) (14,491) (93,458)

中國大陸土地增值稅 PRC land appreciation tax – 1,000
    

所得稅開支 Income tax expense 451,754 509,923
    

40 所得稅開支
根據中國有關所得稅法，除非另有適用
優惠稅率，否則本集團於中國成立的附
屬公司按稅率25%繳納所得稅。若干附
屬公司獲認定為中國高新技術企業，於
二零一七年獲享15%（二零一六年：15%）
的優惠所得稅率。

海外溢利稅項則以年內估計應課稅溢
利，按本集團營運所在國家當時的稅率
計算。

年內所得稅開支指：
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40 所得稅開支（續）
本集團除稅前溢利產生的稅項與根據本
公司及其附屬公司所在國家稅率計算的
理論款項差額如下：

40 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
The tax on the Group’s profit before taxation differs 
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
tax rates of the home country of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

除所得稅前溢利 Profit before income tax 1,570,565 1,797,895
    

按本公司適用稅率25%計算
的稅項（二零一六年：25%）

Tax calculated at the tax rates applicable to 
the Company of 25% (2016: 25%) 392,641 449,474

未確認稅項虧損的稅務影響 Tax effect on unrecognised tax losses 129,101 236,141

使用先前未確認的稅項虧損 Utilisation of previously unrecognised 
tax losses (10,673) (11,929)

不得作稅項抵扣用途的費用 Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 111,476 38,185

毋須繳稅收入 Income not subject to tax (26,183) (45,616)

於合營企業及聯營公司扣除
稅後的經營成果所佔份額
的影響

Effects of share of post-tax results of 
joint ventures and associates

(56,904) (55,622)

可加計扣除的研發費用 Research and development expenses 
eligible for additional deduction (87,989) (78,076)

不同稅率所產生稅務優惠的
影響

Effect of tax concessions from different 
tax rate (13,119) (29,258)

未確認暫時性差額的稅務
影響

Tax effect on unrecognised temporary 
differences 19,413 9,898

其他 Others (6,009) (3,274)
    

稅項開支 Tax expense 451,754 509,923
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41 每股盈利
(a) 基本

每股基本及攤薄盈利按本公司權
益持有人應佔溢利除以年內已發
行普通股加權平均股數計算。

41 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic

Bas ic and d i l u ted ea rn ings per  share a re 
calculated by dividing the profit attributable to 
owners of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the 
year.

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

本公司權益持有人應佔
溢利（人民幣千元）

Profit attributable to owners of the 
Company (RMB’000) 408,107 806,066

減：永久次級可換股證券
持有人應佔溢利
（人民幣千元）

Less: Profit attributable to PSCS 
holders (RMB’000)

(27,817) (27,817)
    

本公司普通股股份持有人
應佔溢利（人民幣千元）

Profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Company 
(RMB’000) 380,290 778,249

    

已發行普通股加權平均
股數（千股）

Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue (thousands) 1,166,162 1,166,162

    

每股基本盈利
（人民幣元╱股）

Basic earnings per share 
(RMB per share) 0.3261 0.6674
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41 每股盈利（續）
(b) 攤薄

每股攤薄盈利按調整尚未發行普
通股加權平均股數以假設所有潛
在攤薄普通股獲轉換計算。本公
司擁有一個類別的潛在攤薄普通
股：永久次級可換股證券，並已
假設永久次級可換股證券已獲轉
換為普通股。

41 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by 
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company 
has one category of dilutive potential ordinary 
shares: perpetual subordinated convert ib le 
securities. The perpetual subordinated convertible 
securities are assumed to have been converted 
into ordinary shares.

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

本公司權益持有人應佔
溢利（人民幣千元）

Profit attributable to owners of the 
Company (RMB’000) 408,107 806,066

    

已發行普通股加權平均
股數（千股）

Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue (thousands) 1,166,162 1,166,162

經調整： Adjustments for:

永久次級可換股證券
（千股）

Perpetual subordinated convertible 
securities (thousands) 801,635 801,635

    

每股攤薄盈利加權平均
股數（千股）

Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares for diluted earnings per share 
(thousands) 1,967,797 1,967,797

    

每股攤薄盈利
（人民幣元╱股）

Diluted earnings per share 
(RMB per share) 0.2074 0.4096

    

42 DIVIDENDS
At the board of directors’ meeting held on 20 March 
2018, the board proposed a final dividend for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 of RMB0.05 per share for 
1,166,162,000 shares amounting to a total dividend of 
RMB58,308,000 (2016: RMB116,616,000), subject to 
the approval by the shareholders at the annual general 
meeting of the Company. The final dividend for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 was paid on 1 August 2017. 
These consolidated financial statements do not reflect 
this dividend payable.

42 股息
於二零一八年三月二十日舉行的董事
會會議上，董事會建議派發截至二零
一七年十二月三十一日止年度每股人民
幣0.05元的末期股息，股息總額為人民
幣58,308,000元（二零一六年：人民幣
116,616,000元）。該建議需經本公司
股東於股東週年大會批准後方可作實。
截至二零一六年十二月三十一日止年度
的末期股息已於二零一七年八月一日派
付。該等財務報表並不反映此應付股息。
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43 現金流量資料
年內溢利與經營業務產生的現金對賬：

43 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Reconciliation of profit for the year to cash generated 
from operations:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

附註 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

     

除所得稅前溢利 Profit before income tax 1,570,565 1,797,895

經調整 Adjustments for
來自貼現銀行承兌匯票的
虧損

Losses from discounting bank 
acceptance bills

36
31,570 30,046

陳舊存貨撥備 Provision for inventory obsolescence 37 201,562 142,733
壞賬撥備 Provision for bad debts 37 268,676 91,075
可供出售金融資產撥備 Provision for available-for-sale financial 

assets – 15,000
應收客戶合約工程款項
撥備

Provision for amounts due from 
customers for contract work

37
54,245 89,038

物業、廠房及設備折舊 Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment

37
1,622,500 1,770,755

土地使用權攤銷 Amortisation of land use rights 37 51,886 51,074
無形資產攤銷 Amortisation of intangible assets 37 82,009 65,128
其他非流動資產攤銷 Amortisation of other non-current 

assets
37

44,030 50,028
投資物業的公允價值收益 Fair value gain on investment property 11 (172,619) (212,438)
政府補貼的遞延收入 Deferred income on government grants 35 (725,163) (499,820)
出售聯營公司（收益）╱
虧損

(Gain)/loss on disposal of associates 36
(444,522) 1,929

出售合營企業收益 Gain on disposal of joint ventures 36 (73,685) –
出售可供出售金融資產
虧損╱（收益）

Loss/(gain) on disposal of available-for-
sale financial assets

36
944 (6,199)

出售附屬公司的收益 Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – (450,588)
衍生金融工具公允價值變
動

Fair value changes on derivative 
financial instruments

36
(8,667) (5,580)

出售物業、廠房及設備
（收益）╱虧損

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment

36
(2,655) 9,624

利息收入 Interest income 38 (316,606) (232,137)
利息支出 Interest expense 38 1,056,511 812,313
匯兌虧損╱（收益）淨額 Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) 38 230,187 (328,317)
應佔聯營公司溢利 Share of profits of associates 14(a) (224,776) (471,908)
應佔合營企業（溢利）╱
虧損

Share of (profits)/losses of joint 
ventures

14(b)
(2,841) 249,422

營運資金變動（不包括收購
的影響及合併入賬時的
匯兌差額）：

Changes in working capital (excluding 
the effects of acquisition and 
currency translation differences 
on consolidation):

－存貨 – Inventories (718,033) (36,973)
－發展中物業 – Properties under development (191,767) 97,899
－應收客戶合約工程款
項

– Amounts due from customers 
for contract work (197,144) 442,737

－應付客戶合約工程款
項

– Amounts due to customers 
for contract work (485,836) 238,010

－貿易及其他應收款項 – Trade and other receivables (221,267) (1,821,583)
－貿易及其他應付款項 – Trade and other payables 3,403,858 1,421,970

     

經營業務產生的現金 Cash generated from operations 4,832,962 3,311,133
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43 現金流量資料（續）
(a) 於截至二零一七年十二月三十一

日止年度的綜合現金流量表，非
控股股東權益向附屬公司的注資
包括：

(b) 於截至二零一七年十二月三十一
日及二零一六年十二月三十一日
止年度的綜合現金流量表，出售
物業、廠房及設備以及投資物業
的所得款項為：

43 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
(a) In the consolidated statement of cash f lows 

for the year ended 31 December 2017, capital 
contribution to subsidiaries from non-controlling 
interests comprises:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

深南電路（附註13(ii)） SCC (Note 13(ii)) 1,269,961 –

中航仿真 AVIC Stimulation – 20,000

威海船廠 Weihai Shipyard – 200,000
    

1,269,961 220,000
    

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2016, proceeds from sales of property, plant and 
equipment and investment properties are:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

賬面淨值（附註10） Net book value (Note 10) 111,088 57,900

出售所得收益╱（虧損）
（附註36）

Gain/(loss) on disposals (Note 36)
2,655 (9,624)

    

所得款項 Proceeds 113,743 48,276
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43 現金流量資料（續）
(c) 於截至二零一七年十二月三十一

日及二零一六年十二月三十一日
止年度的綜合現金流量表，出售
於聯營公司的投資所得款項為：

43 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
(c) In the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 

year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2016, proceeds from disposals of investments in 
associates are:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

賬面值（附註14(a)） Carrying amount (Note 14(a)) 235,916 8,134

出售所得收益（附註36） Gain on disposals (Note 36) 444,522 (1,929)

減：計入貿易及其他應收
款項的代價

Less: consideration included in trade 
and other receivables – (6,205)

    

所得款項 Proceeds 680,438 –
    

(d) In the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2016, proceeds from disposals of investments in 
joint ventures are:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

賬面值（附註14(b)） Carrying amount (Note 14(b)) 1,770,497 –

出售所得收益（附註36） Gain on disposals (Note 36) 73,685 –

減：計 入貿易及其他
應收款項的代價

Less: consideration included in trade and 
other receivables (829,882) –

    

所得款項 Proceeds 1,014,300 –
    

(d) 於截至二零一七年十二月三十一
日及二零一六年十二月三十一日
止年度的綜合現金流量表，出售
於合營企業的投資所得款項為：
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43 現金流量資料（續）
(e) 於截至二零一七年十二月三十一

日止年度的綜合現金流量表，出
售附屬公司的所得款項包括：

(i)  於二零一七年一月一日，
大連經貿的股東與北京公
司解除「一致行動協議」，
北京公司失去對大連經貿
的控制權，並於其後以於
合營公司的投資入賬。該
出售事項的現金流量如下：

43 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
(e) In the consolidated statement of cash flows for 

the year ended 31 December 2017, proceeds 
from disposals of subsidiaries comprise:

現金流量淨額
Net cash flow
人民幣千元

RMB’000
   

於二零一七年出售大連
中航技經貿有限公司
（「大連經貿」）(i)

Disposal of Dalian Aero-Technology Trade and 
Economy Development Company Limited 
(“Dalian TED Company”) in 2017 (i) (7,992)

於二零一六年出售廣東
航粵實業有限公司(ii)

Disposal of Guangdong Hangyue Industrial 
Company Limited in 2016 (ii) 600,000

於二零一七年出售其他
附屬公司(iii)

Disposal of other subsidiaries in 2017 (iii)
10,521

   

602,529
   

(i) On 1 January 2017, the shareholder 
of Dal ian TED Company re leased the 
“Unanimous action agreement” with Beijing 
Company, Beijing Company lost the control 
over Dalian TED Company and accounted 
the investment as an associate afterwards. 
The cash flow from the disposal was as 
follows:

二零一七年
2017

人民幣千元
RMB’000

   

代價 Consideration
－ 出 售附屬公司所獲得

現金
– Cash receipt for the disposals of subsidiaries

–
－ 減：所 出售附屬公司

持有的現金及
現金等價物

– Less: Cash and cash equivalents held by 
subsidiaries disposed

(7,992)
   

出售附屬公司所產生
現金流出

Cash outflow derived from the disposals 
of subsidiaries (7,992)
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43 現金流量資料（續）
(e) （續）

大連經貿的淨資產如下：

(ii)  於二零一七年一月，本集
團自珠江人壽保險股份有
限公司獲得於二零一六年
出售廣東航粵實業有限公
司75%股權的尚未償還代
價人民幣600,000,000元。

43 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
(e) (continued)

The net assets of Dalian TED Company as follows:

於出售日期
On disposal 

day

人民幣千元
RMB’000

   

現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents 7,992

貿易及其他應收款項 Trade and other receivables 10,057

其他流動資產 Other current assets 402

物業、廠房及設備 Property, plant and equipment 390

貿易及其他應付款項 Trade and other payables (7,522)
   

淨資產 Net assets 11,319
   

於出售日期
On disposal 

day

人民幣千元
RMB’000

   

以下應佔 Attributable to

大連經貿權益持有人 Owners of Dalian TED Company 3,038

非控股股東權益 Non-controlling interests 8,281
   

餘下股份的公允價值 Fair value of the remaining shares 3,038
   

本集團應佔出售收益 Disposal gain attributable to the Group –
   

(ii) In January 2017, the Group received 
t h e  o u t s t a n d i n g  c o n s i d e r a t i o n  o f 
RMB600,000,000 from Pearl River Life 
Insuarance L imi ted Company for the 
d isposal of 75% of equi ty interest in 
Guangdong Hangyue Industrial Company 
Limited in 2016.
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43 現金流量資料（續）
(e) （續）

(iii)  於二零一七年，本集團出
售及清盤若干不重大附屬
公司，主要包括威海金錨
船舶技術服務有限公司、
中航威海進出口有限公
司、68站有限公司等。出
售事項詳情如下：

43 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
(e) (continued)

(iii) During year 2017, the Group disposed 
of and liquidated a number of immaterial 
subsidiaries, mainly includes Weihai Jinmao 
Shipyard Technical Serv ice Company 
Limited, AVIC Weihai Import & Export 
Company Limited, 68 Station Company 
L im i ted and e tc .  The de ta i l s  o f  the 
disposals as follows:

於出售日期
On disposal 

day

人民幣千元
RMB’000

   

出售事項代價 Disposal consideration

－出售附屬公司
所獲得現金

– Cash receipt for the disposals of subsidiaries
16,390

－減：所出售附屬公司持
有的現金及現金
等價物

– Less: Cash and cash equivalents held by 
subsidiaries disposed

(5,869)
   

出售附屬公司所產生
現金流入

Cash inflow derived from the disposals of 
subsidiaries 10,521

   

所出售附屬公司的淨資產 Net assets of subsidiaries disposed of 13,758

所出售附屬公司的
非控股股東權益

Non controlling interest of subsidiaries 
disposed of 3,237

   

10,521
   

本集團應佔出售所得收益 Disposal gain attributable to the Group –
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43 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
(f) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and 
the movements in net debt:

銀行借款
Bank 

borrowings

其他借款
Other 

borrowings
總計

Total
人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

於二零一六年十二月
三十一日的負債淨額

Net debt as at 31 December 2016
18,224,396 364,691 18,589,087

     

增加 Increase 15,373,963 132 15,374,095

減少 Decrease (11,747,821) (255,871) (12,003,692)

已付利息 Interest paid (809,661) (96,744) (906,405)

利息開支 Interest expenses 952,209 104,302 1,056,511

匯兌調整 Foreign exchange adjustments 559,378 – 559,378

其他非現金變動 Other non-cash movements 182,395 (7,558) 174,837
     

於二零一七年十二月
三十一日的負債淨額

Net debt as at 31 December 2017
22,734,859 108,952 22,843,811

     

43 現金流量資料（續）
(f) 負債淨額對賬

本節載列負債淨額及負債淨額變
動分析：
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44 或有事項
(a) 財務擔保合約

於二零一七年十二月三十一日及
二零一六年十二月三十一日，本
集團有以下未履行財務擔保：

44 CONTINGENCIES
(a) Financial guarantee contracts

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, 
the Group had the following financial guarantees 
outstanding:

擔保方
Guarantor

擔保方與
本集團的關係
Guarantor’s 
relationship 
with the Group

擔保對象
Guarantee

擔保對象與
本集團的關係
Guarantee’s 
relationship with 
the Group

二零一七年
未償還

擔保金額
2017 

Outstanding 
amounts 

guaranteed

二零一六年
未償還

擔保金額
2016 

Outstanding 
amounts 

guaranteed
人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000
      

天馬
Tianma

本集團附屬公司
Subsidiary 

of the Group

上海天馬有機發光顯示技術有限公司
Shanghai Tianma Organic Light-Emitting 

Technology Company Limited*

聯營公司
Associate

757,386 682,572

北京公司
Beijing Company

本集團附屬公司
Subsidiary 

of the Group

拓富遠洋海運有限公司
Tuofu Yuanyang Shipping Company Limited*

第三方
Third Party

126,168 –

廈門公司
Xiamen Company

本集團附屬公司
Subsidiary 

of the Group

廈門天馬微電子有限公司
Xiamen Tianma Microelectronics 

Company Limited*

擔保方持有擔保對象
6%股權

The guarantor holds 
6% equity interests 
in the guarantee

94,966 176,000

工程公司
Engineering 

Company

本集團附屬公司
Subsidiary 

of the Group

中航建築工程有限公司
CATIC Construction Engineering 
Company Limited*

聯營公司
Associate

53,900 –

北京公司
Beijing Company

本集團附屬公司
Subsidiary 

of the Group

泰州中航船舶重工有限公司
Taizhou AVIC Shipbuilding Heavy 

Industry Limited*

第三方
Third Party

– 347,040

北京公司
Beijing Company

本集團附屬公司
Subsidiary 

of the Group

正力海洋工程有限公司
Zhengli Ocean Engineering Company Limited*

第三方
Third Party

– 11,710

經貿公司
TED Company

本集團附屬公司
Subsidiary 

of the Group

中航網信（北京）科技有限公司
AVIC Wang Xin Beijing Science and 

Technology Co., Ltd.*

聯營公司
Associate

– 25,000
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* 由於該等公司概無已註冊或公
開的英文名稱，故管理層盡力
按中文名稱翻譯成有關公司的
英文名稱。

附註： 上述未償還擔保金額亦構成本
集團於年末的或然負債。

44 或有事項（續）
(a) 財務擔保合約（續）

擔保方
Guarantor

擔保方與
本集團的關係
Guarantor’s 
relationship 
with the Group

擔保對象
Guarantee

擔保對象與
本集團的關係
Guarantee’s 
relationship with 
the Group

二零一七年
未償還

擔保金額
2017 

Outstanding 
amounts 

guaranteed

二零一六年
未償還

擔保金額
2016 

Outstanding 
amounts 

guaranteed
人民幣千元 人民幣千元

RMB’000 RMB’000
      

工程公司
Engineering 

Company

本集團附屬公司
Subsidiary 

of the Group

中航建築工程有限公司
CATIC Construction Engineering 

Company Limited*

聯營公司
Associate

– 127,400

本公司
The Company

控股公司
Holding Company

深圳中航資源有限公司
Shenzhen AVIC Resources Co., Ltd. *

同系附屬公司
Fellow subsidiaries

– 714,000

本公司
The Company

控股公司
Holding Company

青海中航資源有限公司
Qinghai CATIC Resources Co., Ltd.*

同系附屬公司
Fellow subsidiaries

– 475,470

本公司
The Company

控股公司
Holding Company

昆明市中航磷化工有限公司
Kunming AVIC Phosphorus Chemical 

Co., Ltd.*

同系附屬公司
Fellow subsidiaries

– 34,000

本公司
The Company

控股公司
Holding Company

雲南紅富化肥有限公司
Yunnan Hongfu Fertilizer Co., Ltd.*

同系附屬公司
Fellow subsidiaries

– 6,430

本公司
The Company

控股公司
Holding Company

青海中航硅材料有限公司
Qinghai AVIC Silicon Material Co.,Ltd*

同系附屬公司
Fellow subsidiaries

– 23,344

      

1,032,420 2,622,966
      

* The English names of these companies are 
management’s best efforts at translating the 
Chinese names of these companies as no 
English names have been registered or available.

Note: The above outstanding amounts guaranteed also 
constitute contingent liabilities of the Group at 
year end.

44 CONTINGENCIES (continued)
(a) Financial guarantee contracts (continued)
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44 或有事項（續）
(b) 重大訴訟

於二零一四年六月十三日，Tang 
Energy Group Limited（「 Tang 
Energy」）、Soaring Wind Energy 
LLC. （「Soaring Wind」）及其其
他成員公司（統稱「申索人」）就合
資協議產生的爭議（「爭議」）入禀
美國仲裁協會向中航技美國公司
（「中航技美國」）、本公司控股股
東及本公司附屬公司（包括（其中
包括）航空工業、中航國際及新能
源公司等）（統稱「被告人」）提出仲
裁索償（「仲裁索償」）。仲裁索償
為申索人就Tang Energy與中航技
美國於二零零八年訂立的合資協
定（「合資協議」）所產生的爭議向
被告人提出的索償。申索人將中
航技美國視為航空工業在美國的
代理，將所有涉及的航空工業集
團及下屬公司視為「一個整體」，
均應受到合資協議中獨家性條款
的約束。因此，申索人就指稱違
反合資協議要求被告人支付合共
22.5億美元的損害賠償。於二零
一五年十二月被告人接獲國際仲
裁審裁處(International Arbitration 
Tribunal)轄下國際爭議解決中心
就仲裁索償頒布的最終裁決（「裁
決」）。據此，被告人須就爭議共
同及個別地向申索人支付合共金
額（「該金額」）為約71,000,000美
元的損害賠償及費用（包括但不限
於賠償金、律師費及開支），本集
團已聘請律師事務所就仲裁索償
提供協助並已對裁決採取進一步
法律行動。於二零一六年三月，
本集團入禀管轄法院，申請反對
執行裁決並要求撤銷裁決（「反對
申請」）。於本報告之日，反對申
請的陳述答辯階段已完成，法庭
尚未作出最終判決。仲裁索償對
本公司的影響視乎反對申請的結
果及日後其他進展而定。同時，
因裁決中並未對各被告人應承擔
的金額比例進行確定，該金額的
支付有待法院裁決後作出，且有
關裁決的執行仍有不確定因素。
如有進一步發展本公司將另行作
出公告。

44 CONTINGENCIES (continued)
(b) Major litigation

On 13 June 2014, Tang Energy Group Limited 
(the “Tang Energy”), Soaring Wind Energy LLC. 
(“Soaring Wind”) and its other group members 
(collectively, the “Claimants”) filed an arbitration 
claim with the American Arbitration Association 
against CATIC USA Inc. (“CATIC USA”), the 
controll ing shareholders of the Company and 
subsidiaries of the Company (including, among 
others, Aviation Industry, AVIC International and 
RED Company) (collectively, the “Respondents”) 
in respect of a dispute (the “Dispute”) arising 
out of a joint venture agreement (the “Arbitration 
Claim”). The Arbitration Claim is the claim brought 
by the Claimants against the Respondents in 
respect of a dispute arising out of a joint venture 
agreement (the “JV Agreement”) entered into 
between Tang Energy and CATIC USA in 2008 
whereby the Claimants treated CATIC USA as 
the agent of Aviation Industry in the USA, and 
all involved Aviation Industry groups and their 
subsidiaries are deemed as a “single group”, all of 
which shall be bound by the exclusivity provisions 
under the JV Agreement. Therefore, the Claimants 
seek damages total l ing US$2.25 bil l ion from 
the Respondents for the alleged breach of the 
JV Agreement. After the Respondents receiving 
final decision on the Arbitration Claim issued by 
the International Centre for Dispute Resolution 
of International Arbitration Tribunal in December 
2015 (the “Decision”), pursuant to which the 
Respondents were jointly and severally liable to 
pay to the Claimants damages and fees (including 
but not limited to compensation, attorneys’ fees 
and expenses) in relation to the Dispute in the 
total amount (the “Amount”) of approximately 
US$71,000,000, the Group had engaged a law 
firm to assist in the Arbitration Claim and has 
taken further legal action against the Decision. In 
March 2016, the Group had filed an application to 
the competent court to oppose the enforcement 
of the Decision and request the revocation of the 
Decision (the “Opposition Application”). As at the 
date of this report, the Statement of Defense of 
the Opposition Application has been completed 
and the court has not made the ultimate final 
decision. The impact of the Arbitration Claim 
on the Company is subject to the results of 
the Opposition Application and other progress 
in the future. Meanwhile, the Decision has not 
determined the proportion of the Amount to 
be assumed by each of the Respondents. The 
payment of the Amount is st i l l  pending the 
decision of the court and there is uncertainty in 
relation to the enforcement of the Decision. The 
Company will made further announcement if there 
is further development.
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45 承擔
(a) 資本承擔

於綜合結算日仍未產生的資本承
擔如下：

45 COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital commitments

Capital commitments at the consolidated balance 
sheet date but not yet incurred are as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

已訂約但未撥備 Contracted but not provided for   

土地使用權 Land use rights – 77,001

物業、廠房及設備 Property, plant and equipment 3,728,062 9,502,025

股本權益投資 Equity interest investments 2,250 11,050
    

3,730,312 9,590,076
    

(b) Operating lease commitments
The Group has commi tmen ts  unde r  non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of office 
premises as follows:

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

不超過一年 Not later than one year 181,507 91,097

超過一年但不超過五年 Later than one year and not later 
than five years 215,005 196,536

超過五年 After five years 23,878 8,356
    

420,390 295,989
    

(b) 經營租約承擔
本集團有關辦公室樓宇的不可撤
銷經營租約承擔如下：
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46 重大關聯方交易

本集團由中航國際（於中國成立的國有公
司）控制。中航深圳（於中國成立的國有
公司）為本公司主要股東。董事認為中航
國際及航空工業分別為本集團的控股公
司及最終控股公司。

除綜合財務報表其他部分所披露者外，
本集團在日常業務過程中與關聯方進行
的重大關聯方交易及由關聯方交易產生
的結餘概述如下：

(a) 與關聯方的交易

46 S I G N I F I C A N T  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y 
TRANSACTIONS
The Group is controlled by AVIC International, a state-
control led company establ ished in the PRC. AVIC 
Shenzhen, a state-controlled company established in 
the PRC, is the major shareholder of the Company. The 
directors regard AVIC international and Aviation Industry 
as the holding company and ultimate holding company of 
the Group respectively.

In add i t ion to those d isc losed e lsewhere in the 
consolidated financial statements, the following is a 
summary of significant related party transactions entered 
into in the ordinary course of business between the 
Group and its related parties and the balances arising 
from related party transactions:

(a) Transactions with related parties

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

收入： Revenue:   

銷售貨物 Sales of goods
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 1,042,698 1,798,750
－合營企業 – Joint ventures 78,641 72,701
－聯營公司 – Associates 15,641 122
－控股公司 – Holding company 3,303 4,184
－本公司一名主要股東 – A major shareholder of the Company 3,302 –
－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests – 5,851
－最終控股公司 – Ultimate holding company – 186

    

1,143,585 1,881,794
    

租賃收入 Rental income
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 24,522 28,002
－控股公司 – Holding company 354 435
－聯營公司 – Associates 664 1,936

    

25,540 30,373
    

工程收入 Construction income
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 572,138 811,776

    

委託管理服務收入 Entrusted management services income
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiary 18,868 21,226
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46 重大關聯方交易（續）

(a) 與關聯方的交易（續）

46 S I G N I F I C A N T  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y 
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) Transactions with related parties (continued)

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

代理服務收入 Agency services income   
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 226,232 114,192
－控股公司 – Holding company 29,469 785
－聯營公司 – Associates 1,916 114
－本公司一名主要股東 – A major shareholder of the Company – 4,245

    

257,617 119,336
    

利息及擔保費收入 Interest and guarantee fee income
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 37,455 73,540
－控股公司 – Holding company 664 –
－合營企業 – Joint ventures 151 –

    

38,270 73,540
    

購買貨品及服務： Purchases of goods and services:

購買貨品 Purchases of goods
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 1,630,772 1,772,279
－聯營公司 – Associates 31,931 57,422
－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests 6,171 4,506
－合營企業 – Joint ventures 2,535 6,355

    

1,671,409 1,840,562
    

租賃費用 Rental fees
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 2,833 191
－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests – 3,042

    

2,833 3,233
    

物業管理費用 Property management fees
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 44,994 193

    

特許服務成本 Concessionaire services costs
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiary 19,325 24,503
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46 重大關聯方交易（續）

(a) 與關聯方的交易（續）

46 S I G N I F I C A N T  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y 
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) Transactions with related parties (continued)

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

代理服務成本 Agency services costs   
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 20,331 89,110
－控股公司 – Holding company 6 222
－聯營公司 – Associates 70,000 26,565
－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests 1,290 –

    

91,627 115,897
    

工程服務成本 Construction services costs
－聯營公司 – Associate 5,344 12,875

    

利息開支及擔保費用 Interest expenses and guarantee fees
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 99,124 154,343
－最終控股公司 – Ultimate holding company 7,500 –
－控股公司 – Holding company 4,502 25,117
－本公司一名主要股東 – A major shareholder of the Company 3,954 5,130

    

115,080 184,590
    

接受財務資助 Receipt of financial assistances
－控股公司 – Holding company 5,335,810 5,022,798
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 1,336,399 2,871,832
－本公司一名主要股東 – A major shareholder of the Company – 925,000
－最終控股公司 – Ultimate holding company 250,000 250,000
－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests 131 –

    

6,922,340 9,069,630
    

提供財務資助 Provision of financial assistances
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 1,571,487 1,429,244
－聯營公司 – Associates 827,712 837,672

    

2,399,199 2,266,916
    

接受外匯服務 Receipt of foreign exchange services
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 106,263 106,597
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46 S I G N I F I C A N T  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y 
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) Transactions with related parties (continued)

Transactions with government related entities:

The Company is a s tate-owned enterpr ise 
ultimately controlled by the PRC government. 
Certain of the Group’s business are operated in 
an economic environment currently predominated 
by entities directly or indirectly owned, controlled 
or significantly influenced by PRC government. 
The transactions between the Company and 
other PRC government controlled entities are 
related party transactions. These transactions 
mainly include depositing cash in and obtaining 
borrowings from certain stated-owned banks. 
Most of the Company’s cash were deposited in 
and all of the borrowings were borrowed from 
state-owned banks during the year.

46 重大關聯方交易（續）

(a) 與關聯方的交易（續）
與政府相關實體的交易：

本公司是國有企業，由中國政府
最終控制。本集團於現時受中國
政府直接或間接擁有、控制或重
大影響的實體所主導的經濟環境
中經營若干業務。本公司與其他
中國政府控制實體的交易為關
聯方交易。此等交易主要包括於
若干國有銀行存放現金及取得借
款。年內，本公司大部分現金存
放於國有銀行及所有借款均向國
有銀行借入。
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46 重大關聯方交易（續）

(b) 與關聯方的結餘
與關聯方公司的結餘均為無抵
押、免息及須應要求償還。

46 S I G N I F I C A N T  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y 
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Balances with related parties

The balances with related parties companies are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on 
demand.

十二月三十一日
31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

其他應收款項 Other receivables   

－聯營公司 – Associates 241,323 235,158

－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 480,702 419,048

－控股公司 – Holding company 47,419 47,537

－本公司一名主要股東 – A major shareholder of the Company 3,000 3,000

－合營企業 – Joint ventures – 1,959
    

772,444 706,702
    

應收利息 Interest receivables

－聯營公司 – Associates – 12,514
    

應收賬款 Accounts receivable

－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 1,890,545 750,463

－合營企業 – Joint ventures 113,710 160,187

－控股公司 – Holding company 5,648 3,861

－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests – 717

－聯營公司 – Associates 303,055 30
    

2,312,958 915,258
    

預付款項 Prepayments

－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 17,102 6,956

－聯營公司 – Associates 4,535 1,560

－本公司一名主要股東 – A major shareholder of the Company – 15,000

－控股公司 – Holding company 8,968 –
    

30,605 23,516
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46 S I G N I F I C A N T  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y 
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Balances with related parties (continued)

十二月三十一日
31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

應計款項及其他應付款項 Accruals and other payables
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 53,350 68,289
－本公司一名主要股東 – A major shareholder of the Company 6,503 6,684
－聯營公司 – Associates 2,500 6,060
－控股公司 – Holding company 2,342 592
－合營企業 – Joint ventures 2,652 2,963
－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests 220 –

    

67,567 84,588
    

應付賬款 Accounts payable
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 2,950,873 325,817
－聯營公司 – Associates 68,338 54,649
－合營企業 – Joint ventures 962 82
－控股公司 – Holding company 158 –

    

3,020,331 380,548
    

客戶墊款 Advance from customers
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 182,912 202,042
－合營企業 – Joint ventures 6,415 4,007
－控股公司 – Holding company 21,068 420
－聯營公司 – Associates 1,000 134

    

211,395 206,603
    

應付利息 Interest payables
－本公司一名主要股東 – A major shareholder of the Company 107 –
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 6,634 14,299

    

6,741 14,299
    

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had interest-
bearing deposits amounting to RMB796,657,000 
at AVIC Finance Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of 
the Company (2016: RMB263,608,000). These 
deposits could be withdrawn at demand and are 
included in cash and cash equivalent in Note 25 
to the financial statements.

46 重大關聯方交易（續）

(b) 與關聯方的結餘（續）

於二零一七年十二月三十一日，
本集團於中航工業集團財務有
限責任公司（本公司之同系附
屬公司）擁有計息存款人民幣
796,657,000元（二零一六年：人
民幣263,608,000元）。該等存款
可按要求撤回並於財務報表附註
25中列為現金及現金等價物。
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46 重大關聯方交易（續）

(c) 自關聯方的借款

46 S I G N I F I C A N T  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y 
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Borrowings from related parties

於二零一七年
一月一日

At 
1 January 

2017
新增

Additions
償還

Repayment

於二零一七年
十二月

三十一日
At 

31 December 
2017

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

計入其他應付款項
（附註33(a)）

Included in other payables 
(Note 33(a))

－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 73,263 – (39,771) 33,492
－控股公司 – Holding company 209,375 – (209,375) –

      

282,638 – (249,146) 33,492
      

計入其他負債 Included in other liabilities

－本公司一名主要股東
（附註32(a)）

– A major shareholder of the 
Company (Note 32(a)) 75,000 – – 75,000

－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests 328 132 – 460
      

75,328 132 – 75,460
      

計入借款
（附註29）

Included in borrowings 
(Note 29)

－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 2,187,022 1,341,441 (2,147,108) 1,381,355
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46 S I G N I F I C A N T  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y 
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Borrowings from related parties (continued)

於二零一六年
一月一日

At 
1 January 

2016
新增

Additions
償還

Repayment

於二零一六年
十二月

三十一日
At 

31 December 
2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

計入其他應付款項 Included in other payables

－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 114,052 – (40,789) 73,263

－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests 16,076 – (16,076) –

－控股公司 – Holding company 850,000 – (640,625) 209,375
      

980,128 – (697,490) 282,638
      

計入其他負債 Included in other liabilities

－控股公司 – Holding company 360,000 – (360,000) –

－本公司一名主要股東 – A major shareholder 
of the Company 100,000 – (25,000) 75,000

－非控股股東權益 – Non-controlling interests – 328 – 328
      

460,000 328 (385,000) 75,328
      

計入借款 Included in borrowings 

－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 2,195,308 2,311,834 (2,320,120) 2,187,022
      

46 重大關聯方交易（續）

(c) 自關聯方借款（續）



350 AVIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

綜合財務報表附註
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

46 重大關聯方交易（續）

(d) 給予關聯方的貸款

46 S I G N I F I C A N T  R E L A T E D  P A R T Y 
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(d) Loan to related parties

於二零一七年
一月一日

At 
1 January 

2017
新增

Additions
償還

Repayment

於二零一七年
十二月

三十一日
At 

31 December 
2017

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

計入其他應收款項
（附註21(b)）

Included in other receivables 
(Note 21(b))

－聯營公司 – Associates 387,705 16,426 (276,786) 127,345
－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 709,520 1,476,521 (1,106,927) 1,079,114

      

1,097,225 1,492,947 (1,383,713) 1,206,459
      

於二零一六年
一月一日

At 
1 January 

2016
新增

Additions
償還

Repayment

於二零一六年
十二月

三十一日
At 

31 December 
2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

計入其他應收款項 Included in other receivables 

－聯營公司 – Associates 385,005 2,700 – 387,705

－同系附屬公司 – Fellow subsidiaries 1,224,280 – (514,760) 709,520
      

1,609,285 2,700 (514,760) 1,097,225
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47 B A L A N C E  S H E E T  A N D  R E S E R V E 
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

截至十二月三十一日止
As at 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

資產 ASSETS   

非流動資產 Non-current assets
無形資產 Intangible assets 336 379

物業、廠房及設備 Property, plant and equipment 9,557 13,117

於附屬公司的投資 Investments in subsidiaries 5,265,824 5,265,824

於聯營公司的投資 Investments in associates 440,149 440,149

於合營企業的投資 Investments in joint ventures 600,674 2,371,409

可供出售金融資產 Available-for-sale financial assets 1,400 1,400

貿易及其他應收款項 Trade and other receivables – 170
    

6,317,940 8,092,448
    

流動資產 Current assets
貿易及其他應收款項 Trade and other receivables 3,282,674 2,902,116

現金及現金等價物 Cash and cash equivalents 1,852,612 451,183

抵押銀行存款 Pledged bank deposits – 710,000
    

5,135,286 4,063,299
    

總資產 Total assets 11,453,226 12,155,747
    

47 本公司資產負債表及儲備變動

公司資產負債表
於二零一七年十二月三十一日
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47 本公司資產負債表及儲備變動（續）

公司資產負債表（續）
於二零一七年十二月三十一日

47 B A L A N C E  S H E E T  A N D  R E S E R V E 
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued)
COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (continued)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

截至十二月三十一日止
As at 31 December

二零一七年 二零一六年
2017 2016

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

權益 EQUITY
本公司權益持有人應佔
資本與儲備

Capital and reserves attributable to 
owners of the Company

股本 Share capital 1,166,162 1,166,162

股份溢價 Share premium 1,365,271 1,512,380

其他儲備(a) Other reserves (a) 220,505 189,056

永久次級可換股證券 Perpetual subordinated convertible securities 2,781,674 2,781,674

未分配利潤(a) Retained earnings (a) 989,588 848,890
    

總權益 Total equity 6,523,200 6,498,162
    

負債 LIABILITIES
非流動負債 Non-current liabilities
借款 Borrowings 1,396,000 2,637,000

    

流動負債 Current liabilities
貿易及其他應付款項 Trade and other payables 1,134,026 680,585

借款 Borrowings 2,400,000 2,340,000
    

3,534,026 3,020,585
    

總負債 Total liabilities 4,930,026 5,657,585
    

總權益和負債 Total equity and liabilities 11,453,226 12,155,747
    

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the 
Board of Directors on 20 March 2018 and were signed 
on its behalf.

Director: Liu Hong De Director: Lai Wei Xuan

本公司資產負債表已於二零一八年三月
二十日經董事會批准，並由以下董事代
表簽署。

董事：劉洪德 董事：賴偉宣
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47 B A L A N C E  S H E E T  A N D  R E S E R V E 
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company

未分配
利潤

Retained 
earnings

其他儲備－
法定一

般儲備基金
Other 

reserves – 
Statutory 

general 
reserve fund

人民幣千元 人民幣千元
RMB’000 RMB’000

    

於二零一六年一月一日
的結餘

Balance as at 1 January 2016
617,800 174,898

年內溢利 Profit for the year 478,479 –

撥入法定一般儲備基金 Appropriation to statutory general 
reserve fund (14,158) 14,158

二零一五年股息 Dividend for the 2015 (233,231) –
    

於二零一六年
十二月三十一日的結餘

Balance as at 31 December 2016
848,890 189,056

年內溢利 Profit for the year 288,763 –

撥入法定一般儲備基金 Appropriation to statutory general 
reserve fund (31,449) 31,449

二零一六年股息 Dividend for the 2016 (116,616) –
    

於二零一七年
十二月三十一日的結餘

Balance as at 31 December 2017
989,588 220,505

    

47 本公司資產負債表及儲備變動（續）

(a) 本公司儲備變動
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48 董事福利及權益（續）

董事及高級行政人員的酬金（續）

(a) 該等董事以及監事就對本集團的
服務自控股公司中航國際或中航
深圳（持有本公司35.63%股權的
本公司股東）收取酬金。由於董事
以及監事認為分攤彼等對本集團
與本公司控股公司的服務屬不切
實際，故此酬金並無分攤。

(b) 於年末或年內任何時間，並無就
提供董事服務而向第三方作出董
事退休福利、董事終止服務福利
及代價，以及以董事、該等董事
的受控制法團及關連實體為受益
人的貸款、準貸款或其他交易（二
零一六年：無）。

(c) 除重大關聯方交易（附註46）所披
露者外，於年末或年內任何時間
本公司董事並無於本公司已訂立
與本集團業務有關的重要交易、
安排及合約中擁有任何重大直接
或間接權益（二零一六年：無）。

49 報告期末事項
於二零一七年三月十日，天馬訂立兩份
獨立的框架協議。首份協議與中航國
際、中航深圳、廈門公司及廈門金財產
業發展有限公司訂立，內容有關收購廈
門天馬公司全部股權。第二份協議與上
海投資（集團）有限公司及上海張江（集
團）有限公司訂立，內容有關收購天馬
有機公司60%股權。於二零一八年二
月二日，收購事項的代價透過向賣方發
行 647,024,307股天馬新A股股份悉數
支付。天馬的已發行A股股份數目增至
2,048,123,051股。廈門天馬公司及天馬
有機公司已分別成為本公司間接全資附
屬公司及間接擁有60%股權的附屬公司。

48 B E N E F I T S  A N D  I N T E R E S T S  O F 
DIRECTORS (continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments 
(continued)
(a) These d i rec to rs and superv isors rece ived 

emoluments from AVIC International, the holding 
company or AVIC Shenzhen, the Company’s 
shareho lder ho ld ing 35.63% of the equ i ty 
interests of the Company, for their services to 
the Group. No apportionment has been made for 
their emoluments from the holding company, as 
the directors and supervisors consider that it is 
impracticable to apportion the amount between 
their services to the Group and their services to 
the Company’s holding company.

(b) No directors’ ret irement benef its, directors’ 
termination benefits, consideration provided 
to third parties for making available directors’ 
services, and loans, quasi-loans or other dealing 
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate 
by and connected entities with such directors, 
subsisted at the end the year or any time during 
the year (2016: Nil).

(c) Save for those d isc losed in the s ign i f icant 
related party transactions (Note 46), there was 
no significant transactions, arrangements and 
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to 
which the Company was a party and in which a 
director of the Company had a material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the 
end of the year or at any time during the year 
(2016: Nil).

49 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 10 March 2017, Tianma entered into two separate 
framework agreements. The first agreement was entered 
into with AVIC International, AVIC Shenzhen, Xiamen 
Company and Xiamen Jincai Industrial Development 
Company Limited (廈門金財產業發展有限公司) in relation 
to the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Xiamen 
Tianma Company. The second agreement was entered 
into with Shanghai Industrial Investment (Group) Co., Ltd 
and Shanghai Zhangjiang (Group) Co., Ltd in relation to 
the acquisition of 60% equity interest in Tianma Organic 
Company. On 2 February 2018, the consideration for the 
acquisitions were fully settled by issue of 647,024,307 
new A Shares of Tianma to the vendors. The number 
o f issued A Shares of T ianma was increased to 
2,048,123,051. Xiamen Tianma Company and Tianma 
Organic Company has become an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary and an indirect 60%-owned subsidiary of the 
Company respectively.
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